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Our Vision
It is our aim to provide a complete fi nancial market infrastructure that is deliberately 
designed to operate effi cient trading platforms, manage sound settlement highways 
and render essential securities services, creating value for our stakeholders and 
abiding by the standards of international best practice for markets and market 
governance.

Our Mission
We understand the challenges that come with our Vision but we remain steadfast in our conviction 

because:

• WE BELIEVE in cultivating a deep and empowered investor base that participates in a market  

  where there is price discovery and a wide array of investment products that address investor 

  needs in an environment of liquidity where the best price is accessible to all players in the 

  market.

• WE BELIEVE in a regulatory environment that nurtures the creativity of intermediaries within a 

  framework that promotes dynamism, fairness and responsibility, and fosters an open market 

  dialogue on issues and events facing us so that a community response can be reached that is 

  both relevant and practicable.

• WE BELIEVE in market integration, both across the different fi nancial sectors in the Philippines 

  and with the regional and global markets, to provide investors, issuers and intermediaries a 

  platform that can bridge these avenues to address their fi nancial objectives.

• WE BELIEVE in investor education and espouse learning programs that heighten awareness 

  of the products and services available in the market as well as the issues that affect investment 

  choices while harnessing the technical capabilities of market professionals who serve the public, 

  recognizing that an informed and educated investor is the base of a relevant market.

• WE BELIEVE that we affect the public at large and take our corporate social responsibilities 

  seriously so that the general public may benefi t from the realization of our Vision.
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THE 
PDS GROUP TOWER

In the olden days of open land and unbridled oppor-
tunities, the early communities organized themselves 
within the security of a walled city. Prominent in these 
walled structures were the towers which both served 
to link the walls heading in different directions and 
stood over the four corners of the community.

The PDS Group Tower refl ects the same qualities of 
the towers of the old. It denotes strength in founda-
tion and is an anchor of our nascent organized capital 
market. It provides the venue not only for overseeing 
the activities in the organized market but also serves 
as the vantage point for the untapped opportunities 
that lie beyond.

Unlike the towers of old, however, the PDS Group 
Tower is neither attached to any absolute structure 
nor set up specifi cally for a particular interest. This 
refl ects the independence of our critical thinking and 
our ability to make decisive actions, serving no par-
ticular business group but the collective market at large. It reinforces the integrity of our initiatives as we protect the well-being of the 
investor fi rst and foremost while remaining fully cognizant of the interests of all other stakeholders.

Our desire to be transparent is also explicit in the design of the PDS Group Tower. This transparency, however, does not compromise 
the strength that we bring to the market as we continually create value for our stakeholders. Neither does this erode our creativity to 
structure solutions for our current markets and for the evolving opportunities that present themselves. These we do by maintaining 
our strategic focus and preserving the integrity of our position as the vanguard of market governance.

Strength in foundation, anchor organized markets, vantage point for untapped opportunities, independence in critical thinking, deci-
sive action, integrity of initiatives, transparency.

All these traits are fully subsumed within the PDS Group Tower.

Financial Statements
27 Philippine Dealing System Holdings Corp. and Subsidiaries 
 (Consolidated)
53 Philippine Dealing System Holdings Corp.
70 Philippine Dealing & Exchange Corp.
91 Philippine Depository & Trust Corp.
115 PCD Nominee Corporation
126 Philippine Securities Settlement Corp.

144 List of PDS Participants
147 List of 2008 PDS Awards Winners



2  PDS Group 2008 Annual Report

The Philippine Dealing System Group of Companies 
(PDS Group) is a private enterprise borne out of a developmen-
tal vision to reshape the Philippine fi nancial market architecture. 
Along with this vision, PDS Group’s growing suite of products 
and services continues to promote the growth of the public mar-
ket, addressing the increasing capital requirements of issuers, 
enhancing liquidity and further deepening the capital markets. 
The PDS Group hosts a fi xed income market infrastructure that 
seamlessly links pre-trade to post-trade activities in the securities 
market to meet the needs of investors.

The PDS Group is composed of the Philippine Dealing System 
Holdings Corp., the holding company, and three operating sub-
sidiaries namely the Philippine Dealing & Exchange Corp., the 
Philippine Depository & Trust Corp., and the Philippine Securities 
Settlement Corp.

The Philippine Dealing & Exchange Corp. (PDEx), 
the trading arm of the PDS Group, provides a centralized elec-
tronic infrastructure for trading fi xed-income securities to deliver 
price discovery, transparency and investor protection. It acquired 
its exchange registration from the Securities and Exchange Com-
mission (SEC) in April 2004 and was formally granted registra-
tion as a Self-Regulatory Organization (SRO) for the Inter-Dealer 
Market in July 2006.  In November 2007, the SEC expanded the 
SRO registration of PDEx to cover the Inter-Professional Market 
and in February 2008, its SRO authority was expanded to cover 
its members in all markets within the PDEx Trading Systems, 
including the public market. PDEx witnessed the broadening of 
its market base in 2008 upon the entry of the public market, as 
it welcomed the introduction of a new type of Trading Participant 
into its market structure – the Brokering Participant, a species 
of Trading Participant devoted primarily to the retail markets.  In 
line with the expansion of its trading community, PDEx likewise 
opened up investors’ opportunities by introducing corporate debt 
instruments for trading on its platform, with the listing of the Ayala 
Corp. and the Ayala Land Inc. Fixed Rate Bonds after the middle 
of last year.  Complementing the market expansion, PDEx fi nal-
ized efforts to bring two key liquidity enhancement programs to 
the market in 2008 - the Securities Lending Program and the 

Inter-Professional Repurchase Agreement Market Program. 
These programs were made available to boost market liquidity 
on both the securities and cash sides to achieve a more robust 
secondary market for fi xed-income securities by supporting the 
fi rmness of bids and offers. As a further support to the Philip-
pine fi nancial system, PDEx also provides the trading system for 
foreign exchange transaction in the spot market and the trading 
platform for the Bankers’ Association of the Philippines (BAP) In-
ter-bank Call Loan market.

o Trading Services
       Registered Markets for Fixed Income Securities under 
       Self Regulatory Organization:
  
               Fixed Income Trading Market
         - Phil. Treasury Bills
         - Phil. Treasury Bonds
         - Corporate Notes / Bonds
  
 Market Liquidity Support Programs
         - Inter-Professional Repurchase  
            Agreement (REPO) Program
         - Securities Lending Program 
 
       Trading Platform Service Provider:
 
 Inter-Dealer Spot USD/PhP Foreign Exchange Market
  
 BAP Interbank Call Loan Market

o Issuer Services
 Corporate Services:
  Listing
  Enrolment

PDEx Products and Services

CORPORATE PROFILE &    
PERFORMANCE HIGHLIGHTS



The Philippine Dealing 
System Group of Companies 

(PDS Group) is a private 
enterprise borne out of a 

developmental vision to reshape 
the Philippine fi nancial market 

architecture. 

Bridging the Issuer        3

PDEx Performance Highlights

Annual Trading Volume and Trade Tickets

Volume of securities trading in PDEx registered a respectable performance record reaching a high of Php1.935 Trillion, up 23.74% 
from the previous year’s level, notwithstanding the dampening effect of the global fi nancial crisis on investor confi dence. The rise in 
trading volume, driven primarily by the introduction of the public market in early 2008, resulted in the signifi cant increase in the num-
ber of tickets by almost three-folds from 16,767 in 2007 to 45,145 in 2008. 

While the bulk of trading activity was concentrated on government securities, corporate securities listed in the latter part of the year , 
reached a volume of Php129.2 Million.  
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Daily Average Volume and Number of Tickets

On the average, daily trading volume was for 2008 higher by 22.73% versus the previous year and expanded 34.40% on a com-
pounded annual growth basis since 2006. Daily average trade tickets in 2008 was 149.31% higher than in 2007 mainly due to wider 
investor base with the launch of the public market trading platform in February 2008.

3 .2 4  6 .4 1  7 .8 7  
-

4 0  

8 0  

1 2 0  

1 6 0  

2 0 0  

-

2 .0 0  

4 .0 0  

6 .0 0  

8 .0 0  

1 0 .0 0  

2 0 0 6 2 0 0 7 2 0 0 8

Tickets

Vo
lu

m
e 

In
 B

ill
io

n 
Ph

P

D a ily  V o lu m e  (In  B n ) D a ily  Ticke ts

Average Volume per Trade

The high growth in trade tickets as compared to the growth in trading volume resulted in a lower volume per trade, refl ecting primarily 
the increasing public participation in the securities market. 
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Trading Volume Mix (Broker vs. Dealer vs. QIB)

Trading Volume Breakdown Transaction Count Breakdown

The brokers contributed Php367.38 Million to trading volume, representing 18.98% of the total trading volume for the 2008 and sub-
stantially rising from 9.8% since the introduction of the public market, which more than offset the impact of a fl at inter-dealer market 
during the year. 

Broker transactions amounted to 22,740 contributing 53.96% of the total trade tickets, which exceeded the dealers’ share of 44.30%. 
The growth in broker volume was supported by the admission of new brokers as trading participants, which brought the total to 26 
brokers in addition to 39 dealing participants in the PDEx platform as of yearend. 

Broker Trade Breakdown
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Broker Volume Breakdown: With Same Firm vs. With Other Firm Broker Ticket Breakdown: With Same Firm vs. With Other Firm

Apart from broadening the investor base, the introduction of the public market provided investors greater access to best price. As 
percentage of monthly broker volume, outside of broker fi rm transactions rose from 18.08% in February to almost 80% in December. 
For the same period, inter-broker transactions increased from 32.25% to 57.28%.
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The Philippine Depository & Trust Corp. (PDTC), 
provides post trade securities services through the operations of 
the central depository.  PDTC likewise provides custody services 
and value added services. The operations of the central deposi-
tory make possible the paperless securities environment through 
its electronic book-entry system, incorporating greater effi ciency 
and security in the settlement infrastructure for both the equities 
and debt markets. PDTC was likewise granted trust and quasi-
banking licenses from the Bangko Sentral ng Pilipinas (BSP) to 
perform its custody function, and registry license from the SEC. 
Aside from its core services, PDTC also offers Collateral Man-
agement, Lending Agency, and Lending Pool services to support 
the submarkets developed and administrated by PDEx.  In 2008, 
aligning its focus with the efforts of PDEx to fold in the public 
market and provide a market reach to corporate issuers, PDTC 
commenced its services to the debt market by operating its de-
pository infrastructure to the Expanded Delivery Versus Payment 
System of PDEx, to provide depository services for the investor 
markets in government securities and facilitating and enabling 
settlement of fi xed income transactions involving corporate is-
sues.  Sparked by the liquidity enhancement programs brought 
to the market by PDEx, PDTC likewise activated its Collateral 
Management Services, providing electronic margin management 
and collateral monitoring processes and resolution mechanisms 
for the PDEx Programs, as well as the BAP Inter-bank Call Loan 
Market in 2008.

PDTC Products and Services

o Safekeeping Services
 Depository:
  Nominee Services
  Fixed-Income
  Equities
 Custody:
  Fixed-Income
  Equities
    
o Registry Services
 Transfer Agency
 Paying Agency

o Value Added Services
 Collateral Management
 Securities Lending Pool Operation
 Securities Lending Agency:
  Trusteeship Services

PDS Group’s growing suite of products and 
services continues to promote the growth of 
the public market, addressing the increasing 
capital requirements of issuers, enhancing 
liquidity and further deepening the capital 
markets. 



Bridging the Issuer        7

GS Depository Holdings

In 2008, PDTC also started ser-
vicing debt securities in its de-
pository service in conjunction 
with settlement of PDEx public 
market trades and repurchase 
agreement transactions.  

Coinciding with the growth of the 
public market, total government 
securities deposited in PDTC 
grew to PhP10.32 billion as of 
end-2008.

PDTC Performance Highlights

Equity Depository Holdings
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As of end-2008, PDTC safekept equity securities with a total market value of PhP726.372 billion, refl ecting a decline in value by 
49.6% from year ago, due to the lackluster performance of the stock market attributed to the impact of the global fi nancial and eco-
nomic crisis on trading activity and equity price index levels.
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Securities Under Registry

The registry business covering fi xed income securities grew more than twofold versus the previous year to Php86.62 billion as of 
end-2008 in terms of value of securities registered, driven by both bank and corporate paper issuances. Bank issues comprised the 
bulk of the new issuances which rose to P54.57 billion as of end-2008 from P22.69 billion as of end-2007.  Meanwhile, corporate bond 
registration volume rose to PhP20.25 billion from PhP12.75 billion.
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Rounding out the suite of PDS Group services is the Group’s 
settlement infrastructure provider for payments,

The Philippine Securities Settlement Corp. (PSSC), The 
PSSC enabled the transition of the settlement processes to a 
Straight-Through-Process (STP) mode to improve operational 
effi ciencies for its users, while continuing operation of its settle-
ment and payment system, including STP for the settlement of 
Repurchase Agreement (Repo) trades, the Philippine Domestic 
Dollar Transfer System (or PDDTS), the fi rst foreign currency 
real-time gross settlement (RTGS) payment system in Asia, and 
the Payment versus Payment (or PvP) system for settlement of 
foreign exchange trades.

PSSC Products and Services

o Interbank Foreign Exchange (FX) Transfers
 Philippine Domestic Dollar Transfer System (PDDTS)
 Payment vs. Payment (PvP) Facility

o Straight-Through-Process (STP) Facilities
 Foreign Exchange
 Public Market
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PSSC Performance Highlights

PDDTS

The total value of USD transactions transacted at the PDDTS in 2008 amounted to USD154.37 billion, a 12.6% increase from the 
prior year.  The number of transactions under this platform likewise expanded to 228,403 in 2008 from 221,493 in 2007. 

PvP
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For the settlement of Foreign Exchange trades, the total value of transactions for PSSC’s Payment versus Payment (PvP) facility 
amounted to USD677.93 billion in 2008, 14.39% higher than 2007’s transaction value of USD592.62 billion. The number of transac-
tions also rose to 173,957 from 156,075 a year earlier.
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2008 MILESTONES

o   The BSP issues a letter effectively allowing its regulated entities to participate in the PDEx Inter-Professional Repurchase 
     Agreement (Repo) Market Program (Repo Program).
o   The SEC grants PDEx the authority as Self-Regulatory Organization (SRO) for its members in all markets, including the OTC   
     market, within the PDEx Trading System and for all transactions under the PDEx Rules.
o   The SEC approves PDEx as an OTC Market Operator.
o   The SEC approves PDEx to operate as a Central Trade Reporting System for the fi xed-income market.
o   The SEC approves the amendment of the PDEx Rules, covering an expansion of the Rules to govern the public market.  
     This approval ushered in the launch of the public market, with the entry of 17 Broker Participants and 3 Inter-Dealer Brokers 
o   PDS executes a Memorandum of Agreement with the Philippine Stock Exchange for the development of the derivatives market.
o   Launch of the Dealer-QI (Qualifi ed Investors) Trade Facility for Dealing Participants to execute Fixed Income transactions with  
     non-PDEx Trading Participants who are Qualifi ed Investors as defi ned in the relevant rules of the SEC.
o   Launch of the PDEx Repo Program.
o   Listing of the Ayala Corp. Fixed Rate Bonds due 2012 and Ayala Land Inc. Fixed Rate Bonds due 2013 – the fi rst ever listings of 
     corporate debt issuances on an organized market, accessible to the public.

PHILIPPINE DEALING & EXCHANGE CORP.

PHILIPPINE DEPOSITORY & TRUST CORP.

o   Settlement of fi xed income trades through the Depository was likewise supported by the BSP’s issuance of its confi rmation that 
     delivery of securities to PDTC, as Depository, is compliant with the requirements of securities delivery under the provisions of 
     BSP Circular No. 392. 
o   Activity in the Collateral Management System commenced simultaneously with the recent development in the market activities  
     of the liquidity enhancement programs: the Bankers’ Association of the Philippines Inter-bank Call Loan facility and the 
     Inter-Professional Repo program. 
o   PDTC Registry business hits PhP 86.6 Billion, up 110% from prior year.

PHILIPPINE SECURITIES SETTLEMENT CORP.

o   Launch of the following facilities to support the public’s participation in the fi xed-income market paving the entry of 
     retail investors:
 - Expanded Delivery-versus-Payment (eDvP) settlement system with links to the PDTC Depository system for securities 
   settlement and to the Cash Settlement Banks and BSP-PhilPass for cash settlement.
 - Registry Direct, an internet-based front-end system to the Government Securities (GS) registry (RoSS) to enable account 
   holders to send electronic transfer instructions to RoSS.
 - Straight-through-process (STP) facility for PDEx public market trades for settlement in the eDvP facility and;
 - STP facility for transfers of GS to/from the PDTC Depository via Registry Direct.
o Launch of the STP facility for the settlement of Repurchase Agreements (Repo) traded in the PDEx trading system.
o Launch of the STP facility for the settlement of PDEx Foreign Exchange (FX) spot trades in the PSSC Payment-versus-Payment 
   system.
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Consolidating the Market 
Infrastructure as a Meaningful 

Venue for Issuers, 
Intermediaries and Investors

The year 2008 was a period of signifi cant achievements in the 
Philippine fi xed income market despite the unfolding of a crisis 
that caused diffi culties not only to the banking system but also to 
credit markets and economies across the globe. The importance 
of an organized market gained emphasis in the past year, with 
market leaders and regulators worldwide recognizing in clear and 
unequivocal terms the merits of organized markets and the need 
to shift market underpinnings towards new norms that inculcate 
transparency and order in markets.

These words ring true and re-energize those of us who have de-
voted time and effort to the building of a market infrastructure that 
brings life to a reformative norm.  Since its inception, the PDS 
Group has taken the bold strides necessitated by the scope of its 
vision to bring order to our fi xed income market as the community 
solution to our vulnerabilities in crises of decades past.  We are 
hopeful that our markets are likewise inspired by the sentiments 
of our global counterparts and feel a sense of validation in these 
supportive views by mature and versed markets.

For PDS, the year 2008 marked a signifi cant consolidation pe-
riod as we completed our building efforts to complete the market 
infrastructure designed to bring depth and liquidity to our fi xed 
income market.  The PDS Group brings a full suite of market in-
frastructure services to the fi xed income market, linking trading, 
settlement and post-settlement services through a seamless ser-
vice model, with thrusts and products geared towards enhanced 
price transparency, liquidity, investor protection and sound settle-
ment systems

Our past year was productive in bringing our market consolida-
tion efforts forward, as we mobilized the opening up of the market 
infrastructure to reach out to public investors with novel interme-
diation mechanisms and commenced the expansion of the range 
of investment products brought about by the listing of the initial 
corporate issues, hoped to begin a trend of diversifi cation of in-
struments traded on the infrastructure. These long-envisioned 
strategic initiatives have begun to bear fruit as we bore witness 
to landmark events in our fi xed income markets.

The grants of regulatory approvals by the Securities and Ex-
change Commission paved the way for our consolidation efforts, 
which expanded the PDEx SRO and clearing authorities to in-
clude the public market, with the approval of the PDEx Public 
Market Rules.  As the transitional period of the OTC Rules was 
brought to a close, the role of the PDS Group trading arm was 
given recognition for the roles it plays in the OTC markets – as 
an OTC market operator and as the Central Trade Reporting 

MESSAGE OF THE
PRESIDENT & CEO

System when the market infrastructure diversifi es with the entry 
of other Quotation Systems.  These regulatory grants were met 
with the operational responses that brought the public market to 
life – cash settlement banks were registered and folded into the 
infrastructure and the depository opened its services to the fi xed 
income market.  These complementary developments launched 
the expanded Delivery-versus-Payment Facility, which allows 
a settlement capability for retail investors on a delivery-versus-
payment mode, at par with the more sophisticated inter-dealer 
market.  

Investors were greeted with new issues on the platform, with the 
listing by Ayala Corporation, Inc. and Ayala Land, Inc. of their 
debt instruments in the third quarter of 2008. For the fi rst time 
in our fi xed income market, private issuers of debt instruments 
brought their wares for secondary trading to the PDS Group mar-
ket infrastructure, not only bringing liquidity to their instruments 
and a market reach that included public investors, but likewise 
allowing the market to enjoy real time price information on these 
instruments.  We laud the pioneering spirit in Ayala Land, Inc. 
and Ayala Corp., Inc. in recognizing the advancing prospects of 
a transparent and orderly secondary market and in planting their 
imprint at the forefront of these development efforts for corporate 
issuers.  We join our partners in the issuer sector in continuing 
to build up the suite of services for issuers and look to the year 
ahead with fortifi ed energy as we assure our issuer community 
of the gains in store for them, and that the PDS Group continues 
to cultivate this fertile ground to bring greater opportunities for 
issuer fundraising activities, both in terms of diversifi cation and 
market reach.

We look forward in 2009 to opening up the borders of our market 
by implementing a new market access infrastructure that would 
bring the trading market closer to investors through an internet-
based application - the Fixed Income Broker Internet Order-Tak-
ing System (FI-BIOS).  This landmark innovation will bridge the 
realities of time and space that hamper the market access of out-
lying areas of our country and is hoped to bring about increasing 
market depth and liquidity, as well as market effi ciency.

Complementary and parallel activities to bring liquidity enhance-
ment programs to the market achieved completion in the year 
2008, with the concurrence of the Bangko Sentral ng Pilipinas 
(BSP) to the core liquidity programs of the PDS Group - the Inter-
Professional Repurchase Agreement (REPO) Market Program 
and the Securities Lending Transactions Program (SLT). 
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VICENTE B. CASTILLO
PDS Group President & Chief Executive Offi cer

These programs activated the central collateral management 
services of PDTC, a major component of the value added suite 
of services offered to the market, bringing about the institutional 
readiness to provide other infrastructural support to the banking 
system.  In this vein, the PDS Group began servicing the Inter-
Bank Call Loan Market of the Bankers Association of the Philip-
pines, providing trading and collateral management services.

PDS revenues experienced a steady rise from the trading ser-
vices arm, and continued relative stability from the settlements 
group.  The revenue models of the securities settlement arm 
were rationalized to bring balance and stability to the streams 
generated and are expected areas of improvement as new ser-
vices were brought to the service suite and existing services are 
reinvigorated.  

On the other hand, PDS Expenses maintained a steady level 
even while manpower expenses refl ected some increase due to 
the thrust of the PDS Group to professionalize its ranks as the 
PDS Group shifted its operational model from a project to a busi-
ness.  Group-wide efforts were undertaken to consolidate and 
streamline the Group’s operational ranks to improve effi ciency 
in the PDS cost structure and provision of service to the mar-
ket.  Internal and external service units were centralized on a 
Group-wide to optimize synergies in service areas and internal 
operations.

PDEx, the trading arm of the PDS Group, showed continued 
growth in revenues, implementing a new transaction revenue 
structure at the beginning of 2008.  This growth was further driv-
en by the public market entry which ushered in the admission 
of new participants into the trading infrastructure, both inter-pro-
fessional and public participants alike, growing the membership 
revenue.  FX Subscription revenue remained steady while other 
services remained in its infancy and are future growth areas for 
the trading arm.  Manpower expenses increased slightly as the 
thrust of professionalizing the human resource component was 
pursued vigorously, while technology expenses lowered slightly, 
refl ecting the extension in the useful life of the main technology 
component.  Increased utilization of the trading infrastructure 
was evidenced by consistent growth in trading volume, average 
daily volume, transaction count, average daily transaction count, 
volume turn over and adjusted volume turnover.  Its positive re-
sults are expected to continue this trend in the coming year.

As a result of the continued and projected steady growth of its 
trading infrastructure and revenue streams therefrom, the PDS 
Holdings Corporation partially reversed its impairment in its in-
vestment in PDEx in the amount of P40.3 MM and continues to 
hold the impairment under review while PDEx proves its sus-
tained viability in the coming years.

The Securities Services Arm (PDTC) continued steady and stable 
service provision and underwent its fi rst BSP audit, from which it 
garnered a respectable overall rating of CAMELS 4.  It likewise 

retained its Thomas Murray Overall Rating of “A”.  These ratings 
are a testament to its continued stability and soundness as a 
market infrastructure and provide assurance that its systems and 
processes are at par with regulatory and external expectations. 
The PDS Group is especially cognizant of the governance and 
management philosophies underlying PDTC’s operations, recog-
nizing its unique position as a rated and dually regulated entity.  

PDTC revenues were affected by reversals in values experi-
enced by the equities market, exhibiting the heavy reliance of its 
equities market safekeeping income to the levels of the PSE in-
dex.  This reliance is expected to be balanced in the coming year 
by the growth in annuity incomes generated by the service suite 
for the fi xed income market, particularly its value added services 
principal of which is the collateral management service.  Regis-
try income began to make its presence felt, with an increasing 
number of mandates being awarded to the PDTC, while the col-
lateral management incomes started their stream into the reve-
nue profi le.  These incomes are expected to stabilize the income 
structure of PDTC, as the fi xed income market begins to harness 
the power of their securities holdings and stretch their earnings 
potential by increased usage of PDTC’s value added services.  
PDTC’s expenses were managed down in line with the Group-
wide cost consolidation thrust as the operational paradigm shifted 
from a developmental phase into its execution phase and servic-
es were integrated for effi ciency and rationalization, while a rise 
in technology was felt due to the commencement of recognition 
of depreciation costs on the securities services infrastructure.  

PSSC continues its steady growth through the years with a rela-
tively stable revenue stream and product suite.  Its rise in man-
power expenses is accounted for by the professionalization of its 
ranks to provide the quality of services required by the business.  
Consistent modest growth in the USD Fund transfer and PvP 
Settlement revenues are refl ected in both volume and transac-
tion count bases.

We look to the year ahead and direct ourselves to the future of 
this infrastructure – a further diversifi cation of investment oppor-
tunities for investors, increased fundraising options for issuers 
and deepening market access.    We remain committed to efforts 
to remove the divide that inhibits further market growth because 
of segregations caused by tax and currency distinctions.  We 
continue to build on the foundations we have created for our fi xed 
income market and are hopeful that unifi cation programs will lift 
these barriers to allow a further expansion of our community of 
stakeholders and increase our global appeal as a market.

(Original Signed)
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INDEPENDENTS
Confl icts Management Tool

Why are they Central?

They bring independence to 
the full sphere of decision-making 

to achieve uniformity and 
consistency across the 

infrastructure and preserve 
proprietary interests on vital 
confi dential information (i.e. 

product development) against 
competitive shareholders

Why are they Critical?

They bring balance to 
decision-making by insulating it 

from corporate interest or market 
infl uence

Corporate Governance
Realm

Market Governance
Realm

The Board of Directors
The Decision-Makers

The Executive Committee
The Policy Drivers

The Audit Committee
Oversight on Procedures

and Controls

The Risk Committee
Oversight on Enterprise

and Risk

The Nominations and 
Remunerations Committee

Oversight on 
Professionalization

The Market 
Governance Board

The Rulemaking Body

Listing Committee
Issuer’s Venue

Trading Committee
Dealers’ and Brokers’ 

Venue

Settlement Committee
Settlement Infrastructure

Venue

Risk Committee
Systemic Risk Oversight

Market Compliance and 
Discipline Committee
The Disciplinary Body
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CORPORATE
GOVERNANCE
Corporate Governance at the PDS Group

The PDS Group of Companies (PDS Group) abides by sound 
corporate governance principles conforming to regulatory stan-
dards prescribed by regulators of its core business lines – the 
Bangko Sentral ng Pilipinas and the Securities and Exchange 
Commission.  Its commitment to corporate governance is mani-
fested in the deliberate confi guration of its Boards of Directors 
and the various working committees, always recognizing the 
mechanisms by which decision-making is made sound and rel-
evant, while the enterprise pursues its corporate goals.

Shareholder representation

The PDS Group, having been borne out of a vision to instill a 
market culture and perspective, built its organizational frame-
work on the principle that its shareholders must play an active 
role in the policy and strategic decision-making for the enter-
prise.  The Boards of Directors of each company in the Group 
has always been designed to bring shareholder representatives 
into the sphere of steering the enterprise to its envisioned goal.  
This confi guration has served to fortify the Board of Directors 
as a meaningful venue for a sustained dialogue between share-
holders, to ensure that they continue to share a unifi ed view on 
the mission and vision of the PDS Group, and that directional 
shifts are undertaken in a spirit of cooperation and understand-
ing among shareholders.  The PDS Group believes in the value 
of this dialogue in bringing about a climate of candor, honesty 
and openness among shareholders, recognizing that sharehold-
ers are peers in the PDS endeavor, and that the shareholders 
are themselves relevant stakeholders in the business of the PDS 
Group as an enterprise.

Independent representation

Hand in hand with shareholder representatives sit independent 
directors, whose wisdom and unclouded vision provide the bal-
ance that any decision-making process and environment must 
promise.  Since its inception as a group of companies, the role 
of independent directors in the governance structure of the PDS 
Group has always been given signifi cance, appreciating the pres-
ence and participation of independent directors as an invaluable 
tool for sound decision-making.  The PDS Group has enjoyed 
and benefi ted from the representation of an impressive roster of 
independent directors, whose knowledge, expertise, and sensi-

tivity to their role as corporate governance tools in the corporate 
structure is widely recognized.

The Boards of Directors of each company in the PDS Group in-
cludes three (3) independent directors.  

Committee structures

The principal working committees of each company include the 
Executive Committee, composed of the 3 independent directors 
of the company, the President and the CEO; the Audit Commit-
tee, composed of only the independent directors of the company, 
and the Nominations and Remunerations Committee and the 
Risk Management Committee, both chaired by independent di-
rectors.  These Committees have been tasked to perform spe-
cifi c mandates, consistent with regulatory expectations from such 
Committees.

Holistic Decision-making and Equitable Dealing 
within the PDS Group

The PDS Group believes in a unifi ed vision on corporate over-
sight.  Hence, its committee organizations play out through 
group-wide structures that perform their different mandates from 
a singular vantage point. 
This is likewise envisioned to bring about a holistic system of 
governance and decision-making that ensures proper consider-
ation of business impacts on a group-wide level, bringing about 
an environment of equitable and arms’ length dealing to inter-
company relations.

Segregation of Corporate Governance from 
Market Governance

Conscious of the role of the Philippine Dealing & Exchange Corp. 
(PDEx) as a Self-Regulatory Organization for the fi xed income 
market, the PDS Group has segregated oversight of the regula-
tory function from its corporate board and committee structures.  

This type of governance structure was designed to insulate the 
market governance function from its corporate governance struc-
ture that sees to its business needs as a corporate enterprise to 
achieve the independence of the market regulation. 
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MARKET    
GOVERNANCE
PDEx as a Self Regulatory Organization (SRO)

Early 2008 started with the Securities & Exchange Commission 
(SEC) expanding the Self-Regulatory Organization (SRO) reg-
istration of the Philippine Dealing & Exchange Corp. (PDEx) to 
include the Public Market, thus completing the coverage of PDEx 
of the markets, from the Inter-Dealer and the Inter-Professional 
Market to the Public Market.

Implementing the mandate stated under the Securities Regula-
tion Code (Republic Act No. 8799), the PDEx SRO, as an in-
dependent and separate body from the corporate governance, 
continues to enhance and expand the PDEx Rules through the 
Market Governance Board (MGB), and to enforce compliance 
with provisions of the Code and its rules and regulations and 
the PDEx Rules through the Market Compliance and Discipline 
Committee (MCDC), ably supported by the Market Regulatory 
Services Group (MRSG).  

Rulemaking and the Market Governance Board

In line with the expansion of the PDEx SRO to the Public Market, 
the MGB, composed of 9 governors, with 4 governors represent-
ing the different market sectors impacted by the regulations: is-
suers, dealers, salesmen, and investors; 4 governors that are 
independent, and a representative of PDEx as market operator,  
enhanced the existing rules to complement such expansion to 
the Public Market. The enhanced rules which were approved by 
the SEC in early 2008 expanded the types of the PDEx Trad-
ing Participants from Dealing and Qualifi ed Investor Participant 
to include the Brokering Participant as the representative of the 
investing public and added listing as a way of admitting new is-
sues in the PDEx Trading Systems.  In keeping with the estab-
lishment of an infrastructure that seamlessly links trading up to 
settlement, the MGB not only adopted rules on trading that will 
include the Public Market but also paved the way for creating 
rules that would make an investor-level delivery versus payment 
settlement available to the Public Market.

The MGB, in its rule-making activities, continues to be aided by 
its standing Committees with assigned focus areas chaired by 
each of the Independent Governors. These Standing Commit-

tees include: (a) the Trading Committee; (b) the Settlement Com-
mittee; (c) the Listing and Admissions Committee; and (d) the 
Investor Protection Committee. The members of these Standing 
Committees include the treasurers, settlement offi cers, heads of 
the underwriting units, and heads of sales of the PDEx Trading 
Participants respectively.  

Enforcement and the Market Compliance 
and Discipline Committee

Transitioning from monitoring the Inter-Dealer and Inter-Profes-
sional Market to the Public Market, the MCDC, in 2008, with its 
primary objective of investor protection, enhanced its estab-
lished monitoring programs to include the Public Market focus-
ing, among others, on the application of the best execution rule 
- using reasonable diligence to ascertain the best available price 
for the security and buy or sell at that price so that the resultant 
price to customer is as favorable as possible under the prevailing 
market conditions.

The MCDC composed of fi ve governors of the MGB, four (4) of 
whom are the Independent Governors and the other the Gover-
nor representing the market operator, PDEx, ensures focus on 
the delivery of impartial adjudicative processes, as it sees to the 
proper adherence to market rules and laws. 

Compliance and Surveillance and the 
Market Regulatory Services Group

The MRSG, the operating unit within PDEx, supporting both rule-
making and enforcement activities of the SRO continues with its 
activities of regulation, compliance and surveillance, investiga-
tion and enforcement, and examination.
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MANAGEMENT
STRUCTURE
The senior offi cers of the PDS Holdings Corp. (the Holdings Company) are the President, Business Heads, the Chief Risk Offi cer and 
the Head of the Internal Audit.

The President is the Chief Executive Offi cer (CEO) of the Holdings Company and the CEO of the three Operating Companies. As the 
highest-ranking corporate offi cer, he is responsible for the overall management of the company, its strategic direction and adoption 
and implementation of plans designed for the attainment of the business goals of the corporation. He is a member of the Board of 
Directors of the Holdings Company as well as Chairman of the Board of the Operating Companies. In addition, he is a member of the 
various Standing Committees of the Holdings Company and its Operating Companies.

The Business Heads handle (a) Trading Services, (b) Securities Services, (c) Settlement Services and (d) Membership Services. 

The Chief Risk Offi cer (CRO) monitors risk exposures of the Holdings Company and the Operating Companies, arising from the 
products and services offered, platforms and other systems being operated as well as all operational and residuals risks to which the 
capital of the Holdings Company and the Operating Companies is exposed. The position is independent of business units of the PDS 
Group and the CRO is a member of the Risk Management Committee. Risks that are material to the overall capital position of the 
PDS Group are addressed directly at the Board of Directors level. The CRO also provides a periodic review of price data quoted by 
trading participants and report to the Market Governance Board possible indications of aberrant behavior.

The Head of the Internal Audit is responsible for evaluating and improving the effectiveness of internal controls. This is not delimited 
to the process and procedures that are relevant to the organization’s operations but also includes compliance with all applicable 
regulations issued by the SEC, BSP and other fi nancial supervisory institutions. As the Chief Internal Audit Executive, the Head of the 
Internal Audit reports to the Audit Committee of the Board of Directors. In this capacity, the Head reports to the Board of Directors the 
performance of the Internal Audit offi ce relative to plans, particularly with respect to issues that pertain to controls and governance. 

Board of Directors

EXCOM

CEO
Internal Audit Risk

Trading
Services

Securities
Services

Settlements
Services

Membership
Services
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BOARD OF 
DIRECTORS

Commitment to corporate 
governance is manifested in the 

deliberate confi guration of its 
Boards of Directors and the various working 

committees, always recognizing the 
mechanisms by which decision making is 

made sound and relevant, while the 
enterprise pursues its corporate goals.

Cesar E.A. Virata
Chairman Emeritus

Aurelio R. Montinola III
Chairman

Vicente B. Castillo
President and CEO
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Teodoro B. Montecillo
Member

Atty. Jose Salvador Y. 
Mirasol

Corporate Secretary

Ma. Vivian Yuchengco
Member

Seck Wai Kwong
Member

George S. Chua
Member

Jose L. Cuisia, Jr.
Member

Atty. Cornelio T. Peralta
Member

Ricardo L. Fernandez
Member
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PHILIPPINE DEALING SYSTEM HOLDINGS CORP.
BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Directors named below are those who served for the majority of the term commencing April 25, 2008

  NAME       POSITION

  Cesar E.A. Virata     Chairman Emeritus
  Aurelio R. Montinola III    Chairman
  Vicente B. Castillo     President and CEO
  Ma. Vivian Yuchengco    Member
  Seck Wai Kwong     Member
  Jose L. Cuisia, Jr.     Member
  Ricardo L. Fernandez     Member
  Teodoro B. Montecillo     Member (Independent)
  George S. Chua     Member (Independent)
  Atty. Cornelio T. Peralta    Member (Independent)

  Atty. Jose Salvador Y. Mirasol   Corporate Secretary

PHILIPPINE DEALING SYSTEM HOLDINGS CORP.
COMMITTEE CHAIRMEN

Chairmen named below are those who served for the majority of the term commencing April 25, 2008

  NAME       POSITION

  Teodoro B. Montecillo     Corporate Governance 
         (Nominations and Remunerations)
  George S. Chua     Audit Committee
  Jose Luis S. Javier     Risk Management Committee
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SUBSIDIARIES 
DIRECTORS

NOTE: Directors who are 
concurrent directors of the holding 
company are not shown here

Left - Right:

Cesar B. Crisol

Roy B. Lacsamana

Cornelia C. Dagdag

Left - Right:

Antonio C. Moncupa, Jr.

Jesus A. Jacinto, Jr.

Justo A. Ortiz

Left - Right:

Francisco Ed. Lim

Peter Chia Chon Hian

William L. Ang

Left - Right:

Jose Luis S. Javier

Vicente L. Panlilio 
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PHILIPPINE DEALING & EXCHANGE CORP.
BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Directors named below are those who served for the majority of the term commencing April 25, 2008

  NAME       POSITION

  Vicente B. Castillo     Chairman and CEO
  Cesar B. Crisol     President and COO
  Jesus A. Jacinto, Jr.     Member
  Francisco Ed. Lim     Member
  Peter Chia Chon Hian     Member   
  Ricardo L. Fernandez     Member   
  Teodoro B. Montecillo     Member (Independent)
  George S. Chua     Member (Independent) 
  Vicente L. Panlilio     Member (Independent) 
  Atty. Jose Salvador Y. Mirasol   Corporate Secretary

PHILIPPINE DEPOSITORY & TRUST CORP.
BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Directors named below are those who served for the majority of the term commencing April 25, 2008

  NAME       POSITION

  Vicente B. Castillo     Chairman and CEO
  Roy B. Lacsamana      President and COO      
  Antonio C. Moncupa, Jr.    Member
  William L. Ang      Member
  Peter Chia Chon Hian     Member   
  Ricardo L. Fernandez     Member  
  Teodoro B. Montecillo     Member (Independent) 
  George S. Chua     Member (Independent)  
  Vicente L. Panlilio     Member (Independent) 
  Atty. Jose Salvador Y. Mirasol   Corporate Secretary

PHILIPPINE SECURITIES SETTLEMENT CORP.
BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Directors named below are those who served for the majority of the term commencing April 25, 2008

  NAME       POSITION

  Vicente B. Castillo     Chairman and CEO
  Cornelia C. Dagdag     President and COO
  Justo A. Ortiz      Member
  William L. Ang      Member
  Peter Chia Chon Hian     Member   
  Ricardo L. Fernandez           Member   
  Teodoro B. Montecillo     Member (Independent)
  George S. Chua     Member (Independent) 
  Jose Luis S. Javier     Member (Independent) 
  Atty. Jose Salvador Y. Mirasol   Corporate Secretary
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BOARD OF 
GOVERNORS

In keeping with the establishment of an 
infrastructure that seamlessly links trading up 
to settlement, the MGB not only adopted rules 
on trading that will include the Public Market 
but also paved the way for creating rules that 
would make an investor-level delivery versus 

payment settlement available to the 
Public Market.

Atty. Eduardo D. de los 
Angeles
Chairman

Ernerst C. Leung
Vice-Chairman
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Ismael G. Cruz
Governor-Salesmen

Edwin B. Villanueva
Governor-Independent

Vicente B. Castillo
Governor-Market Operator

Atty. Antonio A. Picazo
Governor-Independent

Atty. Monico V. Jacob
Governor-Independent

Atty. Eleanor B. Rivera
Secretary of the Board & 

Head of Market Regulatory 
Services Group

Fernando Jose Sison III
Governor-Investors

Roberto L. Panlilio
Governor-Dealers
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MARKET GOVERNANCE BOARD
BOARD OF GOVERNORS

Governors named below are those that are governors as of December 31, 2008

  NAME       SECTORAL REPRESENTATION

  Eduardo D. de los Angeles 
  Chairman (on-leave)     Independent 
  Ernest C. Leung 
  Vice-Chairman (Acting Chairman)    Independent
  Atty. Monico V. Jacob     Independent
  Atty. Antonio A. Picazo    Independent
  Edwin B. Villanueva     Independent
  Vicente B. Castillo     Market Operator
  Ismael G. Cruz     Salesmen
  Roberto L. Panlilio     Dealers
  Fernando Jose Sison III    Investors
  Atty. Eleanor B. Rivera 
  Secretary of the Board and Head of 

 
 Market Regulatory Services Group

MARKET COMPLIANCE AND DISCIPLINE COMMITTEE 

  NAME       MEMBERS

  Eduardo D. de los Angeles 
  Chairman (on-leave)     Independent 
  Ernest C. Leung 
  Vice-Chairman (Acting Chairman)    Independent
  Atty. Monico V. Jacob     Independent
  Atty. Antonio A. Picazo    Independent
  Edwin B. Villanueva     Independent
  Vicente B. Castillo     Market Operator

MARKET GOVERNANCE BOARD 
COMMITTEE CHAIRMEN

Chairmen named below are those that are chairmen as of December 31, 2008

  NAME       COMMITTEE

  Ernest C. Leung     Investor Protection
  Atty. Monico V. Jacob     Admissions, Listing and Enrolment
  Edwin B. Villanueva     Trading
  Atty. Antonio A. Picazo    Settlement 
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SHAREHOLDERS 
STRUCTURE

Singapore 
Exchange Limited

20.0%

The Philippine 
Stock Exchange

21.0%

BAP Members & 
Institutions

28.9%

Tata Consultancy 
Services Asia-
Pacifi c Pte.Ltd.

8.0%

The Philippine 
American Life and 

General Insurance Co.
4.0%

Financial Executives 
Institute of the 

Philippines
3.1%

Investment House 
Association of the 
Philippines (IHAP) 

Members
1.1%

Computershare 
Technology 

Services 
Philippines Inc.

8.0%

San Miguel 
Corporation

4.0%

Social Security 
System 
1.5%

Golden Astra 
Capital
0.4%

NOTE: The presentation of share ownership is based on 
subscribed capital of PhP625 million.
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As a fusion of market expertise, we are supported by the capital investment of premiere organizations who share a common vision. 
Our goal to develop a vibrant and price-effi cient Philippine fi nancial market has always been anchored on a clear business proposition 
of commercial viability and institutional value-creation.

Our shareholders represent interests in commercial and investment banking, credit information services, the equities market, contrac-
tual saving institutions, manufacturing, computer technology as well as professional fi nancial executives. The roster of shareholders 
is as follows:
 

Bankers Association of the Philippines Member Banks 
and Institutions (and their Successors-in-interest)

 ABN-Amro Bank
 Allied Banking Corporation
 ANZ Bank
 Asia United Bank
 Banco de Oro Universal Bank
 Bangkok Bank
 Bank of America NT & SA
 Bank of China (Manila Branch)
 Bank of Commerce
 Bank of Tokyo
 China Banking Corporation
 Chinatrust (Phils) Commercial Bank Corporation
 Citicorp Securities International (RP), Inc.
 Deutsche Bank AG
 Development Bank of the Philippines
 East-West Banking Corporation
 Equitable-PCI Bank
 Export and Industry Bank
 Hongkong Shanghai Banking Corporation
 International Commercial Bank of China, Co. Ltd.
 Internationale Nederlanden Bank (ING)
 International Exchange Bank
 JPMorgan Chase Bank
 Korea Exchange Bank
 Land Bank of the Philippines
 Maybank Philippines Inc.
 Metropolitan Bank & Trust Company 
 Mizuho Bank
 Philippine Bank of Communications
 Philippine National Bank

 Philippine Trust Company
 Philippine Veterans Bank
 Rizal Commercial Banking Corporation
 Security Bank Corporation
 Standard Chartered Bank
 Union Bank
 United Coconut Planters Bank
 BAP Credit Bureau Inc.

The Philippine Stock Exchange, Inc.

Singapore Exchange Limited Ltd.

Computershare Technology Services 
Philippines, Inc.

Tata Consultancy Services Asia-Pacifi c Pte. Ltd.

San Miguel Corporation

The Philippine American Life and General 
Insurance Co.

Financial Executives Institute of the Philippines

Social Security System

Investment House Association of the Philippines 
(IHAP) Members with IHAP as Trustee

Golden Astra Capital
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PHILIPPINE DEALING SYSTEM HOLDINGS CORP. AND SUBSIDIARIES
Independent Auditors’ Report

The Board of Directors 

Philippine Dealing System Holdings Corp. 

We have audited the accompanying consolidated financial statements of Philippine Dealing System Holdings Corp. and Subsidiaries (the Group), 

which comprise the consolidated balance sheets as at December 31, 2008 and 2007, and the consolidated statements of income, consolidated 

statements of changes in equity and consolidated statements of cash flows for the years then ended, and a summary of significant accounting 

policies and other explanatory notes.   

Management’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements 

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in accordance with Philippine Financial 

Reporting Standards.  This responsibility includes: designing, implementing and maintaining internal control relevant to the preparation and fair 

presentation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error; selecting and applying appropriate 

accounting policies; and making accounting estimates that are reasonable in the circumstances.

Auditors’ Responsibility 

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audits.  We conducted our audits in accordance with 

Philippine Standards on Auditing.  Those standards require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain 

reasonable assurance whether the financial statements are free from material misstatement.  

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements.  The procedures 

selected depend on the auditor’s judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether 

due to fraud or error.  In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation and fair 

presentation of the financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of 

expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control.  An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting 

policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the 

financial statements. 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

Opinion 

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of Philippine Dealing System 

Holdings Corp. and Subsidiaries as of December 31, 2008 and 2007, and their financial performance and their cash flows for the years then ended 

in accordance with Philippine Financial Reporting Standards. 

SYCIP GORRES VELAYO & CO. 

Josephine Adrienne A. Abarca 

Partner 

CPA Certificate No. 92126 

SEC Accreditation No. 0466-A 

Tax Identification No. 163-257-145 

PTR No. 1566401, January 5, 2009, Makati City 

April 17, 2009 
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PHILIPPINE DEALING SYSTEM HOLDINGS CORP. AND SUBSIDIARIES
Consolidated Balance Sheets

December 31 

2008 2007

ASSETS 

Current Assets

Cash and cash equivalents (Note 4) P=25,695,014 P=44,737,027

Short-term investments (Note 5) 1,729,456 2,435,042

Receivables - net (Note 6) 160,435,854 29,091,247

Other current assets - net (Note 7) 35,197,097 30,165,291

Total Current Assets 223,057,421 106,428,607

Non-current Assets 

Property and equipment - net (Note 8) 73,305,993 75,856,314

Software and system development costs - net (Note 9) 294,119,994 287,987,550

Retirement benefit assets (Note 19) 11,431,865 9,602,196

Other non-current assets (Note 10) 11,018,505 11,211,419

 Total Non-current Assets 389,876,357 384,657,479

P=612,933,778 P=491,086,086

LIABILITIES AND EQUITY 

LIABILITIES 

Current Liabilities 

Accrued expenses and other payables (Note 11) P=37,725,636 P=48,482,720

Current portion of deferred income (Note 12) 23,288,502 28,584,956

 Total Current Liabilities 61,014,138 77,067,676

Non-current Liabilities

Retirement benefit obligation (Note 19) 15,472,782 12,418,729

Non-current portion of deferred income (Note 12) – 19,000,342

Total Non-current Liabilities 15,472,782 31,419,071

76,486,920 108,486,747

EQUITY

Equity Attributable to Equity Holders of the  

Parent Company 

Common stock (Note 13) 625,000,000 465,650,000

Additional paid-in capital  26,317,786 26,317,786

Deficit (123,012,109) (117,694,811)

528,305,677 374,272,975

Minority Interest 8,141,181 8,326,364

Total Equity 536,446,858 382,599,339

P=612,933,778 P=491,086,086

See accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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PHILIPPINE DEALING SYSTEM HOLDINGS CORP. AND SUBSIDIARIES
Consolidated Statements of Income

Years Ended December 31 

2008 2007

SERVICE INCOME (Note 14)

Service fees P=317,427,208 P=277,295,162

Rebates on transaction fees 14,177,265 –

303,249,943 277,295,162

OTHER INCOME (Note 15) 9,037,904 5,452,806

312,287,847 282,747,968

COSTS AND OPERATING EXPENSES 

Cost of services (Note 16) 267,073,733 261,987,620

Salaries and employee benefits (Notes 17 and 19) 19,257,586 19,722,369

Professional fees 6,723,136 8,108,640

Depreciation and amortization (Notes 8 and 9) 4,076,093 4,312,842

Taxes and licenses  3,527,428 2,837,410

Rent (Note 25) 3,307,345 1,967,019

Outside services 2,738,846 2,307,215

Utilities 2,339,607 1,721,661

Supplies 1,912,368 862,126

Insurance  575,495 363,025

Interest 465,475 579,427

Repairs and maintenance 334,673 69,810

Printing and reproduction 90,449 671,595

Provision for impairment losses (Notes 6 and 7) – 2,853,136

Other operating expenses (Note 18) 2,808,402 3,461,236

315,230,636 311,825,131

LOSS BEFORE INCOME TAX (2,942,789) (29,077,163)

PROVISION FOR INCOME TAX (Note 20) 2,559,692 11,730,471

NET LOSS (P=5,502,481) (P=40,807,634)

Attributable to: 

Equity holders of the Parent Company (P=5,317,298) (P=41,027,886)

Minority interest (185,183) 220,252

(P=5,502,481) (P=40,807,634)

See accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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PHILIPPINE DEALING SYSTEM HOLDINGS CORP. AND SUBSIDIARIES
Consolidated Statements of Changes in Equity

 Equity Holders of the Parent Company   

Common 
Stock 

(Note 13)

Additional 
Paid-in 
Capital Deficit Total 

Minority 
Interest Total Equity 

Balance at January 1, 2008 P=465,650,000 P=26,317,786 (P=117,694,811) P=374,272,975 P=8,326,364 P=382,599,339 

Common stock issued 159,350,000 – – 159,350,000 – 159,350,000 

Net loss for the year – – (5,317,298) (5,317,298) (185,183) (5,502,481)

Balance at December 31, 2008 P=625,000,000 P=26,317,786 (P=123,012,109) P=528,305,677 P=8,141,181 P=536,446,858 

Balance at January 1, 2007 P=427,746,400 P=26,317,786 (P=76,666,925) P=377,397,261 P=8,106,112 P=385,503,373 

Common stock issued 37,903,600 – – 37,903,600 – 37,903,600 

Net income (loss) for the year  – – (41,027,886) (41,027,886) 220,252 (40,807,634)

Balance at December 31, 2007 P=465,650,000 P=26,317,786 (P=117,694,811) P=374,272,975 P=8,326,364 P=382,599,339 
       

See accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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PHILIPPINE DEALING SYSTEM HOLDINGS CORP. AND SUBSIDIARIES
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

Years Ended December 31 

2008 2007

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES 

Loss before income tax (P=2,942,789) (P=29,077,164)

Adjustments for: 

 Depreciation and amortization (Notes 8 and 9) 57,693,555 58,073,772

 Interest income (Note 15) (5,116,276) (1,115,524)

Recovery from impairment loss (Note 6) (473,652) –

 Unrealized foreign currency exchange rates (144,416) (138,226)

 Dividend income (Note 15) (39,450) (39,450)

 Provision for impairment losses (Note 6 and 7) – 2,853,136

Operating income before working capital changes 48,976,972 30,556,544

 Changes in operating assets and liabilities: 

  Decrease (increase) in:     

   Short-term investments 705,586 7,772,921

   Receivables (130,580,291) (9,557,854)

   Other current assets (5,831,976) 571,904

   Retirement benefit assets (1,829,669) 38,469

   Other non-current assets (545,607) (14,792,832)

  Increase (decrease) in: 

   Accrued expenses and other payables (10,757,084) (6,786,779)

   Deferred income (24,296,796) (21,348,476)

   Retirement benefit obligation 3,054,053 3,237,847

Cash used in operations (121,104,812) (10,308,256)

Income taxes paid (1,021,001) (4,453,328)

Dividend received 39,450 39,450

Net cash used in operating activities (122,086,363) (14,722,134)

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES

Acquisitions of property and equipment (Note 8) (37,613,110) (8,562,357)

Additions to software and system development costs (Note 9) (24,938,931) (12,308,038)

Interest received 4,970,028 1,152,677

Proceeds from sale of property and equipment 1,276,363 454,545

Net cash used in investing activities (56,305,650) (19,263,173)

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITY

Proceeds from issuance of capital stock 159,350,000 37,903,600

NET INCREASE (DECREASE) IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS (19,042,013) 3,918,293

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT BEGINNING OF YEAR 44,737,027 40,818,734

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT END OF YEAR (Note 4) P=25,695,014 P=44,737,027

See accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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PHILIPPINE DEALING SYSTEM HOLDINGS CORP. AND SUBSIDIARIES
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

1. Corporate Information

Philippine Dealing System Holdings Corp. (the Parent Company) is a domestic corporation incorporated in the Philippines on April 24, 2001.  It holds 
ownership interests in the following entities which are all incorporated in the Philippines: 

Subsidiary 
Effective 

% of Ownership 
Philippine Dealing & Exchange Corp. (PDEx) 100.00
Philippine Securities Settlement Corp. (PSSC) 100.00
Philippine Depository & Trust Corp. (PDTC) 97.72
PCD Nominee Corporation (PCNC)* 97.72

  * A wholly owned subsidiary of PDTC 

The primary purpose of the Parent Company is to invest in, purchase, or otherwise hold, use, sell, assign, transfer, mortgage, pledge, exchange, or 
otherwise dispose of shares of stock in exchanges as defined in the Securities Regulations Code or other laws as well as in one or more corporations 
which will provide depository, registry, clearing, settlement, custody, securities borrowing and lending, information technology, and other support 
services for the Exchanges or for the other exchanges or securities or monetary transactions or platforms. 

PDEx was incorporated in the Philippines on June 17, 2003.  It started commercial operations in April 2005.  It is organized to primarily engage in the 
business of providing and maintaining an automated platform and infrastructure for the issuance, trading, dealing, brokering and exchange of fixed-
income securities, monetary instruments and their derivatives including but not limited to bonds, notes, debentures, bills, commercial papers, 
participations, trusts, asset-backed securities, and quasi-debt securities, as well as currencies, forwards, or other derivatives. 

PSSC was incorporated in the Philippines on February 18, 2004.  It started commercial operations in January 2005.  It operates as a central clearing 
and settlement institution that provides and performs clearance, settlement and related services for trades and other transactions in or involving 
securities, monetary or financial instruments and their derivatives, whether certificated or scripless, immobilized or dematerialized, including but not 
limited to those traded in or through any existing duly licensed and/or organized exchanges or markets and other similar exchanges or market; and in 
pursuance of the foregoing purposes, develops, manages, and executes rules, principles, standards, technologies, systems and market conventions 
according to global best practices and regulates its participants through its power to impose fees and penalties.   

PDTC was incorporated in the Philippines on March 31, 1995.  It is authorized to primarily act as depository, registry, custodian, trustee and/or 
intermediary of its participants of any and all kinds of securities, monetary or financial instruments and their derivatives; to borrow instruments for 
relending; to provide a system to immobilize or dematerialize instruments and act as quasi-bank, trust company, securities depository and clearing 
agency. 

PCNC was incorporated in the Philippines on January 23, 1996.  It is engaged to hold legal title to all immobilized or dematerialized securities listed 
and/or traded in the Philippine Stock Exchange (PSE) or any other registered stock exchange, and/or traded in any over-the-counter market or markets 
for and on behalf of the trading participants of the PDTC; including the right to receive dividends for and on behalf of the beneficial owners of the 
securities. 

The registered office of the Group, which is also the principal place of business, is located at the 37th Floor, The Enterprise Center, 6766 Ayala 
Avenue, Makati City. 

The consolidated financial statements of the Group were authorized for issue by the Parent Company’s Board of Directors (BOD) on April 17, 2009. 

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Basis of Preparation
The accompanying consolidated financial statements have been prepared on a historical cost basis, except for available-for-sale (AFS) investments 
that have been measured at fair value.  The consolidated financial statements are presented in Philippine pesos, which is the Group’s functional 
currency. 

Statement of Compliance
The consolidated financial statements of the Group have been prepared in compliance with Philippine Financial Reporting Standards (PFRS).   

Basis of Consolidation
The consolidated financial statements comprise the financial statements of the Parent Company and its subsidiaries as of December 31, 2008. 

The financial statements of the subsidiaries are prepared for the same reporting period as the Parent Company, using consistent accounting policies.  
All significant intra-group balances, transactions, income and expenses resulting from intra-group transactions are eliminated in full in the consolidation. 

Subsidiaries are fully consolidated from the date on which control is transferred to the Group.  Control is achieved where the Group has the power to 
govern the financial and operating policies of an entity so as to obtain benefits from its activities.  Consolidation of subsidiaries ceases when control is 
transferred out of the Group or Parent Company.  The result of subsidiaries acquired or disposed of during the year are included in the consolidated 
statements of income from the date of acquisition or up to the date of disposal, as appropriate.  

Minority Interests
Minority interests represent the portion of income or loss and the net assets not held by the Group and are presented separately in the consolidated 
statement of income and within equity in the consolidated balance sheet, separately from equity attributable to the Parent Company.  Acquisitions of 
minority interests are accounted for using the parent entity extension method, whereby, the difference between the consideration and the book value of 
the share of the net assets acquired is recognized as goodwill. 
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Changes in Accounting Policies
The accounting policies adopted are consistent with those of the previous financial year except for the adoption of the following amendments to existing 
standards that became effective on July 1, 2008 and Philippine Interpretations which became effective on January 1, 2008: 

 Amendments to Philippine Accounting Standard (PAS) 39, Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement and PFRS 7, Financial 
Instruments: Disclosure - Reclassification of Financial Assets, introduce the possibility of reclassification of securities out of the trading category 
in rare circumstances and reclassification to the loans and  receivables category if there is intent and ability to hold the securities for the 
foreseeable future or to held-to-maturity (HTM) if there is intent and ability to hold the securities until maturity.  It also allows the transfers of 
certain financial assets from AFS to loans and receivables and HTM.  The amendment to PFRS 7 introduces the disclosures relating to these 
reclassifications.  This amendment has no significant impact on the financial statements of the Group. 

 Philippine Interpretation IFRIC-11, PFRS 2-Group and Treasury Share Transactions, requires arrangements whereby an employee is granted 
rights to an entity’s equity instruments to be accounted for as an equity-settled scheme by the entity even if (a) the entity chooses or is required to 
buy those equity instruments (e.g., treasury shares) from another party, or (b) the shareholders of the entity provide the equity instruments 
needed.  It also provides guidance on how subsidiaries, in their separate financial statements, account for such schemes when their employees 
receive rights to the equity instruments of the parent.  This interpretation has no impact on the financial statements of the Group.

 Philippine Interpretation IFRIC-12, Service Concession Arrangements, covers contractual arrangements arising from private entities providing 
public services.  This interpretation is not relevant to the Group. 

 Philippine Interpretation IFRIC-14, The Limit on a Defined Benefit Asset, Minimum Funding Requirement and their Interaction, provides guidance 
on how to assess the limit on the amount of surplus in a defined benefit scheme that can be recognized as an asset under PAS 19, Employee 
Benefits.  This interpretation has no significant impact on the financial statements of the Group. 

Cash and Cash Equivalents
For purposes of reporting cash flows, cash and cash equivalents include cash on hand and in banks and other cash items with original maturities of 
three months or less from dates of placements and are subject to insignificant risk of change in value. 

Financial Instruments
Date of recognition 
The Group recognizes a financial asset or a financial liability in the consolidated balance sheet when it becomes a party to the contractual provisions of 
the instrument.  In the case of a regular way purchase or sale of financial assets, recognition and derecognition, as applicable, is done using trade date 
accounting. 

Initial recognition of financial instruments 
Financial instruments are recognized initially at fair value, which is the fair value of the consideration given (in case of an asset) or received (in case of 
a liability).  The initial measurement of financial instruments, except for those designated at fair value through profit and loss (FVPL), includes 
transaction cost. 

The Group classifies its financial instruments in the following categories: financial assets and financial liabilities at FVPL, loans and receivables, HTM 
investments, AFS investments and other financial liabilities.  The classification depends on the purpose for which the instruments are acquired and 
whether they are quoted in an active market.  Management determines the classification at initial recognition and, where allowed and appropriate, re-
evaluates this classification at every reporting date. 

As of December 31, 2008 and 2007, the Group does not have financial assets and financial liabilities at FVPL. 

Loans and receivables 
Loans and receivables are nonderivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an active market.  After initial 
measurement, loans and receivables are carried at amortized cost using the effective interest method, less any allowance for impairment.  Gains and 
losses are recognized in the Group’s consolidated statement of income when the loans and receivables are derecognized or impaired, as well as 
through the amortization process.  Loans and receivables are classified as current assets when the Group expects to realize or collect the asset within 
twelve months from the consolidated balance sheet date.  Otherwise, these are classified as non-current assets. 

Classified under this category are the Group’s Cash and cash equivalents, Receivables and Security deposits.     

HTM investments 
HTM investments are quoted nonderivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments and fixed maturities for which the Group’s 
management has the positive intention and ability to hold to maturity.  Where the Group sells other than an insignificant amount of HTM investments, 
the entire category would be tainted and reclassified as AFS investments.  After initial measurement, these investments are measured at amortized 
cost using the effective interest method, less impairment in value.  Amortized cost is calculated by taking into account any discount or premium on 
acquisition and fees that are an integral part of the effective interest rate.  Gains and losses are recognized in the consolidated statement of income 
when the HTM investments are derecognized or impaired, as well as through the amortization process.  Assets under this category are classified as 
current assets if maturity is within 12 months from the consolidated balance sheet date and as non-current assets if maturity is more than a year from 
the consolidated balance sheet date. 

This category includes the Group’s Short-term investments. 

AFS investments 
AFS investments are nonderivative financial assets that are designated in this category or are not classified in any of the other categories.  The Group 
designates assets as AFS investments when they have the intention to sell those assets when the need arises.  Subsequent to initial recognition, AFS 
investments are carried at fair value in the consolidated balance sheet.  Changes in the fair value of such assets are reported as revaluation reserve for 
AFS investments in the equity section of the consolidated balance sheet until the investment is derecognized or the investment is determined to be 
impaired.  On derecognition or impairment, the cumulative gain or loss previously reported in equity is transferred to the consolidated statement of 
income.  Interest earned on holding AFS investments are recognized in the consolidated statement of income using the effective interest rate.  Assets 
under this category are classified as current assets if the expected realization of the investment is within 12 months from consolidated balance sheet 
date and as non-current assets if maturity is more than a year from the consolidated balance sheet date. 

This category includes the Group’s investment in listed shares of stock shown under Other non-current assets in the consolidated balance sheet. 

Other financial liabilities 
This category pertains to financial liabilities that are not held for trading or not designated as at FVPL at the inception of the liability.  These include 
liabilities arising from operations or borrowings. 

The financial liabilities are recognized initially at fair value and are subsequently carried at amortized cost, taking into account the impact of applying the 
effective interest method of amortization (or accretion) for any related premium, discount and any directly attributable transaction costs. 
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This category includes Accrued expenses and other payables.

Determination of fair value
The fair value of financial instruments traded in active markets at consolidated balance sheet date is based on their quoted market prices or dealer 
price quotations (bid price for long positions and ask price for short positions), without any deduction for transaction costs.  When current bid and 
asking prices are not available, the price of the most recent transaction is used since it provides evidence of the current fair value as long as there has 
not been a significant change in economic circumstances since the time of the transaction. 

For all other financial instruments not listed in an active market, the fair value is determined by using appropriate valuation techniques.  Valuation 
techniques include net present value techniques, comparison to similar instruments for which market observable prices exist, and other relevant 
valuation models. 

‘Day 1’ profit 
Where the transaction price in a non-active market is different from the fair value of other observable current market transactions in the same 
instrument or based on a valuation technique whose variables include only data from observable market, the Group recognizes the difference between 
the transaction price and fair value (a ‘Day 1’ profit) in the consolidated statement of income, unless it qualifies for recognition as some other type of 
asset.  In cases where use is made of data which is not observable, the difference between the transaction price and model value is only recognized in 
the consolidated statement of income when the inputs become observable or when the instrument is derecognized.  For each transaction, the Group 
determines the appropriate method of recognizing the ‘Day 1’ profit amount. 

Embedded derivative  
An embedded derivative is separated from the host contract and accounted for as a derivative if all of the following conditions are met: a) the economic 
characteristics and risks of the embedded derivative are not closely related to the economic characteristics and risks of the host contract; b) a separate 
instrument with the same terms as the embedded derivative would meet the definition of a derivative; and c) the hybrid or combined instrument is not 
recognized at fair value through profit or loss. Reassessment only occurs if there is a change in the terms of the contract that significantly modifies the 
cash flows that would otherwise be required. 

Derecognition of Financial Assets and Liabilities
Financial asset 
A financial asset (or, where applicable a part of a financial asset or part of a group of financial assets) is derecognized where: 

1. the rights to receive cash flows from the asset have expired; or 
2. the Group retains the right to receive cash flows from the asset, but has assumed an obligation to pay them in full without material delay to a third 

party under a “pass-through” arrangement; or 
3. the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from the asset and either (a) has transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of 

the asset, or (b) has neither transferred nor retained the risk and rewards of the asset but has transferred the control over the asset.  

Where the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from an asset or has entered into a pass-through arrangement, and has neither 
transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset nor transferred control over the asset, the asset is recognized to the extent 
of the Group’s continuing involvement in the asset.  Continuing involvement that takes the form of a guarantee over the transferred asset is measured 
at the lower of original carrying amount of the asset and the maximum amount of consideration that the Group could be required to repay. 

Financial liability 
A financial liability is derecognized when the obligation under the liability is discharged or cancelled or has expired.  Where an existing financial liability 
is replaced by another from the same lender on substantially different terms, or the terms of an existing liability are substantially modified, such an 
exchange or modification is treated as a derecognition of the original liability and the recognition of a new liability, and the difference in the respective 
carrying amounts is recognized in the consolidated statement of income. 

Impairment of Financial Assets
The Group assesses at each consolidated balance sheet date whether there is objective evidence that a financial asset or group of financial assets is 
impaired.  A financial asset or a group of financial assets is deemed to be impaired if, and only if, there is objective evidence of impairment as a result 
of one or more events that has occurred after the initial recognition of the asset (an incurred ‘loss event’) and that loss event (or events) has an impact 
on the estimated future cash flows of the financial asset or the group of financial assets that can be reliably estimated.  Evidence of impairment may 
include indications that a customer or a group of customers is experiencing significant financial difficulty, default or delinquency in interest or principal 
payments, the probability that they will enter bankruptcy or other financial reorganization and where observable data indicate that there is measurable 
decrease in the estimated future cash flows, such as changes in arrears or economic conditions that correlate with defaults. 

Financial assets carried at amortized cost 
For financial assets carried at amortized cost, the Group first assesses whether objective evidence of impairment exists individually for financial assets 
that are individually significant, or collectively for financial assets that are not individually significant.  If the Group determines that no objective evidence 
of impairment exists for individually assessed financial asset, whether significant or not, it includes the asset in a group of financial assets with similar 
credit risk characteristics and collectively assesses for impairment.  Those characteristics are relevant to the estimation of future cash flows for groups 
of such assets by being indicative of the debtors’ ability to pay all amounts due according to the contractual terms of the assets being evaluated.  
Assets that are individually assessed for impairment and for which an impairment loss is, or continues to be, recognized are not included in the 
collective assessment for impairment. 

The present value of the estimated future cash flows is discounted at the financial asset’s original effective interest rate.  If a loan has a variable interest 
rate, the discount rate for measuring any impairment loss is the current effective interest rate, adjusted for the original credit risk premium.  The 
calculation of the present value of the estimated future cash flows of a collateralized financial asset reflects the cash flows that may result from 
foreclosure less costs for obtaining and selling the collateral, whether or not foreclosure is probable. 

For the purpose of a collective evaluation of impairment, financial assets are grouped on the basis of credit risk characteristics as industry, collateral 
type, and past-due status. 

Future cash flows in a group of financial assets that are collectively evaluated for impairment are estimated on the basis of historical loss experience for 
assets with credit risk characteristics similar to those in the Group.  Historical loss experience is adjusted on the basis of current observable data to 
reflect the effects of current conditions that did not affect the period on which the historical loss experience is based and to remove the effects of 
conditions in the historical period that do not exist currently.  Estimates of changes in future cash flows reflect, and are directionally consistent with 
changes in related observable data from period to period (such changes in property prices, payment status, or other factors that are indicative of 
incurred losses in the group and their magnitude).  The methodology and assumptions used for estimating future cash flows are reviewed regularly by 
the Group to reduce any differences between loss estimates and actual loss experience. 

If there is objective evidence that an impairment loss has been incurred, the amount of the loss is measured as the difference between the asset’s 
carrying amount and the present value of the estimated future cash flows (excluding future credit losses that have not been incurred).  The carrying 
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amount of the asset is reduced through use of an allowance account and the amount of loss is charged to the statement of income.  Interest income 
continues to be recognized based on the original effective interest rate of the asset.  Loans, together with the associated allowance accounts, are 
written off when there is no realistic prospect of future recovery and all collateral has been realized.  If, in a subsequent year, the amount of the 
estimated impairment loss decreases because of an event occurring after the impairment was recognized, the previously recognized impairment loss is 
reduced by adjusting the allowance account.  If a write-off is later recovered, any amounts formerly charged are credited to the ‘Provision for 
impairment and credit losses’ account. 

AFS investments 
For AFS investments, the Group assesses at each consolidated balance sheet date whether there is objective evidence that a financial asset or group 
of financial assets is impaired. 

In case of equity investments classified as AFS investments, this would include a significant or prolonged decline in the fair value of the investments 
below its cost.  Where there is evidence of impairment, the cumulative loss - measured as the difference between the acquisition cost and the current 
fair value, less any impairment loss on that financial asset previously recognized in the consolidated statement of income - is removed from equity and 
recognized in the consolidated statement of income.  Impairment losses on equity investments are not reversed through the consolidated statement of 
income.  Increases in fair value after impairment are recognized directly in equity. 

Offsetting Financial Instruments
Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount reported in the consolidated balance sheet if, and only if, there is a currently 
enforceable legal right to offset the recognized amounts and there is an intention to settle on a net basis, or to realize the asset and settle the liability 
simultaneously.  This is not generally the case with master netting agreements, and the related assets and liabilities are presented gross in the 
consolidated balance sheet. 

Property and Equipment
Depreciable properties such as office equipment, leasehold improvements, furniture and fixtures, transportation equipment, registry, depository, and 
custody equipment and exchange system are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and amortization and any impairment in value.  

The initial cost of property and equipment consists of its purchase price, including import duties, taxes and any directly attributable costs of bringing the 
asset to its working condition and location for its intended use.  Expenditures incurred after items of property and equipment have been put into 
operation, such as repairs and maintenance are normally charged against operations in the period in which the costs are incurred. In situations where 
it can be clearly demonstrated that the expenditures have resulted in an increase in the future economic benefits expected to be obtained from the use 
of an item of property and equipment beyond its originally assessed standard of performance, the expenditures are capitalized as an additional cost of 
property and equipment. 

Depreciation is computed using the straight-line method over the estimated useful lives of the respective assets.  Leasehold improvements are 
amortized over the shorter of the terms of the covering leases and the estimated useful life of the improvements. 

The estimated useful lives follow: 

Useful Lives 
(in Years) 

Office equipment 3-5 
Leasehold improvements  5
Furniture and fixtures 3-5
Transportation equipment 5
Registry, depository and custody equipment 3
Exchange system 7

The useful lives and the depreciation and amortization method are reviewed periodically to ensure that the period and the method of depreciation and 
amortization are consistent with the expected pattern of economic benefits from items of property and equipment. 

An item of property and equipment is derecognized upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected from its use or disposal.  Any gain 
or loss arising on derecognition of the asset (calculated as the difference between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset) is 
included in the consolidated statement of income in the year the asset is derecognized. 

Software and System Development Costs
Software and system development costs include cost of computer software and system development costs which are accounted for under the cost 
model.  The cost of the asset is the amount of cash or cash equivalents paid or the fair value of the other considerations given up to acquire an asset at 
the time of its acquisition or production.  

Acquired computer software licenses are capitalized on the basis of the costs incurred to acquire and install the specific software.  Costs associated 
with maintaining computer software are expensed as incurred. 

Costs associated with research activities are expensed in the consolidated statement of income as they occur.  Costs that are directly attributable to the 
development phase of the new customized software for information technology and telecommunications systems as well as the exchange system are 
recognized as intangibles provided they meet the following recognition requirements:  

a. demonstration of technical feasibility of the prospective product for internal use or sale;  
b. the software and system development costs will generate probable economic benefits through internal use or sale; 
c. sufficient technical, financial and other resources are available for completion; and, 
d. the software and system development costs can be reliably measured. 

Directly attributable costs include employee costs incurred on software and system development along with an appropriate portion of relevant 
overheads.  The costs of internally generated software developments are recognized as intangible assets; they are subject to the same subsequent 
measurement method as externally acquired software licenses.  However, until completion of the development project, the assets are subject to 
impairment testing.  Amortization commences upon completion of asset. 

Capitalized costs are amortized on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives of 5 to 7 years.  In addition, software and system development 
costs are subject to impairment testing. 

Goodwill
Any excess of the cost of acquisition over the fair values of the identifiable net assets acquired is recognized as goodwill.  Goodwill represents the 
excess of the acquisition cost of PDTC over the fair value of its identifiable net assets at the date of acquisition.  Following initial recognition, goodwill is 
measured at cost less any accumulated impairment losses.  Goodwill is reviewed for impairment annually (see accounting policy on Impairment of 
Nonfinancial Assets). 
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Impairment of Nonfinancial Assets 
At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether there is any indication that its nonfinancial assets may be impaired. When an indicator of 
impairment exists or when an annual impairment testing for an asset is required, the Group makes a formal estimate of recoverable amount. 
Recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s (or cash-generating unit’s) fair value less costs to sell and its value in use and is determined for an 
individual asset, unless the asset does not generate cash inflows that are largely independent of those from other assets or groups of assets, in which 
case the recoverable amount is assessed as part of the cash-generating unit to which it belongs.  Where the carrying amount of an asset (or cash-
generating unit) exceeds its recoverable amount, the asset (or cash-generating unit) is considered impaired and is written down to its recoverable 
amount.  In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects 
current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset (or cash-generating unit). 

An impairment loss is charged against operations in the period in which it arises, unless the asset is carried at a revalued amount, in which case the 
impairment loss is charged to the revaluation increment of the said asset. 

A previously recognized impairment loss is reversed only if there has been a change in the estimates used to determine the asset’s recoverable 
amount since the last impairment loss was recognized.  If that is the case, the carrying amount of the asset is increased to its recoverable amount.  
That increased amount cannot exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined, net of depreciation, had no impairment loss been 
recognized for the asset in prior years.  Such reversal is recognized in the consolidated statement of income unless the asset is carried at a revalued 
amount, in which case the reversal is treated as a revaluation increase.  After such a reversal, the depreciation charge is adjusted in future periods to 
allocate the asset’s revised carrying amount, less any residual value, on a systematic basis over its remaining useful life. 

Goodwill 
Goodwill is reviewed for impairment, annually or more frequently if events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying value may be 
impaired. 

Impairment is determined for goodwill by assessing the recoverable amount of the cash generating unit to which the goodwill relates.  Where the 
recoverable amount of the cash generating unit is less than the carrying amount of the cash generating unit to which goodwill has been allocated, an 
impairment loss is recognized immediately in the consolidated statement of income.  Impairment losses relating to goodwill cannot be reversed for 
subsequent increases in its recoverable amount in future periods.  The Group performs its annual impairment test of goodwill. 

Revenue Recognition
Revenue is recognized to the extent that it is probable that the economic benefits will flow to the Group and the revenue can be reliably measured.  
Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received excluding rebates from transaction fees.  The following specific recognition criteria 
must also be met before revenue is recognized:  

Service income 
Service income is recognized when the services are rendered. 

Interest 
Interest income is recognized on a time proportion basis computed on the outstanding principal balance using the applicable effective interest rate.  

Dividend  
Dividend income on AFS investments is recognized when the right to receive payment is established.  

Foreign Currency Transactions
For financial reporting purposes, the monetary assets and liabilities of the Group are translated in Philippine pesos based on the Philippine Dealing 
System (PDS) closing rate prevailing at end of the year and foreign currency-denominated income and expenses, at the PDS weighted average rate for 
the year.  Foreign exchange differences arising from restatement of foreign currency-denominated monetary assets and liabilities are credited to or 
charged against operations in the year in which the rates change.  Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign 
currency are translated using the exchange rates as at the dates of the initial translations.  Non-monetary items measured at fair value in a foreign 
currency are translated using the exchange rates at the date when the fair value was determined. 

Leases
The determination of whether an arrangement is, or contains a lease is based on the substance of the arrangement and requires an assessment of 
whether the fulfillment of the arrangement is dependent on the use of a specific asset or assets and the arrangement conveys a right to use the asset.  
A reassessment is made after inception of the lease only if one of the following applies: 

a. There is a change in contractual terms, other than a renewal or extension of the arrangement; 
b. A renewal option is exercised or extension granted, unless that term of the renewal or extension was initially included in the lease term; 
c. There is a change in the determination of whether fulfillment is dependent on a specified asset; or 
d. There is a substantial change to the asset. 

Where a reassessment is made, lease accounting shall commence or cease from the date when the change in circumstances gave rise to the 
reassessment for scenarios a, c or d above, and at the date of renewal or extension period for scenario b. 

Operating lease
Operating lease payments are recognized as an expense in the consolidated statement of income on a straight-line basis over the lease term. 

Retirement Benefits
The Group has noncontributory defined benefit retirement plans. 

The retirement cost of the Group is determined using the projected unit credit method.  Under this method, the current service cost is the present value 
of retirement benefits payable in the future with respect to services rendered in the current period.  The liability recognized in the consolidated balance 
sheet in respect of defined benefit pension plans is the present value of the defined benefit obligation at the consolidated balance sheet date less the 
fair value of the plan assets, if any, together with adjustments for unrecognized actuarial gains or losses and past service costs.  The defined benefit 
obligation is calculated annually by an independent actuary using the projected unit credit method.  The present value of the defined benefit obligation 
is determined by discounting the estimated future cash outflows using interest rate on government bonds that have terms to maturity approximating the 
terms of the related retirement liability.  Actuarial gains and losses arising from experience adjustments and changes in actuarial assumptions are 
credited to or charged against income when the net cumulative unrecognized actuarial gains and losses at the end of the previous period exceed 10% 
of the higher of the defined benefit obligation and the fair value of plan assets at that date.  These excess gains or losses are recognized over the 
expected average remaining working lives of the employees participating in the plan. 

Past-service costs, if any, are recognized immediately in income, unless the changes to the pension plan are conditional on the employees remaining in 
service for a specified period of time (the vesting period).  In this case, the past-service costs are amortized on a straight-line basis over the vesting 
period. 
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The defined benefit asset or liability comprises the present value of the defined benefit obligation less past service costs not yet recognized and less 
the fair value of plan assets out of which the obligations are to be settled directly.  The value of any asset is restricted to the sum of any past service 
cost not yet recognized and the present value of any economic benefits available in the form of refunds from the plan or reductions in the future 
contributions to the plan. 

Income Taxes
Current tax 
Current tax assets and liabilities for the current and prior periods are measured at the amount expected to be recovered from or paid to the taxation 
authorities.  The tax rates and tax laws used to compute the amount are those that are enacted or substantively enacted by the consolidated balance 
sheet date. 

Deferred tax 
Deferred tax is provided using the consolidated balance sheet liability method on temporary differences at the consolidated balance sheet date 
between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts for financial reporting purposes.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognized for all taxable temporary differences, including asset revaluations.  Deferred tax assets are recognized for all 
deductible temporary differences, carryforward of unused tax credits from the excess of minimum corporate income tax (MCIT) over the regular 
corporate income tax (RCIT), and unused net operating loss carryover (NOLCO), to the extent that it is probable that sufficient taxable profit will be 
available against which the deductible temporary differences and carry forward of unused tax credits from MCIT and unused NOLCO can be utilized. 

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at each consolidated balance sheet date and reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable 
that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or part of the deferred tax asset to be utilized.  Unrecognized deferred tax assets are 
reassessed at each consolidated balance sheet date and are recognized to the extent that it has become probable that future taxable profit will allow 
the deferred tax asset to be recovered. 

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply to the year when the asset is realized or the liability is 
settled, based on tax rates and tax laws that have been enacted or substantively enacted at the consolidated balance sheet date.

Current tax and deferred tax relating to items recognized directly in equity is also recognized in equity and not in the consolidated statement of income.   

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset, if a legally enforceable right exists to offset current tax assets against current tax liabilities and 
the deferred taxes relate to the same taxable entity and the same taxation authority. 

Provisions and Contingencies
Provisions 
Provisions are recognized when an obligation (legal or constructive) is incurred as a result of a past event and where it is probable that an outflow of 
assets embodying economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation.   

Contingencies 
Contingent liabilities are not recognized but are disclosed in the consolidated financial statements unless the possibility of an outflow of resources 
embodying economic benefits is remote.  Contingent assets are not recognized but are disclosed in the consolidated financial statements when an 
inflow of economic benefits is probable. 

Subsequent Events
Any post year-end events that provide additional information about the Group’s position at consolidated balance sheet date (adjusting event) are 
reflected in the consolidated financial statements.  Post year-end events that are not adjusting events, if any, are disclosed when material to the 
consolidated financial statements 

Future Changes in Accounting Policies
The Group will adopt the following relevant standards and interpretations enumerated below when these become effective.  Except as otherwise 
indicated, the Group does not expect the adoption of these new and amended PFRS and Philippine Interpretations to have significant impact on its 
consolidated financial statements. 

Effective in 2009 
Amendment to PAS 1, Amendment on Statement of Comprehensive Income
In accordance with the amendment to PAS 1, the statements of changes in equity shall include only transactions with owners, while all non-owner 
changes will be presented in equity as a single line with details included in a separate statement.  Owners are defined as holders of instruments 
classified as equity. 

In addition, the amendment to PAS 1 provides for the introduction of a new statement of comprehensive income that combines all items of income and 
expenses recognized in the statements of income together with ‘other comprehensive income’.  The revision specify what is included in other 
comprehensive income, such as gains and losses on AFS financial assets, actuarial gains and losses on defined benefit pension plans and changes in 
the asset revaluation reserve.  Entities can choose to present all items in one statement, or to present two linked statements, a separate statement of 
income and a statement of comprehensive income.  Adoption of this amendment will not have a significant impact on the Group except for the 
presentation of a statement of comprehensive income and additional disclosures to be included in the financial statements. 

PAS 23, Borrowing Costs (Revised) The standard has been revised to require capitalization of borrowing costs when such costs relate to a qualifying 
asset.  A qualifying asset is an asset that necessarily takes a substantial period of time to get ready for its intended use or sale.   

Amendments to PAS 32, Financial Instruments: Presentation and PAS 1, Presentation of Financial Statements - Puttable Financial Instruments and 
Obligations Arising on Liquidation 
The standards have been amended to allow a limited scope exception for puttable financial instruments to be classified as equity if they fulfill a number 
of specified criteria. 

Philippine Interpretation IFRIC-13, Customer Loyalty Programmes This interpretation requires loyalty credits to be accounted for as a separate 
component of the sales transaction in which they are granted.  The Group currently does not have such programs. 
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Effective in 2010 
Philippine Interpretation IFRIC 17, Distribution of Non-cash Assets to Owners
This interpretation covers accounting for two types of non-reciprocal distributions of assets by an entity to its stockholders acting in their capacity as 
owners.  The two types of distribution are: 
a. distributions of non-cash assets (eg items of property, plant and equipment, businesses as defined in PFRS 3, ownership interests in another 

entity or disposal groups as defined in PFRS 5); and 
b. distributions that give owners a choice of receiving either non-cash assets or a cash alternative. 

This interpretation addresses only the accounting by an entity that makes a non-cash asset distribution.  It does not address the accounting by 
shareholders who receive such a distribution 

Philippine Interpretation IFRIC 18, Transfers of Assets from Customers
This interpretation covers accounting for transfers of items of property, plant and equipment by entities that receive such transfers from their customers.  
Agreements within the scope of this interpretation are agreements in which an entity receives from a customer an item of property, plant and equipment 
that the entity must then use either to connect the customer to a network or to provide the customer with ongoing access to a supply of goods or 
services, or to do both.  This interpretation also applies to agreements in which an entity receives cash from a customer when that amount of cash must 
be used only to construct or acquire an item of property, plant and equipment and the entity must then use the item of property, plant and equipment 
either to connect the customer to a network or to provide the customer with ongoing access to a supply of goods or services, or to do both. 

Improvements to PFRSs 
In May 2008, the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB) issued its first omnibus of amendments to certain standards, primarily with a view of 
removing inconsistencies and clarifying wordings.  The Group has not yet adopted the following relevant amendments and anticipates that these 
changes will have no material effect in the financial statements. 

PFRS 5, Non-current Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations
 When a subsidiary is held for sale, all of its assets and liabilities will be classified as held for sale under PFRS 5, even when the entity retains a 

non-controlling interest in the subsidiary after the sale. 

PFRS 7, Financial Instruments: Disclosures
 Removal of the reference to ‘total interest income’ as a component of finance costs. 

PAS 1, Presentation of Financial Statements
 Assets and liabilities classified as held for trading are not automatically classified as current in the balance sheet. 

PAS 10, Events after the Balance Sheet Date 
 Clarification that dividends declared after the end of the reporting period are not obligations. 

PAS 16, Property, Plant and Equipment
 The amendment replaces the term ‘net selling price’ with ‘fair value less costs to sell’ to be consistent with PFRS 5 and PAS 36, Impairment of 

Assets.
 Items of property, plant and equipment held for rental that are routinely sold in the ordinary course of business after rental, are transferred to 

inventory when rental ceases and they are held for sale.  Proceeds of such sales are subsequently shown as revenue.  Cash payments on initial 
recognition of such items, the cash receipts from rents and subsequent sales are all shown as cash flows from operating activities. 

PAS 18, Revenue
 Replacement of the term ‘direct costs’ with ‘transaction costs’ as defined in PAS 39. 

PAS 19, Employee Benefits
 Revises the definition of ‘past service costs’ to include reductions in benefits related to past services (‘negative past service costs’) and to 

exclude reductions in benefits related to future services that arise from plan amendments.  Amendments to plans that result in a reduction in 
benefits related to future services are accounted for as curtailment. 

 Revises the definition of ‘return on plan assets’ to exclude plan administration costs if they have already been included in the actuarial 
assumptions used to measure the defined benefit obligation. 

 Revises the definition of ‘short-term’ and ‘other long-term’ employee benefits to focus on the point in time at which the liability is due to be settled. 
 Deletes the reference to the recognition of contingent liabilities to ensure consistency with PAS 37, Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and 

Contingent Assets.

PAS 23, Borrowing Costs
 Revises the definition of borrowing costs to consolidate the types of items that are considered components of ‘borrowing costs’, i.e., components 

of the interest expense calculated using the effective interest rate method. 

PAS 28, Investments in Associates 
 If an associate is accounted for at fair value in accordance with PAS 39, only the requirement of PAS 28 to disclose the nature and extent of any 

significant restrictions on the ability of the associate to transfer funds to the entity in the form of cash or repayment of loans applies. 
 An investment in an associate is a single asset for the purpose of conducting the impairment test.  Therefore, any impairment test is not 

separately allocated to the goodwill included in the investment balance. 

PAS 36, Impairment of Assets
 When discounted cash flows are used to estimate ‘fair value less cost to sell’, additional disclosure is required about the discount rate, consistent 

with disclosures required when the discounted cash flows are used to estimate ‘value in use’. 

PAS 38, Intangible Assets
 Expenditure on advertising and promotional activities is recognized as an expense when the Group either has the right to access the goods or 

has received the services.  Advertising and promotional activities now specifically include mail order catalogues. 
 Deletes references to there being rarely, if ever, persuasive evidence to support an amortization method for finite life intangible assets that results 

in a lower amount of accumulated amortization than under the straight-line method, thereby effectively allowing the use of the unit of production 
method. 

PAS 39, Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement
 Changes in circumstances relating to derivatives - specifically derivatives designated or de-designated as hedging instruments after initial 

recognition - are not reclassifications. 
 When financial assets are reclassified as a result of an insurance company changing its accounting policy in accordance with paragraph 45 of 

PFRS 4, Insurance Contracts, this is a change in circumstance, not a reclassification. 
 Removes the reference to a ‘segment’ when determining whether an instrument qualifies as a hedge. 
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 Requires use of the revised effective interest rate (rather than the original effective interest rate) when re-measuring a debt instrument on the 
cessation of fair value hedge accounting. 

 PAS 40, Investment Properties 
Revises the scope (and the scope of PAS 16, Property, Plant and Equipment) to include property that is being constructed or developed for 
future use as an investment property.  Where an entity is unable to determine the fair value of an investment property under construction, but 
expects to be able to determine its fair value on completion, the investment under construction will be measured at cost until such time as fair 
value can be determined or construction is complete. 

3. Significant Accounting Judgments and Estimates

The preparation of the consolidated financial statements in accordance with PFRS requires the Group to make judgments and estimates that affect the 
reported amounts of assets, liabilities, income and expenses and disclosure of contingent assets and contingent liabilities.  Future events may occur 
which will cause the assumptions used in arriving at the estimates to change.  The effects of any change in estimates are reflected in the consolidated 
financial statements as they become reasonably determinable. 

Judgments and estimates are continually evaluated and are based on historical experience and other factors, including expectations of future events 
that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances. 

The following are the critical judgments and estimates that have a significant risk of material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities 
within the next financial year: 

Judgments
(a) Fair value of financial instruments 

Where the fair values of financial assets and financial liabilities recorded on the balance sheet or disclosed in the notes cannot be derived from 
active markets, they are determined using a variety of valuation techniques that include the use of mathematical models.  The inputs to these 
models are taken from observable markets where possible, but where this is not feasible, a degree of judgment is required in estimating fair 
values.  The evaluation includes considerations of liquidity and model inputs such as correlation and volatility for longer dated derivatives. 

(b) HTM investments 
The classification to HTM investment requires significant judgment.  In making this judgment, the Bank evaluates its intention and ability to hold 
such investments to maturity.  If the Bank fails to keep these investments to maturity other than in certain specific circumstances - for example, 
selling a more than insignificant amount close to maturity - it will be required to reclassify the entire portfolio as AFS investments.  The 
investments would therefore be measured at fair value and not at amortized cost. 

As of December 31, 2008 and 2007, HTM investments are carried at P=1.73 million and  P=2.44 million, respectively. 

(c) Recognition of deferred taxes 
Deferred tax assets are recognized for all unused tax losses to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be available against which the 
losses can be utilized.  Significant management judgment is required to determine the amount of deferred tax assets that can be recognized, 
based upon the likely timing and level of future taxable profits together with future tax planning strategies. 

The Group’s estimates of future taxable income indicate that certain temporary differences will be realized in the future.  Recognized net deferred 
tax assets as of December 31, 2008 and 2007 amounted to P=3.17 million and P=3.91 million, respectively (see Note 10). 

(d) Operating lease - Group as the lessee 
The Group leases the premises occupied.  The Group has determined that it does not retain all the significant risks and rewards of ownership of 
the premises. 

Estimates
(a) Impairment of Receivables 

The Group reviews its receivables at each consolidated balance sheet date to assess whether provision for impairment losses should be 
recorded in the consolidated statement of income.  In particular, judgment by management is required in the estimation of the amount and timing 
of future cash flows when determining the level of allowance required.   

Such estimates are based on assumptions about a number of factors such as length of the Group’s relationship with customers, current credit 
status of customers based on third party credit reports and known market forces, average age of accounts, collection and historical loss 
experience.  The actual results may differ, resulting in future changes to the allowance.   

As of December 31, 2008 and 2007, allowance for impairment and credit losses on loans and receivables of the Company amounted to
 P=0.11 million and P=0.58 million, respectively.  Receivables, net of allowance for impairment losses, amounted to P=160.44 million and 
 P=29.09 million as of December 31, 2008 and 2007, respectively (see Note 6). 

(b) Impairment of nonfinancial assets 
 The Parent Company assesses impairment on its investments in subsidiaries whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the 

carrying amount of an asset may not be recoverable.  Among others, the factors that the Parent Company considers important which could 
trigger an impairment review on its investments in subsidiaries include the following: 

 Deteriorating or poor financial condition;  
 Recurring net losses; and 

Significant changes with an adverse effect on the subsidiary have taken place during the period, or will take place in the near future, the 
technological, market, economic, or legal environment in which the subsidiary operates.

The Group also assesses impairment on its non-financial assets (e.g., property and equipment and software development costs) and considers 
the following impairment indicators: 

 Significant underperformance relative to expected historical or projected future operating results; 
 Significant changes in the manner of use of these acquired assets or the strategy for overall business; and 
 Significant negative industry or economic trends. 

An impairment loss is recognized whenever the carrying amount of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount.  The recoverable amount is 
determined based on the asset’s value in use computation which considers the present value of estimated future cash flows expected to be 
generated from the continued use of the asset. 
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The Group’s impairment test for goodwill and software and systems development cost not yet in used in operation is based on value in use 
calculations that use a discounted cash flow model.  The cash flows are derived from the budget for the next five years and do not include 
restructuring activities that the Group is not yet committed to or significant future investments that will enhance the asset base of the cash-
generating unit being tested.  The recoverable amount is most sensitive to the discount rate used for the discounted cash flow model as well as 
the expected future cash inflows and the growth rate used for extrapolation purposes. 

The Group is required to make estimates and assumptions that can materially affect the carrying amount of the asset being assessed. 

As of December 31, 2008 and 2007, the carrying values of the Group’s nonfinancial assets as of December 31 follow: 

2008 2007
Property and equipment - net (Note 8) P=73,305,993 P=75,856,314
Software and system development costs - net (Note 9) 294,119,994 287,987,550
Goodwill (Note 10) 4,084,521 4,084,521

No impairment loss was recognized in 2008 and 2007. 

(c) Estimated useful lives of property and equipment  
The Group estimates the useful lives of its property and equipment.  This estimate is reviewed periodically to ensure that the period of 
depreciation and amortization are consistent with the expected pattern of economic benefits from the items of property and equipment.  

As of December 31, 2008 and 2007, the carrying value of property and equipment amounted to P=73.31 million and P=75.90 million, respectively 
(see Note 8). 

(d) Estimated useful lives of software and system development costs 
The Group estimates the useful life of software and system development costs based on the period over which the assets are expected to be 
available for use.  The estimated useful lives of software and system development costs are reviewed periodically and are updated if 
expectations differ from previous estimates due to technical or commercial obsolescence and legal or other limits on the use of the assets.  In 
addition, estimation of the useful lives of software and system development costs is based on collective assessment of industry practice, internal 
technical evaluation and experience with similar assets.  It is possible, however that future results of operations could be materially affected by 
changes in estimates brought about by changes in factors mentioned above.  The amounts and timing of recorded expenses for any period would 
be affected by changes in these factors and circumstances.  A reduction in the estimated useful lives of the software and system development 
costs would increase recorded operating expenses and decrease non-current assets. 

As of December 31, 2008 and 2007, the carrying value of the software and system development costs amounted to P=294.12 million and 
 P=287.99 million, respectively, for the Group (see Note 9).

(e) Impairment of AFS equity investments 
The Group treats AFS equity investments as impaired when there has been a significant or prolonged decline in the fair value below its cost or 
where other objective evidence of impairment exists.  The determination of what is ‘significant’ or ‘prolonged’ requires judgment.  The Group 
treats ‘significant’ generally as 20% or more and ‘prolonged’ greater than 6 months.  In addition, the Group evaluates other factors, including 
normal volatility in share price for quoted equities and the future cash flows and the discount factors for unquoted equities. 

As of December 31, 2008 and 2007, the carrying value of the AFS investments amounted to P=0.61 million (see Note 10).   

(f) Present value of retirement obligation 
The cost of defined benefit pension plan and other post employment benefits is determined using actuarial valuation.  The actuarial valuation 
involves making assumptions about discount rates, expected rates of return on assets, future salary increases, mortality rates and future pension 
increases.  Due to the long term nature of these plans, such estimates are subject to significant uncertainty. 

The assumed discount rates were determined using the market yields on Philippine government bonds with terms consistent with the expected 
employee benefit payout as of balance sheet dates.  Refer to Note 19 for the details of assumptions used in the calculation. 

As of December 31, 2008 and 2007, the present value of the defined benefit obligation of the Group amounted to P=18.19 million and 
 P=19.63 million, respectively (see Note 19). 

4. Cash and Cash Equivalents

This account consists of: 

2008 2007 
Cash on hand and in banks P=14,195,014 P=35,924,526 
Short-term placements 11,500,000 8,812,501 

P=25,695,014 P=44,737,027 

Cash in banks include regular current and savings deposits that earn interest at the respective bank deposit rates.   

Short-term placements are denominated in Philippine pesos and US dollars with tenors ranging from 1 to 7 days for both peso and dollar placements.  
Peso placements earned annual effective interest rates ranging from 1.00% to 4.50% in 2008 and 2007.  Dollar placements earned annual effective 
interest rates ranging from 1.00% to 1.15% in 2008 and 2007.  

Interest earned on cash and cash equivalents amounted to P=2.93 million and P=1.05 million in 2008 and 2007, respectively. 

5. Short-Term Investments 

This account consists of investments in Philippine peso treasury bills that earned effective interest rates per annum ranging from 6.00% to 6.10% in 
2008 and 4.32% to 5.10% in 2007. 
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Interest earned on short-term investments amounted to P=0.09 million  and P= 0.19 million in 2008 and 2007, respectively.  

6. Receivables  

This account consists of: 

2008 2007 
Receivable from Repo transactions P=133,500,000 P=– 
Trade receivables 25,280,112 28,361,927 
Advances to employees 1,689,747 1,310,361 
Others 74,218 834 

160,544,077 29,673,122 
Allowance for impairment losses (108,223) (581,875)

P=160,435,854 P=29,091,247 

On August 29, 2008, the BOD of PDTC approved the placement and participation of PDTC in the PDEx Inter-Professional (IP) Repo Program.  The 
placements in the IP Repo Program, presented as Receivable from Repo transactions above, are collateralized by government securities.   

The Repo Program is viewed as an alternative investment avenue for the PDS Group.  Relative to this, PDTC received P=45.80 million from the Parent 
Company which was also placed in the IP Repo Program.   

Receivable from Repo transactions earns interest ranging from 4.00% to 5.25% and has maturities of 1 to 13 days. Interest earned from Repo 
transactions amounted to P=2.17 million in 2008. 

Trade receivables are non-interest bearing and are usually due by the 25th day of the following month.  All trade receivables are subject to credit risk 
exposure.  However, the Group does not identify specific concentrations of credit risk with regards to trade receivables as the amounts recognized 
consist of large number of receivables from various customers. 

Advances to employees pertain to advances made by the Group for the health care benefits of its officers and employees.  It also includes employee 
loans with maturities of three months to one year and bear interest of 1.00% per month. 

Movements of the allowance for impairment losses, which pertains solely to trade receivables, follow: 

2008 2007 
Balance at beginning of year P=581,575 P=– 
Provision for impairment losses – 581,875 
Recovery from impairment losses (473,352) –
Balance at end of year P=108,223 P=581,875 

7. Other Current Assets 

This account consists of: 

2008 2007 
Creditable taxes P=14,980,886 P=10,257,408 
Input VAT 11,815,295 13,495,827 
Prepayments 9,388,788 7,602,862 
Supplies inventory 797,255 919,595 
Creditable VAT 486,134 160,860 

37,468,358 32,436,552 
Allowance for impairment losses (2,271,261) (2,271,261)

P=35,197,097 P=30,165,291 

8. Property and Equipment 

The composition of and changes in property and equipment at cost follow: 

2008 

Office
Equipment 

Leasehold
Improvements 

Furniture
and

Fixtures 
Transportation

Equipment 

Registry, 
Depository and 

Custody 
Equipment 

Exchange 
System Total 

Cost        
Balance at beginning  of year P=231,383,511 P=25,757,941 P=7,136,165 P=18,051,951 P=32,609,486 P=6,083,563 P=321,022,617 
Additions 16,043,425 4,949,888 1,416,640 2,598,214 12,604,943 – 37,613,110 
Disposals – – – (4,690,909) – – (4,690,909)
Balance at end of year 247,426,936 30,707,829 8,552,805 15,959,256 45,214,429 6,083,563 353,944,818 
Accumulated 

depreciation and 
amortization        

Balance at beginning of year 210,955,291 15,298,904 5,450,927 10,115,224 – 3,345,957 245,166,303 
Depreciation and  
 Amortization 13,707,091 5,248,398 989,123 3,366,731 14,359,011 1,216,714 38,887,068 
Disposals – – – (3,414,546) – – (3,414,546)
Balance at end of year 224,662,382 20,547,302 6,440,050 10,067,409 14,359,011 4,562,671 280,638,825 
Net book value P=22,764,554 P=10,160,527 P=2,112,755 P=5,891,847 P=30,855,418 P=1,520,892 P=73,305,993 
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2007 

Office
Equipment 

Leasehold
Improvements 

Furniture
and

Fixtures 
Transportation

Equipment 

Registry, 
Depository and 

Custody 
Equipment 

Exchange  
System Total 

Cost        
Balance at beginning of year P=223,241,127 P=25,497,278 P=6,655,739 P=19,475,586 P=32,609,486 P=6,083,563 P=313,562,779 
Additions 8,020,131 61,800 480,426 – – – 8,562,357 
Disposals – – – (1,423,635) – – (1,423,635) 
Reclassification (Note 9) 122,253 198,863 – – – – 321,116 
Balance at end of year 231,383,511 25,757,941 7,136,165 18,051,951 32,609,486 6,083,563 321,022,617 
Accumulated 

depreciation and 
amortization        

Balance at beginning of year 198,711,567 10,006,773 4,516,243 7,319,379 – 2,129,245 222,683,207 
Depreciation and  
 Amortization 12,326,584 5,209,271 934,684 3,764,935 – 1,216,712 23,452,186 
Disposals – – – (969,090) – – (969,090) 
Reclassification (82,860) 82,860 – – – – – 
Balance at end of year 210,955,291 15,298,904 5,450,927 10,115,224 – 3,345,957 245,166,303 
Net book value P=20,428,220 P=10,459,037 P=1,685,238 P=7,936,727 P=32,609,486 P=2,737,606 P=75,856,314 

Total depreciation and amortization are allocated as follows:  

2008 2007 
Cost of services P=35,747,726 P=20,862,850 
Operating expenses 3,139,342 2,589,336 

P=38,887,068 P=23,452,186 

9. Software and System Development Costs 

The composition of and changes in software and system development costs follow: 

2008 

Computer 
Software 

System 
Development 

Costs Total
Cost    
Balance at beginning of year P=312,944,935 P=56,922,879 P=369,867,814 
Additions 24,154,890 784,041 24,938,931 
Balance at end of year 337,099,825 57,706,920 394,806,745 
Accumulated Amortization    
Balance at beginning of year 54,694,676 27,185,588 81,880,264 
Amortization 13,246,861 5,559,626 18,806,487 
Balance at end of year 67,941,537 32,745,214 100,686,751 
Net book value P=269,158,288 P=24,961,706 P=294,119,994 

2007 

Computer 
Software 

System 
Development 

Costs Total 
Cost    
Balance at beginning of year P=306,953,179 P=50,927,713 P=357,880,892 
Additions 8,413,044 3,894,994 12,308,038 
Reclassification (Note 8) (2,421,288) 2,100,172 (321,116)
Balance at end of year 312,944,935 56,922,879 369,867,814 
Accumulated Amortization    
Balance at beginning of year 29,423,479 17,835,199 47,258,678 
Amortization  25,271,197 9,350,389 34,621,586 
Balance at end of year 54,694,676 27,185,588 81,880,264 
Net book value P=258,250,259 P=29,737,291 P=287,987,550 

On September 2, 2004, the Parent Company and PDTC entered into a Memorandum of Agreement (MOA) with a system provider whereby the latter 
shall supply, customize and maintain PDTC’s integrated registry, depository, and custody system.  As of December 31, 2008 and 2007, PDTC is still in 
the process of developing and setting up the system to ultimately place it in working condition for its intended use.  The capitalized costs include the 
cost of the integrated software and the costs incurred for the development and customization of a new process and software to be used in PDTC’s 
operations.  This also includes professional fees of consultants involved in the undertaking.  PDTC expects the system to be operational in 2009. 

In 2004, PDEx entered into a License and Development Agreement (LDA) with a provider for the purchase of a software license and the related 
customization and development of PDEx’s trading system.  The cost of the license was capitalized and shown as part of computer software while the 
costs of the ongoing customization and development of the trading system are shown as system development costs.  Other capitalized costs include 
the costs incurred for the development and customization of PDEx’s systems such as fixed income (bilateral and multilateral systems), foreign 
exchange, repurchase agreements (repo), and securities lending.   

Amortization cost decreased in 2008 as a result of the extension of the estimated useful life of PDEx’s software and system development costs from  
5 years to 7 years in 2007. 
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Total amortization expense is allocated as follows:  

2008 2007 
Cost of services P=17,869,736 P=32,898,080 
Operating expense 936,751 1,723,506 

P=18,806,487 P=34,621,586 

10. Other Non-Current Assets

This account consists of: 

2008 2007 
Goodwill P=4,084,521 P=4,084,521 
Deferred tax assets - net (Note 20) 3,172,569 3,911,092 
Security deposits (Note 25) 3,154,515 2,608,906 
AFS investments 606,900 606,900 

P=11,018,505 P=11,211,419 

Goodwill pertains to the acquisition of PDTC in 2004. 

AFS investments pertain to investments in quoted equity security.  There was no change in the fair value of the investments in 2008. 

11. Accrued Expenses and Other Payables 

This account consists of: 

2008 2007 
Accruals for: 
 Professional fees P=5,490,577 P=8,586,597 
 Utilities 5,313,679 P=3,774,047 
 Maintenance fees 4,587,668 11,143,381 

Outside services 2,088,289 1,242,217 
 Leave benefits 2,758,633 6,112,371 
 Rent 751,986 1,905,890 
 Software development 495,000 1,601,177 
 Others 4,787,216 2,769,155 
Output VAT 3,155,149 4,849,367 
Taxes and licenses payable 1,945,241  1,374,840 
Withholding taxes payable 1,847,049 2,193,667 
Retention payable 1,354,142 1,354,142 
Other payables 3,151,007 1,575,869 

P=37,725,636 P=48,482,720 

12. Deferred Income

This account pertains to the advance payment of quarterly maintenance fees from customers of PDEx.  This also includes the three-year advance 
payments received in 2006 which will be amortized and recognized as income until 2009. 

13. Capital Stock

This account consists of:  

2008 2007
No. of Shares Amount No. of Shares Amount 

Common Shares - P=100 par value 
Authorized - 7,500,000 shares in 2008 and   

          5,000,000 shares in 2007 
Issued and outstanding   

 Balance at beginning of the year  4,656,500 P=465,650,000 4,277,464 P=427,746,400 
 Issuance of shares 1,593,500 159,350,000 379,036 37,903,600 

Subscribed common stock – – 343,500 34,350,000 
Subscription receivable – – 343,500 (34,350,000)

 Balance at end of the year 6,250,000 P=625,000,000 4,656,500 P=465,650,000 

In November 2007, the Parent Company obtained an additional investment commitment of P=70.00 million from the Philippine Stock Exchange, Inc. 
(PSE), an existing shareholder with 12.20% ownership interest, and a commitment to maintain a 20.00% stakeholding in the Parent Company.  The first 
tranche of the investment commitment was by way of a Subscription Agreement for 356,500 common shares at par for a total cash investment of P=
35.65 million. Golden Astra Capital, Inc., a new investor, also subscribed to 22,536 shares of the Parent Company’s common stock at par, for a total 
cash investment of P=2.25 million. The said subscriptions were paid on November 13, 2007 and December 5, 2007, respectively. 

In January 2008, the Parent Company filed an application for increase in authorized capital stock from P=500.00 million divided into 5,000,000 shares at  
P=100 par value to P=750.00 million divided into 7,500,000 shares at P=100 par value.  The Parent Company’s application for increase in authorized 
capital stock was approved by the SEC on January 30, 2008. 

On January 28, 2008, Singapore Exchange Limited subscribed to the Parent Company’s 1,250,000 common shares at par for a total cash investment 
of P=125.00 million.  On January 30, 2008, SGX remitted its initial investment of P=125.00 million. 

35.65 million. Golden Astra Capital, Inc., a new investor, also subscribed to 22,536 shares of the Parent Company’s common stock at par, for a total P=
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On April 23, 2008, a Deed of Assignment was made and executed by and among BAP Credit Bureau, Inc. (BCBI) and the PSE for the unpaid 
subscribed common shares of BCBI.  PSE deposited the unpaid subscription at an escrow fund and was released on June 17, 2008. 

14. Service Income 

This account consists of service income of: 

2008 2007 
PDTC P=141,708,633 P=159,534,443 
PDEx 119,423,841 65,387,571 
PSSC 56,294,734 52,373,148 

317,427,208 277,295,162 
Rebates from transaction fees (14,177,265) –

P=303,249,943 P=277,295,162 

Rebates from transaction fees are applied to all spot market fixed income transactions of PDEx’s Trading Participants (TP) whether traded on the 
Negotiated Dealing or Order Driven Systems.  PDEx has a two-feature rebate program. This consists of: 

a. Block volume rebate - each completed block of  P=5.00 billion transaction volume per month that a TP achieves shall entitle that TP to a rebate of 
20.00% of the transaction fees for that completed block.  The volume in excess of the last completed block of P=5.00 billion shall be carried over in 
the next month’s volume calculations. 

b. Industry rebate - a rebate that applies when the pre-determined industry average daily volume is achieved starting at P=9.00 billion; as pre-
determined volume increase to the next level, discount rates correspondingly increase. 

Rebate computed at month-end is applied as a deduction in the TP’s billing for that month.  PDEx started giving block volume rebates in February 2008  
and the industry rebates in July 2008. 

15. Other Income

This account consists of: 

2008 2007 
Interest (Notes 4, 5 and 6) P=5,116,276 P=1,115,524 
Reversal of accrued leave benefits 1,898,842 –
Foreign exchange gain  282,954 3,190,037 
Dividends  39,450 39,450 
Gain on sale of assets  3,000 118,971 
Others 1,697,382 988,824 

P=9,037,904 P=5,452,806 

Others include revenue from printing stock certificates and statements of account. 

16. Cost of Services

This account consists of: 

2008 2007 
Salaries and employee benefits (Note 17) P=97,531,749 P=88,406,924 
Depreciation and amortization (Notes 8 and 9) 53,617,462 53,760,930 
Systems maintenance (Note 25) 47,674,718 48,189,031 
Utilities 21,393,317 19,211,121 
Taxes and licenses 11,949,217 11,252,041 
Rent (Note 25) 10,902,120 7,642,790 
Professional fees 7,519,130 15,204,963 
Outside services 4,221,282 3,407,484 
Insurance 2,950,401 3,053,857 
Certificate handling fee 2,131,227 2,337,050 
Bank charges 1,348,423 1,350,444 
Supplies 1,298,685 1,026,631 
Advertising  842,515 851,935 
Repairs and maintenance 764,882 1,655,468 
Transportation and travel 377,875 377,882 
Meetings and conferences 246,832 867,287 
Postage  – 835,196 
Others 2,303,898 2,556,586 

P= 267,073,733 P= 261,987,620 

17. Salaries and Employee Benefits

This account consists of: 

2008 2007 
Salaries and wages  P=106,275,757 P=95,264,020 
Retirement benefits (Note 19) 4,146,375 4,845,483 
Social security cost  1,716,408 1,413,697 
Others 4,650,795 6,606,093 

P=116,789,335 P=108,129,293 
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Total salaries and employee benefits are allocated as follows:  

2008 2007 
Cost of services P=97,531,749 P=88,406,924 
Operating expense 19,257,586 19,722,369 

P=116,789,335 P=108,129,293 

18. Other Operating Expenses

This account consists of travel, advertising, minor repairs and maintenance, office and computer supplies, transportation and travel, insurance and 
other general and administrative expenses. 

19. Retirement Plan

The Group has separate noncontributory defined benefit retirement plans covering substantially all its officers and regular employees.  Under these 
retirement plans, all covered officers and employees are entitled to cash benefits after satisfying certain age and service requirements.  The funded 
retirement obligation pertains to PDTC only. 

PDTC’s annual contribution to the retirement plan consists of a payment covering the current service cost, amortization of the unfunded actuarial 
accrued liability and interest on such unfunded actuarial liability. 

The following table shows the actuarial assumptions as of January 1, 2008 and 2007 used in determining the retirement benefit obligation of the Group: 

Actuarial
Assumptions    

Date of Actuarial Valuation 
Report 

Average
Remaining

Working Life 

Expected
Return on

Assets 
Salary Rate 

Increase Discount Rate 
Parent Company December 31, 2008 7 – 4.00% 5.93% 
PDEx December 31, 2008 19 – 4.00% 8.06% 
PSSC December 31, 2008 18 – 4.00% 7.87% 
PDTC December 31, 2008 21 5.50% 4.00% 8.27% 

Actuarial
Assumptions    

Date of Actuarial Valuation 
Report 

Average
Remaining

Working Life 

Expected
Return on

Assets 
Salary Rate 

Increase Discount Rate 
Parent Company December 31, 2007 9 – 5.00% 6.28% 
PDEx December 31, 2007 20 – 5.00% 8.03% 
PSSC December 31, 2007 22 – 5.00% 8.13% 
PDTC December 31, 2007 19 7.00% 5.00% 7.86% 

Discount rates used to arrive at the present value of the defined benefit obligation of the Group as of December 31, 2008 and 2007 are as follows: 

2008 2007 
Parent Company 12.18% 5.93% 
PDEx 12.01% 8.06% 
PSSC 11.36% 7.87% 
PDTC 11.20% 8.27% 

The overall expected rate of return on plan assets is determined based on the market prices prevailing on that date applicable to the period over which 
the obligation is to be settled. 

The amount of defined retirement assets of PDTC recognized in the consolidated balance sheets is determined as follows: 

2008 2007 
Fair value of plan assets P=18,635,575 P=17,392,726 
Present value of defined benefit obligation (7,165,022) (8,743,878)

11,470,553 8,648,848 
Unrecognized actuarial losses 38,688 953,348 
Retirement benefit assets P=11,431,865 P=9,602,196 

 The actual return (loss) on plan assets of PDTC for the years ended December 31, 2008 and 2007 amounted to (P=1.28 million) and P=1.95 million, 
respectively. 

Changes in the present value of the defined benefit obligation of PDTC are as follows: 

2008 2007 
Defined benefit obligation at beginning of year P=8,743,878 P=8,932,638 
Current service cost 1,325,802 1,888,436 
Interest cost 723,119 702,105 
Benefits paid (394,834) (1,455,581)
Actuarial gain (3,232,943) (1,323,720)
Defined benefit obligation at end of year P=7,165,022 P=8,743,878 
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Changes in the fair value of the plan assets of PDTC are as follows: 

2008 2007 
Fair value of plan assets at beginning of year P=17,392,726 P=15,328,599 
Contributions paid into the plan 2,921,992 1,569,167 
Expected return 956,600 1,073,002 
Benefits paid (394,834) (1,455,581)
Actuarial gain (loss) (2,240,909) 877,539 
Fair value of plan assets at end of year P=18,635,575 P=17,392,726 

 The major categories of plan assets of PDTC are as follows: 

2008 2007 
Government and equity securities P=16,273,654 P=16,175,402 
Other investments in bonds 1,292,785 383,277 
Deposit in banks 899,325 717,488 
Accrued interest receivable 218,938 164,844 
Trust fees payable (49,667) (48,285)

P=18,635,575 P=17,392,726 

Information on the pension plan of PDTC as of December 31, 2008 and 2007 follow: 

2008 2007 2006 
Fair value of plan assets P=18,635,575 P=17,392,726 P=15,328,599 
Present value of the defined benefit obligation (7,165,022) (8,743,878) (8,932,638)
Surplus in plan assets 11,470,553 8,648,848 6,395,961 
Experience adjustments arising on plan liabilities (2,287,069) (666,506) 4,009,965 
Experience adjustments arising on plan assets 2,240,909 877,539 1,741,031 

The amounts of retirement benefit obligation of the Parent Company, PDEx and PSSC recognized in the consolidated balance sheets are as follows: 

2008 2007 
Present value of the defined benefit obligation P=11,017,393 P=10,885,110 
Unrecognized actuarial gains 4,455,389 1,533,619 
Balance at end of year P=15,472,782 P=12,418,729 

The movements of the present value of the defined benefit obligation of the Parent Company, PDEx and PSSC are as follows: 

2008 2007 
Balance at beginning of the year P=12,418,728 P=9,180,881 
Retirement expense 3,054,054 3,237,848 
Balance at end of year P=15,472,782 P=12,418,729 

Experience adjustments arising on plan liabilities of the Parent Company, PDEx and PSSC amounted to (P=3.74 million), (P=2.46 million) and  
(P=1.17 million) for 2008, 2007 and 2006, respectively. 

Changes in the present value of the defined benefit obligation of the Parent Company, PDEx and PSSC are as follows: 

2008 2007 
Defined benefit obligation at beginning of the year P=10,885,110 P=10,575,541 
Interest cost 858,348 813,888 
Current service cost 2,735,060 2,425,572 
Actuarial gain (3,461,125) (2,929,891)
Defined benefit obligation at end of year P=11,017,393 P=10,885,110 

The amounts included in Salaries and employee benefits in the consolidated statements of income for the years ended December 31, 2008 and 2007 
are as follows: 

2008 2007 
Current service cost P=4,060,862 P=4,314,008 
Interest cost 1,581,467 1,515,993 
Expected return on plan assets (956,600) (1,073,002)
Net actuarial losses (gains) recognized during the year (539,354) 88,484 

P=4,146,375 P=4,845,483 

20. Income Taxes

Provision for income taxes include corporate income tax, as discussed below, and final taxes paid at the rate of 20% on gross interest income from 
cash deposits and short-term investments. 

Republic Act No. 9337, An Act Amending National Internal Revenue Code, provides that the RCIT rate shall be 35% until December 31, 2008. Starting 
January 1, 2009, the RCIT rate shall be 30%. 

The regulations also impose the MCIT of 2% on modified gross income and allow a NOLCO.  The NOLCO and the excess of the MCIT over the RCIT 
may be applied against taxable income and the income tax liability, respectively, over a three-year period from the year of inception. 
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Provision for income tax consists of: 

2008 2007 
Current: 
 MCIT P=800,170 P=11,835,811 
 Final 1,020,099 193,913  
Deferred 738,523 (299,253)

P=2,559,692 P=11,730,471 

 Components of the net deferred tax assets follow:  

2008 2007 
Deferred tax asset on: 
 Retirement benefit costs P=1,827,524 P=1,932,716 
 Pre-operating expenses 362,485 845,802 
 Accrued vacation leave benefits 418,629 981,644 
 Allowance for impairment losses 170,836 199,309 
 MCIT 285,635 –

Others 107,460 _
Deferred tax liability on: 
 Unrealized foreign exchange gain – (48,379)

P=3,172,569 P=3,911,092 

The Parent Company and PDEx did not recognize deferred tax assets as of December 31, 2008 and 2007 since management does not expect to have 
taxable profit that will be available against which the deferred tax assets can be utilized.  The breakdown of unrecognized deferred tax assets is shown 
below:  

2008 2007 
NOLCO P=42,342,925 P= 61,137,145 
Accrued retirement benefits 3,032,052 2,876,107 
Unamortized pre-operating expenses 1,284,028 1,048,623 
MCIT 554,581 –
Accrued leave benefits 408,962 907,230 

P=47,622,548 P=65,969,105 

Details of the Group’s MCIT and NOLCO are as follows: 

MCIT: 

Inception Year Amount Expired Balance Expiry Year 
2006 P=101,155 – P=101,155 2009 
2008 739,061 – 739,061 2011 
 P=840,216 P=– P=840,216  

NOLCO: 

Inception Year Amount Expired Balance Expiry Year 
2005 P=53,295,076 P=53,295,076 P=– 2008 
2006 67,379,758 – 67,379,758 2009 
2007 54,002,725 – 54,002,725 2010 
2008 19,760,603 – 19,760,603 2011 
 P=194,438,162 P=53,295,076 P=141,143,086  

A reconciliation of the statutory income tax to the effective income tax follows:  

2008 2007 
Statutory income tax (P=1,029,976) (P=10,177,007)
Tax effects of: 
 Unrecognized deferred tax assets 5,649,758 17,486,696 

Non taxable income (1,163,331) –
 Income subjected to final tax (767,262) (133,599)
 Nondeductible expenses  373,583 4,536,006 
 Deferred income – 18,375 

Others (503,080) –
Effective income tax P=2,559,692 P=11,730,471 

21. Related Party Transactions

Parties are considered to be related if one party has the ability, directly or indirectly, to control the other party or exercise significant influence over the 
other party in making financial and operating decisions.  Parties are also considered to be related if they are subjected to common control or common 
significant influence.  Related parties may be individuals or corporate entities.   

The Group has no transaction with related parties in 2008 and 2007. 
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Key Management Personnel Compensation
The remuneration of directors and other members of key management personnel for the years ended December 31, 2008 and 2007 are as follows:  

2008 2007 
Salaries and wages  P=37,597,121 P=30,081,349 
Retirement benefits 1,578,851 1,032,971 
Other long-term benefits (54,827) 700,662 

P=39,121,145 P=31,814,982 

22. Securities Under Custody

As of December 31, 2008 and 2007, the market value of securities under the custody of PDTC amounted to P=2.40 billion and P=2.61 billion, respectively. 

23. Financial Instruments and Fair Value Measurement

Shown below are the Group’s assets and liabilities as they appear on the consolidated balance sheets, which are divided into financial and nonfinancial 
items, with the financial items being mapped to the categories of financial instruments under PAS 39. 

2008 

Loans and 
Receivables 

HTM  
Investments 

AFS  
Investments 

Other 
Financial 
Liabilities 

Non
financial

Items Total 
ASSETS       
Cash and cash equivalents P=25,695,014 P=– P=– P=– P=– P=25,695,014 
Short-term investments – 1,729,456 – – – 1,729,456 
Receivables - net 160,435,854 – – – – 160,435,854 
Other current assets - net – – – – 35,197,097 35,197,097 
Property and equipment - net – – – – 73,305,993 73,305,993 
Software and system 
 development costs - net – – – – 294,119,994 294,119,994 
Retirement benefit assets – – – – 11,431,865 11,431,865 
Other non-current assets 3,154,515 – 606,900 – 7,257,090 11,018,505 

Total Assets P=189,285,383 P=1,729,456 P=606,900 P=– P=421,312,039 612,933,778 
       

LIABILITIES       
Accrued expenses and other 
 payables P=– P=– P=– P=17,275,822 P=20,449,814 P=37,725,636 
Deferred income – – – – 23,288,502 23,288,502 
Retirement benefit obligation – – – – 15,472,782 15,472,782 

Total Liabilities P=– P=– P=– P=17,275,822 P=59,211,098 P=76,486,920 

2007 

Loans and 
Receivables 

HTM  
Investments 

AFS
Investments 

Other 
Financial 
Liabilities 

Non
financial

Items Total 
ASSETS       
Cash and cash equivalents P=44,767,027 P=– P=– P=– P=– P=44,737,027 
Short-term investments – 2,435,042 – – – 2,435,042 
Receivables  - net 29,091,247 – – – – 29,091,247 
Other current assets - net – – – – 30,165,291 30,165,291 
Property and equipment - net – – – – 75,856,314 75,856,314 
Software and system 
 development costs - net – – – – 287,987,550 287,987,550 
Retirement benefit assets – – – – 9,602,196 9,602,196 
Other non-current assets 2,608,906 – 606,900 – 7,995,613 11,211,419 

Total Assets P=76,467,180 P=2,435,042 P=606,900 P=– P=411,606,964 P=491,086,086 
       

LIABILITIES       
Accrued expenses and other 
 payables P=– P=– P=– P=34,390,274 P=14,092,446 P=48,482,720 
Deferred income – – – – 47,585,298 47,585,298 
Retirement benefit obligation – – – – 12,418,729 12,418,729 

Total Liabilities P=– P=– P=– P=34,390,274 P=74,096,473 P=108,486,747 
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Fair Values
The carrying values and fair values of the Company’s financial instruments are as follows: 

2008 2007 
Carrying Value Fair Value Carrying Value Fair Value 

Financial assets:     
 Loans and receivables:   
  Cash and cash equivalents P=25,695,014 P=25,695,014 P=44,737,027 P=44,737,027 
  Receivables: 
   Trade - net 25,171,889 25,171,889 27,780,052 27,780,052 
   Repo Transactions 133,500,000 135,500,000 – – 
   Advances to employees 1,689,747 1,689,747 1,310,361 1,310,361 
   Security deposits (shown 
      under Other non-current 
      assets) 3,154,515 3,089,685 2,608,906 2,434,659 
   Others 74,218 74,218 834 834 
 189,285,383 189,220,553 76,437,180 76,262,933 

 Short-term investments (classified  
  as HTM investments) 1,729,456 1,729,456 2,435,042 2,422,885 

 AFS investments (shown under  
  Other non-current assets) 606,900 606,900 606,900 606,900 

191,621,739 191,556,909 P=79,479,122 P=79,292,718 

Financial liabilities:   
Other financial liabilities:   

  Accrued expenses and other  
   payables (excluding taxes  
   payable) 17,275,822 17,275,822 34,390,274 34,390,274 

P=17,275,822 P=17,275,822 P=34,390,274 P=34,390,274 

The methods and assumptions used by the Group in estimating the fair value of the financial instruments are: 

Cash and cash equivalents, Receivables and Accrued expenses and other payables - Carrying amounts approximate fair values due to the relatively 
short-term maturity of these instruments. 

Short-term investments and AFS investments - Fair values are based on quoted prices published in markets.

24. Financial Risk Management Policies and Objectives 

The Group does not engage in trading activities or take positions in equity, foreign exchange and securities other than investment in government 
securities in the course of managing its cash and liquidity position and purchase of foreign exchange to service some of its foreign-currency 
denominated obligations.  The Group’s credit, liquidity and market risks arising from the use of financial instruments are limited to the above activities.   

The following provides the overall risk management principles and process that governs the risk management of the Group. 

Risk Management Structure
The Group’s risk management process hinges on the following principles: 

 The BOD establishes the Group’s risk philosophy and culture, approves the risk policies and sets the risk appetite. 

 The Executive Committee (Excom) is accountable to the BOD for the risk taken by the business. 

 The risk takers of each business initially identify and evaluate market, product or service opportunities, subject to further evaluation of the Risk 
Management group and other specific risk function groups, such as Product Committee and Legal and Compliance, for the attendant risks. 

 Management of risks is done in a coordinated manner within the Group. 

 Risk management is an independent function reporting to the Risk Management Committee (RMC) where the Group’s Chief Operating Officer 
(COO) is a member. 

Risk Management Organization
The Group’s risk management organization consists of the following: 

1. The BOD is the risk policy maker and approving authority of the Group.  The BOD has created and appointed Standing Committees with at least 
one independent director to assist in performing its functions.  Standing Committees include the following: 

a. Risk Management Committee 
The RMC is a group-level committee that sets the policy standards and guidelines for the management and assessment of group-wide risk, 
with the ultimate objective of ascertaining that risk exposures of the Group fall within the capital collectively available and allocated to the 
different entities.   

b. Audit Committee 
The Audit Committee is the oversight of the financial reporting process, internal control process and hiring and performance of external 
auditors.   
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c. Trust Committee 
The Trust Committee formulates the general policies and guidelines on the management of trust and other fiduciary accounts.  It reviews 
and approves the acceptance and closing of trust and other fiduciary accounts and adopts measures to ensure the independence of
PDTC’s trust function. 

2. The Risk Management Unit (RMU) identifies, evaluates and measures risks and exposures attendant to the products and services provided by 
each company in the group.  It establishes standards to monitor and report compliance with its recommended limits. 

Complementing the RMU is the Product Committee that reviews existing and proposed products to ensure that all risk taking personnel have 
properly identified and analyzed the relevant risks.  It recommends to the Excom the approval of a proposed product. 

3. The Operations Support, Legal and Compliance, Financial Control, and Audit groups support the Group’s risk management function in risk 
control.  They operate independently of the business units and the risk management functions.   
a. Operations Support group performs risk reporting, through generation of risk reports, and the control process of risk management.   
b. Legal and Compliance group ensures that all laws and regulations are complied with and contracts entered into by the Group are

enforceable.  
c. Financial Control group ensures that expenses and revenues are within budget and properly approved and monitored.  
d. Audit group shall ensure compliance of financial accounting and internal control processes with internal and regulatory standards. 

4. The risk takers are the officers of respective business units handling the products.  These business units identify market or product opportunities 
and sponsor product or service developments or proposals. 

Credit Risk
Credit risk is the risk that the Group will incur a loss because its counterparties fail to discharge their contractual obligations.  The Group’s 
counterparties include its banks, the Bureau of Treasury (BTr) of the Philippines as issuer of government securities, trading participants and depository 
clients. 

The Group manages and controls its credit exposure to its clients by actively monitoring the size and age of its receivables.  

In addition, the Group’s clients are availing of the auto-debit facility.  The auto debit facility is an arrangement whereby the participants authorize the 
respective companies of the Group to debit their designated cash account for the payment of fees based on invoices sent by the respective companies 
on the 5th day of the following month.   

Credit risk exposures 
The table below shows the gross maximum on- and off-balance sheet credit risk exposures of the Group, without considering the effects of collateral, 
credit enhancements and other credit risk mitigation techniques:  

2008 2007 
Cash and cash equivalents (excluding cash on hand) P=25,670,014 P=44,712,027 
Short-term investments 1,729,456 2,435,042 
Receivables - net 160,435,854 29,091,247 
Security deposits (shown under Other non-current assets) 3,154,515 2,608,906 
AFS investments (shown under Other non-current assets) 606,900 606,900 
Total credit risk exposure P=191,596,739 P=79,454,122 

The credit quality of the Group’s financial assets is as follows: 

2008 
  Past due or  

Neither past due nor impaired Individually  
High grade Standard grade Impaired Total

Cash and cash equivalents (excluding cash on hand) P=25,670,014 P=– P=– P=25,670,014
Short-term investments 1,729,456 – – 1,729,456
Receivables  160,435,854 – 108,223 160,544,077
Security deposits (shown under Other non-current assets) 3,154,515 – – 3,154,515
AFS investments (shown under Other non-current assets) 606,900 – – 606,900
Total P=191,596,739 P=– P=108,223 P=191,704,962

2007 
 Past due or  

 Neither past due nor impaired Individually  
High grade Standard grade Impaired Total 

Cash and cash equivalents (excluding cash on hand) P=44,712,027 P=– P=– P=44,712,027 
Short-term investments 2,435,042 – – 2,435,042 
Receivables 29,091,247 – 581,875 29,673,122 
Security deposits (shown under Other non-current assets) 2,608,906 – – 2,608,906 
AFS investments (shown under Other non-current assets) 606,900 – – 606,900 
Total P=79,454,122 P=– P=581,875 P=80,035,997 

The credit quality of financial assets is managed by the Group by limiting its counterparties to top-tier corporate institutions including financial 
institutions which are regulated entities under BSP or SEC. 

Cash and cash equivalents and short-term investments are considered as high grade credit as these are placements and deposits with top-tier 
Philippine banks and investments in government securities issued by the Bureau of Treasury of the Republic of the Philippines.  Receivables are 
considered as high grade credit as these are receivables from corporate clients that are subject to the Group’s rules that provide adequate remedies to 
the Group’s credit exposures.  AFS investments are investments in Philippine Long Distance Telephone Co. shares. 

Receivables or investments in institutions that are not top-tier corporations are considered standard grade. 

As of December 31, 2008 and 2007, the Group has no past due but not impaired financial assets. 
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Liquidity Risk
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group will be unable to meet its payment obligations as they fall due.  To mitigate this risk, management prepares a 
forecast of the business cash flows for the year.  Constant monitoring and a well-defined billing and collection policy facilitate management of projected 
inflows. 

To minimize market risks that could adversely affect management of liquidity position and because the Group is not in the business of trading 
securities, it is the Group’s policy to invest excess cash and cash equivalents in liquid and non-speculative financial instruments, such as term deposits 
and government securities, with tenors that match its funding schedule.   

All financial liabilities of the Group as of December 31, 2008 and 2007 are payable on demand. 

Market Risk
Market risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of financial instruments will fluctuate due to changes in market variables such as interest 
rates, foreign exchange rates and equity prices. Market risk includes interest rate risk and foreign currency risk. The Group has no significant 
concentration of market risk. 

Interest Rate Risk  
Interest rate risk arises on interest-bearing financial instruments recognized in the consolidated balance sheets.  As of December 31, 2008, the 
Company has receivables from Repo transactions which are priced based on the prevailing daily repo rate. 

The following table sets forth the estimated change in the Group’s annualized net interest income due to a reasonable possible change in interest rate 
as of December 31, 2008: 

Change in interest rates 
(in basis points) 

 +50bp -50bp 
Change in annualized net interest income P=243,708 (P=243,708) 

Foreign Currency Risk 
Foreign currency risk is the risk to earnings or capital arising from changes in foreign exchange rates.  The Group is exposed to foreign currency risk 
arising from its foreign-currency denominated cash, receivables and accrued expenses.   

The risk is manageable to the extent that the fees are pre-determined both in terms of amount and flows.  To manage the adverse impact of changes in 
the foreign currency rates on the fees, the Group may also enter into foreign exchange forward contracts.  The Group currently has no outstanding 
foreign exchange forward contracts. 

2008 2007 
USD PhP Equivalent USD PhP Equivalent 

Assets   
Cash on hand and in banks $69,651 P=3,309,816 $46,356 1,913,576 
Trade and other receivables 34,079 1,619,434 22,850 943,248 

Liabilities
Accrued expenses and other payables $111,129 P=5,280,850 $307,326 12,686,417 

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity to a reasonably possible change in the US dollar Philippine Peso (PhP)/(USD) exchange rate, with all 
other variables held constant, of the Group’s income before income tax due to revaluation of monetary assets and liabilities.  There is no impact on 
equity other than those already affecting income before income tax.  

Increase (Decrease) in 
PhP/ USD exchange rate 

Effect on Income 
Before Income Tax 

2008 P=1.00 (P=7,399)
(1.00) 7,399 

2007 P=1.00 (P=238,120)
(1.00) 238,120 

The decrease in PhP/USD exchange rate means stronger PhP against the USD while an increase in PhP/USD rate means weaker PhP against the 
USD.

Equity Price Risk 
Equity price risk is the risk that the fair values of equities decrease as the result of changes in the levels of equity indices and the value of individual 
stocks. 

The Group’s investment in listed shares of stock showed no significant movement in 2008 and 2007.  The Group assessed that changes in the fair 
value in the next reporting period will have an immaterial effect on the Group’s equity. 

Capital Management 
Decisions on the allocation of capital resources are performed as part of the strategic planning review.  The Group also manages its capital structure 
and makes adjustments to it, in light of changes in economic conditions. 

The Group’s objectives are to maintain sufficient capital resources to support the Group’s risk appetite and capital requirements, to maintain sufficient 
capital resources to meet the minimum regulatory capital requirements and to ensure that there are no known events that may trigger direct or 
contingent financial obligation that is material to the Group. 

The Group monitors capital using debt-to equity ratio, which is total liabilities divided by total equity.  The Group’s total liabilities include current and 
non-current liabilities.  Equity comprises all components of equity. 

The debt-to-equity ratios as of December 31, 2008 and 2007 are as follows: 

2008 2007 
Total liabilities P=76,486,920 P=108,486,747 
Total equity 536,446,858 382,599,339 
Debt-to-equity ratio 0.14 0.28 
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Regulatory Capital
The Bangko Sentral ng Pilipinas (BSP), under BSP Circular 400 dated July 31, 2003, has prescribed guidelines in the adoption of the risk-based capital 
adequacy framework for quasi-banks taking into consideration Section 34 of the General Banking Law of 2000. 

PDTC’s regulatory capital consists of Tier 1 (core) capital, which comprises share capital and retained earnings including current year profit less 
required deductions such as deferred income tax and unsecured credit accommodations to DOSRI.  The other component of regulatory capital is Tier 2 
(supplementary) capital, which includes, among others, general loan loss provision.  The risk-based capital ratio of PDTC is expressed as a percentage 
of qualifying capital to risk-weighted assets, which are computed based on BSP regulations.   

Regulatory Qualifying Capital
Shown below are PDTC’s minimum capital-to-risk assets ratios as reported to the BSP as of December 31, 2008 and 2007. 

2008 2007 
Tier 1 Capital P=353,196,516 P=363,515,383 
Tier 2 Capital – –
Gross Qualifying Capital 353,196,516 363,515,383 
Less: Required deductions 500,000 500,000 
Total qualifying capital P=352,696,516 P=363,015,383 
Risk weighted assets P=263,057,113 P=379,074,038 
Risk-based capital adequacy ratio 134.08% 95.76% 

PDTC is required to maintain capital amounting to P=300.00 million.

25. Commitments and Contingencies

The following are the significant commitments and contingencies involving the Group: 

Operating Lease Commitments – Group as Lessee
The Parent Company is a lessee under non-cancellable operating leases covering its office and parking space for a period of five years.  Monthly 
rentals are apportioned to the Parent Company and the respective subsidiaries based on the size of the area occupied. 

The future minimum rentals payable under these operating leases as of December 31 are as follows:  

2008 2007 
Within a year P=6,184,881 P=8,345,386 
After one year but not more than five years 7,628,376 5,728,415 

P=13,813,257 P=14,073,801 

Total rentals from these operating leases amounted to P=14.21 million in 2008 and P=9.61 million in 2007, of which P=10.90 million and P=7.64 million was 
charged to Cost of Services in 2008 and 2007, respectively.  

Security Deposits 
In connection with the above lease agreements, the Group paid rental deposits amounting to P=3.15 million and P=2.61 million as of December 31, 2008 
and 2007, respectively, and are presented under other non-current assets in the consolidated balance sheets (see Note 10). 

Maintenance of the Integrated System 
In accordance with the MOA entered by PDTC on September 2, 2004 with a service provider, PDTC is committed to pay $320,000 annually for the 
maintenance of its integrated system (see Note 9). 

In accordance with the LDA entered by the PDEx with a service provider (see Note 9), PDEx is committed to pay $335,000 annually for the 
maintenance of its fixed-income trading system. 

Others 
In the normal course of business, the Group makes various commitments and has certain contingent liabilities that are not given recognition in the 
accompanying consolidated financial statements.  Management believes that losses, if any, that may arise from these commitments and contingencies 
will not have any material effect on the consolidated financial statements. 
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PHILIPPINE DEALING SYSTEM HOLDINGS CORP.
Independent Auditors’ Report

The Board of Directors 

Philippine Dealing System Holdings Corp. 

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of Philippine Dealing System Holdings Corp. which comprise the balance sheets as at 

December 31, 2008 and 2007, and the statements of income, statements of changes in equity and statements of cash flows for the years then 

ended, and a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory notes.  

Management’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements 

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in accordance with Philippine Financial 

Reporting Standards.  This responsibility includes: designing, implementing and maintaining internal control relevant to the preparation and fair 

presentation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error; selecting and applying appropriate 

accounting policies; and making accounting estimates that are reasonable in the circumstances.

Auditors’ Responsibility 

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audits.  We conducted our audits in accordance with 

Philippine Standards on Auditing.  Those standards require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain 

reasonable assurance whether the financial statements are free from material misstatement.  

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements.  The procedures 

selected depend on the auditor’s judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether 

due to fraud or error.  In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation and fair 

presentation of the financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of 

expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control.  An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting 

policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the 

financial statements. 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

Opinion 

In our opinion, the financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of Philippine Dealing System Holdings Corp.  

as of December 31, 2008 and 2007, and its financial performance and its cash flows for the years then ended in accordance with Philippine 

Financial Reporting Standards. 

SYCIP GORRES VELAYO & CO. 

Josephine Adrienne A. Abarca 

Partner 

CPA Certificate No. 92126 

SEC Accreditation No. 0466-A 

Tax Identification No. 163-257-145 

PTR No. 1566401, January 5, 2009, Makati City 

April 17, 2009 
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PHILIPPINE DEALING SYSTEM HOLDINGS CORP.
Balance Sheets

December 31

2008 2007 

ASSETS 

Current Assets

Cash and cash equivalents (Note 4) P=12,514,780 P=8,007,091 

Due from subsidiaries (Note 16) 108,591,143 7,168,311 

Receivables (Note 5) 415,498 66,719 

Other current assets (Note 6) 5,262,711   3,808,715 

Total Current Assets 126,784,132 19,050,836 

Non-current Assets 

Investments in subsidiaries (Note 7) 364,314,422 324,028,795 

Deposit for future stock subscription (Note 8) 50,000,000 27,000,000 

Property and equipment (Note 9) 3,202,843 2,588,472 

Other non-current asset (Note 19) 393,966 175,666 

Total Non-current Assets 417,911,231 353,792,933 

P=544,695,363 P=372,843,769 

LIABILITIES AND EQUITY 

LIABILITIES 

Current Liabilities 

Accrued expenses and other payables (Note 10) P=1,748,513 P=4,390,550 

Due to subsidiaries (Note 16) – 22,571,693 

 Total Current Liabilities 1,748,513 26,962,243 

Non-current Liability 

Retirement benefit obligation (Note 14) 3,564,001 4,049,460 

5,312,514 31,011,703 

EQUITY

Capital stock (Note 11) 625,000,000 465,650,000 

Additional paid-in capital  26,317,786 26,317,786 

Deficit (111,934,937) (150,135,720)

 Total Equity 539,382,849 341,832,066 

P=544,695,363 P=372,843,769 

See accompanying Notes to Financial Statements.
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PHILIPPINE DEALING SYSTEM HOLDINGS CORP.
Statements of Income

Years Ended December 31

2008 2007 

REVENUES 

Reversal of impairment losses (Note 7) P=40,285,627 P=– 

Interest income (Notes 4 and 5) 2,770,105 82,084 

Other income (Note 12) 2,367,435 –

45,423,167 82,084 

COSTS AND OPERATING EXPENSES 

Professional fees 1,621,558 515,379 

Depreciation (Note 9) 1,281,951 1,522,162 

Taxes and licenses 1,260,704 742,414 

Salaries and employee benefits (Notes 13, 14 and 16) 910,022 2,887,772 

Rent (Note 18) 688,549 93,143 

Utilities 260,413 18,522 

Repairs and maintenance 162,513 10,015 

Miscellaneous 860,589 554,702 

7,046,299 6,344,109 

INCOME (LOSS) BEFORE INCOME TAX 38,376,868 (6,262,025)

PROVISION FOR INCOME TAX (Note 15) 176,085 16,108 

NET INCOME (LOSS) P=38,200,783 (P=6,278,133)

See accompanying Notes to Financial Statements.
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PHILIPPINE DEALING SYSTEM HOLDINGS CORP.
Statements of Changes in Equity

Common
Stock 

(Note 11)

Additional
Paid in
Capital Deficit  

Total
Equity 

Balance at January 1, 2008 P=465,650,000 P=26,317,786 (P=150,135,720) P=341,832,066 
Common stock issued (Note 11) 159,350,000 – – 159,350,000 
Net income for the year – – 38,200,783 38,200,783 

Balance at December 31, 2008 P=625,000,000  P=26,317,786 (P=111,934,937) P=539,382,849 

Balance at January 1, 2007 P=427,746,400 P=26,317,786 (P=143,857,585) P=310,206,601 

Common stock issued (Note 11) 37,903,600 – – 37,903,600 

Net loss for the year – – (6,278,135) (6,278,135)

Balance at December 31, 2007 P=465,650,000 P=26,317,786 (P=150,135,720) P=341,832,066 

See accompanying Notes to Financial Statements.
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PHILIPPINE DEALING SYSTEM HOLDINGS CORP.
Statements of Cash Flows

Years Ended December 31

2008 2007 

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Income (loss) before income tax P=38,376,868 (P=6,262,027)

Adjustments for: 

 Reversal of impairment loss (Note 7) (40,285,627) –

 Interest income (Notes 4 and 5) (2,770,105) (82,084)

 Depreciation (Note 9) 1,281,951 1,522,162 

Operating loss before working capital changes (3,396,913) (4,821,949)

 Changes in operating assets and liabilities: 

  Decrease (increase) in: 

Receivables  (341,011) –

Due from subsidiaries (Note 16) (101,422,832) 6,390,973 

   Other current assets  (1,453,996) 503,290 

   Other non-current assets  (218,300) –

  Increase (decrease) in: 

   Accrued expenses and other payables  (2,642,037) (4,060,866)

   Due to subsidiaries  (22,571,693) (1,912,221)

   Retirement benefit obligation  (485,459) 744,591 

Cash used in operations (132,532,241) (3,156,182)

Income taxes paid  (176,085) (16,108)

Net cash used in operating activities (132,708,326) (3,172,290)

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES

Deposit for future stock subscription (Note 8) (23,000,000) (27,000,000)

Interest received 2,762,337 79,630 

Acquisitions of property and equipment (Note 9) (2,646,322) (87,045)

Proceeds from sale of property and equipment (Note 9) 750,000 209,091 

Net cash used in investing activities (22,133,985) (26,798,324)

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITY

Proceeds from issuance of capital stock (Note 11) 159,350,000 37,903,600 

NET INCREASE IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 4,507,689 7,932,986 

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT BEGINNING OF YEAR 8,007,091 74,105 

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT END OF YEAR P=12,514,780 P=8,007,091 

See accompanying Notes to Financial Statements. 
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PHILIPPINE DEALING SYSTEM HOLDINGS CORP.
Notes to Financial Statements

1. Corporate Information

The Philippine Dealing System Holdings Corp. (the Company), is a domestic corporation incorporated in the Philippines on April 24, 2001.  The 
Company holds 100% interests in Philippine Dealing & Exchange Corp. (PDEx) and Philippine Securities Settlement Corp. (PSSC) and 97.72% in 
Philippine Depository & Trust Corp. (PDTC). 

The primary purpose of the Company is to invest in, purchase, or otherwise hold, use, sell, assign, transfer, mortgage, pledge, exchange, or otherwise 
dispose of shares of stock in exchanges as defined in the Securities Regulation Code or other laws as well as in one or more corporations which will 
provide depository, registry, clearing, settlement, custody, securities borrowing and lending, information technology, and other support services for the 
exchange or for the other exchanges of securities or monetary transactions or platforms. 

The registered office of the Company, which is also its principal place of business, is located at 37th Floor, The Enterprise Center, 6766 Ayala Avenue, 
Makati City. 

On January 30, 2008, the Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC) approved the Company’s application for increase in authorized capital stock 
from P=500.00 million to P=750.00 million with a par value of P=100.00 per share.  

With the approved increase in authorized capital stock, Singapore Exchange Limited (SGX) committed to invest P=150.00 million, which is 20.00% of the 
Company’s authorized capital stock.  On January 30, 2008, SGX remitted its initial investment of P=125.00 million (1.25 million shares) (see Note 11). 

The accompanying financial statements were authorized for issue by the Company’s Board of Directors (BOD) on April 17, 2009. 

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Basis of Preparation
The accompanying financial statements have been prepared on a historical cost basis.  The Company’s financial statements are presented in 
Philippine peso, the Company’s functional and presentation currency. 

Statement of Compliance
The financial statements of the Company have been prepared in accordance with Philippine Financial Reporting Standards (PFRS). 

Changes in Accounting Policies
The accounting policies adopted are consistent with those of the previous financial year except for the adoption of the following amendments to existing 
standards that became effective on July 1, 2008 and Philippine Interpretations which became effective on January 1, 2008: 

 Amendments to Philippine Accounting Standards (PAS) 39, Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement and PFRS 7, Financial 
Instruments: Disclosure - Reclassification of Financial Assets, introduce the possibility of reclassification of securities out of the trading category 
in rare circumstances and reclassification to the loans and receivables category if there is intent and ability to hold the securities for the 
foreseeable future or to held-to-maturity (HTM) if there is intent and ability to hold the securities until maturity.  It also allows the transfers of 
certain financial assets from available-for-sale (AFS) to loans and receivables and HTM.  The amendment to PFRS 7 introduces the disclosures 
relating to these reclassifications.  The Company did not reclassify certain financial instruments. 

 Philippine Interpretation IFRIC-11, PFRS 2-Group and Treasury Share Transactions, requires arrangements whereby an employee is granted 
rights to an entity’s equity instruments to be accounted for as an equity-settled scheme by the entity even if (a) the entity chooses or is required 
to buy those equity instruments (e.g., treasury shares) from another party, or (b) the shareholders of the entity provide the equity instruments 
needed.  It also provides guidance on how subsidiaries, in their separate financial statements, account for such schemes when their employees 
receive rights to the equity instruments of the parent.  This interpretation has no impact on the financial statements of the Company.

 Philippine Interpretation IFRIC-12, Service Concession Arrangements, covers contractual arrangements arising from private entities providing 
public services.  This interpretation is not relevant to the Company. 

 Philippine Interpretation IFRIC-14, The Limit on a Defined Benefit Asset, Minimum Funding Requirement and their Interaction, provides guidance 
on how to assess the limit on the amount of surplus in a defined benefit scheme that can be recognized as an asset under PAS 19, Employee 
Benefits.  This interpretation has no significant impact on the financial statements of the Company. 

Cash and Cash Equivalents
For purposes of reporting cash flows, cash and cash equivalents include cash and other cash items with original maturities of three months or less from 
dates of placements that are subject to insignificant risk of change in value. 

Financial Instruments
Date of recognition 
The Company recognizes a financial instrument in the balance sheet when it becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument. In the 
case of a regular way purchase or sale of financial assets, recognition and derecognition, as applicable, is done using trade date accounting.  

Initial recognition of financial instruments 
Financial instruments are recognized initially at fair value, which is the fair value of the consideration given (in case of an asset) or received (in case of 
a liability).  The initial measurement of financial instruments, except for those designated at fair value through profit and loss (FVPL), includes 
transaction cost. 

Subsequent to initial recognition, the Company classifies its financial instruments in the following categories: financial assets and financial liabilities at 
FVPL, loans and receivables, HTM investments, AFS investments and other financial liabilities.  The classification depends on the purpose for which 
the instruments are acquired and whether they are quoted in an active market.  Management determines the classification at initial recognition and, 
where allowed and appropriate, re-evaluates this classification at every reporting date. 

As of December 31, 2008 and 2007, the Company had no financial assets and financial liabilities at FVPL, HTM investments and AFS investments.   
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Loans and receivables 
Loans and receivables are nonderivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an active market.  After initial 
measurement, loans and receivables are carried at amortized cost using the effective interest method, less any allowance for impairment.  Gains and 
losses are recognized in the Company’s statement of income when the loans and receivables are derecognized or impaired, as well as through the 
amortization process.  Loans and receivables are classified as current assets when the Company expects to realize or collect the asset within twelve 
months from balance sheet date.  Otherwise, these are classified as non-current assets. 

Classified under this category are the Company’s Cash an cash equivalents,  Due from subsidiaries and Receivables.

Other financial liabilities 
This category pertains to financial liabilities that are not held for trading or not designated as at FVPL at the inception of the liability.  These include 
liabilities arising from operations or borrowings. 

The financial liabilities are recognized initially at fair value and are subsequently carried at amortized cost, taking into account the impact of applying the 
effective interest method of amortization (or accretion) for any related premium, discount and any directly attributable transaction costs. 

This category includes accrued expenses and other payables and due to subsidiaries.

Determination of fair value   
The fair value of financial instruments traded in active markets at balance sheet date is based on their quoted market price or dealer price quotations 
(bid price for long positions and ask price for short positions), without any deduction for transaction costs.  When current bid and ask prices are not 
available, the price of the most recent transaction provides evidence of the current fair value as long as there has not been a significant change in 
economic circumstances since the time of the transaction. 

For all other financial instruments not listed in an active market, the fair value is determined by using appropriate valuation techniques.  Valuation 
techniques include net present value techniques, comparison to similar instruments for which market observable prices exist, options pricing models, 
and other relevant valuation models. 

‘Day 1’ profit 
Where the transaction price in a non-active market is different from the fair value of other observable current market transactions in the same 
instrument or based on a valuation technique whose variables include only data from observable market, the Company recognizes the difference 
between the transaction price and fair value (a Day 1 profit) in the statement of income, unless it qualifies for recognition as some other type of asset.  
In cases where use is made of data which is not observable, the difference between the transaction price and model value is only recognized in the 
statement of income when the inputs become observable or when the instrument is derecognized.  For each transaction, the Company determines the 
appropriate method of recognizing ‘Day 1’ profit amount. 

Embedded derivative 
An embedded derivative is separated from the host contract and accounted for as a derivative if all of the following conditions are met: a) the economic 
characteristics and risks of the embedded derivative are not closely related to the economic characteristics and risks of the host contract; b) a separate 
instrument with the same terms as the embedded derivative would meet the definition of a derivative; and c) the hybrid or combined instrument is not 
recognized at FVPL.  Reassessment only occurs if there is a change in the terms of the contract that significantly modifies the cashflows that would 
otherwise be required. 

Derecognition of Financial Assets and Liabilities
Financial asset 
A financial asset (or, where applicable a part of a financial asset or part of a group of financial assets) is derecognized where: 

1. the rights to receive cash flows from the asset have expired; or 

2. the Company retains the right to receive cash flows from the asset, but has assumed as obligation to pay them in full without material delay to a 
third party under a “pass-through” arrangement; or 

3. the Company has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from the asset and either (a) has transferred substantially all the risks and rewards 
of the asset, or (b) has neither transferred nor retained the risk and rewards of the asset but has transferred the control of the asset.  

Where the Company has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from an asset or has entered into a pass-through arrangement, and has neither 
transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset nor transferred control of the asset, the asset is recognized to the extent of 
the Company’s continuing involvement in the asset.  Continuing involvement that takes the form of a guarantee over the transferred asset is measured 
at the lower of original carrying amount of the asset and the maximum amount of consideration that the Company could be required to repay. 

Financial liability 
A financial liability is derecognized when the obligation under the liability is discharged or cancelled or has expired.  Where an existing financial liability 
is replaced by another from the same lender on substantially different terms, or the terms of an existing liability are substantially modified, such an 
exchange or modification is treated as a derecognition of the original liability and the recognition of a new liability, and the difference in the respective 
carrying amounts is recognized in the statement of income. 

 Impairment of Financial Assets 
 The Company assesses at each balance sheet date whether there is objective evidence that a financial asset or group of financial assets is impaired. A 

financial asset or a group of financial assets is deemed to be impaired if, and only if, there is objective evidence of impairment as a result of one or 
more events that has occurred after the initial recognition of the asset (an incurred ‘loss event’) and that loss event (or events) has an impact on the 
estimated future cash flows of the financial asset or the group of financial assets that can be reliably estimated.  Evidence of impairment may include 
indications that a customer or a group of customers is experiencing significant financial difficulty, default or delinquency in interest or principal 
payments, the probability that they will enter bankruptcy or other financial reorganization and where observable data indicate that there is measurable 
decrease in the estimated future cash flows, such as changes in arrears or economic conditions that correlate with defaults. 

 Assets carried at amortized cost 
 If there is objective evidence that an impairment loss on loans and receivables carried at amortized cost has been incurred, the amount of the loss is 

measured as the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows (excluding future credit losses 
that have not been incurred) discounted at the financial asset’s original effective interest rate (i.e., the effective interest rate computed at initial 
recognition).  The amount of the loss shall be recognized in the statements of income.

The Company first assesses whether objective evidence of impairment exists individually for financial assets that are individually significant, and 
individually or collectively for financial assets that are not individually significant.  If it is determined that no objective evidence of impairment exists for 
an individually assessed financial asset, whether significant or not, the asset is included in a group of financial assets with similar credit risk 
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characteristics and that the group of financial assets is collectively assessed for impairment.  Assets that are individually assessed for impairment and 
for which an impairment loss is or continues to be recognized are not included in a collective assessment of impairment. 

If, in a subsequent period, the amount of impairment loss decreases and the decrease can be related objectively to an event occurring after the 
impairment was recognized, the previously recognized impairment loss is reversed.  Any subsequent reversal of an impairment loss is recognized in 
the statements of income, to the extent that the carrying value of the asset does not exceed its amortized cost at the reversal date. 

 Offsetting Financial Instruments
Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount reported in the balance sheet if, and only if, there is a currently enforceable legal 
right to offset the recognized amounts and there is an intention to settle on a net basis, or to realize the asset and settle the liability simultaneously.  
This is not generally the case with master netting agreements, and the related assets and liabilities are presented gross in the balance sheet. 

Investments in Subsidiaries
These financial statements are prepared as the Company’s separate financial statements.   

Subsidiaries are entities over which the Company has the power to govern the financial reporting policies generally accompanying a shareholding of 
more than one half of the voting rights.  The Company obtains and exercises control through voting rights.  The existence and effect of potential voting 
rights that are currently exercisable and convertible are considered when assessing whether the Company controls another entity.  The Company 
recognizes income from the investment only to the extent that it receives distributions from accumulated income of the subsidiary arising after the date 
of acquisition.  Distributions received in excess of the accumulated income are regarded as a recovery of investment. 

The Company’s investments in subsidiaries are accounted for in these separate financial statements at cost, less any impairment loss.  Impairment loss 
is provided when there is objective evidence that the investment in subsidiary will not be recovered.  Such impairment loss is measured as the 
difference between the carrying amount of the investment and the present value of the estimated cash flows discounted at the current market rate of 
return for similar financial asset.  

Property and Equipment
Depreciable properties such as office equipment, transportation equipment, furniture and fixtures and office equipment, are stated at cost less 
accumulated depreciation and any impairment in value. 

The initial cost of property and equipment consists of its purchase price, including import duties, taxes and any directly attributable costs of bringing the 
asset to its working condition and location for its intended use.  Expenditures incurred after items of property and equipment have been put into 
operation, such as repairs and maintenance are normally charged against operations in the period in which the costs are incurred. In situations where 
it can be clearly demonstrated that the expenditures have resulted in an increase in the future economic benefits expected to be obtained from the use 
of an item of property and equipment beyond its originally assessed standard of performance, the expenditures are capitalized as an additional cost of 
property and equipment. 

Depreciation is computed using the straight-line method over the estimated useful lives of the respective assets.   

The estimated useful lives follow: 

Useful Lives  
(in Years) 

Office equipment 3-5 
Transportation equipment 5
Furniture and fixtures 3-5 

The useful life and the depreciation method are reviewed periodically to ensure that the period and the method of depreciation are consistent with the 
expected pattern of economic benefits from items of property and equipment. 

An item of property and equipment is derecognized upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected from its use or disposal.  Any gain 
or loss arising on derecognition of the asset (calculated as the difference between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset) is 
included in the statement of income in the year the asset is derecognized. 

Impairment of Nonfinancial Assets 
The Company assesses at each balance sheet date whether there is an indication that the Company’s investments in a subsidiaries and property and 
equipment may be impaired.  When an indicator of impairment exists or when an annual impairment testing for an asset is required, the Company 
makes an estimate of recoverable amount.  Recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s (or cash-generating unit’s) fair value less costs to sell and 
its value in use and is determined for an individual asset, unless the asset does not generate cash inflows that are largely independent of those from 
other assets or groups of assets, in which case the recoverable amount is assessed as part of the cash generating unit to which it belongs.  Where the 
carrying amount of an asset (or cash-generating unit) exceeds its recoverable amount, the asset (or cash-generating unit) is considered impaired and is 
written down to its recoverable amount.  In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax 
discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset (or cash-generating unit).   

An impairment loss is charged to operations in the period in which it arises, unless the asset is carried at a revalued amount, in which case the 
impairment loss is charged to the revaluation increment of the said asset. 

A previously recognized impairment loss is reversed only if there has been a change in the estimates used to determine the asset’s recoverable 
amount since the last impairment loss was recognized.  If that is the case, the carrying amount of the asset is increased to its recoverable amount.  
That increased amount cannot exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined, net of depreciation, had no impairment loss been 
recognized for the asset in prior years.  Such reversal is recognized in the statement of income unless the asset is carried at a revalued amount, in 
which case the reversal is treated as a revaluation increase.  After such a reversal, the depreciation charge is adjusted in future periods to allocate the 
asset’s revised carrying amount, less any residual value, on a systematic basis over its remaining useful life. 

 Revenue Recognition
Revenue is recognized to the extent that it is probable that the economic benefits will flow to the Company and the revenue can be reliably measured.   

 Interest 
 Interest income is recognized on a time proportion basis computed using the applicable effective interest rate.  
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a. There is a change in contractual terms, other than a renewal or extension of the arrangement; 
b. A renewal option is exercised or extension granted, unless that term of the renewal or extension was initially included in the lease term; 
c. There is a change in the determination of whether fulfillment is dependent on a specified asset; or 
d. There is a substantial change to the asset. 

Where a reassessment is made, lease accounting shall commence or cease from the date when the change in circumstances gave rise to the 
reassessment for scenarios a, c or d above, and at the date of renewal or extension period for scenario b. 

Operating lease
Operating lease payments are recognized as an expense in the statement of income on a straight-line basis over the lease term. 

Retirement Benefits
The Company has a noncontributory defined benefit retirement plan.  The retirement cost of the Company is determined using the projected unit credit 
method.  Under this method, the current service cost is the present value of retirement benefits payable in the future with respect to services rendered 
in the current period.  The liability recognized in the balance sheet in respect of defined  benefit pension plans is the present value of the defined 
benefit obligation at the balance sheet date with adjustments for unrecognized actuarial gains or losses and past service costs.  The defined benefit 
obligation is calculated annually by an independent actuary using the projected unit credit method.  The present value of the defined benefit obligation 
is determined by discounting the estimated future cash outflows using interest rate on government bonds that have terms to maturity approximating the 
terms of the related retirement liability.  Actuarial gains and losses arising from experience adjustments and changes in actuarial assumptions are 
credited to or charged against income when the net cumulative unrecognized actuarial gains and losses at the end of the previous period exceeded 
10.00% of the higher of the defined benefit obligation and the fair value of plan assets at that date.  These excess gains or losses are recognized over 
the expected average remaining working lives of the employees participating in the plan. 

Past-service costs, if any, are recognized immediately in income, unless the changes to the pension plan are conditional on the employees remaining in 
service for a specified period of time (the vesting period).  In this case, the past-service costs are amortized on a straight-line basis over the vesting 
period. 

 The defined benefit liability comprises the present value of the defined benefit obligation less past service costs not yet recognized. 

 Income Taxes
Current tax 
Current tax assets and liabilities for the current and prior periods are measured at the amount expected to be recovered from or paid to the taxation 
authorities.  The tax rates and tax laws used to compute the amount are those that are enacted or substantively enacted by the balance sheet date. 

Deferred tax 
Deferred tax is provided using the balance sheet liability method on temporary differences at the balance sheet date between the tax bases of assets 
and liabilities and their carrying amounts for financial reporting purposes.  

Deferred tax liabilities are recognized for all taxable temporary differences, including asset revaluations.  Deferred tax assets are recognized for all 
deductible temporary differences, carryforward of unused tax credits from the excess of minimum corporate income tax (MCIT) over the regular 
corporate income tax (RCIT), and unused net operating loss carryover (NOLCO), to the extent that it is probable that sufficient taxable profit will be 
available against which the deductible temporary differences and carry forward of unused tax credits from MCIT and unused NOLCO can be utilized. 
The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at each balance sheet date and reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient 
taxable profit will be available to allow all or part of the deferred tax asset to be utilized.  Unrecognized deferred tax assets are reassessed at each 
balance sheet date and are recognized to the extent that it has become probable that future taxable profit will allow the deferred tax asset to be 
recovered. 

 Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply to the year when the asset is realized or the liability is 
settled, based on tax rates and tax laws that have been enacted or substantively enacted at the balance sheet date. 

 Current tax and deferred tax relating to items recognized directly in equity is also recognized directly in equity and not in the statement of income. 

 Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset, if a legally enforceable right exists to offset current tax assets against current tax liabilities and 
the deferred taxes relate to the same taxable entity and the same taxation authority. 

Provisions and Contingencies
Provisions 
Provisions are recognized when an obligation (legal or constructive) is incurred as a result of a past event and where it is probable that an outflow of 
assets embodying economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation.   

 Contingencies 
Contingent liabilities are not recognized but are disclosed in the financial statements unless the possibility of an outflow of resources embodying 
economic benefits is remote.  Contingent assets are not recognized but are disclosed in the financial statements when an inflow of economic benefits is 
probable. 

Subsequent Events
 Any post year-end events that provide additional information about the Company’s position at balance sheet date (adjusting event) are reflected in the 

financial statements.  Post year-end events that are not adjusting events, if any, are disclosed when material to the financial statements. 

Future Changes in Accounting Policies
The Company will adopt the following relevant standards and interpretations enumerated below when these become effective.  Except as otherwise 
indicated, the Company does not expect the adoption of these new and amended PFRS and Philippine Interpretations to have significant impact on its 
financial statements. 

Effective in 2009 
Amendment to PAS 1, Amendment on Statement of Comprehensive Income
In accordance with the amendment to PAS 1, the statements of changes in equity shall include only transactions with owners, while all non-owner 
changes will be presented in equity as a single line with details included in a separate statement.  Owners are defined as holders of instruments 
classified as equity. 

In addition, the amendment to PAS 1 provides for the introduction of a new statement of comprehensive income that combines all items of income and 
expenses recognized in the statements of income together with ‘other comprehensive income’.  The revision specify what is included in other 
comprehensive income, such as gains and losses on AFS financial assets, actuarial gains and losses on defined benefit pension plans and changes in 
the asset revaluation reserve.  Entities can choose to present all items in one statement, or to present two linked statements, a separate statement of 

Leases
 The determination of whether an arrangement is, or contains a lease is based on the substance of the arrangement and requires an assessment of 

whether the fulfillment of the arrangement is dependent on the use of a specific asset or assets and the arrangement conveys a right to use the asset.  
A reassessment is made after inception of the lease only if one of the following applies: 
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income and a statement of comprehensive income.  Adoption of this amendment will not have a significant impact on the Company except for the 
presentation of a statement of comprehensive income and additional disclosures to be included in the financial statements. 

PAS 23, Borrowing Costs (Revised) 
The Standard has been revised to require capitalization of borrowing costs when such costs relate to a qualifying asset.  A qualifying asset is an asset 
that necessarily takes a substantial period of time to get ready for its intended use or sale.  In accordance with the transitional requirements in the 
Standard, this change in accounting for borrowing costs shall be accounted for prospectively.  Accordingly, borrowing costs will be capitalized on 
qualifying asset with a commencement date after January 1, 2009.  No changes will be made for borrowing costs incurred to this date that have been 
expensed. 

Amendments to PAS 32, Financial Instruments: Presentation and PAS 1, Presentation of Financial Statements - Puttable Financial Instruments and 
Obligations Arising on Liquidation  
The Standards have been amended to allow a limited scope exception for puttable financial instruments to be classified as equity if they fulfill a number 
of specified criteria. 

Philippine Interpretation IFRIC - 13, Customer Loyalty Programmes (effective for annual periods beginning on or after July 1, 2008) 
This Interpretation requires loyalty credits to be accounted for as a separate component of the sales transaction in which they are granted.  The 
Company currently does not have such programs. 

Effective in 2010 
Philippine Interpretation IFRIC 17, Distribution of Non-cash Assets to Owners
This Interpretation covers accounting for two types of non-reciprocal distributions of assets by an entity to its stockholders acting in their capacity as 
owners.  The two types of distribution are: 

a. distributions of non-cash assets (eg items of property, plant and equipment, businesses as defined in PFRS 3, ownership interests in another 
entity or disposal groups as defined in PFRS 5); and 

b. distributions that give owners a choice of receiving either non-cash assets or a cash alternative. 

This Interpretation addresses only the accounting by an entity that makes a non-cash asset distribution.  It does not address the accounting by 
shareholders who receive such a distribution 

Philippine Interpretation IFRIC 18, Transfers of Assets from Customers
This Interpretation covers accounting for transfers of items of property, plant and equipment by entities that receive such transfers from their customers.  
Agreements within the scope of this Interpretation are agreements in which an entity receives from a customer an item of property, plant and equipment 
that the entity must then use either to connect the customer to a network or to provide the customer with ongoing access to a supply of goods or 
services, or to do both.  This Interpretation also applies to agreements in which an entity receives cash from a customer when that amount of cash must 
be used only to construct or acquire an item of property, plant and equipment and the entity must then use the item of property, plant and equipment 
either to connect the customer to a network or to provide the customer with ongoing access to a supply of goods or services, or to do both. 

Improvements to PFRSs 
In May 2008, the International Accounting Standards Board issued its first omnibus of amendments to certain standards, primarily with a view of 
removing inconsistencies and clarifying wordings.  The Company has not yet adopted the following relevant amendments and anticipates that these 
changes will have no material effect in the financial statements. 

PFRS 5, Non-current Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations
 When a subsidiary is held for sale, all of its assets and liabilities will be classified as held for sale under PFRS 5, even when the entity retains a 

non-controlling interest in the subsidiary after the sale. 

PFRS 7, Financial Instruments: Disclosures
 Removal of the reference to ‘total interest income’ as a component of finance costs. 

PAS 1, Presentation of Financial Statements
 Assets and liabilities classified as held for trading are not automatically classified as current in the balance sheet. 

PAS 10, Events after the Reporting Period
 Clarification that dividends declared after the end of the reporting period are not obligations. 

PAS 16, Property, Plant and Equipment
 The amendment replaces the term ‘net selling price’ with ‘fair value less costs to sell’ to be consistent with PFRS 5, Non-current Assets Held for 

Sale and Discontinued Operations and PAS 36, Impairment of Assets.
 Items of property, plant and equipment held for rental that are routinely sold in the ordinary course of business after rental, are transferred to 

inventory when rental ceases and they are held for sale.  Proceeds of such sales are subsequently shown as revenue.  Cash payments on initial 
recognition of such items, the cash receipts from rents and subsequent sales are all shown as cash flows from operating activities. 

PAS 18, Revenue
 Replacement of the term ‘direct costs’ with ‘transaction costs’ as defined in PAS 39. 

PAS 19, Employee Benefits
 Revises the definition of ‘past service costs’ to include reductions in benefits related to past services (‘negative past service costs’) and to 

exclude reductions in benefits related to future services that arise from plan amendments.  Amendments to plans that result in a reduction in 
benefits related to future services are accounted for as curtailment. 

 Revises the definition of ‘return on plan assets’ to exclude plan administration costs if they have already been included in the actuarial 
assumptions used to measure the defined benefit obligation. 

 Revises the definition of ‘short-term’ and ‘other long-term’ employee benefits to focus on the point in time at which the liability is due to be settled. 
 Deletes the reference to the recognition of contingent liabilities to ensure consistency with PAS 37, Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and 

Contingent Assets.

PAS 23, Borrowing Costs
 Revises the definition of borrowing costs to consolidate the types of items that are considered components of ‘borrowing costs’, i.e., components 

of the interest expense calculated using the effective interest rate method. 



Bridging the Issuer        63

PAS 28, Investments in Associates 
 If an associate is accounted for at fair value in accordance with PAS 39, only the requirement of PAS 28 to disclose the nature and extent of any 

significant restrictions on the ability of the associate to transfer funds to the entity in the form of cash or repayment of loans applies. 
 An investment in an associate is a single asset for the purpose of conducting the impairment test.  Therefore, any impairment test is not 

separately allocated to the goodwill included in the investment balance. 

PAS 36, Impairment of Assets
 When discounted cash flows are used to estimate ‘fair value less cost to sell’ additional disclosure is required about the discount rate, consistent 

with disclosures required when the discounted cash flows are used to estimate ‘value in use’. 

PAS 38, Intangible Assets
 Expenditure on advertising and promotional activities is recognized as an expense when the Company either has the right to access the goods or 

has received the services.  Advertising and promotional activities now specifically include mail order catalogues. 
 Deletes references to there being rarely, if ever, persuasive evidence to support an amortization method for finite life intangible assets that 

results in a lower amount of accumulated amortization than under the straight-line method, thereby effectively allowing the use of the unit of 
production method. 

PAS 39, Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement
 Changes in circumstances relating to derivatives - specifically derivatives designated or de-designated as hedging instruments after initial 

recognition - are not reclassifications. 
 When financial assets are reclassified as a result of an insurance company changing its accounting policy in accordance with paragraph 45 of 

PFRS 4, Insurance Contracts, this is a change in circumstance, not a reclassification. 
 Removes the reference to a ‘segment’ when determining whether an instrument qualifies as a hedge. 
 Requires use of the revised effective interest rate (rather than the original effective interest rate) when re-measuring a debt instrument on the 

cessation of fair value hedge accounting. 

PAS 40, Investment Properties
 Revises the scope (and the scope of PAS 16, Property, Plant and Equipment) to include property that is being constructed or developed for 

future use as an investment property.  Where an entity is unable to determine the fair value of an investment property under construction, but 
expects to be able to determine its fair value on completion, the investment under construction will be measured at cost until such time as fair 
value can be determined or construction is complete. 

3. Significant Accounting Judgments and Estimates

The preparation of the financial statements in accordance with PFRS requires the Company to make judgments and estimates that affect the reported 
amounts of assets, liabilities, income and expenses and disclosure of contingent assets and contingent liabilities.  Future events may occur which will 
cause the assumptions used in arriving at the estimates to change.  The effects of any change in estimates are reflected in the financial statements as 
they become reasonably determinable. 

Judgments and estimates are continually evaluated and are based on historical experience and other factors, including expectations of future events 
that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances. 

The following are the critical judgments and estimates that have a significant risk of material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities 
within the next financial year: 

Judgments
(a)   Recognition of deferred tax assets 

Deferred tax assets are recognized for all unused tax losses to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be available against which the 
losses can be utilized.  Significant management judgment is required to determine the amount of deferred tax assets that can be recognized, 
based upon the likely timing and level of future taxable profits together with future tax planning strategies. 

As of December 31, 2008 and 2007, the Company did not recognize deferred tax asset for all its temporary differences. 

(b)   Operating lease - Company as the lessee 
The Company leases the premises it occupies.  The Company has determined that it does not retain all the significant risks and rewards of    
ownership of the premises. 

 Estimates
(a) Impairment of nonfinancial assets 

The Company assesses impairment on assets whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of an asset may 
not be recoverable.  The factors that the Company considers important which could trigger an impairment review include the following: 
 significant underperformance relative to expected historical or projected future operating results; 
 significant changes in the manner of use of the acquired assets or the strategy for overall business; and 
 significant negative industry or economic trends. 

The Company recognizes an impairment loss whenever the carrying amount of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount.  The recoverable 
amount is computed using the value in use approach. Recoverable amounts are estimated for individual assets. 

As of December 31, 2008 and 2007, the carrying values of the Company’s non-financial assets follow:  

2008 2007 
Investments in Subsidiaries (see Note 7) P=364,314,422 P=324,028,795 
Property and Equipment (see Note 9) 3,202,843 2,588,472 

The Company made a partial reversal of its allowance for impairment losses on its investment in PDEX amounting to P=40.29 million (see Note 7). 

(b) Estimated useful lives of property and equipment  
The Company estimates the useful lives of its property and equipment.  This estimate is reviewed periodically to ensure that the period of 
depreciation and amortization are consistent with the expected pattern of economic benefits from the items of property and equipment. 

As of December 31, 2008 and 2007, the carrying value of property and equipment amounted to P=3.20 million and P=2.59 million, respectively (see 
Note 9). 
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(c) Present value of defined benefit obligation 
The cost of defined benefit pension plan and other post-employment benefits is determined using actuarial valuations. The actuarial valuation 
involves making assumptions about discount rates, future salary increases, mortality rates and future pension increases.  Due to the long term 
nature of these plans, such estimates are subject to significant uncertainty.  The assumed discount rates were determined using the market 
yields on Philippine government bonds with terms consistent with the expected employee benefit payout as of balance sheet dates.

As of December 31, 2008 and 2007, the present value of the defined benefit obligation of the Company amounted to P=0.09 million and 
          P=0.28 million, respectively (see Note 14). 

4. Cash and Cash Equivalents 

This account consists of: 

2008 2007 
Cash on hand and in banks P=1,014,780 P=1,696,812 
Short-term placement 11,500,000 6,310,279 

P=12,514,780 P=8,007,091 

Cash in banks consists of regular current and savings deposits that earn interest at the respective bank deposit rates.  Short-term placements earned 
interest rates ranging from 3.50% to 3.75% in 2008 and 2007. 

Interest earned on cash and cash equivalents amounted to P=0.67 million and P=0.08 million in 2008 and 2007, respectively. 

5. Receivables 

This account consists of: 

2008 2007 
Advances to employees P=405,276 P=64,265 
Interest receivable 10,222 2,454 

P=415,498 P=66,719 

Advances to employees pertain to advances made by the Company for the health care benefit of its employees.  It also includes employee loans with 
maturities of three months to one year and bear interest of 1.00% per month. 

6. Other Current Assets  

This account consists of: 

2008 2007 
Creditable withholding taxes P=3,149,028 P=3,177,499 
Prepayments 1,343,593 201,101 
Input value-added tax (VAT) 759,895 426,902 
Others 10,195 3,213 

P=5,262,711 P=3,808,715 

7. Investments in Subsidiaries

As of December 31, 2008 and 2007, the components of the carrying values of investments in subsidiaries accounted for under the cost method are as 
follows: 

 % of ownership 2008 2007 
PDTC 97.72 P=286,005,586 P=286,005,586 
PDEx 100.00 150,000,000 150,000,000 
PSSC 100.00 3,125,000 3,125,000 

 439,130,586 439,130,586 
Allowance for impairment losses  (74,816,164) (115,101,791)

 P=364,314,422 P=324,028,795 

Movement in the allowance for impairment losses, which pertains to the investment in PDEx, follows: 

2008 2007 
Balance at beginning of year P=115,101,791 P=115,101,791 
Reversal (40,285,627) –
Balance at end of year P=74,816,164 P=115,101,791 

The Company’s management made an assessment of the recoverability of its investment in PDEx.  In 2008, the Company partially reversed its 
allowance for impairment losses due to PDEx’s improved financial performance and cash flows.  

8. Deposit for Future Stock Subscription 

The deposit for future stock subscription represents the planned P=50.00 million additional investment in PDEx.  The first tranche of P=27.00 million was 
made in 2007 while the second tranche of P=23.00 million was completed in February 2008.  As of  December 31, 2008, PDEx is awaiting SEC’s 
approval of its application for increase in authorized capital stock. 
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9. Property and Equipment  

The composition of and changes in property and equipment at cost follow: 

2008 

Office Equipment 
Transportation 

Equipment 
Furniture 

and Fixtures Total 
Cost
Balance at beginning of year P=403,204 P=6,600,000 P=90,893 P=7,094,097 
Additions 33,633 2,598,214 14,475 2,646,322 
Disposals – (3,000,000) – (3,000,000)
Balance at end of year 436,837 6,198,214 105,368 6,740,419 
Accumulated depreciation     
Balance at beginning of year 265,116 4,170,000 70,509 4,505,625 
Depreciation 71,694 1,196,339 13,918 1,281,951 
Disposals – (2,250,000) – (2,250,000)
Balance at end of year 336,810 3,116,339 84,427 3,537,576 
Net book value P=100,027 P=3,081,875 P=20,941 P=3,202,843 

2007 

 Office Equipment 
Transportation 

Equipment 
Furniture 

and Fixtures Total 
Cost
Balance at beginning of year P=322,847 P=7,145,455 P=84,205 P=7,552,507 
Additions 80,357 – 6,688 87,045 
Disposals – (545,455) – (545,455)
Balance at end of year 403,204 6,600,000 90,893 7,094,097 
Accumulated depreciation 
Balance at beginning of year 185,744 3,086,364 47,719 3,319,827 
Depreciation 79,372 1,420,000 22,790 1,522,162 
Disposals – (336,364) – (336,364)
Balance at end of year 265,116 4,170,000 70,509 4,505,625 
Net book value P=138,088 P=2,430,000 P=20,384 P=2,588,472 

10. Accrued Expenses and Other Payables 

This account consists of: 

2008 2007 
Accruals for: 
 Professional fees P=575,133 P=338,095 
 Vacation leave benefits 14,572 1,978,463 
Withholding tax payable 568,111 183,152 
Taxes and licenses 389,092 35,294 
Output VAT – 1,748,614 
Others 201,605 106,932 

P=1,748,513 P=4,390,550 

11. Capital Stock 

 This account consists of:  
2008 2007 

No. of 
Shares Amount 

No. of 
Shares Amount 

Common stock - P=100 par value 
 Authorized - 7,500,000 shares and 
  5,000,000 shares in 2008 and 
  2007, respectively 
 Issued and outstanding 
 Balance at beginning of year 4,656,500 P=465,650,000 4,277,464 P=427,746,400 
 Issued during the year 1,593,500 159,350,000 379,036 37,903,600 
 Subscribed common stock – – 343,500 34,350,000 
 Subscription receivables – – (343,500) (34,350,000)

6,250,000 P=625,000,000 4,656,500 P=465,650,000 

The Company raised capital in 2008 and 2007.  In November 2007, the Company obtained an additional investment commitment of P=70.00 million from 
the Philippine Stock Exchange, Inc. (PSE), an existing shareholder with 12.20% ownership interest, and a commitment to maintain a 20.00% 
stakeholding in the Company.  The first tranche of the investment commitment was by way of a Subscription Agreement for 356,500 common shares at 
par for a total cash investment of P=35.65 million.  Golden Astra Capital, Inc., a new investor, also subscribed to 22,536 shares of the Company’s 
common stock at par, for a total cash investment of P=2.25 million.  The said subscriptions were paid on November 13, 2007 and December 5, 2007, 
respectively. 

In January 2008, the Parent Company filed an application for increase in authorized capital stock from P=500.00 million divided into 5,000,000 shares at  
P=100 par value to P=750.00 million divided into 7,500,000 shares at P=100 par value.  The Company’s application for increase in authorized capital stock 
was approved by the SEC on January 30, 2008. 

6,250,000 P=625,000,000 4,656,500 P=465,650,000 
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On January 28, 2008, SGX subscribed 1,250,000 common shares at par for a total cash investment of P=125.00 million.  On January 30, 2008, SGX 
remitted its initial investment of P=125.00 million.  

On April 23, 2008, a Deed of Assignment was made and executed by and among BAP Credit Bureau, Inc. (BCBI) and the PSE for the unpaid 
subscribed common shares of BCBI.  PSE deposited the unpaid subscription at an escrow fund and was released to the Company on  
June17, 2008. 

12. Other Income

This account includes reversal of accrued leave benefits amounting to P=1.90 million. 

13. Salaries and Employee Benefits

This account consists of: 

2008 2007 
Salaries and wages  P=937,622 P=1,826,354 
Retirement expense (income) (Note 14) (485,459) 744,592 
Leave benefits and others 453,514 282,396 
Social security cost 4,345 34,430 

P=910,022 P=2,887,772 

Others consist of employee benefits such as fringe benefit tax, meals and transportation, insurance and recreation.  

14. Retirement Plan 

The Company has a noncontributory defined benefit retirement plan covering substantially all its officers and regular employees.  Under this retirement 
plan, all covered officers and employees are entitled to cash benefits after satisfying certain age and service requirements. 

The following table shows the actuarial assumptions as of January 1, 2008 and 2007 used in determining the retirement benefit obligation of the 
Company: 

Actuarial Assumptions 

Date of Actuarial Valuation Report 

Average 
Remaining 

Working Life 

Expected 
Rate of 

Return on 
Assets 

Salary Rate 
Increase 

Discount 
Rate 

December 31, 2008 8 5.50% 4.00% 5.93%
December 31, 2007 7 7.00% 4.00% 6.28%

Discount rates used to arrive at the present value of the obligation as of December 31, 2008 and 2007 are 12.18% and 5.93%, respectively. 

The amount of retirement benefit obligation recognized in the balance sheets is determined as follows: 

2008 2007 
Present value of the obligation P=88,868 P=276,650 
Unrecognized actuarial gains 3,475,133 3,772,810 
Retirement benefit obligation P=3,564,001 P=4,049,460 

 Movements in accumulated unrecognized actuarial gains (losses) are as follows: 

2008 2007 
Balance at beginning of year P=3,772,810 P=1,076,510 

Actuarial gains on present value of the defined benefit obligation 237,339 2,791,153 
Actuarial gains recognized during the year  (535,016) (94,853) 
Balance at end of year P=3,475,133 P=3,772,810 

 The movements in retirement benefit obligation are as follows: 

2008 2007 
Balance at beginning of the year P=4,049,460 P=3,304,868 
Retirement expense (income) (485,459) 744,592 
Balance at end of the year P=3,564,001 P=4,049,460 

 The amount of retirement benefits expense (income) recognized in the statement of income (see Note 13) are as follows: 

2008 2007 
Current service cost P=33,152 P=699,504 
Interest costs 16,405 139,941 
Net actuarial gains recognized during the year (535,016) (94,853)
Retirement benefits expense (income) (P=485,459) P=744,592 
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Changes in the present value of the defined benefit obligation are as follows: 

2008 2007 
Balance at beginning of the year P=276,650 P=2,228,358 
Interest cost 16,405 139,941 
Current service cost 33,152 699,504 
Actuarial gains (237,339) (2,791,153)
Balance at end of the year P=88,868 P=276,650 

As of December 31, 2008, 2007 and 2006, the experience gains (losses) on plan liabilities amounted to P=0.19 million and (P=2.78 million) and 
(P=1.90 million), respectively. 

15. Income Taxes

Income taxes include final taxes paid at the rate of 20.00% on gross interest income from cash deposits and short-term placements. 

Republic Act No. 9337, An Act Amending National Internal Revenue Code, provides that the RCIT rate shall be 35.00% until December 31, 2008.  
Starting January 1, 2009, the RCIT rate shall be 30.00%. 

The regulations also impose the MCIT of 2.00% on modified gross income and allow a NOLCO.  The NOLCO and the excess of the MCIT over the 
RCIT may be applied against taxable income and the income tax liability, respectively, over a three year period from the year of inception. 

Provision for income tax consists of: 

2008 2007
Final tax 134,167 16,108
MCIT P=41,918 P=–

P=176,085 P=16,108

A reconciliation of the statutory income tax to the effective income tax follows: 

2008 2007 
Statutory income tax P=13,431,904 (P=2,191,709)
Tax effects of: 

Nontaxable reversal of impairment losses (14,099,969) –
Income subjected to final tax (100,625) (12,082)
Unrecognized deferred tax assets 902,857 2,219,899 
MCIT 41,918 –

Effective income tax P=176,085  P=16,108 

The Company did not recognize deferred tax assets as of December 31, 2008 and 2007 since management does not expect the Company to have 
taxable profit that will be available against which the deferred tax assets can be utilized.  The breakdown of unrecognized deferred tax assets is shown 
below: 

2008 2007 
Allowance for impairment losses P=22,444,849 P=40,285,626 
NOLCO 2,894,224 9,631,386 
Accrued retirement benefits 1,069,200 1,417,311 
MCIT 41,918 –
Accrued leave benefits 4,372 692,462 

P=26,454,563 P=52,026,785 

The Company’s MCIT and NOLCO can be claimed as deduction from future taxable income within three years and is broken down as follows: 

MCIT: 

Year Incurred Amount Expired Balance Expiry Year 
2006 P=101,155 P=– P=101,155 2009 
2008 41,918 – 41,918 2011 
 P=143,073 P=– P=143,073  

NOLCO: 

Year Incurred Amount Expired Balance Expiry Year 
2005 P=21,920,270 P=21,920,270 P=– 2008 
2007 5,597,977 – 5,597,977 2010 
2008 4,049,438 – 4,049,438 2011 
 P=31,567,685 P=21,920,270 P=9,647,415  

16. Related Party Transactions 

 In the ordinary course of business, the Company transacts with its related parties principally consisting of reimbursement of expenses and advances for 
working capital purposes.  The advances are payable on demand.  Starting August 2008, the Company charged interest to its subsidiaries ranging from 
4.00% to 5.25%.  The transactions and balances of accounts with related parties follow:  
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   Elements of Transactions 
  Nature of Balance Sheet Amount Statement of Income Amount 
Related Party Relationship Transaction 2008 2007 2008 2007 
PDTC Subsidiary Due from (to) subsidiaries P=33,619,746 (P=18,595,031) 
  Interest income P=672,367 P=– 

PDEx Subsidiary Due from (to) subsidiaries 71,676,496 (3,976,662) 
  Interest income 1,353,791 –
   
PSSC Subsidiary Due from subsidiaries 3,294,901 7,168,311 
  Interest income 69,718 –

In 2008, the Company secured Management and BOD Approval to participate in the PDEx Inter-Professional (IP) Repo Program as Lender through its 
subsidiary, PDTC.  PDTC’s placement in the IP Repo Program is collateralized by government securities.  The Repo Program is viewed as an 
alternative investment avenue for the Company.  Relative to this, the Company gave P=45.80 million to PDTC that was placed in the IP Repo Program.  
Interest rates earned on the Repo transactions range from 4.00% to 5.25%.  As of December 31, 2008, the outstanding amount of due from PDTC 
amounted to P=33.62 million 

Key Management Personnel Compensation
The remuneration of directors and other members of key management personnel for the years ended December 31, 2008 and 2007 are as follows:   

2008 2007 
Salaries  P=465,559 P=1,261,780 
Retirement benefits (241,046) –
Other long-term benefits 13,661 –

P=238,174 P=1,261,780 

17. Financial Instruments and Fair Value Measurement

The following table summarizes the carrying amounts and fair values of the Company’s financial assets and liabilities as of December 31, 2008 and 
2007. 

2008 2007 
Carrying Value Fair Value Carrying Value Fair Value 

Loans and Receivables   
 Cash and cash equivalents P=12,514,780 P=12,514,780 P=8,007,091 P=8,007,091 
 Due from subsidiaries 108,591,143 108,591,143 7,168,311 7,168,311 
 Receivables 415,498 415,498 66,719 66,719 
Total P=121,521,421 P=121,521,421 P=15,242,121 P=15,242,121 

2008 2007 
Carrying Value Fair Value Carrying Value Fair Value 

Other Financial Liabilities   
 Accrued expenses and other  
  payables (excluding taxes 
  payable)  P=1,197,559 P=1,197,559 P=2,958,784 P=2,958,784 
 Due to subsidiaries – – 22,571,693 22,571,693 
Total P=1,197,559 P=1,197,559 P=25,530,477 P=25,530,477 

The carrying amounts of the above financial assets and liabilities approximate their fair values due to the short-term nature of the financial instruments. 

18. Financial Risk and Capital Management Policies and Objectives 

 The Company does not engage in trading activities or take positions in equity, foreign exchange and securities other than investment in government 
securities in the course of managing its cash and liquidity position.  In 2008, the Company secured Management and BOD Approval to participate in the 
PDEx IP Repo Program as Lender through its subsidiary, PDTC.  PDTC’s placement in the IP Repo Program is collateralized by government securities 
and viewed as an alternative investment avenue for the Company (see Note 16).   

 The main risks arising from the Company’s financial instruments are credit risk and liquidity risk. The Company has no interest bearing borrowings and 
foreign currency denominated assets and liabilities; hence, it is not sensitive to interest rate and foreign exchange rate changes.     

 The following provides the overall risk management principles and process that governs the risk management of the Company and its subsidiaries (the 
Group).

 Risk Management Organization
 The Company’s risk management organization consists of the following: 

1. The BOD is the risk policy maker and approving authority of the Company.  The BOD has created and appointed Standing Committees with at 
least one independent director to assist in performing its functions.  Standing Committees include the following: 

a) Risk Management Committee (RMC) 
The RMC is a group-level committee that sets the policy standards and guidelines for the management and assessment of group-wide risk, 
with the ultimate objective of ascertaining that risk exposures of the Company fall within the capital collectively available and allocated to 
the Company. 

b) Audit Committee  
The Audit Committee is the oversight of the financial reporting process, internal control process, and hiring and performance of external 
auditors. 
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2. The Risk Management Unit (RMU) identifies, evaluates and measures risks and exposures attendant to the products and services provided by 
the Company.  It establishes standards to monitor and report compliance with its recommended limits. 

Complementing the RMU is the Product Committee that reviews existing and proposed products to ensure that all risk taking personnel have 
properly identified and analyzed the relevant risks.  It recommends to the Excom the approval of a proposed product. 

3. The Operations Support, Legal and Compliance, Financial Control, and Audit groups support the risk management function in risk control.  They 
operate independently of the business units and the risk management functions. 
a)    Operations Support group performs risk reporting, through generation of risk reports, and the control process of risk management. 

b)    Legal and Compliance group ensures that all laws and regulations are complied with and contracts entered into by the Company are 
        enforceable.   

c)    Financial Control group ensures that expenses and revenues are within budget and properly approved and monitored.   

d)    Audit group shall ensure compliance of financial accounting and internal control processes with internal and regulatory standards. 

4. The risk takers are the officers of respective business units handling the products.  These business units identify market or product opportunities 
and sponsor product or service developments or proposals. 

Credit Risk
As the Company trades only with related parties, there is no requirement for collateral.  Receivable balances are monitored on an ongoing basis with 
the result that the Company’s exposure to bad debts is not significant.   

   Credit risk exposures 
   The table below shows the Company’s gross maximum exposure to credit risk.   

2008 2007 
Cash and cash equivalents P=12,514,780 P=8,007,091 
Due from subsidiaries 108,591,143 7,168,311 
Receivables 415,498 66,719 

P=121,521,421 P=15,242,121 

Cash and cash equivalents are considered high grade as management deals only with top banks in the Philippines.  

The Company has no past due financial assets as of December 31, 2008 and 2007. 

Liquidity Risk
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Company will be unable to meet its payment obligations when they fall due.  To mitigate this risk, management prepares 
a forecast of the business cash flows for the year.    

To minimize market risks that could adversely affect management of liquidity position and because the Company is not in the business of trading 
securities, it is the management’s policy to invest excess cash and cash equivalents in liquid and non-speculative financial instruments, such as term 
deposits and government securities, with tenors that match its funding schedule. 

All financial liabilities of the Company as of December 31, 2008 are payable on demand. 

 Capital Management
 The Company’s capital management activities seek to ensure that it maintains a healthy capital ratio in order to support its businesses and maximize 

shareholders value by optimizing the level and mix of its capital resources.  Decisions on the allocation of capital resources are performed as part of the 
strategic planning review.  The Company also manages its capital structure and makes adjustments to it, in light of changes in economic conditions. 

 The Company’s objective is to ensure that there are no known events that may trigger direct or contingent financial obligation that is material to the 
Company, including default or acceleration of an obligation.   

 The Company monitors capital using the debt to equity ratio, which is total liabilities divided by total equity.  The Company’s total liabilities include 
current and non-current liabilities.  Equity comprises all components of equity. 

 The debt to equity ratios as of December 31, 2008 and 2007 are as follows:  

2008 2007 
Total liabilities P=5,312,514 P=31,011,703 
Total equity 539,382,849 341,832,066 
Debt to equity ratio 0.01 0.09 

19. Commitments and Contingencies 

The following are the significant commitments and contingencies involving the Company: 

Operating Lease Commitment – Company as Lessee
The Company is a lessee under a non-cancellable operating lease agreement covering its office and parking spaces for a period of five years.  Monthly 
rentals are apportioned to the Company and other related parties based on the size of the area occupied.  The Company also leases cars for certain 
officers. 

Total rent expense recognized on this operating lease amounted to P=0.69 million in 2008 and P=0.09 million in 2007.  

In connection with this operating lease, the Company paid security deposits which amounted to P=0.39 million and P=0.18 million as of December 31, 
2008 and 2007 and are presented under “Other non-current asset” account in the balance sheet. 

The future minimum rentals payable for the operating lease as of December 31, 2008 and 2007 are as follows:  

2008 2007 
Within a year P=793,704 P=112,229 
After one year but not more than five years 2,735,755 87,498 

P=3,529,459 P=199,727 
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PHILIPPINE DEALING & EXCHANGE CORP.
Independent Auditors’ Report

The Board of Directors 

Philippine Dealing & Exchange Corp. 

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of Philippine Dealing & Exchange Corp, a wholly owned subsidiary of Philippine Dealing System 

Holdings Corp., which comprise the balance sheets as at December 31, 2008 and 2007, and the statements of income, statements of changes in equity and 

statements of cash flows for the years then ended, and a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory notes.

Management’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements 

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in accordance with Philippine Financial Reporting 

Standards.  This responsibility includes: designing, implementing and maintaining internal control relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of financial 

statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error; selecting and applying appropriate accounting policies; and making 

accounting estimates that are reasonable in the circumstances.

Auditors’ Responsibility 

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audits.  We conducted our audits in accordance with Philippine 

Standards on Auditing.  Those standards require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance 

whether the financial statements are free from material misstatement.  

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements.  The procedures selected 

depend on the auditor’s judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error.  In 

making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in 

order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the 

entity’s internal control.  An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates 

made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements. 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

Opinion 

In our opinion, the financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of Philippine Dealing & Exchange Corp. as of  

December 31, 2008 and 2007, and its financial performance and its cash flows for the years then ended in accordance with Philippine Financial Reporting 

Standards. 

SYCIP GORRES VELAYO & CO. 

Josephine Adrienne A. Abarca 

Partner 

CPA Certificate No. 92126 

SEC Accreditation No. 0466-A 

Tax Identification No. 163-257-145 

PTR No. 1566401, January 5, 2009, Makati City 

March 27, 2009 
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PHILIPPINE DEALING & EXCHANGE CORP.
(A Wholly Owned Subsidiary of Philippine Dealing System Holdings Corp.)

Balance Sheets

December 31 
2008 2007 

ASSETS 
Current Assets
Cash on hand and in bank (Note 4) P=3,471,928 P=2,647,657 

Trade and other receivables (Note 5) 10,894,074 8,566,921 

Due from related parties (Note 18) – 3,976,662 

Other current assets (Note 6) 14,715,995 14,679,621 

 Total Current Assets 29,081,997 29,870,861 

Non-current Assets 
Property and equipment - net (Note 7) 11,251,263 12,493,704 

Software and system development costs - net (Note 8) 114,249,412 119,361,678 

Other non-current assets (Note 21) 1,072,452 923,530 

Total Non-current Assets 126,573,127 132,778,912 

P=155,655,124 P=162,649,773 

LIABILITIES AND EQUITY 

LIABILITIES 
Current Liabilities 
Accrued expenses and other payables (Note 9) P=13,298,105 P=18,425,886 

Current portion of deferred income (Note 10) 23,188,710 28,532,456 

Due to related parties (Note 18) 71,676,496 78,314,491 

 Total Current Liabilities 108,163,311 125,272,833 

Non-current Liabilities
Retirement benefit obligation (Note 16) 6,542,840 4,167,988 

Non-current portion of deferred income (Note 10) – 19,000,342 

 Total Non-current Liabilities 6,542,840 23,168,330 

114,706,151 148,441,163 

EQUITY
Capital stock (Note 11) 150,000,000 150,000,000 

Deposit for future stock subscription (Note 11) 50,000,000 27,000,000 

Deficit (159,051,027) (162,791,390) 

 Total Equity 40,948,973 14,208,610 

P=155,655,124 P=162,649,773 

See accompanying Notes to Financial Statements.
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PHILIPPINE DEALING & EXCHANGE CORP.
(A Wholly Owned Subsidiary of Philippine Dealing System Holdings Corp.)

Statements of Income

Years Ended December 31 

2008 2007 

SERVICE INCOME 
Service fees (Note 12) P=119,423,841 P=65,387,571 

Rebates on transaction fees (Note 12) 14,177,265 –

105,246,576 65,387,571 

OTHER INCOME (Note 13) 391,286 2,483,812 

105,637,862 67,871,383 

COSTS AND OPERATING EXPENSES 
Cost of services (Note 14) 86,732,429 102,270,527 

Salaries and employee benefits (Note 15) 8,213,840 7,456,698 

Interest (Note 18) 1,821,267 579,427 

Depreciation and amortization (Notes 7 and 8) 1,229,146 1,914,190 

Taxes and licenses 684,314 344,180 

Professional fees 650,338 914,879 

Rent (Note 21) 528,279 230,774 

Outside services 282,729 155,053 

Utilities 274,524 367,456 

Insurance 206,075 159,238 

Advertising 125,577 52,053 

Supplies 106,990 145,462 

Other operating expenses 615,522 505,947 

101,471,030 115,095,884 

INCOME (LOSS) BEFORE INCOME TAX 4,166,832 (47,224,501)

PROVISION FOR INCOME TAX (Note 17) 426,469 9,657 

NET INCOME (LOSS)  P=3,740,363 (P=47,234,158)

See accompanying Notes to Financial Statements.
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PHILIPPINE DEALING & EXCHANGE CORP.
(A Wholly Owned Subsidiary of Philippine Dealing System Holdings Corp.)

Statements of Changes in Equity

Common 
Stock 

(Note 11) 

Deposit for 
Future Stock 
Subscription 

(Note 11) Deficit 
Total 

Equity 

Balance at January 1, 2008 P=150,000,000 P=27,000,000 (P=162,791,390) P=14,208,610  
Deposit for future stock subscription – 23,000,000 – 23,000,000 
Net income for the year  – – 3,740,363 3,740,363 

Balance at December 31, 2008 P=150,000,000 P=50,000,000  (P=159,051,027) P=40,948,973  

Balance at January 1, 2007 P=150,000,000 P=– (P=115,557,232) P=34,442,768  

Deposit for future stock subscription – 27,000,000 – 27,000,000 

Net loss for the year – – (47,234,158)   (47,234,158)

Balance at December 31, 2007 P=150,000,000 P=27,000,000 (P=162,791,390) P=14,208,610  

    
See accompanying Notes to Financial Statements.
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PHILIPPINE DEALING & EXCHANGE CORP.
(A Wholly Owned Subsidiary of Philippine Dealing System Holdings Corp.)

Statements of Cash Flows

Years Ended December 31 

2008 2007

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES 
Income (loss) before income tax P=4,166,832 (P=47,224,501)

Adjustments for: 

 Depreciation and amortization (Notes 7 and 8) 24,582,852 38,283,332

 Interest income (Notes 4, 5 and 13) (80,025) (104,671)

 Unrealized foreign currency exchange gain (280,406) (2,379,141)

Operating income (loss) before working capital changes  28,389,253 (11,424,981)

 Changes in operating assets and liabilities: 

  Decrease (increase) in: 

   Trade and other receivables            (2,607,559) (2,182,150)

   Due from related parties 3,976,662 (3,107,105)

   Other current assets (447,882) (8,693,438)

   Other non-current assets (148,922) (401,812)

  Increase (decrease) in: 

   Accrued expenses and other payables (5,127,781) (6,731,359)

   Deferred income (24,344,088) (21,400,976)

   Retirement benefit obligation 2,374,852 1,821,166

   Due to related parties  (6,637,995) 26,460,028

Cash used in operations (4,012,648) (25,660,627)

Cash paid for income taxes (14,961) (9,657)

Net cash used in operating activities (4,027,609) (25,670,284)

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES

Capitalized payments of software and system development costs (Note 8) (13,098,264) (11,574,797)

Acquisitions of property and equipment (Note 7) (5,338,972) (4,986,025)

Proceeds from sale of property and equipment  209,091 –

Interest received 80,025 106,183

Net cash used in investing activities (18,148,120) (16,454,639)

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITY
Deposit for future stock subscription (Note 11) 23,000,000 27,000,000

NET INCREASE (DECREASE) IN CASH ON HAND AND IN BANK 824,271 (15,124,923)
CASH ON HAND AND IN BANK AT BEGINNING OF YEAR 2,647,657 17,772,580

CASH ON HAND AND IN BANK AT END  OF YEAR P=3,471,928 P=2,647,657

See accompanying Notes to Financial Statements.
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PHILIPPINE DEALING & EXCHANGE CORP.
(A Wholly Owned Subsidiary of Philippine Dealing System Holdings Corp.)

Notes to Financial Statements

1. Corporate Information 

Philippine Dealing & Exchange Corp. (the Company), a wholly owned subsidiary of Philippine Dealing System Holdings Corp. (the Parent Company), is 
a domestic corporation incorporated in the Philippines on June 17, 2003.  It started commercial operations in April 2005. 

The registered office of the Company, which is also the principal place of business, is located at the 37th Floor, The Enterprise Center, 6766 Ayala 
Avenue, Makati City. 

The Company is organized to primarily engage in the business of providing and maintaining an automated platform and infrastructure for the issuance, 
trading, dealing, brokering and exchange of fixed-income securities, monetary instruments and their derivatives, including but not limited to bonds, 
notes, debentures, bills, commercial papers, participations, trusts, asset-backed securities, and quasi-debt securities, as well as currencies, forwards 
or other derivatives. 

From the initial launch of its Inter-Dealer Market, the Company has widened its market offerings to include the enrolling and listing of corporate issues 
and the Professional and Public Markets in their use of the trading systems - bilateral and multilateral.  

The Company’s products and markets are now in full implementation to meet the regulatory mandate as a Self-Regulatory Organization (SRO) and as 
an operator of an over-the-counter (OTC) market as defined under the OTC Rules, with clearing authority for all trades conducted on these platforms. 
With the launch of its Public Market last February 2008, the Company expanded its types of participants from Dealer Participants to Broker and 
Qualified Investors Participants.   

To complement the spot market, the Company has developed its liquidity enhancement programs such as Securities Lending (SLT) and Repurchase 
(Repo) Agreements. The Philippine Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC) approved the Repo Program Rules in September 2007, while the 
Bangko Sentral ng Pilipinas (BSP) issued no-objection letters covering the SLT and Repo Programs in July 2007 and January 2008, respectively, 
thereby allowing its regulated entities to participate in both programs.  The Inter-Professional Repo and the Banker’s Association of the Philippines 
(BAP) Interbank Call Loan Program went live in August 2008.   

Being an integral part of the PDS Group of Companies whose vision is to establish a fixed-income capital market infrastructure, the Parent Company is 
financially committed to support the Company’s operations as seen in its additional investment of P=50.00 million in the Company.  The first tranche 
amounting to P=27.00 million conversion of advances to deposit for future stock subscription was in 2007.  The second tranche amounting to  
P=23.00 million was completed in February 2008. 

The accompanying financial statements of the Company were authorized for issue by the Board of Directors (BOD) on March 27, 2009. 

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Basis of Preparation
The accompanying financial statements have been prepared on a historical cost basis.  The Company’s financial statements are presented in 
Philippine pesos, the Company’s functional and presentation currency. 

Statement of Compliance
The financial statements of the Company have been prepared in compliance with Philippine Financial Reporting Standards (PFRS). 

Changes in Accounting Policies
The accounting policies adopted are consistent with those of the previous financial year except for the adoption of the following amendments to 
existing standards that become effective on July 1, 2008 and Philippine Interpretations which became effective on January 1, 2008: 

 Amendments to Philippine Accounting Standard (PAS) 39, Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement and PFRS 7, Financial 
Instruments: Disclosure - Reclassification of Financial Assets 
The amendment to PAS 39 introduces the possibility of reclassification of securities out of the trading category in rare circumstances and 
reclassification to the loans and receivables category if there is intent and ability to hold the securities for the foreseeable future or to held-to-
maturity (HTM) if there is intent and ability to hold the securities until maturity. It also allows the transfers of certain financial assets from 
available-for-sale (AFS) to loans and receivables and HTM. The amendment to PFRS 7 introduces the disclosures relating to these
reclassifications. This Interpretation has no significant impact on the financial statements of the Company.

 Philippine Interpretation IFRIC-11, PFRS 2-Group and Treasury Share Transactions, requires arrangements whereby an employee is granted 
rights to an entity’s equity instruments to be accounted for as an equity-settled scheme by the entity even if (a) the entity chooses or is required 
to buy those equity instruments (e.g., treasury shares) from another party, or (b) the shareholders of the entity provide the equity instruments 
needed.  It also provides guidance on how subsidiaries, in their separate financial statements, account for such schemes when their employees 
receive rights to the equity instruments of the parent.  The Company currently does not have any stock option plan and therefore, the adoption of 
this has no impact on the financial statements.

 Philippine Interpretation IFRIC-12, Service Concession Arrangements, covers contractual arrangements arising from private entities providing 
public services.  This interpretation has no impact on the financial statements of the Company. 

 Philippine Interpretation IFRIC-14, The Limit on a Defined Benefit Asset, Minimum Funding Requirement and their Interaction, provides guidance 
on how to assess the limit on the amount of surplus in a defined benefit scheme that can be recognized as an asset under PAS 19, Employee 
Benefits.  This interpretation has no significant impact on the financial statements of the Company. 

 Cash on Hand and in Bank
 For purposes of reporting cash flows, cash includes cash on hand and in bank.  

 Financial Instruments 
Date of recognition
The Company recognizes a financial asset or a financial liability in the balance sheet when it becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the 
instrument. In the case of a regular way purchase or sale of financial assets, recognition and derecognition, as applicable, is done using trade date 
accounting.  
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Initial recognition of financial instruments
Financial instruments are recognized initially at fair value, which is the fair value of the consideration given (in case of an asset) or received (in case of 
a liability).  The initial measurement of financial instruments, except for those designated at fair value through profit and loss (FVPL), includes 
transaction cost. 

Subsequent to initial recognition, the Company classifies its financial instruments in the following categories: financial assets and financial liabilities at 
FVPL, loans and receivables, held-to-maturity (HTM) investments, available-for-sale (AFS) investments and other financial liabilities.  The classification 
depends on the purpose for which the instruments are acquired and whether they are quoted in an active market.  Management determines the 
classification at initial recognition and, where allowed and appropriate, re-evaluates this classification at every reporting date. 

As of December 31, 2008 and 2007, the Company does not have financial assets and financial liabilities at FVPL, HTM investments and AFS 
investments. 

Loans and receivables 
Loans and receivables are nonderivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an active market.  After initial 
measurement, loans and receivables are carried at amortized cost using the effective interest method, less any allowance for impairment losses.  
Gains and losses are recognized in the Company’s statement of income when the loans and receivables are derecognized or impaired, as well as 
through the amortization process.  Loans and receivables are classified as current assets when the Company expects to realize or collect the asset 
within twelve months from balance sheet date.  Otherwise, these are classified as non-current asset. 

Classified under this category are the Company’s Cash and cash equivalents, Trade and other receivables and Due from related parties.

Other financial liabilities 
This category pertains to financial liabilities that are not held for trading or not designated as at FVPL at the inception of the liability.  These include 
liabilities arising from operations or borrowings. 

The financial liabilities are recognized initially at fair value and are subsequently carried at amortized cost, taking into account the impact of applying 
the effective interest method of amortization (or accretion) for any related premium, discount and any directly attributable transaction costs. 

 This category includes Accrued expenses and other payables and Due to related parties.

Determination of fair value 
The fair value for financial instruments traded in active markets at the balance sheet date is based on their quoted market prices or dealer price 
quotations (bid price for long positions and ask price for short positions), without any deduction for transactions costs.  When current bid and asking 
prices are not available, the price of the most recent transaction is used since it provides evidence of the current fair value as long as there has not 
been a significant change in economic circumstances since the time of the transaction. 

For all other financial instruments not listed in an active market, the fair value is determined by using appropriate valuation techniques.  Valuation 
techniques include net present value techniques, comparison to similar instruments to which market observable prices exist, and other relevant 
valuation models. 

‘Day 1’ profit 
Where the transaction price in a non-active market is different from the fair value from other observable current market transactions in the same 
instrument or based on a valuation technique whose variables include only data from an observable market, the Company recognizes the difference 
between the transaction price and the fair value (a ‘Day 1’ profit) in the statement of income unless it qualifies for recognition as some other type of 
asset.  In cases where use is made of data which is not observable, the difference between the transaction price and the model value is only 
recognized in the statement of income when the inputs become observable or when the instrument is derecognized.  For each transaction, the 
Company determines the appropriate method of recognizing the ‘Day 1’ profit amount. 

 Embedded derivative  
 An embedded derivative is separated from the host contract and accounted for as a derivative if all of the following conditions are met: a) the economic 

characteristics and risks of the embedded derivative are not closely related to the economic characteristics and risks of the host contract; b) a separate 
instrument with the same terms as the embedded derivative would meet the definition of a derivative; and c) the hybrid or combined instrument is not 
recognized at FVPL. Reassessment only occurs if there is a change in the terms of the contract that significantly modifies the cash flows that would 
otherwise be required. 

Derecognition of Financial Assets and Liabilities
Financial asset 
A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a financial asset or part of a group of financial assets) is derecognized when: 

1. the rights to receive cash flows from the asset have expired; or 
2. the Company retains the right to receive cash flows from the asset, but has assumed an obligation to pay them in full without material delay to a 

third party under a “pass-through” arrangement; or 
3. the Company has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from the asset and either (a) has transferred substantially all the risks and rewards 

of the asset, or (b) has neither transferred nor retained the risk and rewards of the asset but has transferred the control of the asset.  

Where the Company has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from an asset or has entered into a pass-through arrangement, and has neither 
transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset nor transferred control of the asset, the asset is recognized to the extent of 
the Company’s continuing involvement in the asset.  Continuing involvement that takes the form of a guarantee over the transferred asset is measured 
at the lower of original carrying amount of the asset and the maximum amount of consideration that the Company could be required to repay. 

Financial liability 
A financial liability is derecognized when the obligation under the liability is discharged or cancelled or has expired.  Where an existing financial liability 
is replaced by another from the same lender on substantially different terms, or the terms of an existing liability are substantially modified, such an 
exchange or modification is treated as a derecognition of the original liability and the recognition of a new liability, and the difference in the respective 
carrying amounts is recognized in the statement of income. 

Impairment of Financial Assets 
The Company assesses at each balance sheet date whether there is objective evidence that a financial asset or group of financial assets is impaired. A 
financial asset or a group of financial assets is deemed to be impaired if, and only if, there is objective evidence of impairment as a result of one or 
more events that has occurred after the initial recognition of the asset (an incurred ‘loss event’) and that loss event (or events) has an impact on the 
estimated future cash flows of the financial asset or the group of financial assets that can be reliably estimated.  Evidence of impairment may include 
indications that a customer or a group of customers is experiencing significant financial difficulty, default or delinquency in interest or principal 
payments, the probability that they will enter bankruptcy or other financial reorganization and where observable data indicate that there is measurable 
decrease in the estimated future cash flows, such as changes in arrears or economic conditions that correlate with defaults. 
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In relation to Trade and other receivables, the carrying amount of the asset is reduced through the use of an allowance account and the amount of the 
loss is recognized in the income statement.  Interest income continues to be accrued on the reduced carrying amount based on the original effective 
interest rate of the receivable.  Receivable together with the associated allowance are written off when there is no realistic prospect of future recovery 
and all collateral, if any, has been realized or has been transferred to the Company.  If in subsequent year, the amount of the estimated impairment 
loss increases or decreases because of an event occurring after the impairment was recognized, the previously recognized impairment loss is 
increased or reduced by adjusting the allowance account.  If a future write-off is later recovered, the recovery is recognized, the previously recognized 
impairment loss is increased or reduced by adjusting the allowance account.  If a future write-off is later recovered, the recovery is recognized in the 
statement of income.  Any subsequent reversal of an impairment loss is recognized in the statement of income, to the extent that the carrying value of 
the asset does not exceed its amortized cost at the reversal date. 

Offsetting Financial Instruments
Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount reported in the balance sheet if, and only if, there is a currently enforceable legal 
right to offset the recognized amounts and there is an intention to settle on a net basis, or to realize the asset and settle the liability simultaneously.  
This is not generally the case with master netting agreements, and the related assets and liabilities are presented gross in the balance sheet. 

 Property and Equipment
Depreciable properties such as office equipment, leasehold improvements, furniture and fixtures, transportation equipment and exchange system are 
stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and amortization and any impairment in value. 

The initial cost of property and equipment consists of its purchase price, including import duties, taxes and any directly attributable costs of bringing the 
asset to its working condition and location for its intended use. Expenditures incurred after items of property and equipment have been put into 
operation, such as repairs and maintenance are normally charged against operations in the period in which the costs are incurred. In situations where 
it can be clearly demonstrated that the expenditures have resulted in an increase in the future economic benefits expected to be obtained from the use 
of an item of property and equipment beyond its originally assessed standard of performance, the expenditures are capitalized as an additional cost of 
property and equipment. 

Depreciation is computed using the straight-line method over the estimated useful lives of the respective assets.  Leasehold improvements are 
amortized over the shorter of the terms of the covering leases and the estimated useful lives of the improvements. 

The estimated useful lives follow: 

Useful Lives in 
Years 

Office equipment    3-5 
Leasehold improvements 5
Furniture and fixtures 3-5 
Transportation equipment 5
Exchange system 7

The useful lives and the depreciation and amortization method are reviewed periodically to ensure that the period and the method of depreciation and 
amortization are consistent with the expected pattern of economic benefits from items of property and equipment. 

An item of property and equipment is derecognized upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected from its use or disposal.  Any 
gain or loss arising on derecognition of the asset (calculated as the difference between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the 
asset) is included in the statement of income in the year the asset is derecognized. 

Software and System Development Costs
 Software and system development costs include cost of computer software and system development costs which are accounted for under the cost 

model.  The cost of the asset is the amount of cash or cash equivalents paid or the fair value of the other considerations given up to acquire an asset 
at the time of its acquisition or production.  

 Acquired computer software licenses are capitalized on the basis of the costs incurred to acquire and install the specific software.  Costs associated 
with maintaining computer software are expensed as incurred. 

 Costs associated with research activities are expensed in the statement of income as they occur.  Costs that are directly attributable to the 
development phase of the new customized software for information technology and telecommunications systems as well as the exchange system are 
recognized as intangibles provided they meet the following recognition requirements: 

a. demonstration of technical feasibility of the prospective product for internal use or sale;  
b. the software and system development costs will generate probable economic benefits through internal use or sale; 
c. sufficient technical, financial and other resources are available for completion; and 
d. the software and system development costs can be reliably measured. 

Directly attributable costs include employee costs incurred on software and system development along with an appropriate portion of relevant 
overheads.  The costs of internally generated software developments are recognized as intangible assets; they are subject to the same measurement 
as externally acquired.  However, until completion of the development project, the asset is subject to impairment testing.  Amortization commences 
upon completion of asset. 

 Capitalized costs are amortized on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful life of 7 years.  In addition, software and system development costs 
are subject to impairment testing. 

Impairment of Nonfinancial Assets
The Company assesses at each balance sheet date whether there is an indication that the Company’s software and system development cost and 
property and equipment may be impaired.  When an indicator of impairment exists or when an annual impairment testing for an asset is required, the 
Company makes an estimate of recoverable amount. Recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s (or cash-generating unit’s) fair value less costs to 
sell and its value in use and is determined for an individual asset, unless the asset does not generate cash inflows that are largely independent of 
those from other assets or groups of assets, in which case the recoverable amount is assessed as part of the cash generating unit to which it belongs. 
Where the carrying amount of an asset (or cash generating unit) exceeds its recoverable amount, the asset (or cash generating unit) is considered 
impaired and is written down to its recoverable amount. In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value 
using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset (or cash 
generating unit).   

An impairment loss is charged to operations in the period in which it arises, unless the asset is carried at a revalued amount, in which case the 
impairment loss is charged to the revaluation increment of the said asset. 
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A previously recognized impairment loss is reversed only if there has been a change in the estimates used to determine the asset’s recoverable 
amount since the last impairment loss was recognized.  If that is the case, the carrying amount of the asset is increased to its recoverable amount.  
That increased amount cannot exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined, net of depreciation, had no impairment loss been 
recognized for the asset in prior years.  Such reversal is recognized in the statement of income unless the asset is carried at a revalued amount, in 
which case the reversal is treated as a revaluation increase.  After such a reversal, the depreciation expense is adjusted in future periods to allocate 
the asset’s revised carrying amount, less any residual value, on a systematic basis over its remaining useful life. 

 Revenue Recognition
Revenue is recognized to the extent that it is probable that the economic benefits will flow to the Company and the revenue can be reliably measured.  
Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received excluding rebates from transaction fees.  The following specific recognition criteria 
must also be met before revenue is recognized: 

Service Income
Service income is recognized when the services are rendered. 

Interest Income 
Interest income is recognized on a time proportion basis computed on the outstanding principal balance using the applicable effective interest rate. 

Foreign Currency Transactions
For financial reporting purposes, the monetary assets and liabilities of the Company are translated in Philippine pesos based on the Philippine Dealing 
System (PDS) closing rate prevailing at end of the year and foreign currency-denominated income and expenses, at the PDS weighted average rate for 
the year.  Foreign exchange differences arising from restatement of foreign currency denominated monetary assets and liabilities are credited to or 
charged against operations in the year in which the rates change.  Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign 
currency are translated using the exchange rates as at the dates of the initial translations.  Non-monetary items measured at fair value in a foreign 
currency are translated using the exchange rates at the date when the fair value was determined. 

Leases
 The determination of whether an arrangement is, or contains, a lease is based on the substance of the arrangement and requires an assessment of 

whether the fulfillment of the arrangement is dependent on the use of a specific asset or assets and the arrangement conveys a right to use the asset.  
A reassessment is made after inception of the lease only if one of the following applies: 

a. There is a change in contractual terms, other than a renewal or extension of the arrangement; 
b. A renewal option is exercised or extension granted, unless that term of the renewal or extension was initially included in the lease term; 
c. There is a change in the determination of whether fulfillment is dependent on a specified asset; or 
d. There is a substantial change to the asset. 

Where a reassessment is made, lease accounting shall commence or cease from the date when the change in circumstances gave rise to the 
reassessment for scenarios a, c or d above, and at the date of renewal or extension period for scenario b. 

Operating lease
Operating lease payments are recognized as an expense in the statement of income on a straight-line basis over the lease term. 

Retirement Benefits
The Company has a noncontributory defined benefit retirement plan. 

The retirement cost of the Company is determined using the projected unit credit method.  Under this method, the current service cost is the present 
value of retirement benefits payable in the future with respect to services rendered in the current period.  The liability recognized in the balance sheet 
in respect of defined benefit pension plans is the present value of the defined benefit obligation at the balance sheet date less the fair value of plan 
assets, if any, together with adjustments for unrecognized actuarial gains or losses and past service costs. The defined benefit obligation is calculated 
annually by an independent actuary using the projected unit credit method. The present value of the defined benefit obligation is determined by 
discounting the estimated future cash outflows using interest rate on government bonds that have terms to maturity approximating the terms of the 
related retirement liability. Actuarial gains and losses arising from experience adjustments and changes in actuarial assumptions are credited to or 
charged against income when the net cumulative unrecognized actuarial gains and losses at the end of the previous period exceeded 10% of the 
higher of the defined benefit obligation and the fair value of plan assets at that date.  These excess gains or losses are recognized over the expected 
average remaining working lives of the employees participating in the plan. 

Past-service costs, if any, are recognized immediately in income, unless the changes to the pension plan are conditional on the employees remaining 
in service for a specified period of time (the vesting period).  In this case, the past-service costs are amortized on a straight-line basis over the vesting 
period. 

The defined benefit asset or liability comprises the present value of the defined benefit obligation less past service costs not yet recognized and less 
the fair value of plan assets out of which the obligations are to be settled directly.  The value of any asset is restricted to the sum of any past service 
cost not yet recognized and the present value of any economic benefits available in the form of refunds from the plan or reductions in the future 
contributions to the plan. 

 Income Taxes
Current Tax 
Current tax assets and liabilities for the current and prior periods are measured at the amount expected to be recovered from or paid to the taxation 
authorities.  The tax rates and tax laws used to compute the amount are those that are enacted or substantively enacted by the balance sheet date. 

Deferred Tax
Deferred tax is provided using the balance sheet method on temporary differences at the balance sheet date between the tax bases of assets and 
liabilities and their carrying amounts for financial reporting purposes.   

Deferred tax liabilities are recognized for all taxable temporary differences, including asset revaluations. Deferred tax assets are recognized for all 
deductible temporary differences, carryforward of unused tax credits from the excess of minimum corporate income tax (MCIT) over the regular 
corporate income tax (RCIT), and unused net operating loss carryover (NOLCO), to the extent that it is probable that sufficient taxable profit will be 
available against which the deductible temporary differences and carry forward of unused tax credits from MCIT and unused NOLCO can be utilized. 
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The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at each balance sheet date and reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient 
taxable profit will be available to allow all or part of the deferred tax asset to be utilized.  Unrecognized deferred tax assets are reassessed at each 
balance sheet date and are recognized to the extent that it has become probable that future taxable profit will allow the deferred tax asset to be 
recovered. 

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply to the year when the asset is realized or the liability is 
settled, based on tax rates and tax laws that have been enacted or substantively enacted at the balance sheet date. 

 Current tax and deferred tax relating to items recognized directly in equity is also recognized directly in equity and not in the statement of income. 

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset, if a legally enforceable right exists to offset current tax assets against current tax liabilities 
and the deferred taxes relate to the same taxable entity and the same taxation authority. 

Provisions and Contingencies
Provisions 
Provisions are recognized when an obligation (legal or constructive) is incurred as a result of a past event and where it is probable that an outflow of 
assets embodying economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation.   

 Contingencies 
Contingent liabilities are not recognized but are disclosed in the financial statements unless the possibility of an outflow of resources embodying 
economic benefits is remote.  Contingent assets are not recognized but are disclosed in the financial statements when an inflow of economic benefits 
is probable. 

Subsequent Events
 Any post year-end events that provide additional information about the Company’s position at balance sheet date (adjusting event) are reflected in the 

financial statements.  Post year-end events that are not adjusting events, if any, are disclosed when material to the financial statements. 

Future Changes in Accounting Policies
The Company will adopt the following relevant standards and interpretations enumerated below when these become effective.  Except as otherwise 
indicated, the Company does not expect the adoption of these new and amended PFRS and Philippine Interpretations to have significant impact on its 
financial statements.  

Effective in 2009
Amendment to PAS 1, Amendment on Statement of Comprehensive Income (effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2009) 
In accordance with the amendment to PAS 1, the statements of changes in equity shall include only transactions with owners, while all non-owner 
changes will be presented in equity as a single line with details included in a separate statement.  Owners are defined as holders of instruments 
classified as equity. 

In addition, the amendment to PAS 1 provides for the introduction of a new statement of comprehensive income that combines all items of income and 
expenses recognized in the statements of income together with ‘other comprehensive income’.  The revision specify what is included in other 
comprehensive income, such as gains and losses on AFS financial assets, actuarial gains and losses on defined benefit pension plans and changes in 
the asset revaluation reserve.  Entities can choose to present all items in one statement, or to present two linked statements, a separate statement of 
income and a statement of comprehensive income.   

PAS 23, Borrowing Costs (Revised) (effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2009) 
The Standard has been revised to require capitalization of borrowing costs when such costs relate to a qualifying asset.  A qualifying asset is an asset 
that necessarily takes a substantial period of time to get ready for its intended use or sale.  In accordance with the transitional requirements in the 
Standard, this change in accounting for borrowing costs shall be accounted for prospectively.  Accordingly, borrowing costs will be capitalized on 
qualifying asset with a commencement date after January 1, 2009.  Revision to this standard will not have significant impact on the Company. 

Philippine Interpretation IFRIC-13, Customer Loyalty Programmes (effective for annual periods beginning on or after July 1, 2008) 
This Interpretation requires loyalty credits to be accounted for as a separate component of the sales transaction in which they are granted.  The 
Company currently does not have such programs. 

Effective in 2010 
Philippine Interpretation IFRIC 17, Distribution of Non-cash Assets to Owners
This Interpretation covers accounting for two types of non-reciprocal distributions of assets by an entity to its owners acting in their capacity as owners. 
The two types of distribution are: 
a. distributions of non-cash assets (eg items of property, plant and equipment, businesses as defined in PFRS 3, ownership interests in another 

entity or disposal groups as defined in PFRS 5); and 
b. distributions that give owners a choice of receiving either non-cash assets or a cash alternative. 

This Interpretation addresses only the accounting by an entity that makes a non-cash asset distribution. It does not address the accounting by 
shareholders who receive such a distribution 

Philippine Interpretation IFRIC 18, Transfers of Assets from Customers
This Interpretation covers accounting for transfers of items of property, plant and equipment by entities that receive such transfers from their 
customers. Agreements within the scope of this Interpretation are agreements in which an entity receives from a customer an item of property, plant 
and equipment that the entity must then use either to connect the customer to a network or to provide the customer with ongoing access to a supply of 
goods or services, or to do both.  This Interpretation also applies to agreements in which an entity receives cash from a customer when that amount of 
cash must be used only to construct or acquire an item of property, plant and equipment and the entity must then use the item of property, plant and 
equipment either to connect the customer to a network or to provide the customer with ongoing access to a supply of goods or services, or to do both. 

Improvements to PFRSs 
In May 2008, the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB) issued its first omnibus of amendments to certain standards, primarily with a view of 
removing inconsistencies and clarifying wordings.  The Company has not yet adopted the following relevant amendments and anticipates that these 
changes will have no material effect in the financial statements. 

PFRS 7, Financial Instruments: Disclosures
 Removal of the reference to ‘total interest income’ as a component of finance costs. 

PAS 1, Presentation of Financial Statements
 Assets and liabilities classified as held for trading are not automatically classified as current in the balance sheet. 
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PAS 10, Events after the Reporting Period
 Clarification that dividends declared after the end of the reporting period are not obligations. 

PAS 16, Property, Plant and Equipment
 The amendment replaces the term ‘net selling price’ with ‘fair value less costs to sell’ to be consistent with PFRS 5, Non-current Assets Held for 

Sale and Discontinued Operations and PAS 36, Impairment of Assets.
 Items of property, plant and equipment held for rental that are routinely sold in the ordinary course of business after rental, are transferred to 

inventory when rental ceases and they are held for sale.  Proceeds of such sales are subsequently shown as revenue.  Cash payments on initial 
recognition of such items, the cash receipts from rents and subsequent sales are all shown as cash flows from operating activities. 

PAS 18, Revenue
 Replacement of the term ‘direct costs’ with ‘transaction costs’ as defined in PAS 39. 

PAS 19, Employee Benefits
 Revises the definition of ‘past service costs’ to include reductions in benefits related to past services (‘negative past service costs’) and to 

exclude reductions in benefits related to future services that arise from plan amendments.  Amendments to plans that result in a reduction in 
benefits related to future services are accounted for as curtailment. 

 Revises the definition of ‘return on plan assets’ to exclude plan administration costs if they have already been included in the actuarial 
assumptions used to measure the defined benefit obligation. 

 Revises the definition of ‘short-term’ and ‘other long-term’ employee benefits to focus on the point in time at which the liability is due to be 
settled. 

 Deletes the reference to the recognition of contingent liabilities to ensure consistency with PAS 37, Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and 
Contingent Assets.

PAS 23, Borrowing Costs
 Revises the definition of borrowing costs to consolidate the types of items that are considered components of ‘borrowing costs’, i.e., components 

of the interest expense calculated using the effective interest rate method. 

PAS 36, Impairment of Assets
 When discounted cash flows are used to estimate ‘fair value less cost to sell’ additional disclosure is required about the discount rate, consistent 

with disclosures required when the discounted cash flows are used to estimate ‘value in use’. 

PAS 38, Intangible Assets
 Expenditure on advertising and promotional activities is recognized as an expense when the Group either has the right to access the goods or 

has received the services.  Advertising and promotional activities now specifically include mail order catalogues. 
 Deletes references to there being rarely, if ever, persuasive evidence to support an amortization method for finite life intangible assets that 

results in a lower amount of accumulated amortization than under the straight-line method, thereby effectively allowing the use of the unit of 
production method. 

PAS 39, Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement
 Changes in circumstances relating to derivatives - specifically derivatives designated or de-designated as hedging instruments after initial 

recognition - are not reclassifications. 
 When financial assets are reclassified as a result of an insurance company changing its accounting policy in accordance with paragraph 45 of 

PFRS 4, Insurance Contracts, this is a change in circumstance, not a reclassification. 
 Removes the reference to a ‘segment’ when determining whether an instrument qualifies as a hedge. 
 Requires use of the revised effective interest rate (rather than the original effective interest rate) when re-measuring a debt instrument on the 

cessation of fair value hedge accounting. 

PAS 40, Investment Properties
 Revises the scope (and the scope of PAS 16, Property, Plant and Equipment) to include property that is being constructed or developed for 

future use as an investment property.  Where an entity is unable to determine the fair value of an investment property under construction, but 
expects to be able to determine its fair value on completion, the investment under construction will be measured at cost until such time as fair 
value can be determined or construction is complete. 

3. Significant Accounting Judgments and Estimates

The preparation of the financial statements in accordance with PFRS requires the Company to make estimates and assumptions that affect the 
reported amounts of assets, liabilities, income and expenses and disclosure of contingent assets and contingent liabilities.  Future events may occur 
which will cause the assumptions used in arriving at the estimates to change.  The effects of any change in estimates are reflected in the financial 
statements as they become reasonably determinable. 

Estimates and judgments are continually evaluated and are based on historical experience and other factors, including expectations of future events 
that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances. 

The following are the critical judgments and key assumptions that have a significant risk of material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and 
liabilities within the next financial year: 

Judgment
(a) Recognition of deferred tax assets 

Deferred tax assets are recognized for all unused tax and temporary differences losses to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be 
available against which the losses can be utilized.  Significant management judgment is required to determine the amount of deferred tax assets 
that can be recognized, based upon the likely timing and level of future taxable profits together with future tax planning strategies.  

As of December 31, 2008 and 2007, the Company did not recognize deferred tax asset for all its tax losses and temporary differences  
(see Note 17). 

(b) Operating Lease 
The Company leases the premises it occupies.  The Company has determined that it does not retain all the significant risk and rewards of 
ownership of the premises.  
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Estimates
(a) Impairment of financial assets 

The Company maintains an allowance for impairment losses at a level considered adequate to provide for potential uncollectible receivables.  
The level of allowance is evaluated by the Company on the basis of factors that affect the collectibility of the accounts.  The review is 
accomplished using a combination of specific and collective assessment.  The factors considered in specific impairment assessment are the 
length of the Company’s relationship with customers, customers’ current credit status based on known factors, age of the accounts and other 
available information that will indicate objective evidence that the customers maybe unable to meet their financial obligations.  The collective 
impairment assessment is based on historical loss experience and deterioration in the market in which the customers operate.  The amounts and 
timing of recorded provision for impairment losses for any period would differ if the Company made different assumptions or utilized different 
estimates. 

Trade and other receivables, net of allowance for impairment losses, amounted to P=10.89 million and P=8.57 million as of December 31, 2008 and 
2007, respectively (see Note 6). 

(b) Impairment of nonfinancial assets 
  The Company assesses impairment on assets whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of an asset may 

not be recoverable.  The factors that the Company considers important which could trigger an impairment review include the following: 

 significant underperformance relative to expected historical or projected future operating results; 
 significant changes in the manner of use of the acquired assets or the strategy for overall business; and 
 significant negative industry or economic trends. 

  The Company recognizes an impairment loss whenever the carrying amount of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount.  The recoverable 
amount is computed using the value in use approach.  Recoverable amounts are estimated for individual assets. 

As of December 31, 2008 and 2007, the carrying values of the Company’s nonfinancial assets follow: 

2008 2007
Property and equipment - net (Note 7) P=11,251,263 P=12,493,704
Software and system development costs - net (Note 8) 114,249,412 119,361,678

 No impairment loss was recognized in 2008 and 2007. 

(c) Estimated useful lives of property and equipment  
The Company estimates the useful lives of its property and equipment.  This estimate is reviewed periodically to ensure that the period of 
depreciation and amortization is consistent with the expected pattern of economic benefits from the items of property and equipment.   

As of December 31, 2008 and 2007, the carrying value of property and equipment amounted to P=11.25 million and P=12.49 million, respectively 
(see Note 7). 

(d) Estimated useful lives of software and system development costs
The Company estimates the useful life of software and system development costs based on the period over which the assets are expected to be 
available for use.  The estimated useful lives of software and system development costs are reviewed periodically and are updated if 
expectations differ from previous estimates due to technical or commercial obsolescence and legal or other limits on the use of the assets.  In 
addition, estimation of the useful lives of software and system development costs is based on collective assessment of industry practice, internal 
technical evaluation and experience with similar assets.  It is possible, however, that future results of operations could be materially affected by 
changes in estimates brought about by changes in factors mentioned above.  The amounts and timing of recorded expenses for any period 
would be affected by changes in these factors and circumstances.  A reduction in the estimated useful lives of the software and system 
development costs would increase recorded operating expenses and decrease non-current assets. 

As of December 31, 2008 and 2007, the carrying value of software and system development costs amounted to P=114.25 million and  
P=119.36 million, respectively (see Note 8). 

(e) Present value of retirement obligation 
The cost of defined benefit pension plan and other post-employment benefits is determined using actuarial valuation.  The actuarial valuation 
involves making assumptions about discount rates, expected rates of return on assets, future salary increases, mortality rates and future pension 
increases.  Due to the long term nature of these plans, such estimates are subject to significant uncertainty.  The assumed discount rates were 
determined using the market yields on Philippine government bonds with terms consistent with the expected employee benefit payout as of 
balance sheet dates.  

As of December 31, 2008 and 2007, the present value of the retirement obligation of the Company amounted to P=8.13 million and P=3.71 million, 
respectively (see Note 16). 

4. Cash on Hand and in Bank

This account consists of: 

2008 2007 
Cash on hand P=5,000 P=5,000 
Cash in bank 3,466,928 2,642,657 

P=3,471,928 P=2,647,657 

Cash in bank includes regular current and savings deposits that earn interest at the respective bank deposit rates.   



82  PDS Group 2008 Annual Report

5. Trade and Other Receivables 

This account consists of: 

2008 2007 
Trade receivables P=10,637,976 P=8,150,473 
Advances to employees 256,098 416,448 

P=10,894,074 P=8,566,921 

Trade receivables are non-interest bearing and are usually due by the 25th day of the following month.  All trade receivables are subject to credit risk 
exposure.  However, the Company does not identify specific concentrations of credit risk with regards to trade receivables as the amounts recognized 
consist of large number of receivables from various customers.   

 Advances to employees pertain to advances made by the Company for the health care benefit of its officers and employees.  It also includes employee 
loans with maturities of three months to one year and bear interest of 1.00% per month. 

6. Other Current Assets 

This account consists of: 

2008 2007 
Prepayments P=5,135,387 P=5,086,321 
Input value added tax (VAT) 4,888,830 6,343,130 
Creditable taxes 4,376,522 3,202,128 
Creditable VAT 315,256 48,042 

P=14,715,995 P=14,679,621 

Prepayments include prepaid rent of office premises, insurance of transportation equipment, and health insurance.  

7. Property and Equipment 

The composition of and changes in property and equipment follow: 

2008 
 Office 

Equipment 
Leasehold 

Improvements 
Furniture 

and Fixtures 
Transportation 

Equipment 
Exchange 

System 
Total 

Cost       
Balance at beginning of year P12,486,445 P362,368 P173,411 P3,233,768 P6,083,561 P=22,339,553 
Additions 5,005,716 309,479 23,777 – – 5,338,972 
Disposals – – – (545,455) – (545,455)
Balance at end of year 17,492,161 671,847 197,188 2,688,313 6,083,561 27,133,070 
Accumulated depreciation  
 and amortization 
Balance at beginning of year 
Depreciation and amortization 

P=5,124,555 
4,445,468 

P=136,189 
79,978 

P=94,829 
47,045 

P=1,144,318 
583,118 

P=3,345,958 
1,216,713 

P=9,845,849 
6,372,322 

Disposals – – – (336,364) – (336,364)
Balance at end of year 9,570,023 216,167 141,874 1,391,072 4,562,671 15,881,807 
Net book value P=7,922,138 P=455,680 P=55,314 P=1,297,241 P=1,520,890 P=11,251,263 

2007 
Office 

Equipment 
Leasehold 

Improvements 
Furniture 

and Fixtures 
Transportation 

Equipment 
Exchange 

System Total 
Cost 
Balance at beginning of year P7,230,018 P362,368 P122,697 P3,233,768 P6,083,561 P17,032,412 
Additions 4,935,311 – 50,714 – – 4,986,025 
Reclassification (Note 8) 321,116 – – – – 321,116 
Balance at end of year 12,486,445 362,368 173,411 3,233,768 6,083,561 22,339,553 
Accumulated depreciation  
 and amortization 
Balance at beginning of year 2,613,061 63,716 46,176 497,565 2,129,246 5,349,764 
Depreciation and amortization 2,511,494 72,473 48,653 646,753 1,216,712 4,496,085 
Balance at end of year 5,124,555 136,189 94,829 1,144,318 3,345,958 9,845,849 
Net book value P7,361,890 P226,179 P78,582 P2,089,450 P2,737,603 P12,493,704 

Total depreciation and amortization are allocated as follows:  

2008 2007 
Cost of services P=6,053,706 P=4,271,279 
Operating expense 318,616 224,806 

P=6,372,322 P=4,496,085 
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8. Software and System Development Costs

The composition of and changes in software and system development costs follow: 

 2008 

Computer 
Software 

System 
Development 

Costs Total
Cost 
Balance at beginning of year P=143,330,667 P=56,922,879 P=200,253,546 
Additions 12,314,223 784,041 13,098,264 
Balance at end of year 155,644,890 57,706,920 213,351,810 
Accumulated Amortization    
Balance at beginning of year  53,706,280 27,185,588 80,891,868 
Amortization 12,650,904 5,559,626 18,210,530 
Balance at end of year 66,357,184 32,745,210 99,102,398 
Net book value P=89,287,706 P=24,961,710 P=114,249,412 

 2007  

Computer 
Software 

System 
Development 

Costs Total 
Cost 
Balance at beginning of year P=138,072,152 P=50,927,713 P=188,907,924 
Additions 7,679,803 3,894,994 11,574,797 
Reclassification (Note 7) (2,421,288) 2,100,172 (321,116)
Balance at end of year 143,330,667 56,922,879 200,253,546 
Accumulated Amortization 
Balance at beginning of year 29,269,422 17,835,199 47,104,621 
Amortization 24,436,858 9,350,389 33,787,247 
Balance at end of year 53,706,280 27,185,588 80,891,868 
Net book value P=89,624,387 P=29,737,291 P=119,361,678 

In 2004, the Company entered into a License and Development Agreement (LDA) with a provider for the purchase of a software license and the related 
customization and development of the Company’s fixed income trading system.  The cost of the license was capitalized and shown as part of computer 
software.  

Other capitalized costs include the costs incurred for the development and customization of the Company’s systems such as fixed income (bilateral 
and multilateral systems), foreign exchange, repurchase agreements (repo), and securities lending.   

Amortization cost decreased in 2008 as a result of the extension of the estimated useful life of software and system development costs from 5 years  
to 7 years in 2007. 

Total amortization is allocated as follows:  
2008 2007 

Cost of services P=17,300,000 P=32,097,863 
Operating expense 910,530 1,689,384 

P=18,210,530 P=33,787,247 

9. Accrued Expenses and Other Payables

This account consists of: 

2008 2007 
Accruals for: 
 Maintenance of computer software P=3,210,625 P=6,628,496 
 Utilities 2,839,891 2,326,659 
 Professional fees 1,826,631 3,696,258 
 Vacation leave benefits 1,348,634 1,503,281 
 Software development 495,000 1,601,177 
 Outside Services 296,367 23,235 
Output VAT  2,021,098 1,771,472 
Withholding tax payable 582,839 509,537 
Taxes and licenses 102,456 102,559 
Others 574,564 263,212 

P=13,298,105 P=18,425,886 

10. Deferred Income

This account pertains to the advance payment of maintenance fees from customers.  This also includes the three-year advance payments received in 
2006 which will be amortized and recognized as income until 2009. 

11. Capital Stock 

The Company has 1,500,000 shares of authorized capital stock with par value of P=100.00. As of December 31, 2008 and 2007, the Company has 
1,500,000 issued and outstanding shares. 
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On December 31, 2007, cash advances from the Parent Company amounting to P=27.00 million were converted as Deposit for future stock subscription 
representing the first tranche of the planned P=50.00 million additional investment in the Company.  The second tranche of P=23.00 million was 
completed in February 2008. 

The Company is awaiting SEC approval of its increase in authorized capital stock from P=150.00 million to P=200.00 million. 

12. Service Income

This account consists of income from: 

2008 2007 
Transaction fees  P=77,820,791 P=32,714,090 
Maintenance fees 41,009,034 32,362,642 
Data services 594,016 310,839 

119,423,841 65,387,571 
Rebates from transaction fees (14,177,265) –

P=105,246,576 P=65,387,571 

Transaction fees are charged for trades executed under the Company’s Trading System Infrastructure.  Maintenance fees are charged for providing 
the Trading System Infrastructure to the Company’s trading participants.  Service income from data services arises from distribution of real-time market 
information. 

Rebates from transaction fees are applied to all spot market fixed income transactions of a Trading  Participant (TP) whether traded on the Negotiated 
Dealing or Order Driven Systems. The Company has a two-feature rebate program. This consists of: 

a. Block volume rebate – each completed block of  P=5.00 billion transaction volume per month that a TP achieves shall entitle that TP to a rebate of 
20.00% of the transaction fees for that completed block.  The volume in excess of the last completed block of P=5.00 billion shall be carried over 
in the next month’s volume calculations. 

b. Industry rebate – a rebate that applies when the pre-determined industry average daily volume is achieved starting at P=9.00 billion; as pre-
determined volume increase to the next level, discount rates correspondingly increase. 

Rebate computed at month-end is applied as a deduction in the TP’s billing for that month.  The Company started giving block volume rebates in 
February 2008 and the industry rebates in July 2008. 

13. Other Income

This account consists of: 

2008 2007 
Foreign exchange gain  P=280,406 P=2,379,141 
Interest income (Notes 4 and 5) 80,025 104,671 
Others 30,855 –

P=391,286 P=2,483,812 

14. Cost of Services

This account consists of: 

2008 2007 
Salaries and employee benefits  P=35,066,305 P=31,309,259 
Depreciation and amortization (Notes 7 and 8) 23,353,706 36,369,142 
Systems maintenance (Note 21) 17,944,610 18,766,182 
Utilities (Note 21) 4,300,871 5,756,807 
Rent (Note 21) 2,154,523 923,096 
Outside services 1,130,915 620,212 
Insurance 824,302 636,952 
Professional fees 575,755 6,614,546 
Advertising 502,307 208,214 
Transportation and travel 216,917 269,712 
Others 662,218 796,405 

P=86,732,429 P=102,270,527 

15.  Salaries and Employee Benefits

This account consists of: 

2008 2007 
Salaries  P=39,280,112 P=34,972,433 
Retirement benefits (Note 16) 2,374,852 1,821,166 
Health insurance 592,722 417,958 
Social security cost 475,187 359,741 
Fringe benefit tax 333,735 382,762 
Leave benefits and others 223,537 811,897 

P=43,280,145 P=38,765,957 
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Total salaries and employee benefits are allocated as follows: 

2008 2007 
Cost of services P=35,066,305 P=31,309,259 
Operating expenses 8,213,840 7,456,698 

P=43,280,145 P=38,765,957 

16. Retirement Plan

The Company has an unfunded noncontributory defined benefit retirement plan covering substantially all its officers and regular employees.  Under this 
retirement plan, all covered officers and employees are entitled to cash benefits after satisfying certain age and service requirements. 

The following table shows the actuarial assumptions as of January 1, 2008 and 2007 used in determining the retirement benefit obligation of the 
Company: 

Actuarial Assumptions 

Date of Actuarial Valuation Report 
Average Remaining 

Working Life 
Salary Rate

Increase
Discount

Rate
December 31, 2008 19 4.00% 8.06%
December 31, 2007 19 5.00% 8.03%

Discount rates used to arrive at the present value of the obligation as of December 31, 2008 and 2007 are 12.01% and 8.06%, respectively. 

The amount of retirement benefit obligation is determined as follows: 

2008 2007 
Present value of defined benefit obligation P=8,131,574 P=3,714,165 
Unrecognized actuarial gain (loss) (1,588,734) 453,823 
Retirement benefit obligation P=6,542,840 P=4,167,988 

 Movements in accumulated unrecognized actuarial gains (losses) are as follows: 

2008 2007 
Balance at beginning of year P=453,823 (P=2,332,761)
Actuarial gains (losses) on present value of the defined benefit obligation (2,038,219) 2,693,344)
Actuarial losses (gains) recognized during the year  (4,338) 93,240
Balance at end of year (P=1,588,734) P=453,823 

The amounts included in Salaries and employee benefits (see Note 15) for the year ended December 31, 2008 and 2007 are as follows: 

2008 2007 
Current service cost P=2,079,828 P=1,352,155 
Interest cost 299,362 375,771 
Net actuarial loss (gain) (4,338) 93,240 

P=2,374,852 P=1,821,166 

 The movements in the retirement liability recognized in the balance sheet follow: 

2008 2007 
Balance at beginning of year P=4,167,988 P=2,346,822 
Retirement expense 2,374,852 1,821,166 
Balance at end of year P=6,542,840 P=4,167,988 

Changes in the present value of the defined benefit obligation are as follows: 

2008 2007 
Balance at beginning of year P=3,714,165 P=4,679,583 
Current service cost 2,079,828 1,352,155 
Interest cost 299,362 375,771 
Actuarial losses (gains) 2,038,219 (2,693,344)
Balance at end of year P=8,131,574 P=3,714,165 

As of December 31, 2008, 2007 and 2006, the experience gain adjustments on plan liabilities amounted to P=3.89 million, P=2.33 million and P=1.1 million 
respectively. 

17. Income Taxes

Republic Act No. 9337, An Act Amending National Internal Revenue Code, provides that the RCIT rate shall be 35.00% until December 31, 2008. 
Starting January 1, 2009, the RCIT rate shall be 30.00%. 

The regulations also impose the MCIT of 2% on modified gross income and allow a NOLCO.  The NOLCO and the excess of the MCIT over the RCIT 
may be applied against taxable income and the income tax liability, respectively, over a three year period from the year of inception. 
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Provision for income tax consists of: 

2008 2007 
Minimum corporate income tax (MCIT) P=411,508 P=– 
Final tax 14,961 9,657 

P=426,469 P=9,657 

 The Company did not recognize deferred tax asset as of December 31, 2008 and 2007 since it is uncertain that the Company would have future 
taxable profit against which the deferred tax assets can be utilized. The breakdown of unrecognized deferred tax assets is shown below: 

2008 2007 
NOLCO P=35,111,016 P=51,505,759 
Accrued retirement benefits 1,962,852 1,458,796 
Unamortized pre-operating expenses 1,284,028 2,996,066 
Accrued leave benefits 404,590 526,148 
MCIT 411,508 –

P=39,173,994 P=56,486,769 

For tax purposes, pre-operating expenses are to be amortized for a period of five years starting from the date of the Company’s commercial 
operations until 2009. 

In 2008, the Company has excess MCIT amounting to P=411,408 which can be claimed as deduction from taxable income until 2011.  

The Company’s NOLCO can be claimed as deduction from future taxable income within three years and is broken down as follows: 

Year Incurred Amount Used/Expired Balance Expiry Year 
2005 P=31,374,806 P=31,374,806 P=– 2008 
2006 67,379,758 – 67,379,758  2009 
2007 48,404,748 – 48,404,748   2010 
2008 1,252,214 – 1,252,214 2011 
 P=148,411,526 P=31,374,806 P=117,036,720  

A reconciliation of the statutory income tax to the effective income tax follows: 

2008 2007 
Statutory income tax P=1,458,391 (P=16,528,575)
Tax effects of: 
 Non-taxable income  (1,149,523) –
 Unrecognized deferred tax assets 169,206 15,423,728 
 Nondeductible expense – 1,149,523 
 Income subject to final tax (11,221) (35,019)
 Others (40,384) –
Effective income tax P=426,469 P=9,657 

18. Related Party Transactions

Parties are considered to be related if one party has the ability, directly or indirectly, to control the other party or exercise significant influence over the 
other party in making financial and operating decisions.  Parties are also considered to be related if they are subjected to common control or common 
significant influence.  Related parties may be individuals or corporate entities.  Transactions between related parties are based on terms similar to 
those offered to nonrelated parties. 

The Company in the ordinary course of business has entered into transactions with its related parties principally consisting of reimbursement of 
expenses and advances for working capital purposes.  The advances are payable on demand.  Starting August 2008, the Parent Company charged 
interest on its advances to subsidiaries with interest rates ranging from 4.00% to 5.25%. 

The transactions and balances of accounts with related parties follow:  

   Elements of Transactions 

  Nature of 
Balance Sheet 
Amount 

Statement of Income
Amount 

Related Party Relationship Transaction 2008 2007 2008 2007 
PDSHC Parent Company Due from related parties                P=–     P=3,976,662 P=– P=–
  Due to related parties  P=71,676,496                    _ 
  Interest expense                   –                      – 1,353,791 –
PDTC Affiliate Due to related parties                   –     78,258,690 – –
PSSC Affiliate Due to related parties                   –           55,801 – –

Key Management Personnel Compensation
The remuneration of directors and other members of key management personnel for the years ended December 31, 2008 and 2007 are as follows:  

2008 
2007 

Salaries P=16,073,435 P=10,390,209 
Retirement benefits 971,790 442,306 
Other long-term benefits 163,206 139,089 

P=17,208,431 P=10,971,604 

19. Financial Instruments and Fair Value Measurement 
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Shown below are the Company’s assets and liabilities as they appear on the balance sheet, which are divided into financial and nonfinancial items, 
with the financial items being mapped to the categories of financial instruments under PAS 39: 

  2008   

Loans and 
Receivables 

Other 
Financial 
Liabilities 

Nonfinancial 
Items Total 

ASSETS     
Cash on hand and in bank P=3,471,928 P=– P=– P=3,471,928 
Trade and other receivables 10,894,074 – – 10,894,074 
Other current assets P=– P=– P=14,871,183 P=14,715,995 
Property and equipment - net – – 11,251,263 11,251,263 
Software and system 
 development costs - net – – 114,249,412 114,249,412 
Other non-current assets 1,072,452 – – 1,072,452 

Total Assets P=15,438,454 P=– P=140,371,858  P=155,655,124 
     

LIABILITIES     
Accrued expenses and other 
 payables P=– P=10,591,712 P=2,706,393 P= 13,298,105 
Deferred income – – 23,188,710 23,188,710 
Due to related parties – 71,676,496 – 71,676,496 
Retirement benefit obligation – – 6,542,800 6,542,800 

Total Liabilities P=– P=82,268,208 P=32,437,903 P=114,706,151 

  2007  

Loans and 
Receivables 

Other 
Financial 
Liabilities 

Nonfinancial 
Items Total 

ASSETS 
Cash on hand and in bank P=2,647,657 P=– P=– P=2,647,657 
Trade and other receivables 8,566,921 – – 8,566,921 
Due from related parties 3,976,662 – – 3,976,662 
Other current assets – – 14,679,621 14,679,621 
Property and equipment  - net – – 12,493,704 12,493,704 
Software and system 
 development costs - net – – 119,361,678 119,361,678 
Other non-current assets 923,530 – – 923,530 

Total Assets P=16,116,770 P=– P=146,535,003 P=162,649,773 

LIABILITIES     
Accrued expenses and other 
 payables P=– P=10,556,332 P=7,869,554 P=18,425,886 
Deferred income – – 47,532,798 47,532,798 
Due to related parties – 78,314,491 – 78,314,491 
Retirement benefit obligation – – 4,167,988 4,167,988 

Total Liabilities                    P=–   P=88,870,823  P=59,570,340 P= 148,441,163 

Fair values
The carrying amounts of the Company’s financial assets and liabilities as of December 31, 2008 and 2007 approximate their fair values due to the 
short-term nature of these instruments. 

20. Financial Risk and Capital Management Policies and Objectives 

The Company does not engage in trading activities or take positions in equity, foreign exchange and securities other than investment in government 
securities in the course of managing its cash and liquidity position and purchase of foreign exchange to service some of its foreign-currency 
denominated obligations.  The Company’s credit, liquidity, market risks arising from the use of financial instruments are limited to the above activities.

The following provides the overall risk management principles and process that governs the risk management of the Company. 

 Risk Management Structure
The Company’s risk management process hinges on the following principles: 

1. The BOD establishes the Company’s risk philosophy and culture, approves the risk policies and sets the risk appetite. 

2. The Executive Committee (Excom) is accountable to the BOD for the risk taken by the businesses. 

3. The risk takers of each business initially identifies and evaluates market, product or service opportunities, subject to further evaluation of the Risk 
Management group and other specific risk function groups such as the Product Committee, Legal and Compliance, for the attendant risks. 

4. Management of risks is done in a coordinated manner within the group. 

5. Risk management is an independent function reporting to the Risk Management Committee (RMC) where the Company’s Chief Operating
Officer (COO) is a member.  
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Risk Management Organization
The Company’s risk management organization consists of the following: 

1. The BOD is the risk policy maker and approving authority of the Company.  The BOD has created and appointed Standing Committees with at 
least one independent director to assist in performing its functions. Standing Committees include the following: 

a) Risk Management Committee 
The RMC is a group-level committee that sets the policy standards and guidelines for the management and assessment of group-wide
risk, with the ultimate objective of ascertaining that risk exposures of the Company fall within the capital collectively available and 
allocated to the Company. 

b) Audit Committee  
The Audit Committee is the oversight of the financial reporting process, internal control process, and hiring and performance of external 
auditors. 

2. The Risk Management Unit (RMU) identifies, evaluates and measures risks and exposures attendant to the products and services provided by 
the Company.  It establishes standards to monitor and report compliance with its recommended limits. 

Complementing the RMU is the Product Committee that reviews existing and proposed products to ensure that all risk taking personnel have 
properly identified and analyzed the relevant risks.  It recommends to the Excom the approval of a proposed product. 

3. The Operations Support, Legal and Compliance, Financial Control, and Audit groups support the risk management function in risk control.  They 
operate independently of the business units and the risk management functions. 

a) Operations Support group performs risk reporting, through generation of risk reports, and the control process of risk management.   

b) Legal and Compliance group ensures that all laws and regulations are complied with and contracts entered into by the Company are 
enforceable. 

c) Financial Control group ensures that expenses and revenues are within budget and properly approved and monitored. 

d) Audit group shall ensure compliance of financial accounting and internal control processes with internal and regulatory standards. 

4. The risk takers are the officers of respective business units handling the products.  These business units identify market or product opportunities 
and sponsor product or service developments or proposals. 

Credit Risk
Credit risk is the risk that the Company will incur a loss because its participants fail to discharge their contractual obligations.  The Company manages 
and controls credit risk by actively monitoring the size and age of receivables to avoid significant concentrations of credit exposure.  In addition, for a 
significant portion of its services, advance payments are required to mitigate credit risk.

Credit risk exposures 
The table below shows the gross maximum exposure to on- and off-balance sheet credit risk exposures of the Company, without considering the 
effects of collateral, credit enhancements and other credit risk mitigation techniques:   

2008 2007 
Cash in banks P=3,466,928 P=2,642,657 
Trade and other receivables 10,894,074 8,566,921 
Due from related parties – 3,976,662 
Other noncurrent assets 1,072,452 923,530 

P=15,433,454 P=16,109,770 

The table below shows the credit quality of the financial assets of the Company:  

       2008   
   Past due or  
 Neither Past Due nor Impaired individually  
 High grade Standard grade impaired Total 
Cash in banks P=3,466,928 P=– P=– P=3,466,928
Trade and other receivables 10,894,074 – – 10,894,074
Other noncurrent assets 1,072,452 – – 1,072,452
Total P=15,433,454 P=– P=– P=15,433,454

       2007   
   Past due or  
 Neither Past Due nor Impaired individually  
 High grade Standard grade impaired Total 
Cash in banks P=2,642,657 P=– P=– P=2,642,657 
Trade and other receivables 8,566,921 – – 8,566,921 
Due from related parties 3,976,662 – – 3,976,662 
Other noncurrent assets 923,530 – – 923,530 
Total P=16,109,770 P=– P=– P=16,109,770 

The credit quality of financial assets is managed by the Company by limiting its counterparties to top-tier corporate institutions including financial 
institutions which are regulated entities under Bangko Sentral ng Pilipinas or SEC. 

Cash in banks and trade receivables are considered as high grade credit as these are placements and deposits with top-tier Philippine banks and 
receivables from the Company’s clients which are primarily composed of Philippine banks most of which are under the auto debit facility arrangement. 
Due from related parties are assessed by management as high grade as these are realized within the normal terms. 
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Liquidity Risk
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Company will be unable to meet its payment obligations when they fall due.  To mitigate this risk, management prepares 
a forecast of the Company’s cashflows for the year. Constant monitoring and a well-defined billing and collection policy facilitate management of 
projected inflows. 

To minimize market risks that could adversely affect management of liquidity position, and because the Company is not in the business of trading 
securities, it is the management’s policy to invest excess cash on hand and in banks in liquid and non-speculative financial instruments, such as term 
deposits and government securities, with the tenor that matches its schedule. 

All financial liabilities of the Company as of December 31, 2008 and 2007 are payable on demand. 

Market Risk
Market risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of financial instruments will fluctuate due to changes in market variables such as interest 
rates, foreign exchange rates and equity prices. Market risk includes interest rate risk and foreign currency risk.  

Foreign Currency Risk 
Foreign currency risk is the risk to earnings or capital arising from changes in foreign exchange rates.  The Company is exposed to foreign currency risk 
arising from its foreign-currency denominated cash, trade and other receivables and accrued expenses.   

The table below summarizes the Company’s exposure to foreign currency rate risk as of  
December 31, 2008 and 2007.  Included in the table are the Company’s assets and liabilities at carrying amounts categorized by currency.  

2008 2007 
USD PhP Equivalent USD PhP Equivalent 

Assets   
Cash on hand and in banks $47,719 P=2,267,579 $22,780 P=940,358 
Trade and other receivables 34,079 1,619,434 22,850 943,257 

Liabilities
Accrued expenses and other payables $98,727 P=4,691,507 $200,234 P=8,265,673 

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity to a reasonably possible change in the Philippine Peso (PhP)/US dollar (USD) exchange rate, with all 
other variables held constant, of the Company’s income before income tax due to revaluation of monetary assets and liabilities. There is no impact on 
equity other than those already affecting income before income tax.  

Increase (decrease) in
PhP/USD exchange rate

Effect on Income 
Before Income Tax

2008                                                   P=1.00                                    (P=16,929)
                                                    (1.00)                                       16,929 
2007                                                    1.00 (154,604)
                                                    (1.00)                                      154,604 

The decrease in PhP/USD exchange rate means stronger PhP against the USD while an increase in PhP/USD rate means weaker PhP against the 
USD.

The Company’s foreign currency risk exposure arises from the Company’s scheduled repayments of its US dollar-denominated liabilities arising mainly 
from annual maintenance fees and other system development - related fees payable to a system provider.  

The risk is partially mitigated by the Company’s US dollar denominated revenues coming from the maintenance fees paid by its Trading Participants. 
The residual foreign exchange risk exposure is manageable to the extent that both foreign exchange outflows for payments and inflows from 
maintenance fees are relatively pre-determined and fixed for the year. To manage the adverse impact of changes in the foreign exchange rates on the 
fees, the Company may also enter into foreign exchange forward contracts. The Company currently has no outstanding foreign exchange forward 
contract. 

Capital Management
The Company’s capital management activities seek to ensure that it maintains a healthy capital ratio in order to support its businesses and maximize 
shareholder value by optimizing the level and mix of its capital resources.  Decisions on the allocation of capital resources are performed as part of the 
strategic planning review.  The Company also manages its capital structure and makes adjustments to it, in light of changes in economic conditions.

 The Company’s objective is to ensure that there are no known events that may trigger direct or contingent financial obligation that is material to the 
Company, including default or acceleration of an obligation.   

The Company monitors capital using debt-to-equity ratio, which is total liabilities divided by total equity.  The Company’s total liabilities include current 
and non-current liabilities.  Equity comprises all components of equity. 

The debt-to-equity ratios as of December 31, 2008 and 2007 are as follows: 

2008 2007 
Total liabilities P=114,706,151 P=148,441,163 
Total equity 40,948,973 14,208,610 
Debt-to-equity ratio   2.80 10.45 

21. Commitments and Contingencies

The following are the significant commitments and contingencies involving the Company: 

Operating Lease Commitments - Company as Lessee
The Parent Company is a lessee under non-cancellable operating leases covering its office and parking space for a period of five years.  Monthly 
rentals are apportioned to the Company and other related parties based on the size of the area occupied.  The Company also leases cars for certain 
officers. 

Effect on Income 
Before Income Tax

   P=1.00   
    (1.00)  
     1.00 
    (1.00)   
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The future minimum rentals payable for above operating leases as of December 31 are as follows:  

2008 2007 
Within a year P=2,571,749 P=1,455,367 
After one year but not more than five years 3,341,598 2,973,038 

P=5,913,347 P=4,428,405 

Total rentals from these operating leases amounted to P=2.68 million in 2008 and P=1.15 million in 2007, of which P=2.15 million and P=0.92 million was 
charged to Cost of services in 2008 and 2007, respectively.  

Security Deposits  
As a result of operating lease agreements, the Company has paid security deposits amounting to P=1.07 million and P=0.92 million as of December 31, 
2008 and 2007, respectively.  These deposits are presented under Other non-current assets account in the balance sheets. 

Maintenance of the Integrated System 
In accordance with the contract entered into by the Company with a system provider, the Company is committed to pay $335,000 annually for the 
maintenance of its fixed-income trading system. 

Others 
In the normal course of business, the Company makes various commitments and has certain contingent liabilities that are not given recognition in the 
accompanying financial statements.  Management believes that losses, if any, that may arise from these commitments and contingencies will not have 
any material effect on the financial statements. 
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PHILIPPINE DEPOSITORY & TRUST CORP.
Independent Auditors’ Report

The Board of Directors 

Philippine Depository & Trust Corp. 

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of Philippine Depository & Trust Corp., a subsidiary of Philippine Dealing System 

Holdings Corp., which comprise the balance sheets as at December 31, 2008 and 2007, and the statements of income, statements of changes in 

equity and statements of cash flows for the years then ended, and a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory notes. 

Management’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements 

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in accordance with Philippine Financial 

Reporting Standards.  This responsibility includes: designing, implementing and maintaining internal control relevant to the preparation and fair 

presentation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error; selecting and applying appropriate 

accounting policies; and making accounting estimates that are reasonable in the circumstances.

Auditors’ Responsibility 

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audits.  We conducted our audits in accordance with 

Philippine Standards on Auditing.  Those standards require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain 

reasonable assurance whether the financial statements are free from material misstatement. 

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements.  The procedures 

selected depend on the auditor’s judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether 

due to fraud or error.  In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation and fair 

presentation of the financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of 

expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control.  An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting 

policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the 

financial statements. 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

Opinion 

In our opinion, the financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of Philippine Depository & Trust Corp. as of 

December 31, 2008 and 2007, and its financial performance and its cash flows for the years then ended in accordance with Philippine Financial 

Reporting Standards. 

SYCIP GORRES VELAYO & CO. 

Josephine Adrienne A. Abarca 

Partner 

CPA Certificate No. 92126 

SEC Accreditation No. 0466-A 

Tax Identification No. 163-257-145 

PTR No. 1566401, January 5, 2009, Makati City 

March 27, 2009 
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PHILIPPINE DEPOSITORY & TRUST CORP.
(A Subsidiary of Philippine Dealing System Holdings Corp.)

Balance Sheets

December 31 

2008 2007 

ASSETS 

Current Assets
Cash and cash equivalents (Note 4) P=7,536,545 P=28,252,806 

Short-term investments (Note 5) 1,729,456 2,435,042 

Receivables (Note 6) 144,190,322 15,267,772 

Due from related parties (Note 20) 48,885 98,622,427 

Other current assets (Notes 7, 23 and 24) 10,290,993 6,701,977 

Total Current Assets 163,796,201 151,280,024 

Non-Current Assets 
Investment in a subsidiary (Note 8) 500,000 500,000 

Property and equipment - net (Note 9) 52,639,302 56,059,395 

Software and system development costs - net (Note 10) 176,903,236 165,252,571 

Retirement benefit asset (Note 18) 11,431,867 9,602,196 

Other non-current assets (Note 11) 2,307,326 2,604,575 

  Total Non-current Assets 243,781,731 234,018,737 

P=407,577,932 P=385,298,761 

LIABILITIES AND EQUITY 

LIABILITIES 

Current Liabilities 
Accrued expenses and other payables (Note 12) P=16,888,862 P=19,651,412 

Due to a related party (Note 20) 33,619,746 455,950 

  Total Current Liabilities 50,508,608 20,107,362 

EQUITY
Common stock (Note 13) 323,306,400 323,306,400 

Additional paid-in capital 1,174,800 1,174,800 

Retained earnings 32,588,124 40,710,199 

  Total Equity 357,069,324 365,191,399 

P=407,577,932 P=385,298,761 

See accompanying Notes to Financial Statements.

Total Current Assets 

Total Non-current Assets

Total Current Liabilities 

Total Equity 
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PHILIPPINE DEPOSITORY & TRUST CORP.
(A Subsidiary of Philippine Dealing System Holdings Corp.)

Statements of Income

Years Ended December 31 

2008 2007 

SERVICE INCOME (Note 14) P=141,708,633 P=159,534,443 
OTHER INCOME (Note 15) 5,542,727 2,783,918 

147,251,360 162,318,361 

COSTS AND OPERATING EXPENSES 
Cost of services (Note 16) 131,713,992 116,591,203 

Salaries and employee benefits (Note 17) 9,426,231 8,796,347 

Professional fees 2,479,529 5,928,156 

Outside services 2,166,138 1,993,410 

Supplies 1,794,730 716,664 

Depreciation and amortization (Note 9) 1,371,107 646,982 

Rent (Note 25) 1,285,169 1,040,955 

Utilities 1,126,832 665,700 

Taxes and licenses 1,039,062 997,268 

Travel 204,938 262,004 

Repairs and maintenance 172,160 59,795 

Printing and reproduction 80,653 671,595 

Insurance  49,884 54,402 

Advertising 47,275 146,260 

Provision for impairment losses (Notes 6 and 7) – 2,853,136 

Other operating expenses 1,060,892 1,331,470 

154,018,592 142,755,347 

INCOME (LOSS) BEFORE INCOME TAX (6,767,232) 19,563,014 

PROVISION FOR INCOME TAX (Note 19) 1,354,843 9,898,442 

NET INCOME (LOSS) (P=8,122,075) P=9,664,572 

See accompanying Notes to Financial Statements.
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PHILIPPINE DEPOSITORY & TRUST CORP.
(A Subsidiary of Philippine Dealing System Holdings Corp.)

Statements of Changes in Equity

Common
Stock 

(Note 13)

Additional
Paid in
Capital 

Retained 
Earnings 

Total
Equity 

Balance at January 1, 2008 P=323,306,400 P=1,174,800 P=40,710,199 P=365,191,399 
Net loss for the year – – (8,122,075) (8,122,075)

Balance at December 31, 2008 P=323,306,400 P=1,174,800 P=32,588,124 P=357,069,324 

Balance at January 1, 2007 P=323,306,400 P=1,174,800 P=31,045,627 P=355,526,827 

Net income for the year – – 9,664,572 9,664,572 

Balance at December 31, 2007 P=323,306,400 P=1,174,800 P=40,710,199 P=365,191,399 

See accompanying Notes to Financial Statements.
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PHILIPPINE DEPOSITORY & TRUST CORP.
(A Subsidiary of Philippine Dealing System Holdings Corp.)

Statements of Cash Flows

Years Ended December 31 

2008 2007 

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES 
Income (loss) before income tax (P=6,767,232) P=19,563,014 

Adjustments for: 

 Depreciation and amortization (Note 9) 27,422,154 12,993,384 

 Interest income (Note 15) (4,351,555) (902,750)

Recovery from impairment loss (Note 6) (473,652) –

 Unrealized foreign exchange loss 135,990 (138,227)

 Dividend income (Note 15) (39,450) (39,450)

 Gain on sale of assets (Note 15) (3,000) (118,971)

 Provision for impairment losses (Notes 6 and 7) – 2,853,136 

Operating income before working capital changes 15,923,255 34,210,136 

 Changes in operating assets and liabilities: 

  Decrease (increase) in: 

   Short-term investments 705,586 7,772,921 

   Receivables (128,446,408) (6,648,105)

   Due from related parties (Note 20) 98,573,542 (26,413,491)

   Other current assets (4,073,767) (3,863,322)

   Retirement benefit asset (1,829,671) 38,469 

   Other non-current assets 297,249 (27,144)

  Increase (decrease) in: 

   Accrued expenses and other payables (2,762,550) 6,955,030 

   Due to a related party (Note 20) 33,163,796 262,953 

Cash generated from operations 11,551,032 12,287,447 

Dividend received 39,450 39,450 

Income taxes paid (870,092)  (4,424,951)

Net cash provided by operating activities 10,720,390 7,901,946 

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES 
Acquisitions of property and equipment (Note 9) (24,319,333) (2,766,184)
Capitalized payments of software and system development  

costs (Note 10) (11,650,665) (543,241)

Interest received 4,213,075 940,845 

Proceeds from sale of property and equipment (Note 9) 320,272 364,426 

Net cash used in investing activities (31,436,651) (2,004,154)

NET INCREASE (DECREASE) IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS (20,716,261)                          5,897,792 

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT BEGINNING OF YEAR 28,252,806 22,355,014 

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT END OF YEAR P=7,536,545                       P=28,252,806 

See accompanying Notes to Financial Statements.



96  PDS Group 2008 Annual Report

PHILIPPINE DEPOSITORY & TRUST CORP.
(A Subsidiary of Philippine Dealing System Holdings Corp.)

Notes to Financial Statements

1. Corporate Information

The Philippine Depository & Trust Corp. (the Company), a 97.72%-owned subsidiary of Philippine Dealing System Holdings Corp. (PDSHC or the 
Parent Company), is a domestic corporation incorporated in the Philippines on March 31, 1995.  The Company is authorized to primarily act as 
depository, registry, custodian, trustee and/or intermediary of its participants of any and all kinds of securities, monetary or financial instruments and 
their derivatives; to borrow instruments for relending; to provide a system to immobilize or dematerialize instruments; and to act as quasi-bank, trust 
company, securities depository and clearing agency. 

On October 2, 2004, the Bangko Sentral ng Pilipinas (BSP) approved the Company’s application to engage in trust and quasi-banking activities in 
connection with its role as depository and custodian of all kinds of securities.  Under the existing rules and regulations of the BSP, the Company is 
required to maintain an unimpaired paid-in capital of at least P=300 million. 

The registered office of the Company, which is also its principal place of business, is located at the 37th Floor, The Enterprise Center, 6766 Ayala 
Avenue, Makati City. 

The accompanying financial statements were authorized for issue by the Company’s Board of Directors (BOD) on March 27, 2009. 

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Basis of Preparation
The accompanying financial statements have been prepared on a historical cost basis, except for available-for-sale (AFS) investments that have been 
measured at fair value.  The Company’s financial statements are presented in Philippine Peso, the Company’s functional and presentation currency. 

The Company elected not to prepare consolidated financial statements under the exemptions provided by Philippine Accounting Standard (PAS) 27, 
Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements.  The Parent Company prepares its consolidated financial statements in compliance with Philippine 
Financial Reporting Standards (PFRS) and files the same with the Philippine Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC). 

Statement of Compliance
The financial statements of the Company have been prepared in compliance with PFRS. 

Changes in Accounting Policies
The accounting policies adopted are consistent with those of the previous financial year except for the adoption of the following amendments to existing 
standards that became effective on July 1, 2008 and Philippine Interpretations which became effective on January 1, 2008: 

 Amendments to Philippine Accounting Standard (PAS) 39, Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement and PFRS 7, Financial 
Instruments: Disclosure - Reclassification of Financial Assets, introduces the possibility of reclassification of securities out of the trading category 
in rare circumstances and reclassification to the loans and receivables category if there is intent and ability to hold the securities for the 
foreseeable future or to held-to-maturity (HTM) if there is intent and ability to hold the securities until maturity. It also allows the transfers of 
certain financial assets from available for sale (AFS) to loans and receivables and HTM. The amendment to PFRS 7 introduces the disclosures 
relating to these reclassifications.  The Company did not reclassify certain financial instruments. 

 Philippine Interpretation IFRIC-11, PFRS 2-Group and Treasury Share Transactions, requires arrangements whereby an employee is granted 
rights to an entity’s equity instruments to be accounted for as an equity-settled scheme by the entity even if (a) the entity chooses or is required to 
buy those equity instruments (e.g., treasury shares) from another party, or (b) the shareholders of the entity provide the equity instruments 
needed.  It also provides guidance on how subsidiaries, in their separate financial statements, account for such schemes when their employees 
receive rights to the equity instruments of the parent.  This interpretation has no impact on the financial statements of the Company.

 Philippine Interpretation IFRIC-12, Service Concession Arrangements, covers contractual arrangements arising from private entities providing 
public services.  This interpretation is not relevant to the Company. 

 Philippine Interpretation IFRIC-14, The Limit on a Defined Benefit Asset, Minimum Funding Requirement and their Interaction, provides guidance 
on how to assess the limit on the amount of surplus in a defined benefit scheme that can be recognized as an asset under PAS 19, Employee 
Benefits.  This interpretation has no significant impact on the financial statements of the Company. 

 Cash and Cash Equivalents
 For purposes of reporting cash flows, cash and cash equivalents include cash and other cash items with original maturities of three months or less from 

dates of placements and are subject to insignificant risk of changes in value. 

 Financial Instruments 
Date of recognition 
The Company recognizes a financial asset or a financial liability in the balance sheet when it becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the 
instrument. In the case of a regular way purchase or sale of financial assets, recognition and derecognition, as applicable, is done using trade date 
accounting. 

Initial recognition of financial instruments 
Financial instruments are recognized initially at fair value, which is the fair value of the consideration given (in case of an asset) or received (in case of 
a liability).  The initial measurement of financial instruments, except for financial assets at fair value through profit and loss (FVPL), includes transaction 
cost. 

Subsequent to initial recognition, the Company classifies its financial instruments in the following categories: financial assets and financial liabilities at 
FVPL, loans and receivables, HTM investments, AFS investments and other financial liabilities.  The classification depends on the purpose for which 
the instruments are acquired and whether they are quoted in an active market.  Management determines the classification at initial recognition and, 
where allowed and appropriate, re-evaluates this classification at every balance sheet date. 

As of December 31, 2008 and 2007, the Company does not have financial assets and financial liabilities at FVPL. 

Loans and receivables 
Loans and receivables are nonderivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an active market.  After initial 
measurement, loans and receivables are carried at amortized cost using the effective interest method, less any allowance for impairment losses.  Gains 
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and losses are recognized in the Company’s statement of income when the loans and receivables are derecognized or impaired, as well as through the 
amortization process.  Loans and receivables are classified as current assets when the Company expects to realize or collect the asset within twelve 
months from balance sheet date.  Otherwise, these are classified as non-current assets. 

Classified under this category are the Company’s Cash and cash equivalents, Receivables and Due from related parties and Security deposits booked 
under ‘current assets’.

HTM investments 
HTM investments are quoted nonderivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments and fixed maturities for which the Company’s 
management has the positive intention and ability to hold to maturity.  Where the Company sells other than an insignificant amount of HTM 
investments, the entire category would be tainted and reclassified as AFS investments.  After initial measurement, these investments are measured at 
amortized cost using the effective interest method, less impairment in value.  Amortized cost is calculated by taking into account any discount or 
premium on acquisition and fees that are an integral part of the effective interest rate.  Gains and losses are recognized in the statement of income 
when the HTM investments are derecognized or impaired, as well as through the amortization process.  Assets under this category are classified as 
current assets if maturity is within 12 months from balance sheet date. Otherwise, these are classified as non-current assets.

This category includes the Company’s Short-term investments. 

AFS investments 
AFS investments are nonderivative financial assets that are designated in this category or are not classified in any of the other categories.  The 
Company designates assets as AFS investments when they have the intention to sell those assets when the need arises.  Subsequent to initial 
recognition, AFS investments are carried at fair value in the balance sheet.  Changes in the fair value of such assets are reported as revaluation 
reserve for AFS investments in the equity section of the balance sheet until the investment is derecognized or the investment is determined to be 
impaired.  On derecognition or impairment, the cumulative gain or loss previously reported in equity is transferred to the statement of income.  Interest 
earned on holding AFS investments are recognized in the statement of income using the effective interest rate.  Assets under this category are 
classified as current assets if the expected realization of the investment is within 12 months from balance sheet date. Otherwise, these are classified as 
non-current assets.

This category includes the Company’s investment in listed shares of stock shown under Other non-current assets in the balance sheet. 

Other financial liabilities 
This category pertains to financial liabilities that are not held for trading or not designated as at FVPL at the inception of the liability.  These include 
liabilities arising from operations or borrowings. 

The financial liabilities are recognized initially at fair value and are subsequently carried at amortized cost, taking into account the impact of applying the 
effective interest method of amortization (or accretion) for any related premium, discount and any directly attributable transaction costs. 

This category includes Accrued expenses and other payables and Due to a related party. 

Determination of fair value 
The fair value for financial instruments traded in active markets at the balance sheet date is based on their quoted market prices or dealer price 
quotations (bid price for long positions and ask price for short positions), without any deduction for transactions costs.  When current bid and asking 
prices are not available, the price of the most recent transaction is used since it provides evidence of the current fair value as long as there has not 
been a significant change in economic circumstances since the time of the transaction. 

For all other financial instruments not listed in an active market, the fair value is determined by using appropriate valuation techniques.  Valuation 
techniques include net present value techniques, comparison to similar instruments for which market observable prices exist, option pricing models, 
and other relevant valuation models. 

‘Day 1’ profit 
Where the transaction price in a non-active market is different from the fair value of other observable current market transactions in the same 
instrument or based on a valuation technique whose variables include only data from observable market, the Company recognizes the difference 
between the transaction price and fair value (a ‘Day 1’ profit) in the statement of income unless it qualifies for recognition as some other type of asset.  
In cases where use is made of data which is not observable, the difference between the transaction price and model value is only recognized in the 
statement of income when the inputs become observable or when the instrument is derecognized.  For each transaction, the Company determines the 
appropriate method of recognizing the ‘Day 1’ profit amount. 

Embedded derivative 
An embedded derivative is separated from the host contract and accounted for as a derivative if all of the following conditions are met: a) the economic 
characteristics and risks of the embedded derivative are not closely related to the economic characteristics and risks of the host contract; b) a separate 
instrument with the same terms as the embedded derivative would meet the definition of a derivative; and c) the hybrid or combined instrument is not 
recognized at FVPL.  Reassessment only occurs if there is a change in the terms of the contract that significantly modifies the cash flows that would 
otherwise be required. 

Derecognition of Financial Assets and Liabilities
Financial asset 
A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a financial asset or part of a group of financial assets) is derecognized where: 

1. the rights to receive cash flows from the asset have expired; or 
2. the Company retains the right to receive cash flows from the asset, but has assumed an obligation to pay them in full without material delay to a 

third party under a “pass-through” arrangement; or 
3. the Company has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from the asset and either (a) has transferred substantially all the risks and rewards 

of the asset, or (b) has neither transferred nor retained the risk and rewards of the asset but has transferred the control of the asset. 

 Where the Company has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from an asset or has entered into a pass-through arrangement, and has neither 
transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset nor transferred control of the asset, the asset is recognized to the extent of 
the Company’s continuing involvement in the asset.  Continuing involvement that takes the form of a guarantee over the transferred asset is measured 
at the lower of original carrying amount of the asset and the maximum amount of consideration that the Company could be required to repay. 

Financial liability 
A financial liability is derecognized when the obligation under the liability is discharged or cancelled or expired.  Where an existing financial liability is 
replaced by another from the same lender on substantially different terms, or the terms of an existing liability are substantially modified, such an 
exchange or modification is treated as a derecognition of the original liability and the recognition of a new liability, and the difference in the respective 
carrying amounts is recognized in the statement of income. 
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 Impairment of Financial Assets
The Company assesses at each balance sheet date whether there is objective evidence that a financial asset or group of financial assets is impaired.  
A financial asset or a group of financial assets is deemed to be impaired if, and only if, there is objective evidence of impairment as a result of one or 
more events that has occurred after the initial recognition of the asset (an incurred ‘loss event’) and that loss event (or events) has an impact on the 
estimated future cash flows of the financial asset or the group of financial assets that can be reliably estimated.  Evidence of impairment may include 
indications that the customer or a group of customers is experiencing significant financial difficulty, default or delinquency in interest or principal 
payments, the probability that they will enter bankruptcy or other financial reorganization and where observable data indicate that there is measurable 
decrease in the estimated future cash flows, such as changes in arrears or economic conditions that correlate with defaults. 

HTM investments 
For HTM investments, the Company assesses whether there is objective evidence of impairment.  If there is objective evidence that an impairment loss 
has been incurred, the amount of the loss is measured as the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of estimated future 
cash flows (excluding future expected credit losses that have not yet been incurred).  The carrying amount of the asset is reduced through use of an 
allowance account and the amount of loss is charged to the statement of income.  Interest income continues to be recognized based on the original 
effective interest rate of the asset. 

If subsequently, the amount of the estimated impairment loss decreases because of an event occurring after the impairment was recognized, any 
amount formerly charged is credited to the statement of income and the allowance account reduced.  The HTM investments, together with the 
associated allowance accounts, are written off when there is no realistic prospect of future recovery and all collateral has been realized. 

Loans and receivables 
If there is objective evidence that an impairment loss has been incurred, the amount of the loss is measured as the difference between the asset’s 
carrying amount and the present value of the estimated future cash flows (excluding future credit losses that have not been incurred).  The carrying 
amount of the asset is reduced through use of an allowance account and the amount of loss is charged to the statement of income. Interest income 
continues to be recognized based on the original effective interest rate of the asset.  Receivables, together with the associated allowance accounts, are 
written off when there is no realistic prospect of future recovery and all collateral has been realized.  If, in a subsequent year, the amount of the 
estimated impairment loss decreases because of an event occurring after the impairment was recognized, the previously recognized impairment loss is 
reduced by adjusting the allowance account.  If a future write-off is later recovered, any amounts formerly charged are credited to Provision for 
impairment losses in the statement of income. 

AFS investments 
For AFS investments, the Company assesses at each balance sheet date whether there is objective evidence that a financial asset or group of financial 
assets is impaired. 

In case of equity investments classified as AFS investments, this would include a significant or prolonged decline in the fair value of the investments 
below its cost.  Where there is evidence of impairment, the cumulative loss - measured as the difference between the acquisition cost and the current 
fair value, less any impairment loss on that financial asset previously recognized in the statement of income - is removed from equity and recognized in 
the statement of income.  Impairment losses on equity investments are not reversed through the statement of income.  Increases in fair value after 
impairment are recognized directly in equity. 

Offsetting Financial Instruments
Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount reported in the balance sheet if, and only if, there is a currently enforceable legal 
right to offset the recognized amounts and there is an intention to settle on a net basis, or to realize the asset and settle the liability simultaneously.  
This is not generally the case with master netting agreements, and the related assets and liabilities are presented gross in the balance sheet. 

Investment in a Subsidiary
These financial statements are prepared as the Company’s separate financial statements. 

As allowed under the existing standards, the Company has not presented consolidated financial statements because it is a subsidiary of PDSHC, which 
presents consolidated financial statements which are filed with the Philippine SEC and are available for public use, and its debt or equity securities are 
not traded in a public market. 

The Company’s investment in a subsidiary is accounted for in these separate financial statements at cost, less any impairment loss.  Impairment loss is 
provided when there is objective evidence that the investment in a subsidiary will not be recovered.  Such impairment loss is measured as the 
difference between the carrying amount of the investment and the present value of the estimated cash flows discounted at the current market rate of 
return for similar financial asset. 

The subsidiary is an entity over which the Company has the power to govern the financial reporting policies generally accompanying a shareholding of 
more than one half of the voting rights.  The Company obtains and exercises control through voting rights.  The existence and effect of potential voting 
rights that are currently exercisable and convertible are considered when assessing whether the Company controls another entity.

Property and Equipment
Depreciable properties such as office equipment, leasehold improvements, furniture and fixtures, transportation equipment, registry, depository and 
custody equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and amortization and any impairment in value. 

The initial cost of property and equipment consists of its purchase price, including import duties, taxes and any directly attributable costs of bringing the 
asset to its working condition and location for its intended use. Expenditures incurred after items of property and equipment have been put into 
operation, such as repairs and maintenance are normally charged against operations in the period in which the costs are incurred. In situations where it 
can be clearly demonstrated that the expenditures have resulted in an increase in the future economic benefits expected to be obtained from the use of 
an item of property and equipment beyond its originally assessed standard of performance, the expenditures are capitalized as an additional cost of 
property and equipment. Depreciation is computed using the straight-line method over the estimated useful lives of the respective assets.  Leasehold 

amortized over the shorter of the terms of the covering leases and the estimated useful life of the improvements. improvements are 
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The estimated useful lives follow: 

Useful Lives in
Years

Office equipment    3 - 5
Leasehold improvements 5
Furniture and fixtures 3 - 5
Transportation equipment 5
Registry, depository and custody equipment 3 

The useful lives and the depreciation and amortization method are reviewed periodically to ensure that the period and the method of depreciation and 
amortization are consistent with the expected pattern of economic benefits from items of property and equipment. 

An item of property and equipment is derecognized upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected from its use or disposal. Any gain 
or loss arising on derecognition of the asset (calculated as the difference between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset) is 
included in the statement of income in the year the asset is derecognized. 

Software and System Development Costs
 Software and system development costs include cost of computer software and system development costs which are accounted for under the cost 

model.  The cost of the asset is the amount of cash or cash equivalents paid or the fair value of the other considerations given up to acquire an asset at 
the time of its acquisition or production. 

 Acquired computer software licenses are capitalized on the basis of the costs incurred to acquire and install the specific software.  Costs associated 
with maintaining computer software are expensed as incurred. 

Costs associated with research activities are expensed in the statement of income as they occur.  Costs that are directly attributable to the 
development phase of the new customized software for information technology and telecommunications systems are recognized as intangibles 
provided they meet the following recognition requirements: 

a. demonstration of technical feasibility of the prospective product for internal use or sale; 
b. the software and system development costs will generate probable economic benefits through internal use or sale; 
c. sufficient technical, financial and other resources are available for completion; and, 
d. the software and system development costs can be reliably measured. 

 Directly attributable costs include employee costs incurred on software and system development along with an appropriate portion of relevant 
overheads.  The costs of internally generated software developments are recognized as intangible assets; they are subject to the same measurement 
as externally acquired.  However, until completion of the development project, the asset are subject to impairment testing.  Amortization commences 
upon completion of asset. 

 Capitalized costs are amortized on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful life of 10 years.  In addition, software and system development costs 
are subject to impairment testing. 

Impairment of Nonfinancial Assets
The Company assesses at each balance sheet date whether there is an indication that the Company’s investment in a subsidiary, software and system 
development costs and property, plant and equipment may be impaired.  When an indicator of impairment exists or when an annual impairment testing 
for an asset is required, the Company makes an estimate of recoverable amount. Recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s (or cash-generating 
unit’s) fair value less costs to sell and its value in use and is determined for an individual asset, unless the asset does not generate cash inflows that 
are largely independent of those from other assets or groups of assets, in which case the recoverable amount is assessed as part of the cash 
generating unit to which it belongs. Where the carrying amount of an asset (or cash generating unit) exceeds its recoverable amount, the asset (or cash 
generating unit) is considered impaired and is written down to its recoverable amount. In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are 
discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks 
specific to the asset (or cash generating unit). 

An impairment loss is charged to operations in the period in which it arises, unless the asset is carried at a revalued amount, in which case the 
impairment loss is charged to the revaluation increment of the said asset. 

A previously recognized impairment loss is reversed only if there has been a change in the estimates used to determine the asset’s recoverable 
amount since the last impairment loss was recognized.  If that is the case, the carrying amount of the asset is increased to its recoverable amount.  
That increased amount cannot exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined, net of depreciation, had no impairment loss been 
recognized for the asset in prior years.  Such reversal is recognized in the statement of income unless the asset is carried at a revalued amount, in 
which case the reversal is treated as a revaluation increase.  After such a reversal, the depreciation charge is adjusted in future periods to allocate the 
asset’s revised carrying amount, less any residual value, on a systematic basis over its remaining useful life. 

 Revenue Recognition
Revenue is recognized to the extent that it is probable that the economic benefits will flow to the Company and the revenue can be reliably measured.  
The following specific recognition criteria must also be met before revenue is recognized: 

Service
Service income is recognized when the services are rendered. 

Interest  
Interest income is recognized on a time proportion basis computed on the outstanding principal balance using the applicable effective interest rate.  

Dividend
Dividend income on AFS investments is recognized when the right to receive payment is established. 

3- 5

3- 5
5

5
3
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Functional Currency and Foreign Currency Transactions
For financial reporting purposes, the monetary assets and liabilities of the Company are translated in Philippine pesos based on the Philippine Dealing 
System (PDS) closing rate prevailing at end of the year and foreign currency-denominated income and expenses, at the PDS weighted average rate for 
the year.  Foreign exchange differences arising from restatement of foreign currency-denominated monetary assets and liabilities are credited to or 
charged against operations in the year in which the rates change.  Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign 
currency are translated using the exchange rates as at the dates of the initial translations.  Non-monetary items measured at fair value in a foreign 
currency are translated using the exchange rates at the date when the fair value was determined. 

Leases
 The determination of whether an arrangement is, or contains, a lease is based on the substance of the arrangement and requires an assessment of 

whether the fulfillment of the arrangement is dependent on the use of a specific asset or assets and the arrangement conveys a right to use the asset.  
A reassessment is made after inception of the lease only if one of the following applies: 

a. There is a change in contractual terms, other than a renewal or extension of the arrangement; 
b. A renewal option is exercised or extension granted, unless that term of the renewal or extension was initially included in the lease term; 
c. There is a change in the determination of whether fulfillment is dependent on a specified asset; or 
d. There is a substantial change to the asset. 

Where a reassessment is made, lease accounting shall commence or cease from the date when the change in circumstances gave rise to the 
reassessment for scenarios a, c or d above, and at the date of renewal or extension period for scenario b. 

Operating lease
Operating lease payments are recognized as an expense in the statement of income on a straight-line basis over the lease term. 

Retirement Benefits
The Company has a noncontributory defined benefit retirement plan. 

The retirement cost of the Company is determined using the projected unit credit method.  Under this method, the current service cost is the present 
value of retirement benefits payable in the future with respect to services rendered in the current period.  The liability recognized in the balance sheet in 
respect of defined benefit pension plans is the present value of the defined benefit obligation at the balance sheet date less the fair value of plan 
assets, together with adjustments for unrecognized actuarial gains or losses and past service costs. The defined benefit obligation is calculated 
annually by an independent actuary using the projected unit credit method. The present value of the defined benefit obligation is determined by 
discounting the estimated future cash outflows using interest rate on government bonds that have terms to maturity approximating the terms of the 
related retirement liability.  Actuarial gains and losses arising from experience adjustments and changes in actuarial assumptions are credited to or 
charged against income when the net cumulative unrecognized actuarial gains and losses at the end of the previous period exceed 10% of the higher 
of the defined benefit obligation and the fair value of plan assets at that date.  These excess gains or losses are recognized over the expected average 
remaining working lives of the employees participating in the plan. 

Past-service costs, if any, are recognized immediately in income, unless the changes to the pension plan are conditional on the employees remaining in 
service for a specified period of time (the vesting period). In this case, the past-service costs are amortized on a straight-line basis over the vesting 
period. 

The defined benefit asset or liability comprises the present value of the defined benefit obligation less past service costs not yet recognized and less 
the fair value of plan assets out of which the obligations are to be settled directly.  The value of any asset is restricted to the sum of any past service 
cost not yet recognized and the present value of any economic benefits available in the form of refunds from the plan or reductions in the future 
contributions to the plan. 

 Income Taxes
 Current tax 

Current tax assets and liabilities for the current and prior periods are measured at the amount expected to be recovered from or paid to the taxation 
authorities.  The tax rates and tax laws used to compute the amount are those that are enacted or substantively enacted by the balance sheet date. 

 Deferred tax 
Deferred tax is provided using the balance sheet liability method on temporary differences at the balance sheet date between the tax bases of assets 
and liabilities and their carrying amounts for financial reporting purposes. 

 Deferred tax liabilities are recognized for all taxable temporary differences, including asset revaluations. Deferred tax assets are recognized for all 
deductible temporary differences, carryforward of unused tax credits from the excess of minimum corporate income tax (MCIT) over the regular 
corporate income tax (RCIT), and unused net operating loss carryover (NOLCO), to the extent that it is probable that sufficient taxable profit will be 
available against which the deductible temporary differences and carry forward of unused tax credits from MCIT and unused NOLCO can be utilized. 

 The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at each balance sheet date and reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient 
taxable profit will be available to allow all or part of the deferred tax asset to be utilized.  Unrecognized deferred tax assets are reassessed at each 
balance sheet date and are recognized to the extent that it has become probable that future taxable profit will allow the deferred tax asset to be 
recovered. 

 Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply to the year when the asset is realized or the liability is 
settled, based on tax rates and tax laws that have been enacted or substantively enacted at the balance sheet date. 

 Current tax and deferred tax relating to items recognized directly in equity is also recognized in equity and not in the statement of income. 

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset, if a legally enforceable right exists to offset current tax assets against current tax liabilities and 
the deferred taxes relate to the same taxable entity and the same taxation authority. 

Provisions and Contingencies
Provisions 
Provisions are recognized when an obligation (legal or constructive) is incurred as a result of a past event and where it is probable that an outflow of 
assets embodying economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation. 

 Contingencies 
Contingent liabilities are not recognized but are disclosed in the financial statements unless the possibility of an outflow of resources embodying 
economic benefits is remote.  Contingent assets are not recognized but are disclosed in the financial statements when an inflow of economic benefits is 
probable. 
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Subsequent Events
 Any post-year-end events that provide additional information about the Company’s position at balance sheet date (adjusting event) are reflected in the 

financial statements.  Post-year-end events that are not adjusting events, if any, are disclosed when material to the financial statements. 

 Fiduciary Activities
Assets arising from fiduciary activities together with related undertakings to return such assets to customers are excluded from the financial statements 
where the Company acts in a fiduciary capacity such as nominee, trustee or agent. 

Future Changes in Accounting Policies
The Company will adopt the following relevant standards and interpretations enumerated below when these become effective.  Except as otherwise 
indicated, the Company does not expect the adoption of these new and amended PFRS and Philippine Interpretations to have significant impact on its 
financial statements. 

Effective in 2009
Amendment to PAS 1, Amendment on Statement of Comprehensive Income (effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2009) 
In accordance with the amendment to PAS 1, the statements of changes in equity shall include only transactions with owners, while all non-owner 
changes will be presented in equity as a single line with details included in a separate statement.  Owners are defined as holders of instruments 
classified as equity. 

In addition, the amendment to PAS 1 provides for the introduction of a new statement of comprehensive income that combines all items of income and 
expenses recognized in the statements of income together with ‘other comprehensive income’.  The revision specify what is included in other 
comprehensive income, such as gains and losses on AFS financial assets, actuarial gains and losses on defined benefit pension plans and changes in 
the asset revaluation reserve.  Entities can choose to present all items in one statement, or to present two linked statements, a separate statement of 
income and a statement of comprehensive income.   

PAS 23, Borrowing Costs (Revised) (effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2009) 
The Standard has been revised to require capitalization of borrowing costs when such costs relate to a qualifying asset.  A qualifying asset is an asset 
that necessarily takes a substantial period of time to get ready for its intended use or sale.  In accordance with the transitional requirements in the 
Standard, this change in accounting for borrowing costs shall be accounted for prospectively.  Accordingly, borrowing costs will be capitalized on 
qualifying asset with a commencement date after January 1, 2009.  Revision to this standard will not have significant impact on the Company. 

Amendments to PAS 32, Financial Instruments: Presentation and PAS 1, Presentation of Financial Statements – Puttable Financial Instruments and 
Obligations Arising on Liquidation (effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2009) 
The Standards have been amended to allow a limited scope exception for puttable financial instruments to be classified as equity if they fulfill a number 
of specified criteria.   

Philippine Interpretation IFRIC-13, Customer Loyalty Programmes (effective for annual periods beginning on or after July 1, 2008) 
This Interpretation requires loyalty credits to be accounted for as a separate component of the sales transaction in which they are granted.  The 
Company currently does not have such programs. 

Effective in 2010 
Philippine Interpretation IFRIC 17, Distribution of Non-cash Assets to Owners
This Interpretation covers accounting for two types of non-reciprocal distributions of assets by an entity to its owners acting in their capacity as owners. 
The two types of distribution are: 
a. distributions of non-cash assets (eg items of property, plant and equipment, businesses as defined in PFRS 3, ownership interests in another 

entity or disposal groups as defined in PFRS 5); and 
b. distributions that give owners a choice of receiving either non-cash assets or a cash alternative. 

This Interpretation addresses only the accounting by an entity that makes a non-cash asset distribution. It does not address the accounting by 
shareholders who receive such a distribution 

Philippine Interpretation IFRIC 18, Transfers of Assets from Customers
This Interpretation covers accounting for transfers of items of property, plant and equipment by entities that receive such transfers from their customers. 
Agreements within the scope of this Interpretation are agreements in which an entity receives from a customer an item of property, plant and equipment 
that the entity must then use either to connect the customer to a network or to provide the customer with ongoing access to a supply of goods or 
services, or to do both.  This Interpretation also applies to agreements in which an entity receives cash from a customer when that amount of cash must 
be used only to construct or acquire an item of property, plant and equipment and the entity must then use the item of property, plant and equipment 
either to connect the customer to a network or to provide the customer with ongoing access to a supply of goods or services, or to do both. 

Improvements to PFRSs 
In May 2008, the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB) issued its first omnibus of amendments to certain standards, primarily with a view of 
removing inconsistencies and clarifying wordings.  The Company has not yet adopted the following relevant amendments and anticipates that these 
changes will have no material effect in the financial statements. 

PFRS 5, Non-current Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations
 When a subsidiary is held for sale, all of its assets and liabilities will be classified as held for sale under PFRS 5, even when the entity retains a 

non-controlling interest in the subsidiary after the sale. 

PFRS 7, Financial Instruments: Disclosures
 Removal of the reference to ‘total interest income’ as a component of finance costs. 

PAS 1, Presentation of Financial Statements
 Assets and liabilities classified as held for trading are not automatically classified as current in the balance sheet. 

PAS 10, Events after the Reporting Period
 Clarification that dividends declared after the end of the reporting period are not obligations. 

PAS 16, Property, Plant and Equipment
 The amendment replaces the term ‘net selling price’ with ‘fair value less costs to sell’ to be consistent with PFRS 5, Non-current Assets Held for 

Sale and Discontinued Operations and PAS 36, Impairment of Assets.
 Items of property, plant and equipment held for rental that are routinely sold in the ordinary course of business after rental, are transferred to 

inventory when rental ceases and they are held for sale.  Proceeds of such sales are subsequently shown as revenue.  Cash payments on initial 
recognition of such items, the cash receipts from rents and subsequent sales are all shown as cash flows from operating activities. 
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PAS 18, Revenue
 Replacement of the term ‘direct costs’ with ‘transaction costs’ as defined in PAS 39. 

PAS 19, Employee Benefits
 Revises the definition of ‘past service costs’ to include reductions in benefits related to past services (‘negative past service costs’) and to 

exclude reductions in benefits related to future services that arise from plan amendments.  Amendments to plans that result in a reduction in 
benefits related to future services are accounted for as curtailment. 

 Revises the definition of ‘return on plan assets’ to exclude plan administration costs if they have already been included in the actuarial 
assumptions used to measure the defined benefit obligation. 

 Revises the definition of ‘short-term’ and ‘other long-term’ employee benefits to focus on the point in time at which the liability is due to be settled. 
 Deletes the reference to the recognition of contingent liabilities to ensure consistency with PAS 37, Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and 

Contingent Assets.

PAS 23, Borrowing Costs
 Revises the definition of borrowing costs to consolidate the types of items that are considered components of ‘borrowing costs’, i.e., components 

of the interest expense calculated using the effective interest rate method. 

PAS 28, Investment in Associates 
 If an associate is accounted for at fair value in accordance with PAS 39, only the requirement of PAS 28 to disclose the nature and extent of any 

significant restrictions on the ability of the associate to transfer funds to the entity in the form of cash or repayment of loans applies. 
 An investment in an associate is a single asset for the purpose of conducting the impairment test.  Therefore, any impairment test is not 

separately allocated to the goodwill included in the investment balance. 

PAS 36, Impairment of Assets
 When discounted cash flows are used to estimate ‘fair value less cost to sell’ additional disclosure is required about the discount rate, consistent 

with disclosures required when the discounted cash flows are used to estimate ‘value in use’. 

PAS 38, Intangible Assets
 Expenditure on advertising and promotional activities is recognized as an expense when the Group either has the right to access the goods or 

has received the services.  Advertising and promotional activities now specifically include mail order catalogues. 
 Deletes references to there being rarely, if ever, persuasive evidence to support an amortization method for finite life intangible assets that results 

in a lower amount of accumulated amortization than under the straight-line method, thereby effectively allowing the use of the unit of production 
method. 

PAS 39, Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement
 Changes in circumstances relating to derivatives - specifically derivatives designated or de-designated as hedging instruments after initial 

recognition - are not reclassifications. 
 When financial assets are reclassified as a result of an insurance company changing its accounting policy in accordance with paragraph 45 of 

PFRS 4, Insurance Contracts, this is a change in circumstance, not a reclassification. 
 Removes the reference to a ‘segment’ when determining whether an instrument qualifies as a hedge. 
 Requires use of the revised effective interest rate (rather than the original effective interest rate) when re-measuring a debt instrument on the 

cessation of fair value hedge accounting. 

PAS 40, Investment Properties
 Revises the scope (and the scope of PAS 16, Property, Plant and Equipment) to include property that is being constructed or developed for 

future use as an investment property.  Where an entity is unable to determine the fair value of an investment property under construction, but 
expects to be able to determine its fair value on completion, the investment under construction will be measured at cost until such time as fair 
value can be determined or construction is complete. 

3. Significant Accounting Judgments and Estimates

The preparation of the financial statements in accordance with PFRS requires the Company to make estimates and assumptions that affect the 
reported amounts of resources, liabilities, income and expenses and disclosure of contingent assets and contingent liabilities.  Future events may occur 
which will cause the assumptions used in arriving at the estimates to change.  The effects of any change in estimates are reflected in the financial 
statements as they become reasonably determinable. 

Estimates and judgments are continually evaluated and are based on historical experience and other factors, including expectations of future events 
that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances. 

The following are the critical judgments and key assumptions that have a significant risk of material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and 
liabilities within the next financial year: 

Judgment
(a) Recognition of deferred tax assets 

Deferred tax assets are recognized for all unused tax losses to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be available against which the 
losses can be utilized.  Significant management judgment is required to determine the amount of deferred tax assets that can be recognized, 
based upon the likely timing and level of future taxable profits together with future tax planning strategies. 

The Company’s estimates of future taxable income indicate that certain temporary differences will be realized in the future.  Recognized net 
deferred tax assets as of December 31, 2008 and 2007 amounted to P=0.87 million and P=1.17 million, respectively (see Notes 11 and 19). 

 Estimates
(a) Impairment of Receivables 

The Company maintains an allowance for impairment losses  at a level considered adequate to provide for potential uncollectible receivables.  
The level of allowance is evaluated by the Company on the basis of factors that affect the collectibility of the accounts.  The review is 
accomplished using a combination of specific and collective assessment.  The factors considered in specific impairment assessment are the 
length of the Company’s relationship with customers, customers’ current credit status based on known factors, age of the accounts and other 
available information that will indicate objective evidence that the customers maybe unable to meet their financial obligations.  The collective 
impairment assessment is based on historical loss experience and deterioration in the market in which the customers operate.  The amounts and 
timing of recorded provision for impairment losses for any period would differ if the Company made different assumptions or utilized different 
estimates. 
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As of December 31, 2008 and 2007, allowance for impairment losses on loans and receivables of the Company amounted to P=0.11 million and 
P=0.58 million, respectively. Receivables, net of allowance for impairment losses, amounted to P=144.19 million and P=15.27 million as of 
December 31, 2008 and 2007, respectively (see Note 6).   

(b) Operating Lease – Company as the lessee 
The Company leases the premises it occupies. The Company has determined that it does not retain all the significant risk and rewards of 
ownership of the premises. 

(c) Impairment of nonfinancial assets 
 The Company assesses impairment on assets whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of an asset may 

not be recoverable. The factors that the Company considers important which could trigger an impairment review include the following: 

 significant underperformance relative to expected historical or projected future operating results; 
 significant changes in the manner of use of the acquired assets or the strategy for overall business; and 
 significant negative industry or economic trends. 

 The Company recognizes an impairment loss whenever the carrying amount of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount. The recoverable
amount is computed using the value in use approach. Recoverable amounts are estimated for individual assets. 

As of December 31, 2008 and 2007, the carrying values of the Company’s nonfinancial assets follow: 

2008 2007
Property and equipment -  net(Note 9) P=52,639,302 P=56,059,395
Software and system development costs - net (Note 10) 176,903,236 165,252,571

 No impairment loss was recognized in 2008 and 2007. 

(d) Estimated useful lives of property and equipment  
The Company estimates the useful lives of its property and equipment.  This estimate is reviewed periodically to ensure that the period of 
depreciation and amortization is consistent with the expected pattern of economic benefits from the items of property and equipment. 

As of December 31, 2008 and 2007, the carrying value of property and equipment amounted to P=52.6 million and P=56.1 million, respectively (see 
Note 9). 

(e) Estimated useful lives of software and system development costs 
The Company estimates the useful lives of software and system development costs based on the period over which the assets are expected to 
be available for use.  The estimated useful lives of software and system development costs are reviewed periodically and are updated if 
expectations differ from previous estimates due to technical or commercial obsolescence and legal or other limits on the use of the assets.  In 
addition, estimation of the useful lives of software and system development costs is based on collective assessment of industry practice, internal 
technical evaluation and experience with similar assets.  It is possible, however that future results of operations could be materially affected by 
changes in estimates brought about by changes in factors mentioned above.  The amounts and timing of recorded expenses for any period would 
be affected by changes in these factors and circumstances.  A reduction in the estimated useful lives of the software and system development 
costs would increase recorded operating expenses and decrease non-current assets. 

As of December 31, 2008 and 2007, the carrying value of software and system development costs amounted to P=176.90 million and  
P=165.25 million, respectively (see Note 10). 

(f) Impairment of AFS equity investments 
The Company treats AFS equity investments as impaired when there has been a significant or prolonged decline in the fair value below its cost 
or where other objective evidence of impairment exists.  The determination of what is ‘significant’ or ‘prolonged’ requires judgment.  The 
Company treats ‘significant’ generally as 20% or more and ‘prolonged’ greater than 12 months.  In addition, the Company evaluates other factors, 
including normal volatility in share price for quoted equities and the future cash flows and the discount factors for unquoted equities. 

As of December 31, 2008 and 2007, the carrying value of the AFS investments amounted to P=0.61 million (see Note 11).  

(g) Present value of defined benefit obligation 
The cost of defined benefit pension plan and other post employment benefits is determined using actuarial valuation.  The actuarial valuation 
involves making assumptions about discount rates, expected rates of return on assets, future salary increases, mortality rates and future pension 
increases.  Due to the long term nature of these plans, such estimates are subject to significant uncertainty. 

The assumed discount rates were determined using the market yields on Philippine government bonds with terms consistent with the expected 
employee benefit payout as of balance sheet dates. Refer to Note 18 for the details of assumptions used in the calculation. 

As of December 31, 2008 and 2007, the present value of the defined benefit obligation of the Company amounted to P=7.17 million and  
P=8.74 million, respectively (see Note 18).

4. Cash and Cash Equivalents 

This account consists of: 

2008 2007 
Cash on hand and in banks P=7,536,545 P=25,750,584 
Short-term placements – 2,502,222 

P=7,536,545 P=28,252,806 

 Cash in banks consist of regular current and savings deposits with various banks at respective bank deposit rates. 
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 Short-term placements are denominated in Philippine pesos and US dollars with tenors ranging from 1 to 7 days for both peso and dollar placements.  
Peso investments earned annual effective interest rates ranging from 1.50% to 7.25% in 2008 and from 1.00% to 4.50% in 2007.  Dollar placements 
earned annual effective interest rates ranging from 1.00% to 1.15% in 2007. 

Interest earned on cash and cash equivalents amounted to P=2.09 million and P=0.85 million in 2008 and 2007, respectively (see Note 15). 

5. Short-Term Investments 

This account consists of investments in Philippine peso treasury bills that earned effective interest rate per annum ranging from 6.00% to 6.10% in 
2008 and 4.24% in 2007. Interest earned on short- term investments amounted to P=0.09 million and P=0.03 million in 2008 and 2007, respectively.  

6. Receivables 

This account consists of: 

2008 2007 
Receivable from Repo transactions P=133,500,000 P=– 
Trade receivables 9,885,091 15,265,494 
Advances to employees 710,249 506,935 
Others 203,205 77,218 

144,298,545 15,849,647 
Allowance for impairment losses (108,223) (581,875)

P=144,190,322 P=15,267,772 

 On August 29, 2008, the BOD approved the placement and participation of the Company in the Philippine Dealing & Exchange Corp.’s (PDEx) Inter-
Professional (IP) Repo Program.  The placements in the IP Repo Program, presented as Receivable from Repo transaction above, are collateralized by 
government securities.   

 The Repo Program is viewed as an alternative investment avenue for the PDS Group.  Relative to this, the Company received P=45.80 million from the 
Parent Company which was also placed in the IP Repo Program.  As of December 31, 2008, the outstanding amount due to the Parent Company 
amounted to P=33.62 million. 

 Receivable from Repo transaction earns interest ranging from 4.00% to 5.25% and has maturities of 1 to 13 days. Interest earned from Receivable from 
Repo transactions amounted to P=2.17 million in 2008, of which P=0.67 million pertains to the interest attributable to the advances provided by the Parent 
Company. 

Trade receivables are non-interest bearing and are usually due by the 25th day of the following month.  All trade receivables are subject to credit risk 
exposure.  However, the Company does not identify specific concentrations of credit risk with regards to trade receivables as the amounts recognized 
consist of large number of receivables from various customers. 

Advances to employees pertain to advances made by the Company for the health care benefits of its officers and employees. It also includes employee 
loans with maturities of three months to one year and bear interest of 1.00% per month. 

 Movements of the allowance for impairment losses, which pertains solely to trade receivables, follow: 

2008 2007 
Balance at beginning of year P=581,875 P=– 
Recovery from impairment losses (473,652) –
Provision for impairment losses – 581,875 
Balance at end of year P=108,223 P=581,875 

7. Other Current Assets 

This account consists of: 

2008 2007 
Input VAT P=5,177,972 P=5,177,972 
Creditable taxes 4,058,323 1,451,721 
Prepayments 2,505,194 1,415,592 
Supplies inventory 726,346 855,669 
Others 94,419 72,284 

12,562,254 8,973,238 
Allowance for impairment losses (2,271,261) (2,271,261)

P=10,290,993 P=6,701,977 

8. Investment in a Subsidiary

 The Company holds 100% interest in PCD Nominee Corporation (PCNC) accounted for under the cost method.  PCNC was incorporated in the 
Philippines on January 23, 1996 and is engaged to hold legal title to all immobilized and dematerialized securities listed and/or traded in the Philippine 
Stock Exchange or any other registered stock exchanges or fixed income exchanges  and/or traded in any over-the-counter market or markets for and 
on behalf of the trading participants of the Company, including the right to receive dividends for and on behalf of the beneficial owners of the securities. 
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9. Property and Equipment 

 The composition of and changes in property and equipment follow: 

2008 

Office 
Equipment 

Leasehold 
Improvements 

Furniture 
and Fixtures 

Transportation 
Equipment 

Registry, 
Depository 

and Custody 
Equipment Total 

Cost       
Balance at beginning of year P=208,354,760 P=22,771,323 P=6,834,915 P=4,763,636 P=32,609,486 P=275,334,120 
Additions 6,526,933 4,035,756 1,151,701 – 12,604,943 24,319,333 
Disposals – – – (1,145,454) – (1,145,454)
Balance at end of year 214,881,693 26,807,079 7,986,616 3,618,182 45,214,429 298,507,999 
Accumulated depreciation and 

amortization       
Balance at beginning of year 197,725,385 13,719,485 5,280,461 2,549,394 – 219,274,725 
Depreciation and amortization 6,717,927 4,554,265 894,587 896,364 14,359,011 27,422,154 
Disposals – – – (828,182) – (828,182)
Balance at end of year 204,443,312 18,273,750 6,175,048 2,617,576 14,359,011 245,868,697 
Net book value P=10,438,381 P=8,533,329 P=1,811,568 P=1,000,606 P=30,855,418 P=52,639,302 

2007 

Office 
Equipment 

Leasehold 
Improvements 

Furniture 
and Fixtures 

Transportation 
Equipment 

Registry, 
Depository 

and Custody 
Equipment Total 

Cost 
Balance at beginning of year P=206,235,317 P=22,510,660 P=6,448,837 P=5,641,818 P=32,609,486 P=273,446,118 
Additions 2,318,306 61,800 386,078 – – 2,766,184 
Disposals – – – (878,182) – (878,182)
Reclassification (198,863) 198,863 – – – – 
Balance at end of year 208,354,760 22,771,323 6,834,915 4,763,636 32,609,486 275,334,120 
Accumulated depreciation and 

amortization 
Balance at beginning of year 191,224,211 9,092,661 4,422,348 2,174,848 – 206,914,068 
Depreciation and amortization 6,584,034 4,543,964 858,113 1,007,273 – 12,993,384 
Disposals – – – (632,727) – (632,727)
Reclassification (82,860) 82,860 – – – – 
Balance at end of year 197,725,385 13,719,485 5,280,461 2,549,394 – 219,274,725 
Net book value P=10,629,375 P=9,051,838 P=1,554,454 P=2,214,242 P=32,609,486 P=56,059,395 

 Total depreciation and amortization are allocated as follows: 

2008 2007 
Cost of services (Note 16) P=26,051,047 P=12,346,402 
Operating expense 1,371,107 646,982 

P=27,422,154 P=12,993,384 

10. Software and System Development Costs 

 The composition of and changes in software and system development costs follow: 

2008 2007 
Balance at beginning of year P=165,252,571 P=164,709,330 
Additions 11,650,665 543,241 
Balance at end of year P=176,903,236 P=165,252,571 

 On September 2, 2004, the Company and its Parent Company entered into a Memorandum of Agreement (MOA) with a system provider whereby the 
latter shall supply, customize and maintain the Company’s integrated system.  The Company is still in the process of developing and setting up the 
system to ultimately place it in working condition for its intended use.  The capitalized costs include the cost of the integrated software and the costs 
incurred for the development and customization of the software to be used in the Company’s operations.  This also includes professional fees of 
consultants involved in the undertaking.  The Company expects the system to be operational in 2009. 

11. Other Non-Current Assets

 This account consists of: 

2008 2007 
Deferred tax assets - net (Note 19) P=871,834 P=1,169,081 
Security deposits (Note 25) 828,592 828,594 
AFS investments 606,900 606,900 

P=2,307,326 P=2,604,575 

 AFS investments pertain to an investment in quoted equity security.  There was no change in fair value of the investment in 2008 and 2007. 



106  PDS Group 2008 Annual Report

12. Accrued Expenses and Other Payables

 This account consists of the following accruals and payables: 

2008 2007 
Accruals for:  
 Professional fees P=2,684,592 P=3,890,106 

Utilities 2,048,821 1,284,089 
Outside Services 1,632,480 1,197,015 

 Maintenance fees 1,377,043 4,514,885 
 Leave benefits 985,835 1,568,937 
 Rent 580,022 1,600,732 
 Others  4,787,216 2,769,155 
Taxes and licenses payable P=1,335,585 P=1,135,563 
Withholding taxes payable 88,845 880,111 
Other payables 1,368,423 810,819 

P=16,888,862 P= 19,651,412 

13. Equity 

Capital Stock
The Company has 4,000,000 shares of authorized capital stock with par value of P=100. As of December 31, 2008 and 2007, the Company has 
3,233,064 issued and outstanding shares. 

Capital Management
Decisions on the allocation of capital resources are performed as part of the strategic planning review.  The Company also manages its capital 
structure and makes adjustments to it, in light of changes in economic conditions 

The Company’s objectives are to maintain sufficient capital resources to support the Company’s risk appetite and capital requirements, to maintain 
sufficient capital resources to meet the minimum regulatory capital requirements, and to ensure that there are no known events that may trigger direct 
or contingent financial obligation that is material to the Company. 

Regulatory Capital
The Bangko Sentral ng Pilipinas (BSP), under BSP Circular 400 dated July 31, 2003, has prescribed guidelines in the adoption of the risk-based capital 
adequacy framework for quasi-banks taking into consideration Section 34 of the General Banking Law of 2000. 

The Company’s regulatory capital consists of Tier 1 (core) capital, which comprises share capital and retained earnings including current year profit 
less required deductions such as deferred income tax and unsecured credit accommodations to DOSRI.  The other component of regulatory capital is 
Tier 2 (supplementary) capital, which includes, among others, general loan loss provision.  The risk-based capital ratio of the Company is expressed as 
a percentage of qualifying capital to risk-weighted assets, which are computed based on BSP regulations. 

Regulatory Qualifying Capital
Shown below are the Company’s minimum capital-to-risk assets ratio as reported to the BSP as of December 31, 2008 and 2007. 

2008 2007 
Tier 1 Capital P=353,196,516 P=363,515,383 
Tier 2 Capital – –
Gross Qualifying Capital 353,196,516 363,515,383 
Less: Required deductions 500,000 500,000 
Total qualifying capital P=352,696,516 P=363,015,383 
Risk weighted assets P=263,057,113 P=379,074,038 
Risk-based capital adequacy ratio   134.08% 95.76% 

 The Company is required to maintain capital amounting to P=300.00 million.

14. Service Income

 This account consists of: 

2008 2007 
Depository Fees P=130,083,046 P=153,634,479 
Registry Fees 10,840,412 4,117,689 
Custody Fees 785,175 1,782,275 

P=141,708,633 P=159,534,443 

Depository fees pertain to fees earned from holding eligible securities, keeping records of ownership and facilitating the movement of these securities. 

Registry fees pertain to maintenance of the official record of the list of registered holders of paperless or uncertificated fixed income or equity securities 
for the issuer of the security. 

Custody fees are charged for safekeeping securities holdings on behalf of clients and servicing the clients’ transactions. 
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15. Other Income

This account consists of: 

2008 2007 
Interest (Notes 4, 5 and 6) P=4,351,555 P=902,750 
Dividends 39,450 39,450 
Foreign exchange gain (loss) (9,612) 790,233 
Gain on sale of assets 3,000 118,971 
Others 1,158,334 932,514 

P=5,542,727 P=2,783,918 

 Others include revenue from printing stock certificates and statements of account. 

16. Cost of Services

 This account consists of: 

2008 2007 
Salaries and employee benefits (Note 17) P=42,973,670 P=41,183,695 
Depreciation and amortization (Note 9) 26,051,047 12,346,402 
Systems maintenance cost (Note 25)  21,909,364 21,578,260 
Taxes and licenses 11,949,217 11,252,041 
Utilities 9,332,745 5,787,380 
Rent (Note 25) 5,854,661 4,686,206 
Professional fees 3,498,296 7,435,363 
Certificate handling fee 2,131,227 2,337,050 
Outside services 1,970,580 2,152,270 
Insurance 1,612,910 1,819,367 
Bank charges 1,348,423 1,350,444 
Supplies 808,205 326,451 
Postage  723,508 835,196 
Printing and reproduction 539,775 479,835 
Advertising expense 201,542 619,775 
Repairs and maintenance 167,459 361,931 
Others 641,363 2,039,537 

P=131,713,992 P=116,591,203 

17. Salaries and Employee Benefits

 This account consists of: 

2008 2007 
Salaries and wages P=47,491,221 P=44,255,171 
Health insurance 1,133,078 888,898 
Retirement expense (Note 18) 1,092,321 1,607,636 
Social security costs 1,001,098 841,364 
Fringe benefit tax 187,308 333,173 
Leave benefits 179,770 988,942 
Others 1,315,105 1,064,858 

P=52,399,901 P=49,980,042 

 Others include meal and transportation expenses, uniforms, training, seminar and employee development. 

 Total salaries and employee benefits are allocated as follows: 

2008 2007 
Cost of services P=42,973,670 P=41,183,695 
Operating expense 9,426,231 8,796,347 

P=52,399,901 P=49,980,042 

18. Retirement Plan

 The Company has a funded noncontributory defined benefit retirement plan covering substantially all of its officers and regular employees.  Under this 
retirement plan, all covered officers and employees are entitled to cash benefits after satisfying certain age and service requirements. 

 The Company’s annual contribution to the retirement plan consists of a payment covering the current service cost, amortization of the unfunded 
actuarial accrued liability and interest on such unfunded actuarial liability. 

 The following table shows the actuarial assumptions as of January 1, 2008 and 2007 used in determining the retirement benefit obligation of the 
Company: 

Actuarial Assumptions 

Date of Actuarial Valuation Report 

Average
Remaining

Working Life 

Expected
Rate of
Return

on Assets 

Salary 
Increase 

Rate 
Discount 

Rate 

Future
Pension

Increases 
December 31, 2008 8   5.50% 4.00% 8.27% – 
December 31, 2007 25 7.00% 5.00% 7.86% – 



108  PDS Group 2008 Annual Report

 The overall expected rate of return on plan assets is determined based on the market prices prevailing on that date applicable to the period over which 
the obligation is to be settled. 

 The discount rate as of December 31, 2008 and 2007 is 11.20% and 8.27% respectively. 

 The amount of defined retirement asset is determined as follows: 

2008 2007 
Fair value of plan assets P=18,635,575 P=17,392,726 
Present value of defined benefit obligation (7,165,022) (8,743,878)

11,470,553 8,648,848 
Unrecognized actuarial losses (gains) (38,686) 953,348 
Retirement benefit asset P=11,431,867 P=9,602,196 

 The amounts included in Salaries and employee benefits (see Note 17) for the years ended December 31, 2008 and 2007 are as follows: 

2008 2007 
Current service cost P=1,325,802 P=1,888,436 
Interest cost 723,119 702,105 
Expected return on plan assets (956,600) (1,073,002)
Actuarial loss – 90,097 

P=1,092,321 P=1,607,636 

 The actual return on plan assets of the Company for the years ended December 31, 2008 and 2007 amounted to (P=1.30 million) and P=2.00 million, 
respectively. 

 Changes in the present value of the defined benefit obligation are as follows: 

2008 2007 
Defined benefit obligation at beginning of year P=8,743,878 P=8,932,638 
Interest cost 723,119 702,105 
Current service cost 1,325,802 1,888,436 
Benefits paid (394,834) (1,455,581)
Actuarial gain (3,232,943) (1,323,720)
Defined benefit obligation at end of year P=7,165,022 P=8,743,878 

Changes in the fair value of the plan assets are as follows: 

2008 2007 
Fair value of plan assets at beginning of year P=17,392,726 P=15,328,599 
Contributions paid into the plan 2,921,992 1,569,167 
Expected return 956,600 1,073,002 
Benefits paid (394,834) (1,455,581)
Actuarial gains (losses) (2,240,909) 877,539 
Fair value of plan assets at end of year P=18,635,575 P=17,392,726 

 Movements in accumulated unrecognized actuarial losses (gains) are as follows: 

2008 2007 
Balance at beginning of year (P=953,348) (P=3,244,704)
Actuarial gains on present value of the defined benefit obligation 3,232,943 1,323,720 
Actuarial losses (gains)  on plan assets (2,240,909) 877,539 
Actuarial losses (gains) recognized during the year  – 90,097 
Balance at end of year P=38,686 (P=953,348)

 The major categories of plan assets are as follows: 

2008 2007 
Government and equity securities P=16,273,654 P=16,175,402 
Other investments in bonds 1,292,785 383,277 
Deposit in banks 899,865 717,488 
Accrued interest receivable 218,938 164,844 
Trust fees payable (49,667) (48,285)

P=18,635,575 P=17,392,726 

 Information on the pension plan as of December 31, 2008 and 2007 follow: 

2008 2007 2006 
Fair value of plan assets P=18,635,575 P=17,392,726 P=15,328,599 
Present value of the defined benefit obligation (7,165,022) (8,743,878) (8,932,638)
Surplus in plan assets 11,470,553 8,648,848 6,395,961 
Experience adjustments arising on plan liabilities (2,287,069) (666,506) 4,009,965 
Experience adjustments arising on plan assets 2,240,909 877,539 1,741,031 

19. Income Taxes

 Income taxes include corporate income tax and final taxes paid at the rate of 20% and 7.5% for interest income from peso and foreign cash deposits 
and short-term investments. 
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 Republic Act No. 9337, An Act Amending National Internal Revenue Code, provides that the RCIT rate shall be 35% until December 31, 2008. Starting 
January 1, 2009, the RCIT rate shall be 30%. 

 The regulations also impose the MCIT of 2% on modified gross income and allow a NOLCO.  The NOLCO and the excess of the MCIT over the RCIT 
may be applied against taxable income and the income tax liability, respectively, over a three-year period from the year of inception. 

 Provision for income tax consists of: 

2008 2007 
Current: 
 MCIT P=187,506 P=–
 RCIT – 9,933,006 
 Final 870,092 165,536 
Deferred 297,245 (200,100)

P=1,354,843 P=9,898,442 

 Components of the deferred tax assets - net follow: 

2008 2007 
Deferred tax asset on: 
 Retirement cost P=217,741 P=462,268 
 Accrued vacation leave benefits 295,751 555,883 
 Allowance for impairment  170,836 199,309 

MCIT 187,506 –
Deferred tax liability on: 
 Unrealized foreign exchange gain – (48,379)

P=871,834 P=1,169,081 

 As of December 31, 2008, the Company has excess MCIT and NOLCO amounting to P=0.19 and P=13.01 million, respectively which can be claimed as 
deductions from taxable income until 2011.  The Company did not to recognize DTA on NOLCO.  

 A reconciliation of the statutory income tax to the effective income tax follows: 

2008 2007 
Statutory income tax (P=2,368,531) P=6,847,055 
Tax effects of: 
 Unrecognized deferred tax asset 4,577,695 24,136 
 Income subject to final tax (652,952) –
 Nondeductible expenses 373,583 3,155,413 
 Nontaxable income (13,808) (146,537)
 Change in income tax rate (561,144) –
 Deferred income – 18,375 
Effective income tax P=1,354,843 P=9,898,442 

20. Related Party Transactions

Parties are considered to be related if one party has the ability, directly or indirectly, to control the other party or exercise significant influence over the 
other party in making financial and operating decisions.  Parties are also considered to be related if they are subjected to common control or common 
significant influence.  Related parties may be individuals or corporate entities.  Transactions between related parties are based on terms similar to 
those offered to non-related parties. 

The Company in the ordinary course of business has entered into transactions with its related parties principally consisting of reimbursement of 
expenses and advances for working capital purposes.  The advances are non-interest bearing and are payable on demand except for the advances 
from the Parent Company pertaining to the IP Repo Program (see Note 6). 

The transactions and balances of accounts with related parties follow: 

   Elements of Transactions 
  Nature of Balance Sheet Amount Statement of Income Amount 
Related Party Relationship Transaction 2008 2007 2008 2007
PDSHC Parent Company Due from related parties P=– P=18,595,031   P=– P=–
  Due to a related party (Note 6) 33,619,746 – – –
  Interest expense (Note 6) – – 672,367 –
PDEx Affiliate Due from related parties – 78,258,690  – –
PSSC Affiliate Due from related parties – 1,768,706 – –
PCNC Subsidiary Due to a related party – 455,950 – –
  Due from related parties 48,885 – – –
  Operating expenses – – – 86,960

Key Management Personnel Compensation
The remuneration of directors and other members of key management personnel for the years ended December 31, 2008 and 2007 are as follows: 

2008 2007 
Salaries and wages P=11,691,306 P=10,454,494 
Retirement benefits 263,354 279,335 
Other long-term benefits 43,342 171,834 

P=11,998,002 P=10,905,663 

deductions from taxable income until 2011.  The Company did not to recognize DTA on NOLCO.  be claimed as 
and P=13.01 million, respectively which can million As of December 31, 2008, the Company has excess MCIT and NOLCO amounting to P=0.19 
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21. Securities Under Custody

 As of December 31, 2008 and 2007, the market value of securities under the custody of the Company amounted to P=2.4 billion and P=2.6 billion, 
respectively. 

22. Financial Performance

 The following basic ratios measure the financial performance for the years ended December 31, 2008 and 2007 of the Company:  

2008 2007 
Return on average equity (a/b) (2.25%) 2.61% 
a. Net income (loss) (P=8,122,075) P=9,664,572 
b. Average total equity 361,130,362 370,602,677 

Return on average assets (d/e) (2.00%) 2.43% 
d. Net income (loss) (8,122,075) 9,664,572 
e. Average total assets 401,229,147 397,424,729 

Net interest margin on average earning assets (f/g) 3.85% 4.74% 
f. Net interest income  4,256,473 902,750 
g. Average interest earning assets 110,610,777 19,030,984 

23. Financial Instruments and Fair Value Measurement

 Shown below are the Company’s assets and liabilities as they appear on the balance sheets, which are divided into financial and nonfinancial items, 
with the financial items being mapped to the categories of financial instruments under PAS 39. 

2008 

Loans and 
Receivables 

HTM  
Investments 

AFS  
Investments 

Other 
Financial 
Liabilities 

Nonfinancial 
Items Total 

ASSETS       
Cash and cash equivalents P=7,536,545 P=– P=– P=– P=– P=7,536,545 
Short-term investments – 1,729,456 – – – 1,729,456 
Receivables 144,190,322 – – – – 144,190,322 
Due from related parties 48,885 – – – – 48,885 
Other current assets – – – – 10,290,993 10,290,993 
Investment in a subsidiary – – – – 500,000 500,000 
Property and equipment – net – – – – 52,639,302 52,639,302 
Software and system 

development costs – – – – 176,903,236 176,903,236 
Retirement benefit asset – – – – 11,431,865 11,431,865 
Other non-current assets 828,594 – 606,900 – 871,834 2,307,328 
 Total Assets P=152,604,346 P=1,729,456 P=606,900 P=– P=252,637,230 P=407,577,932 
LIABILITIES       
Accrued expenses and other 

payables P=– P=– P=– P=13,694,049 P=3,194,813 P=16,888,862 
Due to a related party – – – 33,619,746 – 33,619,746 
 Total Liabilities P=– P=– P=– P=47,313,795 P=3,194,813 P=50,508,608 

2007 

Loans and 
Receivables 

HTM  
Investments 

AFS
Investments 

Other 
Financial 
Liabilities 

Nonfinancial 
Items Total 

ASSETS       
Cash and cash equivalents P=28,252,806 P=– P=– P=– P=– P=28,252,806 
Short-term investments – 2,435,042 – – – 2,435,042 
Receivables 15,267,772 – – – – 15,267,772 
Due from related parties 98,622,427 – – – – 98,622,427 
Other current assets – – – – 6,701,977 6,701,977 
Investment in a subsidiary – – – – 500,000 500,000 
Property and equipment – net – – – – 56,059,395 56,059,395 
Software and system 

development costs – – – – 165,252,571 165,252,571 
Retirement benefit asset – – – – 9,602,196 9,602,196 
Other non-current assets 828,594 – 606,900 – 1,169,081 2,604,575 
 Total Assets P=142,971,599 P=2,435,042 P=606,900 P=– P=239,285,220 P=385,298,761 
LIABILITIES       
Accrued expenses and other 

payables P=– P=– P=– P=17,635,738  P=2,015,674 P=19,651,412 
Due to a related party – – – 455,950 – 455,950 
 Total Liabilities P=– P=– P=– P=18,091,688 P=2,015,674 P=20,107,362 
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Fair Values
The carrying values and fair values of the Company’s financial instruments are as follows: 

2008 2007 
Carrying Value Fair Value Carrying Value Fair Value 

Financial assets:     
 Loans and receivables:   
  Cash and cash equivalents P=7,536,545 P=7,536,545 P=28,252,806 P=28,252,806 
  Receivables: 
   Receivable from Repo    

     transactions 133,500,000 133,500,000 – – 
   Trade  9,885,091 9,885,091 15,265,494 15,265,494 
   Advances to officers and  

employees 710,249 710,249 506,935 506,935 
   Others 203,205 203,205 77,218 77,218 
  Security deposits 828,594 803,162 828,594 760,245 
  Due from related parties 48,885 48,885 98,622,427 98,622,427 
 152,712,569 152,712,569 142,970,599 142,970,599 
 Short-term investments (classified as HTM 

investments) 1,729,456 1,729,456 2,435,042 2,422,885 
 AFS investments (shown under Other 

noncurrent assets) 606,900 606,900 606,900 606,900 
P=155,048,925 P=155,023,493 P=146,012,541 P=146,000,304 

Financial liabilities:   
Other financial liabilities:   

  Accrued expenses and other payables 
(excluding taxes, SSS, Philhealth and 
HDMF payables and deferred income) P=15,464,432 P=15,464,432 P=17,577,933 P=17,577,933 

  Due to a related party 33,619,746 33,619,746 455,950 455,950 
P=49,084,178 P=49,084,178 P=18,033,883 P=18,033,883 

The methods and assumptions used by the Company in estimating the fair value of the financial instruments are: 

Cash and cash equivalents, Receivables, Due from/to related party(ies), Accrued expenses and other payables - Carrying amounts approximate fair 
values due to the relatively short-term maturity of these instruments. 

Short-term investments and AFS investments - Fair values are based on quoted prices published in markets. 

 Security deposits - Fair values are estimated using the discounted cash flow methodology using the current market rates.

24. Financial Risk Management Policies and Objectives

The Company does not engage in trading activities or take positions in equity, foreign exchange and securities other than investment in government 
securities in the course of managing its cash and liquidity position and purchase of foreign exchange to service some of its foreign-currency 
denominated obligations.  The Company’s credit, liquidity and market risks arising from the use of financial instruments are limited to the above 
activities. 

 On August 29, 2008, the BOD approved the placement and participation of the Company in the Philippine Dealing & Exchange Corp.’s (PDEx) Inter-
Professional (IP) Repo Program.  The placements in the IP Repo Program are collateralized by government securities. The Repo Program is viewed as 
an alternative investment avenue for the PDS Group.  

The following provides the overall risk management principles and process that governs the risk management of the Company. 

 Risk Management Structure
The Company’s risk management process hinges on the following principles: 

1. The BOD establishes the Company’s risk philosophy and culture, approves the risk policies and sets the risk appetite. 

2. The Executive Committee (Excom) is accountable to the BOD for the risk taken by the business. 

3. The risk takers of each business initially identify and evaluate market, product or service opportunities, subject to further evaluation of the Risk 
Management group and other specific risk function groups, such as Product Committee, Legal and Compliance, for the attendant risks. 

4. Management of risks is done in a coordinated manner within the group. 

5. Risk management is an independent function reporting to the Risk Management Committee (RMC) where the Company’s Chief Operating Officer 
(COO) is a member. 

Risk Management Organization
The Company’s risk management organization consists of the following: 

1. The BOD is the risk policy maker and approving authority of the Company.  The BOD has created and appointed Standing Committees with at 
least one independent director to assist in performing its functions. Standing Committees include the following: 

a. Risk Management Committee 
The RMC is a group-level committee that sets the policy standards and guidelines for the management and assessment of group-wide risk, 
with the ultimate objective of ascertaining that risk exposures of the Company fall within the capital collectively available and allocated to 
the Company. 

b. Audit Committee 
The Audit Committee is the oversight of the financial reporting process, internal control process as and hiring and performance of external 
auditors. 
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c. Trust Committee 
The Trust Committee formulates the general policies and guidelines on the management of trust and other fiduciary accounts.  It reviews 
and approves the acceptance and closing of trust and other fiduciary accounts and adopts measures to ensure the independence of the 
Company’s trust function. 

2. The Risk Management Unit (RMU) identifies, evaluates and measures risks and exposures attendant to the products and services provided by 
the Company.  It establishes standards to monitor and report compliance with its recommended limits. 

Complementing the RMU is the Product Committee that reviews existing and proposed products to ensure that all risk taking personnel have 
properly identified and analyzed the relevant risks.  It recommends to the Excom the approval of a proposed product. 

3. The Operations Support, Legal and Compliance, Financial Control, and Audit groups support the Company’s risk management function in risk 
control.  They operate independently of the business units and the risk management functions. 

a. Operations Support group performs risk reporting, through generation of risk reports, and the control process of risk management. 

b. Legal and Compliance group ensures that all laws and regulations are complied with and contracts entered into by the Company are 
enforceable. 

c. Financial Control group ensures that expenses and revenues are within budget and properly approved and monitored. 

d. Audit group shall ensure compliance of financial accounting and internal control processes with internal and regulatory standards. 

4. The risk takers are the officers of respective business units handling the products.  These business units identify market or product opportunities 
and sponsor product or service developments or proposals. 

Credit Risk
Credit risk is the risk that the Company will incur a loss because its counterparties fail to discharge their contractual obligations.  The Company’s 
counterparties include its banks, the Bureau of Treasury (BTr) of the Philippines as issuer of government securities, related parties and the Company’s 
Depository, Custody and Registry clients. 

The Company manages and controls its credit exposure to its clients by actively monitoring the size and age of its receivables.  Per Rule 2 of the 
November 1997 PCD Rules, each client is required to submit a Participation Agreement in addition to the constitutive documents before it is admitted 
as a client. 

In addition, the Company’s clients are availing of the auto-debit facility.  The auto-debit facility is an arrangement whereby the Participants authorize the 
Company to debit their designated cash account for the payment of fees based on invoices sent by the Company on the 5th day of the following month. 

Credit risk exposures 
The table below shows the gross maximum exposure to credit risk exposures of the Company, without considering the effects of collateral, credit 
enhancements and other credit risk mitigation techniques: 

2008 2007 
Cash and cash equivalents (excluding cash on hand) P=7,536,545 P=28,242,806 
Short-term investments 1,729,456 2,435,042 
Receivables  144,298,545 15,267,772 
Due from related parties 48,885 98,622,427 
Security deposits (shown under Other non-current assets) 828,592 828,594 
AFS investments (shown under Other non-current assets) 606,900 606,900 
Total credit risk exposure P=155,048,923 P=146,003,541 

 The credit quality of the Company’s financial assets is as follows: 

2008 
  Past due or  

Neither past due nor impaired individually  
High grade Standard grade Impaired Total 

Cash and cash equivalents (excluding cash on 
hand) P=7,526,545 P=– P=– P=7,526,545 

Short-term investments 1,729,456 – – 1,729,456 
Receivables 144,082,099 – 108,223 144,190,322 
Due from related parties 48,885 – – 48,885 
Security deposits (shown under Other 

noncurrent assets) 828,594 – – 828,594 
AFS investments (shown under Other non-

current assets) 606,900 – – 606,900 
Total P=154,822,479 P=– P=108,223 P=154,930,702 

2007 
  Past due or

 Neither past due nor impaired individually
 High grade Standard grade Impaired Total 
Cash and cash equivalents (excluding cash on 

hand) P=28,242,806 P=– P=– P=28,242,806 
Short-term investments 2,435,042 – – 2,435,042 
Receivables 14,685,897 – 581,875 15,267,772 
Due from related parties 98,622,427 – – 98,622,427 
Deposits (shown under Other noncurrent 

assets) 828,594 – – 828,594 
AFS investments (shown under Other non-

current assets) 606,900 – – 606,900 
Total P=145,421,666 P=– P=581,875 P=146,003,541 
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The credit quality of Trade receivable is managed by the Company by limiting its counterparties to top-tier corporate institutions including financial 
institutions which are regulated entities under Bangko Sentral ng Pilipinas (BSP) or Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC). 

The credit quality of the Receivable from Repo transactions is managed by the Company given that it has government securities that serve as collateral 
and are under a transfer title arrangement. 

Cash and cash equivalents and short-term investments are considered as high grade credit as these are placements and deposits with top-tier 
Philippine banks and investment in government securities issued by the Bureau of Treasury (BTr) of the Republic of the Philippines. 

Receivables are considered as high grade credit as these are receivables from corporate clients that are subject to the Company’s rules that provide 
adequate remedies to the Company’s credit exposures.  Receivables or investments in institutions that are not top-tier corporations are considered as 
standard grade. 

Due from related parties were assessed by management as high grade as these are realized within the normal terms, while AFS investments are 
investments in Philippine Long Distance Telephone Co. (PLDT) shares. 

Liquidity Risk
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Company will be unable to meet its payment obligations as they fall due.  To mitigate this risk, management prepares a 
forecast of the business cash flows for the year.  Constant monitoring and a well-defined billing and collection policy facilitate management of projected 
inflows. 

To minimize market risks that could adversely affect management of liquidity position and because the Company is not in the business of trading 
securities, it is the management’s policy to invest excess cash and cash equivalents in liquid and non-speculative financial instruments, such as term 
deposits and government securities, with tenors that match its funding schedule. 

All financial liabilities of the Company as of December 31, 2008 and 2007 are payable on demand. 

Market Risk
Market risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of financial instruments will fluctuate due to changes in market variables such as interest 
rates, foreign exchange rates and equity prices. Market risk includes interest rate risk and foreign currency risk. The Company has no significant 
concentration of market risk. 

Interest Rate Risk  
Interest rate risk arises on interest-bearing financial instruments recognized in the balance sheet.  As of December 31, 2008, the Company has 
receivables from Repo transactions which are priced based on the prevailing daily repo rate. 

 The following table sets forth the estimated change in the Company’s annualized net interest income due to change in the interest rate as of  
December 31, 2008: 

Change in interest rates 
(in basis points) 

 +50bp -50bp 
Change in annualized net interest income P=243,708 (P=243,708) 

Foreign Currency Risk 
Foreign currency risk is the risk to earnings or capital arising from changes in foreign exchange rates.  The Company is exposed to foreign currency risk 
arising from its foreign-currency denominated cash and accrued expenses. 

The risk is manageable to the extent that the fees are pre-determined both in terms of amount and flows. To manage the adverse impact of changes in 
the foreign currency rates on the fees, the Company may also enter into foreign exchange forward contracts. The Company currently has no 
outstanding foreign exchange forward contracts. 

The Company’s cash in banks and accrued expenses, which are denominated in US dollars amounted to $21,932 and $12,402, respectively, as of 
December 31, 2008 and $23,576 and $107,092, respectively, as of December 31, 2007. 

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity to a reasonably possible change in the Philippine Peso (PhP)/US dollar (USD) exchange rate, with all 
other variables held constant, of the Company’s income before income tax due to revaluation of monetary assets and liabilities. There is no impact on 
equity other than those already affecting income before income tax.  

Increase (Decrease) in 
PhP/USD exchange rate 

Effect on Income 
Before Income Tax 

2008 P=1.00          P=9,530 
(1.00) (9,530) 

2007 1.00 (83,516) 
(1.00)                         83,516 

The decrease in PhP/USD exchange rate means stronger PhP against the USD while an increase in PhP/USD rate means weaker PhP against the 
USD.

Equity Price Risk 
Equity price risk is the risk that the fair values of equities decrease as the result of changes in the levels of equity indices and the value of individual 
stocks. 

The Company’s investment in listed shares of stock showed no significant movement in 2008 and 2007.  The Company assessed that changes in the 
fair value in the next reporting period will have an immaterial effect on the Company’s equity. 
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Operating Lease Commitments - Company as Lessee
The Parent Company is a lessee under non-cancellable operating leases covering its office and parking space for a period of five years.  Monthly 
rentals are apportioned to the Company and other related parties based on the size of the area occupied.  The Company also leases cars for certain 
officers. 

The future minimum rentals payable for the Company’s above operating leases as of December 31 are as follows: 

2008 2007 
Within a year P=1,847,441 P=4,446,870 
After one year but not more than five years 415,625 2,123,446 

P=2,263,066 P=6,590,316 

 Total rentals from these operating leases amounted to P=7.14 million in 2008 and P=5.73 million in 2007, of which P=5.85 million and P=4.69 million was 
charged to Cost of services in 2008 and 2007, respectively. 

Security Deposits
 In connection with the above lease agreements, the Company paid security deposits amounting to P=0.83 million as of December 31, 2008 and 2007 

and is presented under Other non-current assets account in the balance sheet. 

Maintenance of the Integrated System 
In accordance with the Memorandum of Agreement (MOA) entered by the Company on September 2, 2004 (see Note 10), the Company is committed 
to pay $330,000 in 2007 and $320,000 annually thereafter for the maintenance of the Company’s integrated system. 

Others 
In the normal course of business, the Company makes various commitments and has certain contingent liabilities that are not given recognition in the 
accompanying financial statements.  Management believes that losses, if any, that may arise from these commitments and contingencies will not have 
any material effect on the financial statements. 

25. Commitments and Contingencies

The following are the significant commitments and contingencies involving the Company: 
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PCD NOMINEE CORPORATION
Independent Auditors’ Report

The Board of Directors 

PCD Nominee Corporation 

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of PCD Nominee Corporation, a wholly owned subsidiary of Philippine Depository & Trust 

Corp., which comprise the balance sheets as at December 31, 2008 and 2007, and the statements of income, statements of changes in equity and 

statements of cash flows for the years then ended, and a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory notes.   

Management’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements 

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in accordance with Philippine Financial 

Reporting Standards.  This responsibility includes: designing, implementing and maintaining internal control relevant to the preparation and fair 

presentation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error; selecting and applying appropriate 

accounting policies; and making accounting estimates that are reasonable in the circumstances.

Auditors’ Responsibility 

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audits.  We conducted our audits in accordance with 

Philippine Standards on Auditing.  Those standards require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain 

reasonable assurance whether the financial statements are free from material misstatement. 

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements.  The procedures 

selected depend on the auditor’s judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether 

due to fraud or error.  In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation and fair 

presentation of the financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of 

expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control.  An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting 

policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the 

financial statements. 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

Opinion 

In our opinion, the financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of PCD Nominee Corporation as of  

December 31, 2008 and 2007, and its financial performance and its cash flows for the years then ended in accordance with Philippine Financial 

Reporting Standards. 

SYCIP GORRES VELAYO & CO. 

Josephine Adrienne A. Abarca 

Partner 

CPA Certificate No. 92126 

SEC Accreditation No. 0466-A 

Tax Identification No. 163-257-145 

PTR No. 1566401, January 5, 2009, Makati City 

March 27, 2009 
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PCD NOMINEE CORPORATION
(A Wholly Owned Subsidiary of Philippine Depository & Trust Corp.)

Balance Sheets

December 31

2008 2007 

ASSETS 

Current Assets 
Cash and cash equivalents (Note 4) P=921,834 P=654,973 

Receivables (Notes 5 and 8) – 341,335 

P=921,834 P=996,308 

LIABILITIES AND EQUITY 

Current Liabilities 
Accounts payable (Note 6) P=– P=129,466 

Due to Parent Company (Note 8) 48,884 –

48,884 129,466 

Equity
Capital stock, P=100 par value 

 Authorized - 20,000 shares 

 Issued and outstanding - 5,000 shares 500,000 500,000 

Retained earnings 372,950 366,842 

872,950 866,842 

P=921,834 P=996,308 

See accompanying Notes to Financial Statements.
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PCD NOMINEE CORPORATION
(A Wholly Owned Subsidiary of Philippine Depository & Trust Corp.)

Statements of Income

Years Ended December 31

2008 2007 

INCOME 

Interest (Note 4) P=7,661 P=30,860 

PROVISION FOR INCOME TAX (Note 7) 1,553 6,172 

NET INCOME P=6,108 P=24,688 

See accompanying Notes to Financial Statements.
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PCD NOMINEE CORPORATION
(A Wholly Owned Subsidiary of Philippine Depository & Trust Corp.)

Statements of Changes in Equity

Capital 
Stock 

Retained 
Earnings 

Total 
Equity 

Balance at January 1, 2008 P=500,000 P=366,842 P=866,842 
Net income for the year – 6,108 6,108 

Balance at December 31, 2008 P=500,000 P=372,950 P=872,950 

Balance at January 1, 2007 500,000 342,154 842,154 

Net income for the year – 24,688 24,688 

Balance at December 31, 2007 P=500,000 P=366,842 P=866,842 

See accompanying Notes to Financial Statements.
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PCD NOMINEE CORPORATION
(A Wholly Owned Subsidiary of Philippine Depository & Trust Corp.)

Statement of Cash Flows

Years Ended December 31

2008 2007 

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES 
Income before income tax P=7,661 P=30,860 

Adjustment for interest income (Note 4) (7,661) (30,860)

Operating loss before working capital changes – –

 Increase (decrease) in accounts payable (129,466) 54,343 

 Increase in advances from Parent Company 48,884 –

Net cash provided by (used in) from operations (80,582) 54,343 

Income tax paid  (1,553) (6,172)

Net cash provided from operating activities (82,135) 48,171 

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Interest received 9,923 30,256 

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES
(Increase) decrease in advances to Parent Company (Note 5) 339,073 (61,429)

NET INCREASE IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 266,861 16,998 

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT BEGINNING OF YEAR 654,973 637,975  

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT END OF YEAR P=921,834 P=654,973  

See accompanying Notes to Financial Statements.
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PCD NOMINEE CORPORATION
(A Wholly Owned Subsidiary of Philippine Depository & Trust Corp.)

Notes to Financial Statements

1. Corporate Information

 The PCD Nominee Corporation (the Company), a wholly owned subsidiary of Philippine Depository & Trust Corp. (the Parent Company), is a domestic 
corporation incorporated in the Philippines on January 23, 1996.  The Company’s ultimate parent company is Philippine Dealing System Holdings Corp. 

 The Company is engaged to hold legal title to all immobilized and dematerialized securities listed and/or traded on the Philippine Stock Exchange or 
any other registered stock exchange or fixed income exchanges, and/or traded in any over-the-counter market or markets for and on behalf of the 
trading participants of the Parent Company which includes the right to receive dividends for and on behalf of the beneficial owners of the securities. 

 The Parent Company is authorized to primarily act as the depository, registry, custodian, trustee and/or intermediary of its participants of any and all 
kinds of securities, monetary or financial instruments and their derivatives; to borrow instruments for relending; to provide a system to immobilize or 
dematerialize instruments; act as quasi-bank, trust company, securities depository and clearing agency. 

 The registered office of the Company and the Parent Company, which is also their principal place of business, is located at the 37th Floor, The 
Enterprise Center, 6766 Ayala Avenue, Makati City. 

 The accompanying financial statements were authorized for issue by the Company’s Board of Directors (BOD) on March 27, 2009. 

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Basis of Preparation
The accompanying financial statements have been prepared on a historical cost basis.  The Company’s financial statements are presented in 
Philippine peso, the Company’s functional and presentation currency. 

Statement of Compliance
The financial statements of the Company have been prepared in compliance with Philippine Financial Reporting Standards (PFRS). 

Changes in Accounting Policies
The accounting policies adopted are consistent with those of the previous financial year except for the adoption of the following amendments to existing 
standards that become effective on July 1, 2008 and Philippine Interpretations which became effective on January 1, 2008: 

 Amendments to Philippine Accounting Standard (PAS) 39, Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement and PFRS 7, Financial 
Instruments: Disclosures - Reclassification of Financial Assets, introduces the possibility of reclassification of securities out of the trading 
category in rare circumstances and reclassification to the loans and receivables category if there is intent and ability to hold the securities for the 
foreseeable future or to held-to-maturity (HTM) if there is intent and ability to hold the securities until maturity.  It also allows the transfers of 
certain financial assets from available-for-sale (AFS) to loans and receivables and HTM. The amendment to PFRS 7 introduces the disclosures 
relating to these reclassifications.  This interpretation has no impact on the financial statements of the Company.

 Philippine Interpretation IFRIC-11, PFRS 2-Group and Treasury Share Transactions, requires arrangements whereby an employee is granted 
rights to an entity’s equity instruments to be accounted for as an equity-settled scheme by the entity even if (a) the entity chooses or is required to 
buy those equity instruments (e.g., treasury shares) from another party, or (b) the shareholders of the entity provide the equity instruments 
needed.  It also provides guidance on how subsidiaries, in their separate financial statements, account for such schemes when their employees 
receive rights to the equity instruments of the parent.  The Company currently does not have any stock option plan and therefore, the adoption of 
this has no impact on the financial statements.

 Philippine Interpretation IFRIC-12, Service Concession Arrangements, covers contractual arrangements arising from private entities providing 
public services.  This interpretation is not relevant to the Company. 

 Philippine Interpretation IFRIC-14, The Limit on a Defined Benefit Asset, Minimum Funding Requirement and their Interaction, provides guidance 
on how to assess the limit on the amount of surplus in a defined benefit scheme that can be recognized as an asset under PAS 19, Employee 
Benefits.  This interpretation has no impact on the financial statements of the Company. 

 Cash and Cash Equivalents
 For purposes of reporting cash flows, cash and cash equivalents include cash and other cash items with original maturities of three months or less from 

dates of placements and are subject to insignificant risk of changes in value. 

Financial instruments
Date of recognition 
The Company recognizes a financial asset or a financial liability in the balance sheet when it becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the 
instrument. In the case of a regular way purchase or sale of financial assets, recognition and derecognition, as applicable, is done using trade date 
accounting. 

Initial recognition of financial instruments 
Financial instruments are recognized initially at fair value, which is the fair value of the consideration given (in case of an asset) or received (in case of 
a liability).  The initial measurement of financial instruments, except for those designated at fair value through profit and loss (FVPL), includes 
transaction cost. 

Subsequent to initial recognition, the Company classifies its financial instruments in the following categories: financial assets and financial liabilities at 
FVPL, loans and receivables, HTM investments, AFS financial assets and other financial liabilities.  The classification depends on the purpose for 
which the instruments are acquired and whether they are quoted in an active market.  Management determines the classification at initial recognition 
and, where allowed and appropriate, re-evaluates this classification at every reporting date. 

As of December 31, 2008 and 2007, the Company has no financial assets and financial liabilities at FVPL, HTM investments and AFS investments. 

Loans and receivables 
Loans and receivables are nonderivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an active market.  After initial 
measurement, loans and receivables are carried at amortized cost using the effective interest rate method, less any allowance for impairment.  Gains 
and losses are recognized in the Company’s income statement when the loans and receivables are derecognized or impaired, as well as through the 
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amortization process.  Loans and receivables are classified as current assets when the Company expects to realize or collect the asset within twelve 
months from balance sheet date.  Otherwise, these are classified as noncurrent assets. 

Classified under this category are the Company’s cash and cash equivalents and receivables. 

Other financial liabilities 
This category pertains to financial liabilities that are not held for trading or not designated as at FVPL at the inception of the liability.  These include 
liabilities arising from operations or borrowings. 

The financial liabilities are recognized initially at fair value and are subsequently carried at amortized cost, taking into account the impact of applying the 
effective interest rate method of amortization (or accretion) for any related premium, discount and any directly attributable transaction costs. 

This category includes accounts payable. 

Derecognition of Financial Assets and Liabilities
Financial asset 
A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a financial asset or part of a group of financial assets) is derecognized when: 

1. the rights to receive cash flows from the asset have expired; or 
2. the Company retains the right to receive cash flows from the asset, but has assumed an obligation to pay them in full without material delay to a 

third party under a “pass-through” arrangement; or 
3. the Company has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from the asset and either (a) has transferred substantially all the risks and rewards 

of the asset, or (b) has neither transferred nor retained the risk and rewards of the asset but has transferred control over the asset.  

 Where the Company has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from an asset or has entered into a pass-through arrangement, and has neither 
transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset nor transferred control over the asset, the asset is recognized to the extent 
of the Company’s continuing involvement in the asset.  Continuing involvement that takes the form of a guarantee over the transferred asset is 
measured at the lower of original carrying amount of the asset and the maximum amount of consideration that the Company could be required to repay. 

 Financial liability 
 A financial liability is derecognized when the obligation under the liability is discharged, cancelled or has expired.  Where an existing financial liability is 

replaced by another from the same lender on substantially different terms, or the terms of an existing liability are substantially modified, such an 
exchange or modification is treated as a derecognition of the original liability and the recognition of a new liability, and the difference in the respective 
carrying amounts is recognized in the statement of income. 

 Impairment of Financial Assets 
 The Company assesses at each balance sheet date whether there is objective evidence that a financial asset or group of financial assets is impaired.  

A financial asset or a group of financial assets is deemed to be impaired if, and only if, there is objective evidence of impairment as a result of one or 
more events that has occurred after the initial recognition of the asset (an incurred ‘loss event’) and that loss event (or events) has an impact on the 
estimated future cash flows of the financial asset or the group of financial assets that can be reliably estimated.  Evidence of impairment may include 
indications that the customer or a group of customers is experiencing significant financial difficulty, default or delinquency in interest or principal 
payments, the probability that they will enter bankruptcy or other financial reorganization and where observable data indicate that there is measurable 
decrease in the estimated future cash flows, such as changes in arrears or economic conditions that correlate with defaults. 

Loans and receivables 
If there is objective evidence that an impairment loss has been incurred, the amount of the loss is measured as the difference between the asset’s 
carrying amount and the present value of the estimated future cash flows (excluding future credit losses that have not been incurred).  The carrying 
amount of the asset is reduced through use of an allowance account and the amount of loss is charged to the statement of income. Interest income 
continues to be recognized based on the original effective interest rate of the asset.  Receivables, together with the associated allowance accounts, are 
written off when there is no realistic prospect of future recovery and all collateral has been realized.  If subsequently, the amount of the estimated 
impairment loss decreases because of an event occurring after the impairment was recognized, the previously recognized impairment loss is reduced 
by adjusting the allowance account.  If a future write-off is later recovered, any amounts formerly charged are credited to the ‘Provision for impairment 
losses’ in the statement of income. 

Offsetting Financial Instruments
Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount reported in the balance sheet if, and only if, there is a currently enforceable legal 
right to offset the recognized amounts and there is an intention to settle on a net basis, or to realize the asset and settle the liability simultaneously.  
This is not generally the case with master netting agreements, and the related assets and liabilities are presented gross in the balance sheet. 

 Revenue Recognition
Revenue is recognized to the extent that it is probable that the economic benefits will flow to the Company and the revenue can be reliably measured. 

Interest  
Interest income is recognized on a time proportion basis computed on the outstanding principal balance using the applicable effective interest rate.  

 Income Taxes
Current tax 
Current tax assets and liabilities for the current and prior periods are measured at the amount expected to be recovered from or paid to the taxation 
authorities.  The tax rates and tax laws used to compute the amount are those that are enacted or substantively enacted as of the balance sheet date. 

Deferred tax 
Deferred tax is provided, using the balance sheet liability method, on temporary differences at the balance sheet date between the tax bases of assets 
and liabilities and their carrying amounts for financial reporting purposes.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognized for all taxable temporary differences, including asset revaluations.  Deferred tax assets are recognized for all 
deductible temporary differences, carryforward of unused tax credits from the excess of minimum corporate income tax (MCIT) over the regular 
corporate income tax (RCIT), and unused net operating loss carryover (NOLCO), to the extent that it is probable that sufficient taxable income will be 
available against which the deductible temporary differences and carry forward of unused tax credits from MCIT and unused NOLCO can be utilized. 
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The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at each balance sheet date and reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient 
taxable income will be available to allow all or part of the deferred tax asset to be utilized.  Unrecognized deferred tax assets are reassessed at each 
balance sheet date and are recognized to the extent that it has become probable that future taxable income will allow the deferred tax asset to be 
recovered. 

 Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply to the year when the asset is realized or the liability is 
settled, based on tax rates and tax laws that have been enacted or substantively enacted at the balance sheet date. 

 Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset, if a legally enforceable right exists to offset current tax assets against current tax liabilities and the deferred 
taxes relate to the same taxable entity and the same taxation authority. 

Provisions and Contingencies
Provisions 
Provisions are recognized when an obligation (legal or constructive) is incurred as a result of a past event and where it is probable that an outflow of 
assets embodying economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation. 

 Contingencies 
Contingent liabilities are not recognized but are disclosed in the financial statements unless the possibility of an outflow of resources embodying 
economic benefits is remote.  Contingent assets are not recognized but are disclosed in the financial statements when an inflow of economic benefits is 
probable. 

Subsequent Events
 Any post year-end events that provide additional information about the Company’s position at balance sheet date (adjusting event) are reflected in the 

financial statements.  Post year-end events that are not adjusting events, if any, are disclosed when material to the financial statements. 

Future Changes in Accounting Policies
The Company will adopt the following relevant standards and interpretations enumerated below when these become effective.  Except as otherwise 
indicated, the Company does not expect the adoption of these new and amended PFRS and Philippine Interpretations to have significant impact on its 
financial statements.  

Effective in 2009 
Amendment to PAS 1, Amendment on Statement of Comprehensive Income (effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2009) 
In accordance with the amendment to PAS 1, the statements of changes in equity shall include only transactions with owners, while all non-owner 
changes will be presented in equity as a single line with details included in a separate statement.  Owners are defined as holders of instruments 
classified as equity. 

In addition, the amendment to PAS 1 provides for the introduction of a new statement of comprehensive income that combines all items of income and 
expenses recognized in the statements of income together with ‘other comprehensive income’.  The revision specify what is included in other 
comprehensive income, such as gains and losses on AFS financial assets, actuarial gains and losses on defined benefit pension plans and changes in 
the asset revaluation reserve.  Entities can choose to present all items in one statement, or to present two linked statements, a separate statement of 
income and a statement of comprehensive income 

PAS 23, Borrowing Costs (Revised) (effective for annual periods beginning on or after  January 1, 2009) 
The Standard has been revised to require capitalization of borrowing costs when such costs relate to a qualifying asset.  A qualifying asset is an asset 
that necessarily takes a substantial period of time to get ready for its intended use or sale.  In accordance with the transitional requirements in the 
Standard, this change in accounting for borrowing costs shall be accounted for prospectively.  

Amendments to PAS 32, Financial Instruments: Presentation and PAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements – Puttable Financial Instruments and 
Obligations Arising on Liquidation (effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2009) 
The Standards have been amended to allow a limited scope exception for puttable financial instruments to be classified as equity if they fulfill a number 
of specified criteria.   

Effective in 2010 
Philippine Interpretation IFRIC 17, Distribution of Non-cash Assets to Owners
This Interpretation covers accounting for two types of non-reciprocal distributions of assets by an entity to its owners acting in their capacity as owners.  
The two types of distribution are: 
a. distributions of non-cash assets (eg items of property, plant and equipment, businesses as defined in PFRS 3, ownership interests in another 

entity or disposal groups as defined in PFRS 5); and 
b. distributions that give owners a choice of receiving either non-cash assets or a cash alternative. 

This Interpretation addresses only the accounting by an entity that makes a non-cash asset distribution.  It does not address the accounting by 
shareholders who receive such a distribution 

Philippine Interpretation IFRIC 18, Transfers of Assets from Customers
This Interpretation covers accounting for transfers of items of property, plant and equipment by entities that receive such transfers from their customers.  
Agreements within the scope of this Interpretation are agreements in which an entity receives from a customer an item of property, plant and equipment 
that the entity must then use either to connect the customer to a network or to provide the customer with ongoing access to a supply of goods or 
services, or to do both.  This Interpretation also applies to agreements in which an entity receives cash from a customer when that amount of cash must 
be used only to construct or acquire an item of property, plant and equipment and the entity must then use the item of property, plant and equipment 
either to connect the customer to a network or to provide the customer with ongoing access to a supply of goods or services, or to do both. 

Improvements to PFRSs
In May 2008, the International Accounting Standards Board issued its first omnibus of amendments to certain standards, primarily with a view of 
removing inconsistencies and clarifying wordings.  The Company has not yet adopted the following relevant amendments and anticipates that these 
changes will have no material effect in the financial statements. 

PFRS 7, Financial Instruments: Disclosures
 Removal of the reference to ‘total interest income’ as a component of finance costs. 

PAS 1, Presentation of Financial Statements
 Assets and liabilities classified as held for trading are not automatically classified as current in the balance sheet.  
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PAS 10, Events after the Reporting Period
 Clarification that dividends declared after the end of the reporting period are not obligations. 

PAS 18, Revenue
 Replacement of the term ‘direct costs’ with ‘transaction costs’ as defined in PAS 39. 

PAS 19, Employee Benefits
 Revises the definition of ‘past service costs’ to include reductions in benefits related to past services (‘negative past service costs’) and to 

exclude reductions in benefits related to future services that arise from plan amendments.  Amendments to plans that result in a reduction in 
benefits related to future services are accounted for as curtailment. 

 Revises the definition of ‘return on plan assets’ to exclude plan administration costs if they have already been included in the actuarial 
assumptions used to measure the defined benefit obligation. 

 Revises the definition of ‘short-term’ and ‘other long-term’ employee benefits to focus on the point in time at which the liability is due to be settled. 
 Deletes the reference to the recognition of contingent liabilities to ensure consistency with PAS 37, Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and 

Contingent Assets.

PAS 36, Impairment of Assets
 When discounted cash flows are used to estimate ‘fair value less cost to sell’ additional disclosure is required about the discount rate, consistent 

with disclosures required when the discounted cash flows are used to estimate ‘value in use’. 

PAS 39, Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement
 Changes in circumstances relating to derivatives - specifically derivatives designated or de-designated as hedging instruments after initial 

recognition - are not reclassifications. 
 When financial assets are reclassified as a result of an insurance company changing its accounting policy in accordance with paragraph 45 of 

PFRS 4, Insurance Contracts, this is a change in circumstance, not a reclassification. 
 Removes the reference to a ‘segment’ when determining whether an instrument qualifies as a hedge. 
 Requires use of the revised effective interest rate (rather than the original effective interest rate) when re-measuring a debt instrument on the 

cessation of fair value hedge accounting. 

3. Significant Accounting Judgments and Estimates

The preparation of the financial statements in accordance with PFRS requires the Company to make judgments and estimates that affect the reported 
amounts of assets, liabilities, income and expenses and disclosure of contingent assets and contingent liabilities.  Future events may occur which will 
cause the assumptions used in arriving at the estimates to change.  The effects of any change in estimates are reflected in the financial statements as 
they become reasonably determinable. 

Judgments and estimates are continually evaluated and are based on historical experience and other factors, including expectations of future events 
that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances. 

The following are the critical judgments and estimates that have a significant risk of material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities 
within the next financial year: 

(a) Impairment of financial assets 
 The Company assesses at each balance sheet date whether there is objective evidence that a financial asset may be impaired.  If such evidence 

exists, any impairment loss is recognized in the statement of income. 

 As of December 31, 2008 and 2007, receivables amounted to nil and P=0.34 million,  respectively (see Note 5).  No allowance for impairment 
losses has been recognized. 

(b) Recognition of deferred tax assets 
 Deferred tax assets are recognized for all unused tax losses to the extent that it is probable that taxable income will be available against which 

the losses can be utilized.  Significant management judgment is required to determine the amount of deferred tax assets that can be recognized, 
based upon the likely timing and level of future taxable profits together with future tax planning strategies. 

 As of December 31, 2008 and 2007, the Company has no deferred tax assets recognized (see Note 7).

4. Cash and Cash Equivalents 

 This account consists of: 

2008 2007 
Cash in banks P=921,834 P=51,775 
Short-term placements – 603,198 

P=921,834 P=654,973 

 Cash in banks consist of savings deposits.  Short-term placements are denominated in Philippine pesos and earn annual effective interest rates 
ranging from 2.50% to 4.75%. Interest income earned from cash and cash equivalents amounted to P=7,661 and P=30,860 in 2008 and 2007, 
respectively.  

5. Receivables

 As of December 31, 2007, this account consists of: 

2007 
Advances to parent company  (Note 8) P=339,073 
Interest receivable 2,262 

P=341,335 
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6. Accounts Payable

 This account arises from the use of fund for the payment of professional fees chargeable to the Parent Company and other expenses such as taxes 
and licenses and insurance. 

7. Income Taxes

 Income taxes include final taxes paid at the rate of 20% on gross interest income from cash deposits and short-term placements.

 Republic Act No. 9337, An Act Amending National Internal Revenue Code, provides that RCIT rate shall be 35% until December 31, 2008. Starting 
January 1, 2009, the RCIT rate shall be 30.00%. 

 The regulations also impose the MCIT of 2.00% on modified gross income and allow a NOLCO.  The NOLCO and the excess of the MCIT over the 
RCIT may be applied against taxable income and the income tax liability, respectively, over a three year period from the year of inception. 

 A reconciliation of the statutory income tax to the effective income tax follows: 

2008 2007 
Statutory income tax P=2,681 P=10,801 
Tax effects of: 
 Income subjected to final tax (1,128) (4,629)
Effective income tax P=1,553 P=6,172 

8. Related Party Transactions 

 In the ordinary course of business, the Company transacts with its Parent Company for reimbursements of expenses and of fees paid to transfer agents 
for securities cancellations. Due from (to) the Parent Company as of December 31, 2008 and 2007 amounted to  (P=48,884) and P=339,073, respectively. 

9. Financial Instruments and Fair Value Measurement 

 The carrying amounts of the Company’s financial assets and liabilities approximate their fair values due to the short-term nature of these financial 
instruments. 

10. Financial Risk Management Policies and Objectives 

Financial Risk
The main risks arising from the Company’s financial instruments are credit risk and liquidity risk.  The Company is not exposed to foreign exchange risk 
as it does not have foreign currency denominated financial assets and liabilities.  Its exposure to interest rate risk is also minimal as it does not have 
interest bearing liabilities.  Its interest rate exposure is limited to its interest bearing cash deposits and short-term placements. 

The Company’s risk management is coordinated with its Parent Company, in close cooperation with the BOD, and focuses on actively securing the 
Company’s short to medium-term cash flows by minimizing the exposure to financial markets.  The Company does not actively engage in trading of 
financial assets for speculative purposes nor does it write options. 

Credit Risk
Credit risk exposures 
The table below shows the Company’s gross maximum exposure to credit risk. 

2008 2007 
Cash and cash equivalents  P=921,834 P=654,973 
Receivables – 341,335 

P=921,834 P=996,308 

Cash and cash equivalents are considered low risk exposures as these are deposited or placed with reputable banks in the Philippines.  The 
receivables are also assessed as low risk as these pertain to accrued interest receivable from short-term placements and advances to the Parent 
Company. 

Liquidity Risk
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Company will be unable to meet its payment obligations as they fall due.  To mitigate this risk, management prepares 
forecast of the business cash flows for the year.  Constant monitoring and a well defined billing and collection policy facilitate management of projected 
inflows. 

To minimize market risks that could adversely affect management liquidity position, and because the Company is not in the business of trading 
securities, it is management’s policy to invest excess cash and cash equivalents in liquid and non-speculative financial instruments, such as term 
deposits and government securities, with tenors that match its funding schedule. 

Accounts payable of the Company as of December 31, 2008 and 2007 are payable on demand. 

Capital Management
The Company manages its capital structure and makes adjustments to it, in light of changes in economic conditions.  To maintain or adjust the capital 
structure, the Company may obtain additional advances from its stockholder, return capital to shareholder or issue new shares.  No changes were 
made in the objectives, policies or processes during the years ended December 31, 2008 and 2007. 

As of December 31, 2008 and 2007, the Company’s capital is composed of common shares, amounting to P=500,000. 
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11. Securities Held in Trust and Other Off-Balance Sheet Items 

 The following is the summary of off-balance sheet items:  
2008 2007 

Cash P=4,377,855 P=23,224,879 
Due to trading participants 756,883 20,135,462 
Accounts payable - Interest income (net of final tax) 2,931,369 2,491,877 
Accounts payable - Certificate handling fees 397,788 460,698 
Accounts payable - Others 291,815 136,842 

Asset
Cash arise from cash dividends received from the issuer of stock to be distributed to Trading Participants, value of stock rights, and advance payments 
for conversion of shares to certificates. 

Liabilities
Due to trading participants represents cash dividends for distribution to Trading Participants. 

Accounts payable - Interest income (net of final tax) represents interest after expenses arising from bank accounts maintained on behalf of the Trading 
Participants. 

Accounts payable - Certificate handling fees represents amount due to transfer agents for the issuance and cancellation of stock certificates. 

Accounts payable - Others represents cash dividends on fractional shares. 

Securities Held in Trust on Behalf of Trading Participants and/or Beneficial Owners
As of December 31, 2008 and 2007, the market value of securities transferred to and held on behalf of Trading Participants and/or beneficial owners by 
the Company amounted to P=0.73 trillion and P=1.44 trillion, respectively.  

12. Commitments and Contingencies 

 In the normal course of business, the Company makes various commitments and has certain contingent liabilities that are not given recognition in the 
accompanying financial statements. Management believes that losses, if any, that may arise from these commitments and contingencies will not have 
any material effect on the financial statements. 
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PHILIPPINE SECURITIES SETTLEMENT CORP.
Independent Auditors’ Report

The Board of Directors 

Philippine Securities Settlement Corp. 

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of Philippine Securities Settlement Corp., a wholly owned subsidiary of Philippine Dealing 

System Holdings Corp., which comprise the balance sheets as at December 31, 2008 and 2007, and the statements of income, statements of 

changes in equity and statements of cash flows for the years then ended, and a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory 

notes.   

Management’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements 

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in accordance with Philippine Financial 

Reporting Standards.  This responsibility includes: designing, implementing and maintaining internal control relevant to the preparation and fair 

presentation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error; selecting and applying appropriate 

accounting policies; and making accounting estimates that are reasonable in the circumstances.

Auditors’ Responsibility 

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit.  We conducted our audit in accordance with 

Philippine Standards on Auditing.  Those standards require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain 

reasonable assurance whether the financial statements are free from material misstatement.  

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements.  The procedures 

selected depend on the auditor’s judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether 

due to fraud or error.  In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation and fair 

presentation of the financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of 

expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control.  An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting 

policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the 

financial statements. 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

Opinion 

In our opinion, the financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of Philippine Securities Settlement Corp. as of 

December 31, 2008 and 2007, and its financial performance and its cash flows for the years then ended in accordance with Philippine Financial 

Reporting Standards. 

SYCIP GORRES VELAYO & CO. 

Josephine Adrienne A. Abarca 

Partner 

CPA Certificate No. 92126 

SEC Accreditation No. 0466-A 

Tax Identification No. 163-257-145 

PTR No. 1566401, January 5, 2009, Makati City 

March 27, 2009 
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PHILIPPINE SECURITIES SETTLEMENT CORP.
(A Wholly Owned Subsidiary of Philippine Dealing System Holdings Corp.)

Balance Sheets

December 31 

2008 2007 

ASSETS 

Current Assets 
Cash on hand and in banks (Note 4) P=1,120,461 P=5,785,424 

Trade and other receivables (Note 5) 4,935,960 5,189,835 

Due from a related party (Note 17) – 55,801 

Other current assets (Note 6) 4,927,398 4,974,977  

  Total Current Assets 10,983,819 16,006,037 

Non-current Assets 
Property and equipment - net (Note 7) 6,212,585 4,714,743 

Software development costs  - net (Note 8) 2,967,346 3,373,301  

Deferred tax assets (Note 16) 2,300,735 2,742,011 

Other non-current assets (Note 20) 859,503 681,116  

  Total Non-current Assets 12,340,169 11,511,171 

P=23,323,988 P=27,517,208 

LIABILITIES AND EQUITY 

Current Liabilities 
Accrued expenses and other payables (Note 9)  P=5,660,690 P=6,067,373  

Due to related parties (Note 17) 3,294,902 8,937,017  

Deferred income 99,792 –

  Total Current Liabilities 9,055,384 15,004,390 

Non-current Liability 
Retirement benefit obligation (Note 15) 5,365,941 4,201,280 

14,421,325 19,205,670 

EQUITY
Common stock  (Note 10) 3,125,000 3,125,000 

Retained earnings  5,777,663 5,186,538 

  Total Equity 8,902,663 8,311,538 

P=23,323,988 P=27,517,208 

See accompanying Notes to Financial Statements.
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PHILIPPINE SECURITIES SETTLEMENT CORP.
(A Wholly Owned Subsidiary of Philippine Dealing System Holdings Corp.)

Statements of Income

Years Ended December 31

2008 2007 

SERVICE INCOME (Note 11) P=56,294,734 P=52,373,148 

OTHER INCOME (Note 12) 58,015 102,992 

56,352,749 52,476,140 

COSTS AND OPERATING EXPENSES 

Cost of services (Note 13) 48,627,312 43,125,890 

Professional fees 1,971,711 750,226 

Rent (Note 20) 805,348 602,145 

Salaries and employee benefits (Notes 14 and 17) 707,493 581,552 

Utilities 677,838 688,505 

Taxes and licenses 543,348 753,549 

Transportation 304,336 62,849 

Outside services 279,947 158,752 

Depreciation and amortization (Notes 7 and 8) 193,890 229,507 

Insurance 128,297 149,385 

Other operating expenses 919,809 527,430 

55,159,329 47,629,790 

INCOME BEFORE INCOME TAX 1,193,420 4,846,350 

PROVISION FOR INCOME TAX (Note 16) 602,295 1,806,264 

NET INCOME P=591,125 P=3,040,086 

See accompanying Notes to Financial Statements.
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PHILIPPINE SECURITIES SETTLEMENT CORP.
(A Wholly Owned Subsidiary of Philippine Dealing System Holdings Corp.)

Statements of Changes in Equity

Common Stock 
(Note 10)

Retained 
Earnings 

Total 
Equity 

Balance at January 1, 2008 P=3,125,000 P=5,186,538 P=8,311,538 
Net income for the year – 591,125 591,125 

Balance at December 31, 2008 P=3,125,000  P=5,777,663 P=8,902,663 

Balance at January 1, 2007 P=3,125,000 P=2,146,452 P=5,271,452 

Net income for the year – 3,040,086 3,040,086 

Balance at December 31, 2007 P=3,125,000 P=5,186,538 P=8,311,538 

See accompanying Notes to Financial Statements.
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PHILIPPINE SECURITIES SETTLEMENT CORP.
(A Wholly Owned Subsidiary of Philippine Dealing System Holdings Corp.)

Statements of Cash Flows

Years Ended December 31

2008 2007 

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Income before income tax P=1,193,420 P=4,846,350 

Adjustments for: 

 Depreciation and amortization (Notes 7 and 8) 4,406,596 5,274,893 

 Interest income (Note 12) (6,255) (26,019)

Operating income before working capital changes  5,593,761 10,095,224 

 Changes in operating assets and liabilities: 

  Decrease (increase) in: 

  Trade and other receivables  253,875 (730,605)

  Due from a related party  55,801 (55,801) 

  Other current assets  47,579 (1,672,604) 

  Other non-current assets (178,387) (62,892)

  Increase (decrease) in: 

  Accrued expenses and other payables  (406,683) (517,940)

  Due to related parties  (5,642,115) (1,362,383)

  Deferred income 99,792 –

  Retirement benefit obligation  1,164,661 672,089 

Cash generated from operations 988,284 6,365,088 

Cash paid for income taxes (161,019) (2,612)

Net cash provided by operating activities 827,265 6,362,476 

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Acquisitions of property and equipment (Note 7) (5,308,483) (723,103)

Additions to software development costs (Note 8) (190,000) (190,000)

Interest received 6,255 26,019 

Net cash used in investing activities (5,492,228) (887,084)

NET INCREASE (DECREASE) IN CASH ON HAND AND IN BANKS (4,664,963) 5,475,392 

CASH ON HAND AND IN BANKS AT BEGINNING OF YEAR 5,785,424 310,032 

CASH ON HAND AND IN BANKS AT END OF YEAR P=1,120,461 P=5,785,424 

See accompanying Notes to Financial Statements.
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PHILIPPINE SECURITIES SETTLEMENT CORP.
(A Wholly Owned Subsidiary of Philippine Dealing System Holdings Corp.)

Notes to Financial Statements

1. Corporate Information

Philippine Securities Settlement Corp. (the Company), a wholly owned subsidiary of Philippine Dealing System Holdings Corp. (the Parent Company), 
is a domestic corporation incorporated in the Philippines on February 18, 2004.  The Company started commercial operations on  
January 1, 2005. 

The Company operates as a central clearing and settlement institution that provides and performs clearance, settlement and related services for trades 
and other transactions in or involving securities, monetary or financial instruments and their derivatives, whether certificated or scripless, immobilized or 
dematerialized, including but not limited to those traded in or through any existing duly licensed and/or organized exchanges or markets and other 
similar exchanges or market; and in pursuance of the foregoing purposes, develops, manages, and executes rules, principles, standards, technologies, 
systems and market conventions according to global best practices and regulates its participants through its power to impose fees and penalties. 

The registered office of the Company, which is also its principal place of business, is located at 37th Floor, The Enterprise Center, 6766 Ayala Avenue, 
Makati City. 

The accompanying financial statements were authorized for issue by the Company’s Board of Directors (BOD) on March 27, 2009. 

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Basis of Preparation
The accompanying financial statements have been prepared on a historical cost basis.  The Company’s financial statements are presented in 
Philippine pesos, the Company’s functional and presentation currency. 

Statement of Compliance
The financial statements of the Company have been prepared in compliance with Philippine Financial Reporting Standards (PFRS). 

Changes in Accounting Policies
The accounting policies adopted are consistent with those of the previous financial year except for the adoption of the following amendments to existing 
standards that became effective on July 1, 2008 and Philippine Interpretations which became effective on January 1, 2008: 

 Amendments to Philippine Accounting Standard (PAS) 39, Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement and PFRS 7, Financial 
Instruments: Disclosure - Reclassification of Financial Assets, introduces the possibility of reclassification of securities out of the trading category 
in rare circumstances and reclassification to the loans and receivables category if there is intent and ability to hold the securities for the 
foreseeable future or to held-to-maturity (HTM) if there is intent and ability to hold the securities until maturity. It also allows the transfers of 
certain financial assets from available-for-sale to loans and receivables and HTM. The amendment to PFRS 7 introduces the disclosures relating 
to these reclassifications. 

 Philippine Interpretation IFRIC-11, PFRS 2-Group and Treasury Share Transactions, requires arrangements whereby an employee is granted 
rights to an entity’s equity instruments to be accounted for as an equity-settled scheme by the entity even if (a) the entity chooses or is required to 
buy those equity instruments (e.g., treasury shares) from another party; or (b) the shareholders of the entity provide the equity instruments 
needed.  It also provides guidance on how subsidiaries, in their separate financial statements, account for such schemes when their employees 
receive rights to the equity instruments of the parent.  The Company currently does not have any stock option plan and therefore, the adoption of 
this interpretation has no impact on the financial statements.

 Philippine Interpretation IFRIC-12, Service Concession Arrangements, covers contractual arrangements arising from private entities providing 
public services.  This interpretation has no impact on the financial statements of the Company. 

 Philippine Interpretation IFRIC-14, The Limit on a Defined Benefit Asset, Minimum Funding Requirement and their Interaction, provides guidance 
on how to assess the limit on the amount of surplus in a defined benefit scheme that can be recognized as an asset under PAS 19, Employee 
Benefits.  This interpretation has no significant impact on the financial statements of the Company. 

Cash on Hand and in Banks
For purposes of reporting cash flows, cash includes cash on hand and in banks. 

Financial Instruments 
Date of recognition
The Company recognizes a financial asset or a financial liability in the balance sheet when it becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the 
instrument. In the case of a regular way purchase or sale of financial assets, recognition and derecognition, as applicable, is done using trade date 
accounting.  

Initial recognition of financial instruments
Financial instruments are recognized initially at fair value, which is the fair value of the consideration given (in case of an asset) or received (in case of 
a liability).  The initial measurement of financial instruments, except for those designated at fair value through profit and loss (FVPL), includes 
transaction cost. 

Subsequent to initial recognition, the Company classifies its financial instruments in the following categories: financial assets and financial liabilities at 
FVPL, loans and receivables, HTM investments, AFS investments and other financial liabilities.  The classification depends on the purpose for which 
the instruments are acquired and whether they are quoted in an active market.  Management determines the classification at initial recognition and, 
where allowed and appropriate, re-evaluates this classification at every reporting date. 

As of December 31, 2008 and 2007, the Company does not have financial assets and financial liabilities at FVPL, HTM investments and AFS 
investments. 

Loans and receivables 
Loans and receivables are nonderivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an active market.  After initial 
measurement, loans and receivables are carried at amortized cost using the effective interest method, less any allowance for impairment.  Gains and 
losses are recognized in the Company’s statement of income when the loans and receivables are derecognized or impaired, as well as through the 
amortization process.  Loans and receivables are classified as current assets when the Company expects to realize or collect the asset within twelve 
months from balance sheet date.  Otherwise, these are classified as non-current asset. 
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Classified under this category are the Company’s Cash and cash equivalents, Trade and other receivables and Due from a related party.

Other financial liabilities 
This category pertains to financial liabilities that are not held for trading or not designated as at FVPL at the inception of the liability.  These include 
liabilities arising from operations or borrowings. 

The financial liabilities are recognized initially at fair value and are subsequently carried at amortized cost, taking into account the impact of applying the 
effective interest method of amortization (or accretion) for any related premium, discount and any directly attributable transaction costs. 

This category includes Accrued expenses and other payables and Due to related parties.

Determination of fair value 
The fair value for financial instruments traded in active markets at the balance sheet date is based on their quoted market prices or dealer price 
quotations (bid price for long positions and ask price for short positions), without any deduction for transactions costs.  When current bid and asking 
prices are not available, the price of the most recent transaction is used since it provides evidence of the current fair value as long as there has not 
been a significant change in economic circumstances since the time of the transaction. 

For all other financial instruments not listed in an active market, the fair value is determined by using appropriate valuation techniques.  Valuation 
techniques include net present value techniques, comparison to similar instruments to which market observable prices exist, and other relevant 
valuation models. 

‘Day 1’ profit 
Where the transaction price in a non-active market is different from the fair value from other observable current market transactions in the same 
instrument or based on a valuation technique whose variables include only data from an observable market, the Company recognizes the difference 
between the transaction price and the fair value (a ‘Day 1’ profit) in the statement of income unless it qualifies for recognition as some other type of 
asset.  In cases where use is made of data which is not observable, the difference between the transaction price and the model value is only 
recognized in the statement of income when the inputs become observable or when the instrument is derecognized.  For each transaction, the 
Company determines the appropriate method of recognizing the ‘Day 1’ profit amount. 

Embedded derivative  
An embedded derivative is separated from the host contract and accounted for as a derivative if all of the following conditions are met: a) the economic 
characteristics and risks of the embedded derivative are not closely related to the economic characteristics and risks of the host contract; b) a separate 
instrument with the same terms as the embedded derivative would meet the definition of a derivative; and c) the hybrid or combined instrument is not 
recognized at FVPL. Reassessment only occurs if there is a change in the terms of the contract that significantly modifies the cash flows that would 
otherwise be required. 

Derecognition of Financial Assets and Liabilities
Financial asset 
A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a financial asset or part of a group of financial assets) is derecognized when: 

1. the rights to receive cash flows from the asset have expired; or 
2. the Company retains the right to receive cash flows from the asset, but has assumed an obligation to pay them in full without material delay to a 

third party under a “pass-through” arrangement; or 
3. the Company has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from the asset and either 

(a) has transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, or (b) has neither transferred nor retained the risk and rewards of the asset 
but has transferred the control of the asset.  

Where the Company has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from an asset or has entered into a pass-through arrangement, and has neither 
transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset nor transferred control of the asset, the asset is recognized to the extent of 
the Company’s continuing involvement in the asset.  Continuing involvement that takes the form of a guarantee over the transferred asset is measured 
at the lower of original carrying amount of the asset and the maximum amount of consideration that the Company could be required to repay. 

Financial liability 
A financial liability is derecognized when the obligation under the liability is discharged or cancelled or has expired.  Where an existing financial liability 
is replaced by another from the same lender on substantially different terms, or the terms of an existing liability are substantially modified, such an 
exchange or modification is treated as a derecognition of the original liability and the recognition of a new liability, and the difference in the respective 
carrying amounts is recognized in the statement of income. 

Impairment of Financial Assets 
The Company assesses at each balance sheet date whether there is objective evidence that a financial asset or group of financial assets is impaired. A 
financial asset or a group of financial assets is deemed to be impaired if, and only if, there is objective evidence of impairment as a result of one or 
more events that has occurred after the initial recognition of the asset (an incurred ‘loss event’) and that loss event (or events) has an impact on the 
estimated future cash flows of the financial asset or the group of financial assets that can be reliably estimated.  Evidence of impairment may include 
indications that a customer or a group of customers is experiencing significant financial difficulty, default or delinquency in interest or principal 
payments, the probability that they will enter bankruptcy or other financial reorganization and where observable data indicate that there is measurable 
decrease in the estimated future cash flows, such as changes in arrears or economic conditions that correlate with defaults. 

In relation to Trade and other receivables, the carrying amount of the asset is reduced through the use of an allowance account and the amount of the 
loss is recognized in the income statement.  Interest income continues to be accrued on the reduced carrying amount based on the original effective 
interest rate of the receivablet.  Receivable together with the associated allowance are written off when there is no realistic prospect of future recovery 
and all collateral, if any, has been realized or has been transferred to the Company.  If in a subsequent year, the amount of the estimated impairment 
loss increases or decreases because of an event occurring after the impairment was recognized, the previously recognized impairment loss is 
increased or reduced by adjusting the allowance account.  If a future write-off is later recovered, the recovery is recognized in the income statement.  
Any subsequent reversal of an impairment loss is recognized in the income statement, to the extent that the carrying value of the asset does not 
exceed its amortized cost at the reversal date.  

Offsetting Financial Instruments
Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount reported in the balance sheet if, and only if, there is a currently enforceable legal 
right to offset the recognized amounts and there is an intention to settle on a net basis, or to realize the asset and settle the liability simultaneously.  
This is not generally the case with master netting agreements, and the related assets and liabilities are presented gross in the balance sheet. 
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Property and Equipment
Depreciable properties such as office equipment, leasehold improvements, furniture and fixtures and transportation equipment are stated at cost less 
accumulated depreciation and amortization and any impairment in value. 

The initial cost of property and equipment consists of its purchase price, including import duties, taxes and any directly attributable costs of bringing the 
asset to its working condition and location for its intended use. Expenditures incurred after items of property and equipment have been put into 
operation, such as repairs and maintenance are normally charged against operations in the period in which the costs are incurred. In situations where it 
can be clearly demonstrated that the expenditures have resulted in an increase in the future economic benefits expected to be obtained from the use of 
an item of property and equipment beyond its originally assessed standard of performance, the expenditures are capitalized as an additional cost of 
property and equipment. 

Depreciation is computed using the straight-line method over the estimated useful lives of the respective assets.  Leasehold improvements are 
amortized over the shorter of the terms of the covering leases and the estimated useful lives of the improvements. 

The estimated useful lives follow: 

Useful Lives in 
Years 

Office equipment 3-5 
Leasehold improvements 5
Furniture and Fixtures 3-5 
Transportation equipment 5

The useful lives and the depreciation and amortization method are reviewed periodically to ensure that the period and the method of depreciation and 
amortization are consistent with the expected pattern of economic benefits from items of property and equipment. 

An item of property and equipment is derecognized upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected from its use or disposal. Any gain 
or loss arising on derecognition of the asset (calculated as the difference between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset) is 
included in the statement of income in the year the asset is derecognized. 

Software Development Costs
Software development costs include costs of internally generated software used in the Company’s operations which are accounted for under the cost 
model.  The cost of the asset is the amount of cash or cash equivalents paid or the fair value of the other considerations given up to acquire an asset at 
the time of its acquisition or production.  

Costs associated with research activities are expensed in the statement of income as they occur.  Costs that are directly attributable to the 
development phase of the new customized software for information technology and telecommunications systems are recognized as intangibles 
provided they meet the following recognition requirements: 

a. demonstration of technical feasibility of the prospective product for internal use or sale;  
b. the software and system development costs will generate probable economic benefits through internal use or sale; 
c. sufficient technical, financial and other resources are available for completion; and 
d. the software and system development costs can be reliably measured. 

Directly attributable costs include employee costs incurred on software and system development along with an appropriate portion of relevant 
overheads.  The costs of internally generated software developments are recognized as intangible assets; they are subject to the same measurement 
as externally acquired.  However, until completion of the development project, the asset are subject to impairment testing.  Amortization commences 
upon completion of asset. 

Capitalized costs are amortized on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful life of 7 years.  In addition, software development costs are subject to 
impairment testing. 

Impairment of Nonfinancial Assets
The Company assesses at each balance sheet date whether there is an indication that the Company’s software development cost and property and 
equipment may be impaired.  When an indicator of impairment exists or when an annual impairment testing for an asset is required, the Company 
makes an estimate of recoverable amount. Recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s (or cash-generating unit’s) fair value less costs to sell and 
its value in use and is determined for an individual asset, unless the asset does not generate cash inflows that are largely independent of those from 
other assets or groups of assets, in which case the recoverable amount is assessed as part of the cash generating unit to which it belongs. Where the 
carrying amount of an asset (or cash generating unit) exceeds its recoverable amount, the asset (or cash generating unit) is considered impaired and is 
written down to its recoverable amount. In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax 
discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset (or cash generating unit).   

An impairment loss is charged to operations in the period in which it arises, unless the asset is carried at a revalued amount, in which case the 
impairment loss is charged to the revaluation increment of the said asset. 

A previously recognized impairment loss is reversed only if there has been a change in the estimates used to determine the asset’s recoverable 
amount since the last impairment loss was recognized.  If that is the case, the carrying amount of the asset is increased to its recoverable amount.  
That increased amount cannot exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined, net of depreciation, had no impairment loss been 
recognized for the asset in prior years.  Such reversal is recognized in the statement of income unless the asset is carried at a revalued amount, in 
which case the reversal is treated as a revaluation increase.  After such a reversal, the depreciation charge is adjusted in future periods to allocate the 
asset’s revised carrying amount, less any residual value, on a systematic basis over its remaining useful life. 

Revenue Recognition
Revenue is recognized to the extent that it is probable that the economic benefits will flow to the Company and the revenue can be reliably measured.  
The following specific recognition criteria must also be met before revenue is recognized: 

Service
Service income is recognized when the services are rendered. 

Interest  
Interest income is recognized on a time proportion basis computed on the outstanding principal balance using the applicable effective interest rate. 
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Foreign Currency Transactions
For financial reporting purposes, the monetary assets and liabilities of the Company are translated in Philippine pesos based on the Philippine Dealing 
System (PDS) closing rate prevailing at end of the year and foreign currency-denominated income and expenses, at the PDS weighted average rate for 
the year.  Foreign exchange differences arising from restatement of foreign currency-denominated monetary assets and liabilities are credited to or 
charged against operations in the year in which the rates change.  Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign 
currency are translated using the exchange rates as at the dates of the initial translations.  Non-monetary items measured at fair value in a foreign 
currency are translated using the exchange rates at the date when the fair value was determined. 

Leases
The determination of whether an arrangement is, or contains, a lease is based on the substance of the arrangement and requires an assessment of 
whether the fulfillment of the arrangement is dependent on the use of a specific asset or assets and the arrangement conveys a right to use the asset.  
A reassessment is made after inception of the lease only if one of the following applies: 

a. There is a change in contractual terms, other than a renewal or extension of the arrangement; 
b. A renewal option is exercised or extension granted, unless that term of the renewal or extension was initially included in the lease term; 
c. There is a change in the determination of whether fulfillment is dependent on a specified asset; or 
d. There is a substantial change to the asset. 

Where a reassessment is made, lease accounting shall commence or cease from the date when the change in circumstances gave rise to the 
reassessment for scenarios a, c or d above, and at the date of renewal or extension period for scenario b. 

Operating lease
Operating lease payments are recognized as an expense in the statement of income on a straight-line basis over the lease term. 

Retirement Benefits
The Company has a noncontributory defined benefit retirement plan. 

The retirement cost of the Company is determined using the projected unit credit method.  Under this method, the current service cost is the present 
value of retirement benefits payable in the future with respect to services rendered in the current period.  The liability recognized in the balance sheet in 
respect of defined benefit pension plans is the present value of the defined benefit obligation at the balance sheet date less the fair value of plan 
assets, if any, together with adjustments for unrecognized actuarial gains or losses and past service costs. The defined benefit obligation is calculated 
annually by an independent actuary using the projected unit credit method.  

The present value of the defined benefit obligation is determined by discounting the estimated future cash outflows using interest rate on government 
bonds that have terms to maturity approximating the terms of the related retirement liability. Actuarial gains and losses arising from experience 
adjustments and changes in actuarial assumptions are credited to or charged against income when the net cumulative unrecognized actuarial gains 
and losses at the end of the previous period exceeded 10% of the higher of the defined benefit obligation and the fair value of plan assets at that date.  
These excess gains or losses are recognized over the expected average remaining working lives of the employees participating in the plan. 

Past-service costs, if any, are recognized immediately in income, unless the changes to the pension plan are conditional on the employees remaining in 
service for a specified period of time (the vesting period). In this case, the past-service costs are amortized on a straight-line basis over the vesting 
period. 

The defined benefit asset or liability comprises the present value of the defined benefit obligation less past service costs not yet recognized and less 
the fair value of plan assets out of which the obligations are to be settled directly.  The value of any asset is restricted to the sum of any past service 
cost not yet recognized and the present value of any economic benefits available in the form of refunds from the plan or reductions in the future 
contributions to the plan. 

Income Taxes
Current Tax 
Current tax assets and liabilities for the current and prior periods are measured at the amount expected to be recovered from or paid to the taxation 
authorities.  The tax rates and tax laws used to compute the amount are those that are enacted or substantively enacted by the balance sheet date. 

Deferred Tax
Deferred tax is provided using the balance sheet method on temporary differences at the balance sheet date between the tax bases of assets and 
liabilities and their carrying amounts for financial reporting purposes.   

Deferred tax liabilities are recognized for all taxable temporary differences, including asset revaluations. Deferred tax assets are recognized for all 
deductible temporary differences, carryforward of unused tax credits from the excess of minimum corporate income tax (MCIT) over the regular 
corporate income tax (RCIT), and unused net operating loss carryover (NOLCO), to the extent that it is probable that sufficient taxable profit will be 
available against which the deductible temporary differences and carry forward of unused tax credits from MCIT and unused NOLCO can be utilized. 

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at each balance sheet date and reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient 
taxable profit will be available to allow all or part of the deferred tax asset to be utilized.  Unrecognized deferred tax assets are reassessed at each 
balance sheet date and are recognized to the extent that it has become probable that future taxable profit will allow the deferred tax asset to be 
recovered. 
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply to the year when the asset is realized or the liability is 
settled, based on tax rates and tax laws that have been enacted or substantively enacted at the balance sheet date. 

Current tax and deferred tax relating to items recognized directly in equity is also recognized directly in equity and not in the statement of income. 

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset, if a legally enforceable right exists to offset current tax assets against current tax liabilities and 
the deferred taxes relate to the same taxable entity and the same taxation authority. 

Provisions and Contingencies
Provisions 
Provisions are recognized when an obligation (legal or constructive) is incurred as a result of a past event and where it is probable that an outflow of 
assets embodying economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation.   

Contingencies 
Contingent liabilities are not recognized but are disclosed in the financial statements unless the possibility of an outflow of resources embodying 
economic benefits is remote.  Contingent assets are not recognized but are disclosed in the financial statements when an inflow of economic benefits is 
probable. 
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Subsequent Events
Any post year-end events that provide additional information about the Company’s position at balance sheet date (adjusting event) are reflected in the 
financial statements.  Post year-end events that are not adjusting events, if any, are disclosed when material to the financial statements. 

Future Changes in Accounting Policies
The Company will adopt the following relevant standards and interpretations enumerated below when these become effective.  Except as otherwise 
indicated, the Company does not expect the adoption of these new and amended PFRS and Philippine Interpretations to have significant impact on its 
financial statements. 

Effective in 2009 
Amendment to PAS 1, Amendment on Statement of Comprehensive Income (effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2009) 
In accordance with the amendment to PAS 1, the statements of changes in equity shall include only transactions with owners, while all non-owner 
changes will be presented in equity as a single line with details included in a separate statement.  Owners are defined as holders of instruments 
classified as equity. 

In addition, the amendment to PAS 1 provides for the introduction of a new statement of comprehensive income that combines all items of income and 
expenses recognized in the statements of income together with ‘other comprehensive income’.  The revision specify what is included in other 
comprehensive income, such as gains and losses on AFS financial assets, actuarial gains and losses on defined benefit pension plans and changes in 
the asset revaluation reserve.  Entities can choose to present all items in one statement, or to present two linked statements, a separate statement of 
income and a statement of comprehensive income.  Adoption of this amendment will not have a significant impact on the Company except for the 
presentation of a statement of comprehensive income and additional disclosures to be included in the financial statements. 

PAS 23, Borrowing Costs (Revised)(effective for annual periods beginning on or after 
January 1, 2009) 
The standard has been revised to require capitalization of borrowing costs when such costs relate to a qualifying asset.  A qualifying asset is an asset 
that necessarily takes a substantial period of time to get ready for its intended use or sale.  In accordance with the transitional requirements in the 
Standard, this change in accounting for borrowing costs shall be accounted for prospectively.  Accordingly, borrowing costs will be capitalized on 
qualifying asset with a commencement date after January 1, 2009.  No changes will be made for borrowing costs incurred to this date that have been 
expensed. 

Amendments to PAS 32, Financial Instruments: Presentation and PAS 1, Presentation of Financial Statements - Puttable Financial Instruments and 
Obligations Arising on Liquidation (effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2009)
The standards have been amended to allow a limited scope exception for puttable financial instruments to be classified as equity if they fulfill a number 
of specified criteria. 

Philippine Interpretation IFRIC-13, Customer Loyalty Programmes (effective for annual periods beginning on or after July 1, 2008) 
This Interpretation requires loyalty credits to be accounted for as a separate component of the sales transaction in which they are granted.  The 
Company currently does not have such programs. 

Philippine Interpretation IFRIC 17, Distribution of Non-cash Assets to Owners
This Interpretation covers accounting for two types of non-reciprocal distributions of assets by an entity to its owners acting in their capacity as owners. 
The two types of distribution are: 
a. distributions of non-cash assets (eg items of property, plant and equipment, businesses as defined in PFRS 3, ownership interests in another 

entity or disposal groups as defined in (PFRS 5); and 
b. distributions that give owners a choice of receiving either non-cash assets or a cash alternative. 

This Interpretation addresses only the accounting by an entity that makes a non-cash asset distribution. It does not address the accounting by 
shareholders who receive such a distribution. 

Philippine Interpretation IFRIC 18, Transfers of Assets from Customers
This Interpretation covers accounting for transfers of items of property, plant and equipment by entities that receive such transfers from their customers. 
Agreements within the scope of this Interpretation are agreements in which an entity receives from a customer an item of property, plant and equipment 
that the entity must then use either to connect the customer to a network or to provide the customer with ongoing access to a supply of goods or 
services, or to do both. This Interpretation also applies to agreements in which an entity receives cash from a customer when that amount of cash must 
be used only to construct or acquire an item of property, plant and equipment and the entity must then use the item of property, plant and equipment 
either to connect the customer to a network or to provide the customer with ongoing access to a supply of goods or services, or to do both. 

Improvements to PFRSs 
In May 2008, the International Accounting Standards Board issued its first omnibus of amendments to certain standards, primarily with a view of 
removing inconsistencies and clarifying wordings.  The Company has not yet adopted the following relevant amendments and anticipates that these 
changes will have no material effect in the financial statements. 

PFRS 5, Non-current Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations
 When a subsidiary is held for sale, all of its assets and liabilities will be classified as held for sale under PFRS 5, even when the entity retains a 

non-controlling interest in the subsidiary after the sale. 

PFRS 7, Financial Instruments: Disclosures
 Removal of the reference to ‘total interest income’ as a component of finance costs. 

PAS 1, Presentation of Financial Statements
 Assets and liabilities classified as held for trading are not automatically classified as current in the balance sheet. 

PAS 10, Events after the Reporting Period
 Clarification that dividends declared after the end of the reporting period are not obligations. 

PAS 16, Property, Plant and Equipment
 The amendment replaces the term ‘net selling price’ with ‘fair value less costs to sell’ to be consistent with PFRS 5, Non-current Assets Held for 

Sale and Discontinued Operations and PAS 36, Impairment of Assets.
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 Items of property, plant and equipment held for rental that are routinely sold in the ordinary course of business after rental, are transferred to 
inventory when rental ceases and they are held for sale.  Proceeds of such sales are subsequently shown as revenue.  Cash payments on initial 
recognition of such items, the cash receipts from rents and subsequent sales are all shown as cash flows from operating activities. 

PAS 18, Revenue
 Replacement of the term ‘direct costs’ with ‘transaction costs’ as defined in PAS 39. 

PAS 19, Employee Benefits
 Revises the definition of ‘past service costs’ to include reductions in benefits related to past services (‘negative past service costs’) and to 

exclude reductions in benefits related to future services that arise from plan amendments.  Amendments to plans that result in a reduction in 
benefits related to future services are accounted for as curtailment. 

 Revises the definition of ‘return on plan assets’ to exclude plan administration costs if they have already been included in the actuarial 
assumptions used to measure the defined benefit obligation. 

 Revises the definition of ‘short-term’ and ‘other long-term’ employee benefits to focus on the point in time at which the liability is due to be settled. 
 Deletes the reference to the recognition of contingent liabilities to ensure consistency with PAS 37, Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and 

Contingent Assets.

PAS 23, Borrowing Costs
 Revises the definition of borrowing costs to consolidate the types of items that are considered components of ‘borrowing costs’, i.e., components 

of the interest expense calculated using the effective interest rate method. 

PAS 28, Investment in Associates 
 If an associate is accounted for at fair value in accordance with PAS 39, only the requirement of PAS 28 to disclose the nature and extent of any 

significant restrictions on the ability of the associate to transfer funds to the entity in the form of cash or repayment of loans applies. 
 An investment in an associate is a single asset for the purpose of conducting the impairment test.  Therefore, any impairment test is not 

separately allocated to the goodwill included in the investment balance. 

PAS 36, Impairment of Assets
 When discounted cash flows are used to estimate ‘fair value less cost to sell’ additional disclosure is required about the discount rate, consistent 

with disclosures required when the discounted cash flows are used to estimate ‘value in use’. 

PAS 38, Intangible Assets
 Expenditure on advertising and promotional activities is recognized as an expense when the Company either has the right to access the goods or 

has received the services.  Advertising and promotional activities now specifically include mail order catalogues. 
 Deletes references to there being rarely, if ever, persuasive evidence to support an amortization method for finite life intangible assets that results 

in a lower amount of accumulated amortization than under the straight-line method, thereby effectively allowing the use of the unit of production 
method. 

PAS 39, Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement
 Changes in circumstances relating to derivatives - specifically derivatives designated or de-designated as hedging instruments after initial 

recognition - are not reclassifications. 
 When financial assets are reclassified as a result of an insurance company changing its accounting policy in accordance with paragraph 45 of 

PFRS 4, Insurance Contracts, this is a change in circumstance, not a reclassification. 
 Removes the reference to a ‘segment’ when determining whether an instrument qualifies as a hedge. 
 Requires use of the revised effective interest rate (rather than the original effective interest rate) when re-measuring a debt instrument on the 

cessation of fair value hedge accounting. 

PAS 40, Investment Properties
 Revises the scope (and the scope of PAS 16) to include property that is being constructed or developed for future use as an investment property.  

Where an entity is unable to determine the fair value of an investment property under construction, but expects to be able to determine its fair 
value on completion, the investment under construction will be measured at cost until such time as fair value can be determined or construction is 
complete. 

3. Significant Accounting Judgments and Estimates

The preparation of the financial statements in accordance with PFRS requires the Company to make estimates and assumptions that affect the 
reported amounts of resources, liabilities, income and expenses and disclosure of contingent assets and contingent liabilities.  Future events may occur 
which will cause the assumptions used in arriving at the estimates to change.  The effects of any change in estimates are reflected in the financial 
statements as they become reasonably determinable. 

Estimates and judgments are continually evaluated and are based on historical experience and other factors, including expectations of future events 
that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances. 

The following are the critical judgments and key assumptions that have a significant risk of material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and 
liabilities within the next financial year: 

Judgment
(a) Recognition of deferred tax assets 

Deferred tax assets are recognized for all unused tax losses and temporary differences to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be 
available against which the losses can be utilized.  Significant management judgment is required to determine the amount of deferred tax assets 
that can be recognized, based upon the likely timing and level of future taxable profits together with future tax planning strategies. 

The Company’s estimates of future taxable income indicate that certain temporary differences will be realized in the future. Recognized deferred 
tax assets as of December 31, 2008 and 2007 amounted to P=2.30 million and P=2.74 million, respectively (see Note 16). 
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(b) Operating Lease – Company as the lessee 
The Company leases the premises it occupies. The Company has determined that it does not retain all the significant risks and rewards of 
ownership of the premises. 

Estimates
(a) Impairment of trade and other receivables 

The Company reviews its trade and other receivables at each reporting date to assess whether provision for credit losses should be recorded in 
the statement of income.  In particular, judgment by management is required in the estimation of the amount and timing of future cash flows when 
determining the level of allowance required.   

Such estimates are based on assumptions about a number of factors such as length of the Company’s relationship with customers, current credit 
status of customers based on third party credit reports and known market forces, average age of accounts, collection and historical loss 
experience.  The actual results may differ, resulting in future changes to the allowance for impairment loss. 

No impairment loss was recognized in 2008 and 2007. 

(b) Impairment of nonfinancial assets 
The Company assesses impairment on assets whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of an asset may 
not be recoverable. The factors that the Company considers important which could trigger an impairment review include the following: 

 significant underperformance relative to expected historical or projected future operating results; 
 significant changes in the manner of use of the acquired assets or the strategy for overall business; and 
 significant negative industry or economic trends. 

The Company recognizes an impairment loss whenever the carrying amount of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount.  The recoverable 
amount is computed using the value in use approach. Recoverable amounts are estimated for individual assets. 

As of December 31, 2008, the carrying values of the Company’s nonfinancial assets follow:  

2008 2007 
Property and equipment  - net (Note 7) P=6,212,585 P=4,714,73 
Software development cost  - net (Note 8) 2,967,346 3,373,301 

No impairment loss was recognized in 2008 and 2007. 

(c) Estimated useful lives of property and equipment 
The Company estimates the useful lives of its property and equipment.  This estimate is reviewed periodically to ensure that the period of 
depreciation and amortization are consistent with the expected pattern of economic benefits from the items of property and equipment. 

As of December 31, 2008 and 2007, the carrying value, of property and equipment amounted to P=6.21 million and  P=4.71 million respectively 
(see Note 7). 

(d)  Estimated useful lives of software and system development costs  
The Company estimates the useful life of software and system development costs based on the period over which the assets are expected to be 
available for use.  The estimated useful lives of software and system development costs are reviewed periodically and are updated if 
expectations differ from previous estimates due to technical or commercial obsolescence and legal or other limits on the use of the assets.  In 
addition, estimation of the useful lives of software and system development costs is based on collective assessment of industry practice, internal 
technical evaluation and experience with similar assets.  It is possible, however that future results of operations could be materially affected by 
changes in estimates brought about by changes in factors mentioned above.  The amounts and timing of recorded expenses for any period would 
be affected by changes in these factors and circumstances.  A reduction in the estimated useful lives of the software and system development 
costs would increase recorded operating expenses and decrease non-current assets. 

As of December 31, 2008 and 2007, the carrying value of software development costs amounted to P=2.97 million and P=3.37 million, respectively 
(see Notes 8). 

(e) Present value of defined benefit obligation 
The cost of defined benefit pension plan and other post employment benefits is determined using actuarial valuation.  The actuarial valuation 
involves making assumptions about discount rates, expected rates of return on assets, future salary increases, mortality rates and future pension 
increases.  Due to the long term nature of this plan, such estimates are subject to significant uncertainty. 

The assumed discount rates were determined using the market yields on Philippine government bonds with terms consistent with the expected 
employee benefit payout as of balance sheet dates. Refer to Note 15 for the details of assumptions used in the calculation. 

As of December 31, 2008 and 2007, the present value of the defined benefit obligation of the Company amounted to P=2.80 million and  
P=6.89 million.

4. Cash on Hand and in Banks 

Cash in banks include regular current and savings deposits that earn interest at the respective bank deposit rates. 

5. Trade and Other Receivables 

This account consists of: 

2008 2007 
Trade receivables P=4,617,730 P=4,869,576 
Advances to employees 318,230 320,259 

P=4,935,960 P=5,189,835 
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Trade receivables arise from service fees charged to customers for the use of the Company’s infrastructure on Philippine Domestic Dollar Transfer 
Service (PDDTS) and Payment vs. Payment (PvP).  

Trade receivables are non-interest bearing and are usually due by the 25th day of the following month. All trade receivables are subject to credit risk 
exposure. However, the Company does not identify specific concentrations of credit risk with regards to trade receivables as the amounts recognized 
consist of large number of receivables from various customers.  

Advances to employees pertain to advances made by the Company for the health benefits of its officers and employees.  It also includes employee 
loans with maturities of three months to one year and bear interest of 1.00% per month.   

6. Other Current Assets 

This account consists of: 

2008 2007 
Creditable withholding tax P=3,397,013 P=2,426,060 
Input VAT 988,598 1,547,823 
Prepayments 465,328 960,560 
Creditable VAT 76,459 40,534 

P=4,927,398 P=4,974,977 

7. Property and Equipment 

The composition of and changes in property and equipment follow: 

  2008   

Office 
Equipment 

Leasehold 
Improvements 

Furniture 
and 

Fixtures 
Transportation

Equipment Total 
Cost 
Balance at beginning of year P=10,139,104 P=2,624,250 P=36,946 P=3,454,545 P=16,254,845 
Additions 4,477,143 604,653 226,687 – 5,308,483 
Balance at end of year 14,616,247 3,228,903 263,633 3,454,545 21,563,328 
Accumulated depreciation and amortization      
Balance at beginning of year 7,840,235 1,443,230 5,128 2,251,509 11,540,102 
Depreciation and amortization 2,472,003 614,156 33,573 690,909 3,810,641 
Balance at end of year 10,312,238 2,057,386 38,701 2,942,418 15,350,743 
Net book value P=4,304,009 P=1,171,517 P=224,932 P=512,127 P=6,212,585 

   2007   

Office 
Equipment 

Leasehold 
Improvements 

Furniture 
and 

Fixtures 
Transportation

Equipment Total 
Cost 
Balance at beginning of year P=9,452,947 P=2,624,250 P=– P=3,454,545 P=15,531,742 
Additions 686,157 – 36,946 – 723,103 
Balance at end of year 10,139,104 2,624,250 36,946 3,454,545 16,254,845 
Accumulated depreciation and amortization 
Balance at beginning of year 4,688,551 850,397 – 1,560,600 7,099,548 
Depreciation and amortization 3,151,684 592,833 5,128 690,909 4,440,554 
Balance at end of year 7,840,235 1,443,230 5,128 2,251,509 11,540,102 
Net book value P=2,298,869 P=1,181,020 P=31,818 P=1,203,036 P=4,714,743 

Total depreciation and amortization are allocated as follows:  

2008 2007 
Cost of services P=3,642,973 P=4,245,169 
Operating expense 167,668 195,385 

P=3,810,641 P=4,440,554 

8. Software Development Costs

This account includes capitalized costs incurred for the development of the gateway system and electronic Delivery versus Payment (eDvP) system 
used in the Company’s operations. 
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A rollforward analysis of this account follows: 

2008 2007 
Cost 
Balance at beginning of year P=4,361,697 P=4,171,697 
Additions 190,000 190,000 
Balance at end of year 4,551,697 4,361,697 
Accumulated amortization 
Balance at beginning of year 988,396 154,057 
Amortization 595,955 834,339 
Balance at end of year 1,584,351 988,396 
Net book value P=2,967,346 P=3,373,301 

Total amortization is allocated as follows:  

2008 2007 
Cost of services P=569,733 P=800,217 
Operating expense 26,222 34,122 

P=595,955 P=834,339 

9. Accrued Expenses and Other Payables

This account consists of: 
2008 2007 

Accruals for: 
Utilities P=424,967 P=163,299 
Vacation leave benefits 409,592 1,061,690 
Professional fees 404,221 662,138 
Rent 171,964 305,158 
Outside services  159,442 21,967 
Taxes 118,108 101,424 

Retention payable 1,354,142 1,354,142 
Output VAT 1,134,051 1,329,281 
Withholding tax payable 607,254 620,867 
Others 876,949 447,407 

P=5,660,690 P=6,067,373 

10. Capital Stock

This account consists of: 

2008 2007 
Common shares - P=100 par value 
 Authorized - 500,000 shares 
 Subscribed and outstanding - 125,000 shares P=12,500,000 P=12,500,000 
 Subscriptions receivable - 93,750 shares (9,375,000) (9,375,000)

P=3,125,000 P=3,125,000 

11. Service Income

This account consists of: 

2008 2007 
Transaction fees P=53,335,534 P=48,917,845 
Telecommunications  1,568,932 1,908,932 
Others 1,390,268 1,546,371 

P=56,294,734 P=52,373,148 

Transaction fees are charged for the settlement services of the Company, mainly for the facilities for domestic USD fund transfers (PDDTS) and USD-
PhP settlement (PvP). 

12. Other Income

This account consists of: 

2008 2007 
Foreign exchange gain P=12,160 P=20,663 
Interest (Notes 4 and 5) 6,255 26,019 
Others 39,600 56,310 

P=58,015 P=102,992 
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13. Cost of Services

This account consists of: 

2008 2007 
Salaries and employee benefits (Note 14) P=19,491,774 P=15,913,970 
Systems maintenance cost 7,820,744 7,844,589 
Utilities 7,759,701 7,666,934 
Depreciation and amortization (Notes 7 and 8) 4,212,706 5,045,386 
Professional fees 3,445,079 1,311,554 
Rent (Note 20) 2,892,936 2,033,488 
Outside services 1,119,787 635,002 
Insurance 513,189 597,538 
Repairs and other maintenance 491,567 1,166,605 
Supplies 402,942 583,250 
Others 476,887 327,574 

P=48,627,312 P=43,125,890 

14. Salaries and Employee Benefits

This account consists of: 

2008 2007 
Salaries P=18,566,802 P=14,210,062 
Retirement benefits (Note 15) 1,164,661 672,089 
Social security costs  235,778 178,162 
Others 232,026 1,435,209 

P=20,199,267 P=16,495,522 

Other salaries and employee benefits include leave benefits, health insurance and others. 

Total salaries and employee benefits are allocated as follows:  

2008 2007 
Cost of services P=19,491,774 P=15,913,970 
Operating expense 707,493 581,552 

P=20,199,267 P=16,495,522 

15. Retirement Plan

The Company has an unfunded noncontributory defined benefit retirement plan covering substantially all its officers and regular employees.  Under this 
retirement plan, all covered officers and employees are entitled to cash benefits after satisfying certain age and service requirements. 

The following table shows the actuarial assumptions as of January 1, 2008 and 2007 used in determining the retirement benefit obligation of the 
Company: 

Actuarial Assumptions 

Date of Actuarial Valuation Report 

Average 
Remaining 

Working Life 
Salary Rate 

Increase 
Discount 

Rate 
January 1, 2008 18 4% 7.87% 
January 1, 2007 22 5% 8.13% 

Discount rates used to arrive at the present value of the obligation as of December 31, 2008 and 2007 are 11.36% and 7.87%, respectively. 

The amount of retirement benefit obligation recognized in the balance sheet is determined as follows: 

2008 2007 
Present value of defined benefit obligation P=2,796,951 P=6,894,295 
Unrecognized actuarial (losses) gains 2,568,990 (2,693,015)
Retirement benefit obligation P=5,365,941 P=4,201,280 

Movements in accumulated unrecognized actuarial gains (losses) are as follows: 

2008 2007 
Balance at beginning of year (P=2,693,015) (P=138,409)
Actuarial gains (losses) on present value of the defined benefit obligation 5,262,005 (2,554,606)
Balance at end of year P=2,568,990 (P=2,693,015)

The amounts included in Salaries and employee benefits (see Note 14) for the years ended December 31, 2008 and 2007 are as follows: 

2008 2007 
Current service cost P=622,080 P=373,913 
Interest cost 542,581 298,176 

P=1,164,661 P=672,089 
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The movements in the retirement benefit obligation follows: 

2008 2007 
Balance at beginning of year P=4,201,280 P=3,529,191 
Retirement expense 1,164,661 672,089 
Balance at end of year P=5,365,941 P=4,201,280 

Changes in the present value of the defined benefit obligation are as follows: 

2008 2007 
Defined benefit obligation at beginning of year P=6,894,295 P=3,667,600 
Interest cost 542,581 298,176 
Current service cost 622,080 373,913 
Actuarial loss (gain) (5,262,005) 2,554,606 
Defined benefit obligation at end of year P=2,796,951 P=6,894,295 

As of December 31, 2008, 2007 and 2006, the experience gains (losses) on plan liabilities amounted to P=7.44 million and P=2.64 million and  
(P=0.37 million), respectively. 

16. Income Taxes

Income taxes include corporate income tax, as discussed below, and final taxes paid at the rate of 20.00% on gross interest income from cash 
deposits. 

Republic Act No. 9337, An Act Amending National Internal Revenue Code, provides that the RCIT rate shall be 35.00% until December 31, 2008. 
Starting January 1, 2009, the RCIT rate shall be 30.00%. 

The regulations also impose the MCIT of 2.00% on modified gross income and allow a NOLCO.  The NOLCO and the excess of the MCIT over the 
RCIT may be applied against taxable income and the income tax liability, respectively, over a three-year period from the year of inception. 

Provision for income tax consists of: 

2008 2007 
Current: 

MCIT P=159,238 P=– 
RCIT  – 1,902,805 
Final tax 1,781 2,612 

Deferred 441,276 (99,153)
P=602,295 P=1,806,264 

Components of the deferred tax assets follow: 

2008 2007 
Tax effects of: 
 Retirement cost P=1,609,782 P=1,470,448 
 Pre-operating expenses 362,486 845,802 
 Accrued vacation leave benefits 122,878 425,761 
 MCIT 98,129 –
 Others 107,460 –

P=2,300,735 P=2,742,011 

As of December 31, 2008, the Company has excess MCIT amounting to P=0.10 million which can be claimed as deductions from taxable income until 
2011.   

For tax purposes, pre-operating expenses are to be amortized for a period of five years starting from the date of the Company’s commercial 
operations until 2009. 

A reconciliation of the statutory income tax to the effective income tax follows: 

2008 2007 
Statutory income tax P=417,697 P=1,696,222 
Tax effects of: 
 Income subjected to final tax (1,336) (1,958)
 Others 185,934 112,000 
Effective income tax P=602,295 P=1,806,264 

17. Related Party Transactions

Parties are considered to be related if one party has the ability, directly or indirectly, to control the other party or exercise significant influence over the 
other party in making financial and operating decisions.  Parties are also considered to be related if they are subjected to common control or common 
significant influence.  Related parties may be individuals or corporate entities.   

The Company, in the ordinary course of business, has entered into transactions with related parties principally consisting of reimbursement of 
expenses and advances for working capital purposes. The advances are non-interest bearing and are payable on demand. Starting August 2008, the 
Parent Company charged interest on its advances to subsidiaries ranging from 4.00% to 5.25%. The transactions and balances of accounts with 
related parties follow: 
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   Elements of Transactions 

Nature of Transaction 

Balance Sheet 
Amount 

Statement of Income Amount 

Related Party Relationship 2008 2007 2008 2007 
PDSHC  Parent Company Due to related parties P=3,294,902 P=7,168,311 P=– P=– 
  Interest expense – – 69,718  
PDTC Affiliate Due to related parties – 1,768,706 – – 
PDEx Affiliate Due from a related party – 55,801 – – 

Key Management Personnel Compensation
The remuneration of directors and other members of key management personnel for the years ended December 31, 2008 and 2007 are as follows: 

2008 2007 
Salaries P=9,366,821 P=7,974,867 
Retirement benefits 584,752 311,330 
Other long-term benefits (275,035) 389,739 

P=9,676,538 P=8,675,936 

18. Financial Instruments and Fair Value Measurement

Shown below are the Company’s assets and liabilities as they appear on the balance sheets, which are divided into financial and nonfinancial items, 
with the financial items being mapped to the categories of financial instruments under PAS 39. 

2008 

Loans and 
Receivables 

Other 
Financial 
Liabilities 

Non 
Financial 

Instruments Total 
ASSETS     
Cash on hand and in banks P=1,120,461 P=– P=– P=1,120,461 
Trade and other receivables 4,935,960 – – 4,935,960 
Other current assets – – 4,927,398 4,927,398 
Property and equipment - net – – 6,212,585 6,212,585 
Software development costs - net – – 2,967,346 2,967,346 
Deferred tax assets – – 2,300,735 2,300,735 
Other non-current assets – – 859,503 859,503 

Total Assets P=6,056,421 – P=17,267,567 P=23,323,988 
LIABILITIES     
Accrued expenses and other payables P=– P=2,807,776 P=2,852,914 P=5,660,690 
Due to related parties – 3,294,902 – 3,294,902 
Retirement benefit obligation – – 5,365,941 5,365,941 
Deferred income – – 99,792 99,792 

Total Liabilities P=– P=6,102,678 P=8,318,647 P=14,421,325 

2007 

Loans and 
Receivables 

Other 
Financial 
Liabilities 

Non 
Financial 

Instruments Total 
ASSETS     
Cash on hand and in banks  P=5,785,424 P=– P=– P=5,785,424 
Trade and other receivables  5,189,835 – – 5,189,835 
Due from a related party  55,801 – – 55,801 
Other current assets  – – 4,974,977 4,974,977 
Property and equipment - net  – – 4,714,743 4,714,743 
Software development costs  - net  – – 3,373,301 3,373,301 
Deferred tax assets  – – 2,742,011 2,742,011 
Other non-current assets  681,116 – – 681,116 

Total Assets  P=11,712,176 P=– P=15,805,032 P=27,517,208 
      

LIABILITIES      
Accrued expenses and other payables  P=– P=3,797,225 P=2,270,148 P=6,067,373 
Due to related parties  – 8,937,017 – 8,937,017 
Retirement benefit obligation  – – 4,201,280 4,201,280 

Total Liabilities  P=– P=12,734,242 P=6,471,428 P=19,205,670 

Fair Values
The carrying amounts of the Company’s financial assets and liabilities as of December 31, 2008 and 2007 approximate their fair values due to the 
short-term nature of these instruments. 

19. Financial Risk and Capital Management Policies and Objectives 

Financial Risk
The main risks arising from the Company’s financial instruments are credit risk, liquidity risk and foreign currency risk.  The Company’s exposure to 
interest rate risk is minimal as it does not have interest bearing liabilities.  Its interest rate exposure is limited to its interest bearing cash deposits. 

The Company’s risk management is coordinated with its Parent Company, in close cooperation with the Board of Directors, and focuses on actively 
securing the Company’s short-to medium-term cash flows. 
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Credit Risk 
Credit risk is the risk that the Company will incur a loss because its participants fail to discharge their contractual obligations.  The Company manages 
and controls credit risk by actively monitoring the size and age of its receivables to avoid significant concentrations in credit exposures. Each client is 
required to submit a Participation Agreement in addition to the constitutive documents before it is admitted as a client. 

In addition, the Company’s clients are availing of the auto-debit facility.  The auto-debit facility is an arrangement whereby the participants authorize the 
Company to automatically debit their designated cash account for the payment of fees based on invoices sent by the Company on the 5th day of the 
following month.  

The table below shows the Company’s gross maximum exposure to credit risk: 

2008 2007 
Cash in banks P=1,115,461 P=5,780,424 
Trade and other receivables 4,935,960 5,189,835 
Due from a related party – 55,801 

P=6,051,421 11,026,060 

Cash in banks and trade receivables are considered as high grade assets as these are placements and deposits with top-tier Philippine banks and 
receivables from the Company’s clients which are primarily composed of Philippine banks most of which are under the auto-debit facility arrangement. 
Due from a related party is assessed by management as high grade as this is realized within the normal terms. 

Liquidity Risk 
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Company will be unable to meet its payment obligations as they fall due.  To mitigate this risk, management prepares a 
forecast of the business cash flows for the year.  Constant monitoring and a well-defined billing and collection policy facilitate management of projected 
inflows.  

To minimize market risks that could adversely affect management of liquidity position, and because the Company is not in the business of trading 
securities, it is management's policy to invest excess cash and cash equivalents in liquid and non-speculative financial instruments, such as term 
deposits and government securities, with tenors that match its funding schedule.  

All financial liabilities of the Company as of December 31, 2008 and 2007 are payable on demand. 

Foreign Currency Risk 
The Company’s foreign currency risk exposure arises from the US dollar-denominated monthly maintenance fees paid for the maintenance of the 
Company’s system. The risk is manageable to the extent that the fees are pre-determined both in terms of amount and flows. To manage the adverse 
impact of changes in the foreign currency rates on the fees, the Company may also enter into foreign exchange forward contracts.  The Company has 
no outstanding forward contracts as of December 31, 2008 and 2007. 

Capital Management
The Company’s capital management activities seek to ensure that it maintains a healthy capital ratio in order to support its businesses and maximize 
shareholder value by optimizing the level and mix of its capital resources.  Decisions on the allocation of capital resources are performed as part of the 
strategic planning review.  The Company also manages its capital structure and makes adjustments to it, in light of changes in economic conditions. 

The Company’s objective is to ensure that there are no known events that may trigger direct or contingent financial obligation that is material to the 
Company, including default or acceleration of an obligation. 

The Company monitors capital using debt-to-equity ratio, which is total liabilities divided by total equity.  The Company’s total liabilities include current 
and non-current liabilities.  Equity comprises all components of equity. 

The debt-to-equity ratios as of December 31, 2008 and 2007 are as follows: 

2008 2007 
Total liabilities P=14,421,325 P=19,205,670 
Total equity 8,902,663 8,311,538 
Debt-to-equity ratio 1.62 2.31 

20. Commitments and Contingencies 

The following are the significant commitments and contingencies involving the Company: 

Operating Lease Commitments – Company as Lessee
The Parent Company is a lessee under non-cancellable operating leases covering office, parking spaces for a period of five years.  Monthly rentals are 
apportioned to the Company and other related parties based on the size of the area occupied.  The Company also leases cars for certain officers. 

The future minimum rentals payable for the above leases as of December 31 are as follows:  

2008 2007 
Within a year P=1,242,348 P=1,337,685 
After one year but not more than five years 3,731,880 3,923,950 

P=4,974,228 P=5,261,635 

Total rentals from these operating leases amounted to P=3.70 million in 2008 and P=2.64 million in 2007, of which P=2.89 million and P=2.03 million was 
charged to Cost of services in 2008 and 2007, respectively. 

Rental Deposits 
In connection with the above lease agreements, the Company paid rental deposits amounting to P=0.86 million and P=0.68 million as of December 31, 
2008 and 2007, respectively, and are presented under other non-current assets in the balance sheets. 

Others 
In the normal course of business, the Company makes various commitments and has certain contingent liabilities that are not given recognition in the 
accompanying financial statements.  Management believes that losses, if any, that may arise from these commitments and contingencies will not have 
any material effect on the financial statements. 
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LIST OF
PARTICIPANTS

(as of March 31, 2009)

TRADING

BANKS
ABN Amro Bank, Inc.
Allied Banking Corp. 
ANZ Banking Group Ltd., Manila 
Asia United Bank Corp.
Asiatrust Development Bank
Banco de Oro Unibank, Inc. 
Bank of Commerce
Bank of the Philippine Islands
BDO Private Bank, Inc.
China Banking Corp.
Chinatrust (Phils.) Commercial Bank Corp.
Citibank, N.A.
Deutsche Bank AG, Manila Branch
Development Bank of the Philippines
EastWest Banking Corp. 
Export & Industry Bank
ING Bank, N.V. Manila
JP Morgan Chase Bank
Korea Exchange Bank, Manila Branch
Land Bank of the Philippines
Maybank Philippines, Inc. 
Metropolitan Bank & Trust Company 
Mizuho Corporate Bank Ltd., Manila Branch
Philippine Bank of Communications
Philippine Business Bank
Philippine National Bank
Philippine Postal Savings Bank
Philippine Trust Company
Philippine Veterans Bank
Planters Development Bank
RCBC Savings Bank
Rizal Commercial Banking Corp.
Robinsons Savings Bank
Security Bank Corp. 
Standard Chartered Bank* 
The Bank of Tokyo-Mitsubishi UFJ, Ltd., Manila Branch
The Hongkong and Shanghai Banking Corp., Ltd.
Union Bank of the Philippines
United Coconut Planters Bank

NON-BANK FINANCIAL INSTITUTIONS
Asian Alliance Investment Corp.
BPI Capital Corp. 

Citicorp Financial Services & Insurance Brokerage 
 Philippines, Inc.
First Metro Investment Corp.
Multinational Investment Bancorporation
Philippine Commercial Capital, Inc.

CORPORATES & INSTITUTIONS
AFS Philippines, Inc.
ICAP Philippines, Inc. 
Tradition Financial Services Philippines, Inc.
Tullett Prebon Philippines, Inc. 

DEPOSITORY

BANKS
Allied Banking Corp.
Asia United Bank Corp.
Banco de Oro Unibank, Inc.
Bank of Commerce
Bank of the Philippine Islands
BDO Private Bank, Inc.
China Banking Corp.
Chinatrust (Phils.) Commercial Bank Corp.
Citibank, N.A.
Deutsche Bank AG, Manila Branch
Development Bank of the Philippines
EastWest Banking Corp.
ING Bank, N.V. Manila
Land Bank of the Philippines
Metropolitan Bank & Trust Company
Philippine National Bank
Philippine Veterans Bank
Planters Development Bank
Rizal Commercial Banking Corp.
Robinsons Savings Bank
Security Bank Corp.
Standard Chartered Bank*
The Hongkong and Shanghai Banking Corp., Ltd.
Union Bank of the Philippines
United Coconut Planters Bank

NON-BANK FINANCIAL INSTITUTIONS
Amalgamated Investment Bancorporation
Asian Alliance Investment Corp.
Basic Capital Investments Corp.
BDO Securities Corp. 
BPI Capital Corp. 
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BPI Securities Corp. Cocolife
Federal Phoenix Assurance Co., Inc.
First Metro Investment Corp. 
First Metro Securities Brokerage Corp. 
Government Service Insurance System
Malayan Insurance Company, Inc.
Mapfre Insular Insurance Corp.
Multinational Investment Bancorporation
National Reinsurance Corp.
Paramount Life & General Insurance Co.
PCI Capital Corp.
Philippine Commercial Capital, Inc.
PNB Life Insurance
Social Security System
UCPB General Insurance Co., Inc.
United Coconut Planters Life Assurance

TRUST ENTITIES
AB Capital & Investment Corp.
Bank of the Philippine Islands
Banco de Oro Unibank, Inc.
EastWest Banking Corp.
Metropolitan Bank & Trust Company
Philippine National Bank
Philam Savings Bank, Inc.
Rizal Commercial Banking Corp.
Standard Chartered Bank
Security Bank Corp.
Union Bank of the Philippines
United Coconut Planters Bank

CORPORATES & INSTITUTIONS
Accenture Savings and Loan Association Inc.
First Gen Corp.
Guoco Assets (Philippines), Inc.
PCCI Employees Retirement Plan
San Miguel Corp.Retirement Plan
Vica Services & Management Corp.
VSEC.Com Incorporated

PSE MEMBER BROKERS
A & A Securities, Inc.
A. T. De Castro Securities Corp.
AAA Southeast Equities, Incorporated
AB Capital Securities, Inc.
Abacus Securities Corporation
ABN AMRO Asia Securities (Phils), Inc.
Accord Capital Equities Corporation
Alakor Securities Corporation
Alpha Securities Corp.
Angping & Associates Securities, Inc.
Ansaldo, Godinez & Co., Inc.
APEX Philippines Equities Corp.
Armstrong Securities, Inc.
Asia Pacifi c Capital Equities & Sec. Co.
Asiasec Equities, Inc.
Astra Securities Corporation
ATC Securities, Inc.
ATR KIM ENG Securities, Inc. 

Aurora Securities, Inc.
B. H. Chua Securities Corporation
BA Securities, Inc.
BDO Securities Corporation
Belson Securities, Inc.
Benjamin Co Ca & Co., Inc.
Bernad Securities, Inc.
BPI Securities Corporation
Campos, Lanuza & Company, Inc.
Century Securities Corporation
Citisecurities, Inc.
Citiseconline.Com, Inc.
CLSA Philippines, Inc.
Coherco Securities, Inc.
Cualoping Securities Corporation
DA Market Securities, Inc.
David Go Securities Corporation
DBP-Daiwa Securities (Phils.), Inc.
Deutsche Regis Partners, Inc.
Diversifi ed Securities, Inc.
DW Capital Inc.
E. Chua Chiaco Securities, Inc.
E. Securities, Inc.
Eagle Equities, Inc.
East West Capital Corporation
Eastern Securities Development Corp.
Equitable Securities (Phils.) Inc.
Equitiworld Securities, Inc.
Evergreen Stock Brokerage & Sec., Inc.
F. Yap Securities, Inc.
Fidelity Securities, Inc.
First Integrated Capital Securities, Inc.
First Metro Securities Brokerage Corp.
First Orient Securities, Inc.
Francisco Ortigas Securities, Inc.
G.D. Tan & Company, Inc.
Globalinks Securities & Stocks, Inc.
Golden Tower Securities & Holdings, Inc.
Goldstar Securities, Inc.
Guild Securities, Inc.
H. E. Bennett Securities, Inc.
HDI Securities, Inc.
I. Ackerman & Co., Inc.
I. B. Gimenez Securities, Inc.
IGC Securities INC.
Imperial, De Guzman, Abalos & Co.,Inc.
Intra-Invest Securities, Inc.
Investors Securities, Inc.
J.M. Barcelon & Co., Inc.
J.P. Morgan Securities Philippines, Inc.
Jaka Securities Corporation
JSG Securities, Inc.
King’s Power Securities, Inc.
Larrgo Securities Co., Inc.
Litonjua Securities, Inc.
Lopez, Locsin, Ledesma & Co., Inc.
Lucky Securities, Inc.
Luy’s Securities Company, Inc.
Macquarie Securities (Philippines) Inc.

Mandarin Securities Corporation 
Marian Securities, Inc.
MDR Securities, Inc.
Mercantile Securities Corp.
Meridian Securities, Inc.
Mount Peak Securities, Inc.
New World Securities Co., Inc.
Nieves Sanchez, Inc.
Optimum Securities Corporation
Pan Asia Securities Corp.
Papa Securities Corporation
PCCI Securities Brokers Corporation
PCIB Securities, Inc.
Phil-Progress Securities Corporation
Philippine Equity Partners, INC.
Platinum Securities, Inc.
PNB Securities, Inc.
Premium Securities, Inc.
Public Securities Corporation
Quality Investments & Securities Corp.
R & L Investments, Inc.
R. Coyiuto Securities, Inc.
R. Nubla Securities, Inc.
R. S. Lim & Co., Inc.
RCBC Securities, Inc.
Regina Capital Development Corp.
RTG & Company, Inc.
S.J. Roxas & Co.,Inc.
Sarangani Securities, Inc.
SB Equities, Inc.
Securities Specialist, Inc.
Sincere Securities Corporation
Solar Securities, Inc.
Standard Securities Corporation
Strategic Equities Corp.
Summit Securities, Inc.
Supreme Stockbrokers, Inc,
Tansengco & Co., Inc.
The First Resources Management & Sec.
Tower Securities, Inc.
Trans-Asia Securities, Inc.
Tri-State Securities, Inc.
Triton Securities Corp.
UBS Warburg Securities Phils., Inc.
UCPB Securities, Inc.
Unicapital Securities Inc.
UOB Kay Hian Securities (Phils.), Inc.
UPCC Securities Corp.
Value Quest Securities Corporation
Venture Securities, Inc.
Vicsal Securities & Stock Brokerage,Inc.
Wealth Securities, Inc.
Westlink Global Equities, Inc.
Wong Securities Corporation
Yao & Zialcita, Inc.
Yu & Company, Inc.
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BANKS
Allied Banking Corp.
Banco de Oro Unibank, Inc.
Development Bank of the Philippines
EastWest Banking Corp.
International Exchange Bank
Land Bank of the Philippines
Metropolitan Bank & Trust Company
Rizal Commercial Banking Corp.
Security Bank Corp.

NON-BANK FINANCIAL INSTITUTIONS
First Metro Investment Corp.
Ayala Corp. 
Ayala Land Inc. 
First Gen Corp.
Globe Telecoms
Manila Water Corp.

CUSTODY

BANKS
Bank of Commerce
Export & Industry Bank
RCBC Savings Bank
Standard Chartered Bank*

SETTLEMENT

BANKS
ABN Amro Bank, Inc.
Allied Banking Corp.
ANZ Banking Group Ltd., Manila 
Asia United Bank Corp.
Banco de Oro Unibank, Inc. 
Bangko Sentral ng Pilipinas
Bangkok Bank Public Co.,Ltd., Manila
Bank of America
Bank of China Manila Branch
Bank of Commerce
Bank of the Philippine Islands
BDO Private Bank, Inc.
China Banking Corp.
Chinatrust (Phils.) Commercial Bank Corp.
Citibank, N.A. 
Deutsche Bank AG, Manila Branch
Development Bank of the Philippines
EastWest Banking Corp.
Export & Industry Bank
ING Bank, N.V. Manila
JP Morgan Chase Bank
Korea Exchange Bank, Manila Branch
Land Bank of the Philippines
Maybank Philippines, Inc. 
Metropolitan Bank & Trust Company
Mizuho Corporate Bank Ltd., Manila Branch
Philippine Bank of Communications
Philippine National Bank
Philippine Trust Company
Philippine Veterans Bank
Rizal Commercial Banking Corp. 
Security Bank Corp.

Standard Chartered Bank*
Sterling Bank of Asia, Inc.
The Bank of Tokyo-Mitsubishi UFJ, Ltd., Manila Branch
The Hongkong and Shanghai Banking Corp., Ltd.
The International Commercial Bank of China
Union Bank of the Philippines
United Coconut Planters Bank
United Overseas Bank Philippines

CASH SETTLEMENT BANKS

BANKS
Bank of Commerce
Bank of the Philippine Islands
China Banking Corp.
Development Bank of the Philippines
EastWest Banking Corp.
Land Bank of the Philippines
Metropolitan Bank & Trust Company
Philippine National Bank
Rizal Commercial Banking Corp.
Security Bank Corp. 
The Hongkong and Shanghai Banking Corp., Ltd.
United Coconut Planters Bank

Legend: * Requested suspension of its participation as a PDEx Brokering  Participant effective August 4, 2008

REGISTRY DIRECT

BANKS
Allied Banking Corp.
Banco de Oro Unibank, Inc.
Bank of Commerce
China Banking Corp.
Chinatrust (Phils.) Commercial   
   Bank Corp.
Deutsche Bank AG, Manila 
   Branch
Development Bank of the 
   Philippines
EastWest Banking Corp.
Land Bank of the Philippines
Maybank Philippines, Inc. 
Metropolitan Bank & Trust 
   Company
Philippine Business Bank
Philippine National Bank
Philippine Veterans Bank

Planters Development Bank
Rizal Commercial Banking 
   Corp.
Robinsons Savings Bank
Security Bank Corp.
Standard Chartered Bank*
The Hongkong and Shanghai 
   Banking Corp., Ltd.
Union Bank of the Philippines
United Coconut Planters Bank

NON-BANK FINANCIAL 
INSTITUTIONS
BPI Capital Corp.
First Metro Investment Corp.
Multinational Investment 
   Bancorporation
Philippine Commercial 
   Capital, Inc.

CORPORATES & 
INSTITUTIONS
Insular Investment and Trust 
Corp. TIMD - Treasury

The Hongkong and Shanghai Banking   
 Corp., Ltd. 
Union Bank of the Philippines
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LIST OF 2008
PDS AWARDS WINNERS

The Top 5 PDDTS/PvP Participants for 2008:

1. Banco de Oro Unibank,Inc.
2. Citibank, N.A.
3. Bank of the Philippine Islands
4. Metropolitan Bank & Trust Company
5. Rizal Commercial Banking Corp.

The Top Custody House for 2008:

The Hongkong & Shanghai Banking Corporation, Ltd.

The Top Inter-Dealer Broker for Spot Foreign 
Exchange (FX) for 2008:

ICAP Philippines Inc.

The Top 5 Spot FX Dealer for 2008:

1. Standard Chartered Bank
2. ING Bank, N.V. Manila
3. Security Bank Corporation
4. Metropolitan Bank & Trust Company
5. Banco de Oro Unibank,Inc.

The Top 5 Depository Participants for 2008: 

1. BDO Securities Corp.
2. Mandarin Securities Corp.
3. BPI Securities Corp.
4. ATR KIM ENG Securities Inc.
5. First Metro Securities Brokerage Corp.

The Top Fixed-Income Cash Settlement 
Bank for 2008: 

Security Bank Corporation

The Top Inter-Dealer Broker for Fixed-Income 
Securities for 2008:

Tullet Prebon Philippines,Inc.

The Top Brokering Participant for Retail 
Transactions for 2008:

BPI Capital Corporation

The Top 5 Fixed-Income Dealing 
Participants for 2008: 

1. Security Bank Corporation
2. Standard Chartered Bank
3. Metropolitan Bank & Trust Company
4. Bank of the Philippine Islands
5. Allied Banking Corporation

The Top 5 Fixed-Income Brokering 
Participants for 2008: 

1. Security Bank Corporation
2. Eastwest Banking Corp.
3. BPI Capital Corporation
4. Land Bank of the Philippines
5. Banco de Oro Unibank,Inc.

The Best Securities House Award:

Security Bank Corporation

The Maiden Corporate Listing: 

Ayala Land, Inc.

The Maiden Corporate Enrolment and Listing: 

Ayala Corp.

The First Bank Transaction in the 
Inter-Professional Repurchase Agreement Program: 

EastWest Banking Corp.

EastWest Banking Corp.






